Finco, Malaka Grace. <u>Quantifying Musculoskeletal and Biomechanical Symmetry to Identify</u> <u>Injury and Fall Risks in Individuals Who Use Unilateral Lower-Limb Prostheses.</u> Doctor of Philosophy (Structural Anatomy & Rehabilitation Sciences) December 2022, 368 pp., 13 figures, 19 tables, 285 references.

Individuals who use lower-limb prostheses have increased risks of developing overuse injuries and experiencing falls compared to the general population. This is often attributed to individuals loading, or weighting, their prosthetic limb less than their intact limb. Quantifying musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs could help clinicians evaluate risks of developing overuse injuries and experiencing falls. However, these relationships have not been determined.

The objective of this dissertation is to quantify musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry and determine their relationships to overuse injuries and falls in individuals with unilateral lower-limb loss. This objective has two specific aims: 1) evaluate musculoskeletal symmetry associated with risks of developing overuse injuries, and 2) determine the relationship between wearable sensor-derived walking symmetry values and falls.

Musculoskeletal symmetry was quantified in skeletal properties (e.g. fracture risk via dual x-ray absorptiometry), hip and knee joint space (e.g. osteoarthritis via x-rays), and thigh muscle

architecture (e.g. atrophy via cross-sectional area) in four anatomical donors and thirty postmortem CT scans.

Biomechanical symmetry was quantified in twenty-two individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses. Wearable sensors called inertial measurement units were compared to the gold standard of motion capture in the first five individuals. The relationship between number of falls, clinical outcome measures, and gait symmetry will be assessed to determine if gait symmetry could supplement clinical outcome measures to evaluate fall risk.

Impaired musculoskeletal symmetry suggests amputated limbs, particularly those with diabetes, had higher indications of distal femur fracture risk and more thigh muscle atrophy compared to intact limbs. Compared to healthy and diabetic control groups, individuals with amputation had higher indications of osteoarthritis and muscle atrophy bilaterally. Biomechanical studies suggest data derived from inertial measurement units were comparable to motion capture, and the Four Square Step test was associated with 12-month retrospective falls. Findings could help clinicians proactively evaluate overuse injury and fall risks in this population.

QUANTIFYING MUSCULOSKELETAL AND BIOMECHANICAL SYMMETRY TO IDENTIFY INJURY AND FALL RISKS IN INDIVIDUALS WHO USE LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Graduate Council of the

School of Biomedical Sciences

University of North Texas

Health Science Center at Fort Worth

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Structural Anatomy and Rehabilitation Science

By

Malaka Grace Finco, B.S., M.S., CPO/LPO

Fort Worth, Texas

December 2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I cannot express enough gratitude to Dr. Rachel Menegaz and Dr. Sarah Moudy for showing me how to be a better anatomist, biomechanist, researcher, and most importantly, human being. This dissertation would not have been possible without both of you. I would also like to thank Dr. Cody McDonald for always offering your clinical perspective, qualitative expertise, and humor exactly when I needed it most. Thanks also to Dr. Patterson for providing me space to adapt and lead, and Dr. Siderovski for your support as my university member. Dr. Sumien and Cheryl Bryant, thank you both for encouraging my scientific growth in aging research.

I'm also grateful for my external mentors: Dr. Jenna Yentes, Dr. Sheila Clemens, Shawn Swanson-Johnson, Dr. Gerry Stark, Dr. Ashley Mullen, Sally Kenworthy, Dr. Shane Wurdeman, Dr. Taavy Miller, Ashlie White, and Dr. Andrew Sawers. Each of you played a pivotal role in inspiring my growth during this program. I'm honored to also call each of you friends.

This is a shared accomplishment. I'd like to thank my parents and family for their undying support and encouraging my love for healthcare and science from a young age. Thanks also to my husband, Tyler, dogs Ryker and Dallas, and friends who reminded me of life outside of research.

Thanks to the National Institute of Health/National Institute on Aging (T32 AG020494) and the Center for Healthy Aging for supporting me during most of this journey. Thanks also to the Center for Orthotic and Prosthetic Learning and American Orthotic and Prosthetic Association for funding research to improve fall risk evaluation. This dissertation is dedicated to the participants, families, staff, mentors, and funders that made each of these chapters possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSii
LIST OF TABLESv
LIST OF FIGURESvii
INTRODUCTION1
SECTION 1. LITERATURE REVIEWS5
Chapter 16
A review of musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals following major lower-
limb amputation
Chapter 250
Normalization of kinematic walking symmetry data to inform clinical considerations for individuals who use lower-limb prostheses
Chapter 399
<i>Clinical evaluation of fall risk in older individuals who use lower-limb prostheses: a scoping review</i>
SECTION 2. MUSCULOSKELETAL SYMMETRY129
Chapter 4130
Skeletal asymmetries in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputations
Chapter 5140
Structural and physiological plasticity in thigh musculature of diabetic male anatomical donors with lower-limb amputation

Chapter 6151
Musculoskeletal health in individuals with lower-limb amputations:
differentiating influences of amputation and diabetes
SECTION 3: BIOMECHANICAL SYMMETRY190
Chapter 7191
Are inertial measurement units a viable data collection option for individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses?
Chapter 8
Preliminary data: relationship between retrospective falls with clinical outcome measure scores and walking symmetry in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses
SUMMARY243
APPENDIX
BIBLIOGRAPHY321

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 1: A review of musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals following major lower-limb amputation

Table 1-1: Summary of Included Studies 12
Table 1-2: Summary of Mean Skeletal Data20
Table 1-3: Summary of Mean Muscle and Fat Data
Chapter 2: Normalization of kinematic walking symmetry data to inform clinical considerations
for individuals who use lower-limb prostheses
Table 2-1: Summary of Included Studies
Table 2-2: Differences Between Prosthetic and Intact Limbs
Table 2-3: Normalized Symmetry Percentages
Chapter 3: Clinical evaluation of fall risk in older individuals who use lower-limb prostheses: a
scoping review
Table 3-1: Significant Associations with Falls 108
Chapter 4: Skeletal asymmetries in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputations
Table 4-1: Donor Demographics and Results 132

Chapter 5: Structural and physiological plasticity in thigh musculature of diabetic	male
anatomical donors with lower-limb amputation	

Table 5-1: Donor Demographics and PCSA Results	.14	4	6
--	-----	---	---

Chapter 6: *Musculoskeletal health in individuals with lower-limb amputations: differentiating influences of amputation and diabetes*

Table 6-1: Summarized Demographics 157
Table 6-2: Between-Limb Comparisons of Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur162
Table 6-3: Between-Group Comparisons of Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur166
Table 6-4: Between-Limb Comparisons of Femur Geometry
Table 6-5: Between-Group Comparisons of Femur Geometry

Chapter 7: Are inertial measurement units a viable data collection option for individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses?

Table 7-1: Participant Demographics	.202
Table 7-2: Discrete Point Absolute Differences and RMSE	204
Table 7-3: Waveform Average RMSE Values	204

Chapter 8: Preliminary data: relationship between retrospective falls with clinical outcome measure scores and walking symmetry in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses

Table 8-1: Demographics by Fall Status	232
Table 8-2: Clinical Outcomes by Fall Status	233
Table 8-3: Gait Parameters by Fall Status	234

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1: A review of musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals following major lower-limb
amputation
Figure 1-1: Flow diagram of the inclusion process11
Chapter 2: Normalization of kinematic walking symmetry data to inform clinical considerations
for individuals who use lower-limb prostheses
Figure 2-1: Flow diagram of the inclusion process
Chapter 3: Clinical evaluation of fall risk in older individuals who use lower-limb prostheses: a
scoping review
Figure 3-1: Flow diagram of the inclusion process107
Chapter 4: Skeletal asymmetries in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputations
Figure 4-1: Skeletal asymmetries between limbs134

Chapter 6: *Musculoskeletal health in individuals with lower-limb amputations: differentiating influences of amputation and diabetes*

Figure 6-1: Between-limb comparisons for joint, space, tissue area, and femur	61
Figure 6-2: Between-group comparisons for joint, space, tissue area, and femur16	55
Figure 6-3: Between-limb comparisons for femur geometry16	58
Figure 6-4: Between-group comparisons for femur geometry17	75

Chapter 7: Are inertial measurement units a viable data collection option for individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses?

Figure 7-1: Equipment Placement	196
Figure 7-2: Data Processing	199
Figure 7-3: Transtibial Participant Waveform Data	.205
Figure 7-4: Transfemoral Participant Waveform Data	.206

Chapter 8: Preliminary data: relationship between retrospective falls with clinical outcome measure scores and walking symmetry in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses

22	28
2	2

INTRODUCTION

Individuals who have major lower-limb loss or absence, defined as occurring at or above the tarsometatarsal joint, experience a wide variety of adverse health outcomes. For individuals in this population who use a unilateral lower-limb prosthesis, two prevalent adverse health outcomes are increased risks of developing overuse injuries, such as osteoarthritis, and experiencing falls. Despite advances in healthcare technology, these adverse health outcomes are still treated after they occur, rather than prospectively monitored to help prevent the adverse health outcome from occurring. In order to reduce the prevalence of overuse injuries and falls in this population, more research is needed to establish evidence-based clinical guidelines to help prospectively evaluate these risks.

Individuals in this population typically display less symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs compared to the general population. This has been attributed to changes in musculoskeletal and biomechanical loading, with less load on the prosthetic limb than the intact limb. Symmetry is typically considered a major goal of prosthetic rehabilitation, but there is no objective way to quantify symmetry in clinical practice. Decreased musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs may be associated with greater incidences of overuse injuries and falls, but this relationship has not been directly determined. Further, a large portion of individuals in the amputee population are older or diabetic, but this is not reflected in populations typically included in musculoskeletal and biomechanical research. To directly determine these relationships, musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry must first be quantified.

Lower-limb musculoskeletal health influences walking biomechanics, which in turn influences lower-limb musculoskeletal health. Examining both the influence of musculoskeletal symmetry on overuse injury risk (e.g. hip and knee joint space narrowing as indications of osteoarthritis) and biomechanical symmetry on fall risk (e.g. ankle range of motion associated with number of falls) offers a broader perspective on proactively evaluating and reducing these risks. Further, a large portion of individuals in the amputee population are older or diabetic, but this is not reflected in populations typically included in musculoskeletal and biomechanical research.

While previous musculoskeletal research has focused on incidence of overuse injuries, underlying anatomical adaptations have largely been ignored. Quantifying anatomical characteristics that are indicators of overuse injuries in a way that is non-invasive (e.g. x-ray or CT scans) could allow for prospective identification of a decline in musculoskeletal health. Further, examining musculoskeletal properties in anatomical donors and post-mortem CT scans can allow us to examine musculoskeletal properties not feasible in living individuals (e.g. physiological cross-sectional area via muscle dissection). The ability to capture these musculoskeletal properties in more detail can allow for a more accurate representation of the adaptations of certain musculoskeletal properties, which can then help inform future directions for studies in living individuals.

While previous biomechanics research has focused on assessing the relationship between clinical outcome measures (e.g. Timed Up and Go) and number of retrospective falls, only one study has recently assessed prospective fall risk in this population. Further, none have attempted to determine the relationship between walking symmetry and number of falls, though this has been shown in

individuals with other lower-limb pathologies (e.g. stroke). Additionally, while studies have recently begun using wearable sensors called inertial measurement units to quantify gait in clinical practice, none have directly compared inertial measurement unit data to the gold standard of motion capture. Validating the use of inertial measurement units in clinical practice and using them to determine the relationship between walking symmetry and prospective fall risk could help inform a clinical guideline for fall risk prediction.

Therefore, this dissertation sought to quantify musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs to determine relationships to overuse injuries and fall risks. Specifically, this dissertation aimed to: 1) quantify musculoskeletal symmetry to determine musculoskeletal properties vulnerable to overuse injuries, such as osteoarthritis or femoral fractures, and 2) quantify biomechanical symmetry to determine if gait assessment can supplement clinical measures to determine fall risk. Findings could help establish clinical guidelines to proactively assess and reduce risks of overuse injuries and falls.

Different terminology for this population exists depending on whether individuals have congenital limb absence, had an amputation, or used a prosthesis, as well as their level of limb difference. In this dissertation, musculoskeletal studies refer to anatomical donors as individuals with amputation, since amputation surgery was recorded for each individual. Biomechanical studies refer to living individuals as unilateral prosthesis users, since each participant used a unilateral prosthesis. The phrase 'limb loss or absence' is used to generally refer to all individuals in this dissertation, regardless of etiology or prosthesis user. The term transtibial refers to individuals who have limb loss below the knee or use a below-knee prosthesis, while transfemoral refers to individuals who have limb loss above the knee or use an above-knee prosthesis.

Section 1 contains three review manuscripts that summarize recent literature surrounding musculoskeletal symmetry, biomechanical symmetry, and clinical evaluation of fall risk in this population. Section 2 contains three musculoskeletal studies that investigated anatomical differences between amputated and intact lower-limbs to inform risks of overuse injuries. Section 3 contains two biomechanical studies that validated wearable sensors against the gold standard of motion capture systems and investigated whether biomechanical symmetry from these wearable sensors can help evaluate fall risk in clinical practice. At the time of submitting this dissertation, Chapters 5 and 8 are the only chapters that are not published (Chapters 1 and 4), accepted (Chapter 2), or in review (Chapters 3, 6, and 7).

SECTION 1: LITERATURE REVIEWS

CHAPTER 1

A REVIEW OF MUSCULOSKELETAL ADAPTATIONS IN INDIVIDUALS FOLLOWING MAJOR LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATION

CHAPTER 2

NORMALIZATION OF KINEMATIC WALKING SYMMETRY DATA TO INFORM CLINICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR INDIVIDUALS WHO USE LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES

CHAPTER 3

CLINICAL EVALUATION OF FALL RISKS IN OLDER ADULTS WHO USE LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES: A SCOPING REVIEW

CHAPTER 1

A REVIEW OF MUSCULOSKELETAL ADAPTATIONS IN INDIVIDUALS FOLLOWING MAJOR LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATION

Journal of Musculoskeletal and Neuronal Interactions (2022), 22(2):269 - 283

PMID: 35642706

https://www.ismni.org/jmni/pdf/88/jmni_22_269.pdf

MG Finco^{1*} & Suhhyun Kim^{1,2*}, Wayne Ngo², Rachel Menegaz¹ *co-first authors ¹Department of Physiology and Anatomy, University of North Texas Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107

²Texas College of Osteopathic Medicine, University of North Texas Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107

Abstract

Structural musculoskeletal adaptations following amputation, such as bone mineral density (BMD) or muscle architecture, are often overlooked despite their established contributions to gait rehabilitation and the development of adverse secondary physical conditions. The purpose of this review is to provide a summary of the existing literature investigating musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals with major lower-limb amputations to inform clinical practice and provide directions for future research.

Google Scholar, PubMed, and Scopus were searched for original peer-reviewed studies that included individuals with transtibial or transfemoral amputations.

Summary data of twenty-seven articles indicated reduced BMD and increased muscle atrophy in amputees compared to controls, and in the amputated limb compared to intact and control limbs. Specifically, BMD was reduced in T-scores and Z-scores, femoral neck, proximal tibia, and bone mineral content. Muscle atrophy was evidenced by decreased thigh cross-sectional area, decreased quadriceps thickness, and increased amounts of thigh fat.

Overall, amputees have impaired musculoskeletal health. Future studies should include dysvascular etiologies to address their effects on musculoskeletal health and functional mobility. Moreover, clinicians can use these findings to screen increased risks of adverse sequelae such as fractures, osteopenia/porosis, and muscular atrophy, as well as target specific rehabilitation exercises to reduce these risks.

Keywords: anatomy, physiology, remodeling, symmetry, limb loss

Introduction

Major lower-limb amputations occurring proximal to the tarsometatarsal joint are experienced by a variety of adults, ranging from young veterans with traumatic etiologies to elderly individuals with dysvascular etiologies¹. Gait adaptations post-amputation lead to changes in loading and muscle recruitment strategies², which influences asymmetries between amputated and intact limbs. Specifically, less force is transmitted through the amputated limb compared to the intact limb, resulting in musculoskeletal remodeling^{3,4}. These adaptations often result in adverse clinical sequelae in this population, such as osteopenia and muscle atrophy, which may influence functional mobility and quality of life^{5, 6}.

Structural musculoskeletal properties are defined in this manuscript as anatomical or physiological components, such as bone mineral density (BMD) and muscle architecture. Structural musculoskeletal properties have been understudied despite their known contributions to gait and rehabilitation post-amputation⁷. Several original research articles exist on the epidemiology or prevalence of outcomes associated with structural musculoskeletal properties^{8, 9}, and existing literature reviews address the clinical presentations such as leg strengthening exercise⁶, low back pain¹⁰, and walking ability^{11, 12}. A review by Gailey et al. (2015) discussed musculoskeletal factors associated with negative secondary health effects, such as osteopenia, but only two of forty-four articles discussed structural musculoskeletal properties⁵. A current review dedicated to structural musculoskeletal adaptations following amputation is lacking from the literature.

Since studies have found increased risks of osteopenia and muscle atrophy^{13, 14} along with increased adverse events such as falls and fractures^{15, 16} in the amputee population, a better understanding of the underlying structural changes can broaden the range of clinical solutions to increase symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs and assess these risks. A summary of findings could also provide evidence to proactively monitor musculoskeletal health to predict fracture or fall risks, as well as inform recommendations of specific rehabilitation exercises.

Therefore, this review aims to summarize literature investigating structural musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals with unilateral major lower-limb amputations to inform clinical practice and provide directions for future research.

Methods

A search was performed on Dec 1st, 2021 in Google Scholar, PubMed, and Scopus to encompass peer-reviewed original research articles of structural musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals post-amputation, such as BMD and muscle architecture. References from included studies were also examined for inclusion.

The following search terms were used:

<u>Google Scholar:</u> musculoskeletal OR muscle OR skeletal OR bone OR physiol* OR anatom* AND amput* AND below-knee OR "below knee" transtibial OR above-knee OR "above knee" transfemoral OR leg OR lower-limb OR lower limb

<u>PubMed:</u> ((((soft tissue injuries[MeSH Terms]) OR ((muscle, skeletal[MeSH Terms]) AND (pathology[MeSH Subheading])) OR ((muscular atrophy[MeSH Terms]) AND (pathology[MeSH Subheading])) OR ((adiposity[MeSH Terms]) AND (physiology[MeSH Subheading])) OR (adipose tissue[MeSH Terms])) OR (bone mineral density[MeSH Terms] OR bone mineral densit*[Title/Abstract] OR bone densit[Title/Abstract] OR BMD[Title/Abstract])) AND ((((amputees[MeSH Terms]) OR (amputation[MeSH Terms])) OR (amput*[Title/Abstract])) AND ((below-knee OR transtibial OR trans-tibial OR above-knee OR transfemoral OR trans-femoral OR leg OR lower-limb OR lower limb OR "above knee" OR "below knee") OR ((extremities, lower[MeSH Terms])))))

<u>Scopus:</u> musculoskeletal OR muscle OR skeletal OR bone OR physiol* OR anatom* AND amput* AND below-knee OR "below knee" transtibial OR above-knee OR "above knee" transfemoral OR leg OR lower-limb OR lower limb

Original research articles were included if they investigated underlying structural musculoskeletal properties, defined as anatomical or physiological components (e.g. BMD, muscle architecture), in the lower-limbs of individuals of any age after transtibial or transfemoral amputation surgery. Title screening excluded articles that did not include individuals with amputation or were not original research studies (e.g. literature reviews). Abstracts were excluded if they were not peer-reviewed or if they were case reports, defined as less than five participants. Full-text articles were excluded if they were not available in English, used computer modeling in place of participant testing, or did not contain structural musculoskeletal methodology. For example, while skin morphology is an important consideration¹⁷, it was not the purpose of this review.

MGF adapted and applied search terms from a librarian at the University of North Texas Health Science Center and performed title screening. MGF, SK, and WN performed abstract and full-text screening. MGF and SK discussed all articles that passed full-text screening to ensure inclusion of appropriate articles and to ensure data was summarized accurately.

Results

A total of twenty-seven studies were included after applying inclusion and exclusion criteria [Figure 1]. All studies are summarized in Table 1 and are grouped by whether they utilized skeletal (n=15, where n represents the number of studies) or muscular (n=12) methodology. Bemben et al. (2017) and Cavedon et al. (2021) were the only studies that utilized both skeletal and muscular methodology and both primarily utilized skeletal methodology^{18, 19}.



Figure 1: Flow diagram of the inclusion process.

	Author, Vear	Title Participants W Amputation		Methods	Time Points	Comparison
Skeletal	Bemben et al. (2017)	Acute bone changes after lower limb amputation resulting from traumatic injury	8 TT; Mean age 35.4 (SD 11.1); All traumatic etiologies	DXA measured BMD for total body, lumbar spine, femoral neck, proximal femur; pQCT measured residual limb volumetric BMD, stress-strain index, and muscle cross-sectional area	prior to prosthesis fitting; 6 months post-prosthesis; 12 months post- prosthesis; additional blood draw occurred at time of surgery	amputated vs intact limbs; over time points
	Cavedon et al. (2021)	Body composition and bone mineral density in athletes with a physical impairment	18 total 7 TT and 11 TF Mean age 34.4; All athletes of at least two years in adaptive sports	DXA measured whole-body and regional: total mass, lean mass, fat mass, % fat mass, fat mass/lean mass, BMC, and BMD	cross-sectional; inclusion stated all athletes of at least two years in adaptive sports	amputated vs intact limbs; amputee group vs spinal cord injury group vs control group
	Haket et al. (2017)	Periprosthetic cortical bone remodeling in patients with an osseointegrated leg prosthesis	27 TF with osseointegration; 21 males, 6 females Mean age 48 (range 23- 68); Mean TSA 18 years (range 2-45)	DXA measured BMD at the femoral neck (DXA only included 24 patients); X-ray measured periprosthetic cortical thickness;	immediately post-op; 1 year post-op; 2 years post-op	amputated vs intact; time points
	Hansen et al. (2019)	Changes in periprosthetic bone mineral density and bone turnover markers after osseointegrated implant surgery: A cohort study of 20 transfemoral amputees with 30-month follow-up	19 TF with osseointegration; 12 males, 7 females; Mean age 49 (SD 11.17)	DXA measured BMD in lumbar spine, proximal femur and seven periprosthetic regions (zones 1-7 may or may not be similar to other studies)	pre-op (2-21 days before surgery), and 1, 3, 6, 7, 9, 12, 18, 24 and 30 months after the S1 surgery or until implant was removed	amputees vs controls; removed OI implant over nonremoved OI implant; over time points
	Hoyt et al. (2021)	Femoral Neck Hounsfield Units as an Adjunct for Bone Mineral Density After Combat-Related Lower Extremity Amputation	26 individuals with 30 amputations total; 17 TT amputations and 13 TF amputations; All males; Mean age 26.4 (range 22- 29); All traumatic etiologies	DXA measured BMD at femoral neck; CT measured Hounsfield units at femoral neck	cross-sectional; inclusion criteria stated DXA and CT scans within 6 months of each other; DXA scans taken 5-11 months post-injury (mean 6 months)	correlation b/t hounsfield units from CT scans and BMD from DXA scans

Table 1: Summary of Included Studies

Ramírez et al. (2011)	Analysis of bone demineralization due to the use of exoprosthesis by comparing Young's modulus of the femur in unilateral transfemoral amputees	20 TF; 3 females and 17 males; Mean age 44.6 (range 23– 71); Mean TSA 10.9 years; All used SACH foot and mechanical monocentric knee	CT measured Young's Modulus (no BMD data presented- just correlations)	cross-sectional; no inclusion criteria stated	amputated vs intact proximal femur at three locations= femoral neck, metaphysis just below lesser trochanter, and proximal quarter of the diaphysis
Royer and Koenig (2005)	Joint loading and bone mineral density in persons with unilateral, trans-tibial amputation	 9 TT; 8 male 1 female; Mean age 41.7 (SD 10.6); Mean TSA 16.7 years (STD 10.9); All used ESAR feet; 4 traumatic etiologies, 1 diabetic, 2 congenital, 1 blood clot, 1 infection; 	DXA measured BMD in proximal femur and tibia	cross-sectional	amputated vs intact vs averaged matched control limb value
Rush et al. (1994)	Osteopenia in patients with above knee amputation	16 TF; All male; Mean age 48 range (23- 66) All ischial weight bearing sockets; 9 suction sockets and 7 silesian belt suspension; 8 traumatic etiologies, 6 cancer, 2 vascular	DXA measured BMD for L2 and femoral neck	cross-sectional; inclusion says prosthesis users for over 5 years	amputated vs intact; amputee group vs controls

Sherk et al. (2008)	BMD and bone geometry in transtibial and transfemoral amputees	14 total; 7 TT (5 males and 2 females); Mean age 43.4 (SD 6.0); 7 TF (6 males and 1 female); Mean age 45.7 (SD 5.7); TSA (14.7 TT and 15.5 TF), and hours/day of prosthesis wear (15 TT and 11 TF); 11 traumatic etiologies, 1 secondary to diabetes, 1 secondary to diabetes, 1 secondary to circulation issues, and 1 secondary to osteomyelitis; both groups had similar numbers of years wearing a prosthesis (14.4 TT and 15.4 TF),	DXA measured areal BMD of the dual proximal femur, lumbar spine, and total body; pQCT measured volumetric BMD and bone geometry at the distal ends of both limbs	cross-sectional; inclusion stated ambulatory with a prosthesis for at least 6 months	amputated vs intact limbs; group comparisons for both levels and two groups of nonamputee controls (one transtibial control group and one transfemoral control group)
Smith et al. (2009)	A study of bone mineral density in adults with disability	52 lower-limb amputees (no further details)	DXA measured BMD for total lumbar spine, femoral neck, total proximal femur	cross-sectional; inclusion stated they had to have their disability for at least 3 months	amputees vs other groups with musculoskelet al deficits (e.g. spinal cord injury)
Smith et al. (2011)	A study of BMD in lower limb amputees at a national prosthetics center	52 total; 24 TT; 19 TF; 8 bilateral; 1 hip disarticulation; 39 males and 13 females Mean age 61.9 (SD 12.8)	DXA measured BMD in lumbar spine, femoral neck, and proximal femur	cross-sectional	amputated vs intact; male vs female
Thomson et al. (2019A)	Proximal Bone Remodeling in Lower Limb Amputees	48 total with osseointegration;	DXA measured BMD at lumbar spine and femoral neck	pre-op; 1 year post-op; and 3 years post-op	amputated vs intact limbs; between

		Reconstructed With an Osseointegrated Prosthesis	15 TT (12 males and 3 females) and 33 TF (22 males and 11 females); Mean age 51 (SD 13.5); TF group split into 2 groups depending on presence of femoral neck lag screw			amputation level/femoral neck screw groups; over time points
	Thomson et al. (2019B)	Radiographic Evaluation of Bone Remodeling Around Osseointegration Implants Among Transfemoral Amputees	28 TF with osseointegration; 15 received integral leg prosthesis (10 male and 5 female) and 13 received osseointegration prosthetic limb type A (8 male and 5 female); Mean age 48 years (SD 12.4)	X-rays measured bone density, longitudinal bone coverage, and bone width	about 6 months post-op (0.4 with STD of 0.5 years); about 3 years post-op(3.0 with STD of 0.8 years)	7 femoral (inverse Gruen) zones; between osseointegratio n implant groups; over time points
	Tugcu et al. (2009)	Muscle strength and bone mineral density in mine victims with transtibial amputation	15 TT; All male; Mean age 26.2 (SD 3.9); Mean TSA 57.9 months (SD 47.5) All traumatic etiologies; All PTB sockets	DXA measured BMD at femoral neck, Ward's triangle, total femur, and total tibia	cross-sectional	amputated vs intact
	Yaziciogl u et al. (2008)	Osteoporosis: A factor on residual limb pain in traumatic trans-tibial amputations	36 TT; All male; Mean age 26.8 (SD 3.5); Mean TSA 62.8 months (SD 37); All traumatic etiologies	DXA measured BMD for femoral neck, Ward's triangle, total hip, and proximal tibia	cross-sectional	amputated vs intact
Muscular	Bramley et al. (2021)	Changes in Tissue Composition and Load Response After Transtibial Amputation Indicate Biomechanical Adaptation	10 TT; (6 males and 4 females); Mean age 41 (range 25- 62); Mean TSA 7.5 years; 2 chronic regional pain disease etiologies, 2 congenital, 5 traumatic, 1 vascular; Mean daily socket use 12.5 hours (range 6-16)	MRI measured fatty infiltration of limbs	cross-sectional	amputated vs intact vs control

de Palma et al. (2011)	Involvement of the muscle-tendon junction in skeletal muscle atrophy: an ultrastructural study	15 TT Group A= 12 elderly (mean age 79 years; range 65-85) 10 males and 2 females; 10 vascular etiologies, 1 osteomyelitis, 1 cancer Group B= 3 healthy young adults (mean age 32 range 25-35); All male; All traumatic etiologies	Histology measured fiber structures; EM measured base/perimeter ratio in musculotendinous junction	cross-sectional	Group A vs B
George e al. (2021	E Circumference Method Estimates Percent Body Fat in Males U.S. Service Members with Lower Limb Loss	47 total; 23 unilateral TT; 4 bilateral TT; 14 unilateral TF; 3 bilateral TF; 3 TT/TF; Mean age 27.6 years (SD 5.7)	DXA measured percent body fat	cross-sectional	amputees vs controls
Henson e al. (2021	t Understanding lower limb muscle volume adaptations to amputation	12 total; 6 unilateral TT; mean age 33.7 years (SD 1.9); mean TSA 7.5 years 6 bilateral TF; mean age 31.8 years (SD 2.9); mean TSA 7.2 years; All male; All traumatic etiologies; All used dynamic response feet; All TF used MPKs	MRI measured gross skeletal measurements and muscle volume	cross-sectional	amputated vs intact (in TT) vs control
Jaegers e al. (1995	Changes in hip muscles after above-knee amputation	12 TF; Mean age 38.2 (SD of 18); TSA 3- 35 years (mean 9.4); 7 traumatic etiology and 5 osteosarcomic etiology	MRI measured femur and muscle volume	cross-sectional; inclusion said at least 2 years post- amputation	amputated vs intact vs control

 Onat et al. (2016)	Ultrasonographic assessment of the quadriceps muscle and femoral cartilage in transtibial amputees using different prostheses	38 TT; 13 using vacuum suspension; 11 male and 2 female; Mean age 41.9 years with SD 11.8; TSA 10.8 years; Prosthesis use 5.6 years); 25 using pin-lock suspension; 20 males and 5 females; Mean age 40.6 years with SD 11.6; Mean TSA 16.3 years; prosthesis use 6.6 years)	Ultrasound of femoral cartilage thickness (intercondylar area, lateral femoral condyle, medial femoral condyle) and quadriceps muscle thickness (rectus femoris, vastus intermedius, vastus intermedius, and vastus medialis)	cross-sectional; inclusion states at least 6 months of prosthesis use	amputated vs intact limbs; two suspension groups
Putz et al. (2017)	Structural changes in the thigh muscles following trans-femoral amputation	12 TF; 6 males and 6 females; Mean age 44.1 at amputation (range 21-69); All cancer	MRI measured fatty infiltration and degeneration at the middle and distal end of specific muscles within the residual limb	about 1 year post-op (avg 10.6 months SD 12.6); about 2 years post-op (avg 25.6 months SD 21.4); 12 patients included at time 1 but only 7 patients included at time 2	middle vs end of residual limb; time points
Renström et al. (1983)	Thigh muscle atrophy in below-knee amputees	10 TT; 8 males and 2 females; Mean age 56; 4 vascular etiologies, 2 infection, 4 trauma; Mean TSA 24 months (SD 37)	Histology measured fast and slow-twitch fibers, fiber sizes, and fiber area; CT measured mean fiber area of muscles in the thigh; measuring tape determined cross-sectional area of the thigh	cross-sectional	amputated vs intact; type 1 vs 2 fibers
Schmalz et al. (2001)	Selective thigh muscle atrophy in trans-tibial amputees: an ultrasonographic study.	17 TT; 15 male and 2 female; Mean age 47 (SD 18); 14 traumatic etiologies, 1 due to infection, 1 due to tumor, and 1 due to venous thrombosis;	Ultrasound measured cross- sectional area and thickness of the quadriceps femoris, sartorius, gracillis, semitendinosus, and biceps femoris	cross-sectional; demographics state at least 6 months of prosthesis use (range 0.5 - 19 years with median of 5 years)	amputated vs intact vs control limb

		All had patellar tendon bearing prostheses			
Sharma et al. (2019)	Fast and slow myosin as markers of muscle regeneration in mangled extremities: a pilot study	15 lower-limb amputees (no level details); All trauma	Histology measured fast and slow myosin in residual limb	during amputation surgery, at 7 day follow- up	fast vs slow myosin; time points
Sherk et al. (2010)	Interlimb muscle and fat comparisons in persons with lower-limb amputation	12 total 7 TT; Mean age 43.4 (SD 15.8) 5 TF; Mean age 38.5 (SD 10.6)	DXA measured thigh and lower-leg fat mass and bone-free lean body mass; qQCT measured muscle cross-sectional areas and fat cross-sectional areas of the end of residual and intact limbs with thresholding technique to determine the composition of fat vs muscle	cross-sectional; inclusion states ambulatory for at least 6 months	amputated vs intact limbs; amputee vs control groups
Sibley et al. (2020)	The effects of long-term muscle disuse on neuromuscular function in unilateral transtibial amputees	9 TT; All male; Mean age 40.3 (SD 8.5); All traumatic etiologies	Ultrasound of the vastus lateralis measured muscle thickness, pennation angle, and fascicle length	cross-sectional; inclusion states amputation performed at least 6 months prior	amputated vs intact vs control

Table 1: Studies are categorized by skeletal or muscular methodologies. All individuals with amputation were unilaterally affected

unless otherwise specified. Mean age is in years unless otherwise specified. Abbreviations: TT= transtibial, TF= transfermoral, SD= standard deviation, TSA = time since amputation, DXA= Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry, pQCT= peripheral quantitative computed tomography, BMD= bone mineral density, CT= computed tomography, MRI= magnetic resonance imaging, MPKs= microprocessor knees.

<u>Participant Demographics</u>: Included studies were composed of transtibial amputees (n=10), transfemoral amputees (n=7), both (n=9), or unclear (n=2). The majority of studies included twenty participants with amputation or less (n=18). Eleven studies included females. Fifteen studies included individuals with traumatic etiology, with eight of those exclusively studying individuals with traumatic etiologies. In contrast, only a few studies included individuals with etiologies due to dysvascular issues (n=6), cancer (n=7), or congenital limb deficiency (n=2). Most studies had a mean participant age of 40- 49 years (n=13). Few studies recorded time since amputation (n=9), activity level (n=7), prosthetic wear time (n=7), or prosthetic componentry (n=8).

<u>Comparisons:</u> There were a wide variety of comparisons conducted across all studies. While most studies compared each individual's amputated limb to their intact limb (n=18), some also compared individuals with amputations to control groups of individuals without amputations (n=11) or individuals with spinal cord injury (n=2). Subgroups of individuals with amputation (n=9) were also compared by transtibial and transfemoral (n=4), osseointegration type (n=3), prosthetic suspension (n=1), and age (n=1). Studies were either cross-sectional (n=20) or compared data collected at multiple time points (n=7). Of these seven studies, two-time points (n=3), three-time points (n=3), and ten-time points (n=1) were compared.

<u>Methodology & Parameters:</u> Studies employed a variety of methodologies to measure skeletal and muscular properties. The studied parameters were inconsistent across studies, but those reported by a minimum of two or more studies are summarized in Table 2 and 3 for skeletal and muscular properties, respectively.

	Study	TT Group	TF Group	Amp Group (level unknown)	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF limb	Intact Limb	Amp Limb (level unknown)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
T- Scores	Femoral no	eck										
	Smith et al. (2011)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-1.91 male, - 2.63 female	-1.3 male, - 1.96 female	-
	Tugcu et al. (2009)	-	-	-	-	-0.4	0.8	-	-	-	-	-
	Yaziciog lu et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	-0.69	0.35	-	-	-	-	-
	Hip											
	Tugcu et al. (2009)	-	-	-	-	-0.5	1.1	-	-	-	-	-
	Yaziciog lu et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	-0.88	0.59	-	-	-	-	-
	Ward's tria	ngle										
	Tugcu et al. (2009)	-	-	-	-	0.3	1.5	-	-	-	-	-
	Yaziciog lu et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	-0.12	0.84	-	-	-	-	-
Z- Scores	Lumbar sp	ine										
	Smith et al. (2011)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.11 male, 0.63 female	-

Table 2: Summary of Mean Skeletal Data

	Study	TT Group	TF Group	Amp Group (level unknown) 0 163	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF limb	Intact Limb	Amp Limb (level unknown)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
	et al. (2019A)	0.400	without femoral lag screw, - 0.3 with	0.105								
	Femoral neo	ck										
	Smith et al. (2011)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-0.38 male, 0.19 female	-1.01 male, - 0.48 female	-
	Thomson et al. (2019A)	-	-	-	-	-0.32	0.4428	-2.309 without femoral lag screw, - 2.291 with	0.0476 without femoral lag screw, 0.3273 with	-	-	-
BMD (g/cm^2)	Whole-body											
	Bemben et al. (2017)	1.271 pre, 1.279 6MO, 1.271 12MO	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Cavedon et al. (2021)	1.2	1.15		1.17*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Sherk et al. (2008)	1.272	1.227	-	1.275 for TT controls, 1.264 for TF controls	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Study	TT Group	TF Group	Amp Group (Level Unk).).	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF Limb	Intact Limb	Amp Limb (Level Unk.)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
Lumbar s	pine			-							
Bemben et al. (2017)	1.266 pre, 1.244 6MO, 1.257 12MO	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Hansen et al. (2019)	-	1.13	-	1.18	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Sherk et al. (2008)	1.296	1.241	-	1.336 for TT controls 1.441 for TF controls	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Smith et al. (2009)	-	-	0.994	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Smith et al. (2011)	-	-	1.039 male, 0.865 female	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Thomson et al. (2019A)	1.3164	1.268 without femoral lag screw 1.173 with femoral lag screw	1.261	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Femoral	neck	0									
Bemben et al. (2017)	-	-	-	-	1.087 pre, 0.996 6MO, 0.984 12MO	1.119 pre, 1.087 6MO, 1.095 12MO	-	-	-	-	-

Study	TT Group	TF Group	Amp Group (level unknown)	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF limb	Intact Limb	Amp Limb (level unknown)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
Haket et al. (2017)	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.68 preop, 0.67 12MO, 0.69 24MO		_	-	-
Rush et al. (1994)	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.68	1.01	-	-	-
Sherk et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	1.015	1.077	0.704	1.064	-	-	1.072 for TT, 1.146 for TF
Smith et al. (2009)	-	-	0.724	-	-	-	-	-		-	-
Smith et al. (2011)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.672 male, 0.556 female	0.753 male, 0.632 female	-
Thomson et al. (2019A)	-	-	-	-	0.9747	1.072	0.709 without femoral lag screw, 0.6725 with	1.016 without femoral lag screw, 1.01 with	0.783	1.031	-
Tugcu et al. (2009)	-	-	-	-	1.01	1.55	_	-	-	-	-
Yaziciog lu et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	0.97	1.11	-	-	-	-	-

Study	TT Group	TF Group	Amp Group (Level Unk).).	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF Limb	Intact Limb	Amp Limb (Level Unk.)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
Ward's tr	riangle			·					. ,		
Tugcu et al. (2009)	-	-	-	-	0.99	1.15	-	-	-	-	-
Yaziciog lu et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	0.94	1.06	-	-	-	-	-
Proximal	femur										
Bemben et al. (2017)	-	-	-	-	0.862 pre, 0.734 6MO, 0.739 12MO	0.904 pre, 0.911 6MO, 0.912 12MO	-	-	-	-	-
Hansen et al. (2019)	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.66	1.03	-	-	1.04
Royer and Koenig, (2005)	-	-	-	-	0.82*	0.94*	-	-	-	-	0.92*
Sherk et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	0.817	0.93	0.527	0.937	-	-	0.915 for TT, 0.904 for TF
Smith et al. (2009)	-	-	0.897	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Smith et al. (2011)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.807 male, 0.617 female	0.947 male, 0.738 female	-
Proximal	tibia										
Royer and Koenig, (2005)	-	-	-	-	0.75*	1.09*	_	-	-	-	0.99*

	Study	TT Group	TF Group	Amp Group (level unknown)	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF limb	Intact Limb	Amp Limb (level unknown)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
	Tugcu et al. (2009)	-	-	-	-	0.56	0.86	-	-	-	-	-
	Yaziciog lu et al. (2008)	-	-	-	-	0.6	0.95	-	-	-	-	-
volumet ric BMD (mg/cm ^3)	Total											
	Bemben et al. (2017)	-	-		-	-		-	-	701.1 pre, 564.9 6MO, 551.3 12MO	788.3 pre, 722.1 6MO, 798.1 12MO	-
	Sherk et al. (2008)	-	-		-	512.3	757.3	462.7	812.3	-	-	749.7 for TT controls, 927.7 for TF controls

Table 2: Summary of skeletal data reported in at least two studies included in this review. Asterisk (*) indicates value was estimated

from a graph. Dash (-) indicates data was not reported. Abbreviations: TT= transtibial, TF= transfemoral, BMD= bone mineral density, MO= months.

Table 3: Summary of Mean Muscle and Fat Data

	Study	TT Group	TF Group	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF Limb	Intact Limb	Amputated Limb (level unknown)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
Cross-	Thigh										
sectional area (mm ² or % compared to intact limb or % atrophy)	Bemben et al., (2017)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	6324.8 pre, 4117.8 6MO, 3554.7 12MO	6479.1 pre, 69(20.5 6MO, 6515.5 12MO	-
	Renstrom et al., (1983)	-	-	-	86%	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Sherk et al., (2010)	-	-	-	1621.3mm ²	5320.4mm 2	4818.9m m ²	17122.8mm 2	-	-	5675.9 mm ² TT, 17,028.3 mm ² TF
	Sartorius										
	Jaegers et al., (1995)	-	-	-	40.1% atrophy compared to intact	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	88.30%	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Gracilis										
	Jaegers et al., (1995)	-	-	-	24.6% atrophy compared to intact	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	95.10%	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Study	TT Group	TF Group	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF Limb	Intact Limb	Amputated Limb (level unknown)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
--	----------------------------	-------------	-------------	---------------	---	----------------	---------	----------------	---	----------------	-----------------
	Semitendinosus										
	Jaegers et al., (1995)	-	-	-	44.3% atrophy compared to intact	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	91.90%	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Biceps femoris (long head)										
	Jaegers et al., (1995)	-	-	-	32.9% atrophy compared to intact	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	92.00%	-	-	-	-	-	-
Thickness (mm or % compared to intact limb)	Vastus lateralis										
	Onat et al., (2016)	-	-	-	9.63mm	11.06mm	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	80.20%	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Sibley et al., (2020)	-	-	-	15.4mm	26.3mm	-	-	-	-	25.0mm
	Rectus femoris										
	Onat et al., (2016)	-	-	-	15.6mm	17.63mm	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	84.30%	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Vastus medialis										
	Onat et al., (2016)	_	_	-	11.6mm	17.04mm	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	76.20%	-	-	-	-	-	-

	Study	TT Group	TF Group	Control Group	TT Limb	Intact Limb	TF Limb	Intact Limb	Amputated Limb (level unknown)	Intact Limb	Control Limb
	Vastus intermedius										
	Onat et al., (2016)	-	-	-	12.23mm	16.66mm	-	-	-	-	-
	Schmalz et al., (2001)	-	-	-	69.60%	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fat Mass (%)	Whole-Body % Fat M	lass									
	Cavedon et al., (2021)	21.47	21.45	16*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Sherk et al., (2010)	33.5	32.4	24.2 TT controls 25.5 TF controls	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	George et al., (2021)	uni 23.1; bi 23.1	uni 23.4; bi 17.2	19.5							
	Affected Thigh % Fat Mass										
	Cavedon et al., (2021)	26.5	34.58	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Sherk et al., (2010)	38*	42*	30.0 TT controls, 29.0 TF controls*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Intact Thigh % Fat M	lass									
	Cavedon et al., (2021)	20.66	21.72	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	Sherk et al., (2010)	36*	33*	30.5 TT controls, 28.5 TF controls*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3: Summary of muscle and fat data reported in at least two studies included in this review. Asterisk (*) indicates value was estimated from a graph. Dash (-) indicates data was not reported. Abbreviations: TT= transfermental, uni= unilateral limb loss, bi= bilateral limb loss.

The majority used dual x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (n=13) to measure T-scores of the femoral neck (n=3), hip (n=2), and Ward's triangle (n=2), and Z-scores of the lumbar spine (n=2), and femoral neck (n=2). The same methodologies were utilized to report bone mineral density (BMD) in parameters of whole-body (n=3), lumbar spine (n=6), femoral neck (n=10), Ward's triangle (n=2), proximal femur (n=6), proximal tibia (n=3), and volumetric BMD (n=2). Other methodologies utilized to obtain the above properties were peripheral quantitative computed tomography (pQCT) scans (n=2), computed tomography (CT) scans (n=2), and x-rays (n=2).

Muscular methodologies utilized for each parameter were even less consistent. Histology (n=3) was employed to measure the fiber structures, fiber composition/size, ultrasound was employed to measure various muscle thicknesses the vastus lateralis (n=3), rectus femoris (n=2), vastus medialis (n=2), and vastus intermedius (n=2). MRI (n=4) was used in measuring fatty degeneration as well as femur and muscle volume, DXA (n=3) was utilized to measure whole-body, thigh, and lower-leg fat mass, qQCT (n=1) for muscle and fat CSA at the end of each limb. Muscle fiber typing could not be summarized in Table 3, because all four studies examined different muscles or properties^{6, 20-22}.

Discussion

Despite varying methodologies and reported parameters, studies agreed amputees compared to control groups and the amputated limb compared to the intact had reduced BMD and increased muscle atrophy. Specifically, reduced BMD was found in multiple parameters, T-scores and Z-scores, whole-body, lumbar spine, femoral neck, Ward's triangle, proximal femur, and proximal tibia. Additionally, muscle atrophy was found in parameters of decreased thigh cross-sectional

area (CSA) and quadriceps thickness with higher ratios of fat to muscle within the thigh. Overall, the correlation between altered structural parameters (e.g. reduced BMD and increased muscle atrophy) with adverse clinical outcomes, such as increased risks of fractures, osteopenia, osteoporosis, and reduced mobilities in this population was repeatedly reported by multiple studies.

Skeletal Adaptations

The majority of articles included in this review investigated BMD using DXA, which is the gold standard for screening osteopenia and osteoporosis but is rarely used in post-amputation management²³. Consistently, these studies revealed that individuals with amputations compared to control groups, and amputated limbs compared to intact/control limbs had reduced BMD. Moreover, there was increased prevalence of osteopenia or osteoporosis in amputees, shown by a lower T- and Z-scores^{15, 24-27}. In accordance with the World Health Organization classification, an individual's T-score is a comparison of their bone density to a healthy individual of the same sex who is 30 years of age, while a Z-score compares an individual's bone density to an individual of the same sex and sex²⁸. Therefore, T-scores are only sex-matched, while Z-scores are age and sex-matched.

Studies consistently found reduced BMD in the femoral neck and Ward's triangle in amputated limbs compared to intact limbs^{24-27, 29}. Ward's triangle is a small space within the femoral neck, located between the principal compressive, secondary compressive, and primary tensile trabeculae. BMD of Ward's triangle is a region of initial bone loss³⁰, with low BMD and high flexing strain ³¹

and is accepted as a sensitive indicator of osteoporosis³². Femoral neck BMD was reduced in amputated limbs regardless of amputation level. Ward's triangle BMD was only reported by two studies in individuals with transtibial amputation, and both indicated reduced BMD in the amputated limb. Overall, it is important to note that femoral neck and proximal femur BMD represents the greatest predictive power of fracture at that site^{24, 33} indicating that individuals with amputations are at an increased risk of femoral neck fractures compared to controls.

In congruence with the femoral neck and Ward's triangle results, the proximal femur (femoral neck, trochanter, total hip) and proximal tibia had reduced BMD compared to the intact limb and controls across studies. Three studies that reported proximal tibia BMD all compared transtibial limbs to intact limbs and found reduced BMD on the amputated limb^{25, 26, 34}. Royer and Koenig also included limbs from a control population, with values in between amputated and intact limbs. This finding further supports that the amputated limb is underused, and the intact limb is overused compared to control limbs. Reduced amputated limb BMD in the proximal tibia could be a factor in the development of intact limb knee osteoarthritis, which is prevalent in this population^{34, 35}.

All studies that reported whole-body or lumbar BMD found that BMD was most preserved in controls, followed by individuals with transtibial amputations, then individuals with transfermoral amputations. In a longitudinal study, whole-body and lumbar BMD over time in individuals with transtibial amputations had recovered baseline values at the 12-month follow-up despite having reduced values at the 6-month follow-up¹⁸, suggesting a rehabilitation and adaptation period over the first six months post-amputation, consistent with the findings in the lower limb BMD.

The two studies that reported volumetric BMD both found reduced values on the amputated limb compared to the intact limb^{18, 36}. Volumetric BMD, defined as BMC per volume of bone, can only be measured through computed tomography and is considered a more accurate measure of BMD compared to areal BMD³⁷⁻³⁹. Individuals with transfemoral amputation had greater reductions in volumetric BMD on the amputated limb than those with transtibial amputation³⁶. These studies, again, highlight the importance of knee joint sparing, when possible, and show structural adaptations occur within the first six months after the amputation.

Overall, these studies suggest that those with an amputated limb suffer from loss of BMD in their amputated limb as well as central whole-body and lumbar regions, but have potential to reach baseline with proper rehabilitation. Proactive skeletal screening post-amputation may help identify and reduce the prevalent risks of osteopenia and osteoporosis in this population through targeted rehabilitation exercises to increase loading at the affected limbs. In addition, decreasing the time between amputation and ambulation with a prosthesis within the first six months could be critical to maintaining bone health.

Muscular Adaptations

Studies that investigated muscular adaptations found a decrease in thigh CSA and quadriceps thickness, an increase in amounts of thigh fat, and more muscle fiber atrophy in the amputated limb compared to the intact limb.

Thigh muscle CSA was reduced in the amputated limb compared to the intact limb in three studies, despite reporting data in different units^{2, 18, 40}. Only one study to include a control group and found control limbs had similar CSA values to intact limbs in both individuals with transtibial and transfemoral amputations². Reduced thigh CSA and volume indicates reduced ability to generate force, which can impede push-off during gait^{14, 41} and contribute to the asymmetry between limbs⁴².

All three studies that reported quadriceps muscle thickness found reduced quadriceps muscle thickness in the amputated limb compared to the intact limb^{20, 43, 44}, indicating reductions in quadriceps strength. Additionally, the intact limb had greater thickness compared to the control limb, which aligns with many previous studies that have found that individuals will compensate by overusing their intact limb²⁰. The quadriceps are important in prosthetic control, particularly in terms of knee extension for stability and hip flexion for prosthetic clearance throughout gait, regardless of amputation level. Therefore, lack of quadriceps strength could potentially increase the prevalence of gait deviations and fall risk.

Fat mass was consistently greater in individuals with amputation compared to controls, especially in the thighs. Studies conflicted on whether individuals with transfemoral amputation had similar or greater fat mass compared to individuals with transtibial amputation, which may have been due to differences in included participants. Regardless of amputation level, thigh fat mass can be an important factor in achieving optimal prosthetic socket fit and effective prosthetic control². Quantifying fat mass can inform prosthetic modeling and fitting, as well as gait rehabilitation exercises to improve functional prosthesis use. Although the muscle architecture data could not be included in Table 3 due to the wide range of studied muscle groups and reported parameters, structural changes in fiber type, pennation angle, and fascicle length, are important indicators of muscle atrophy^{20-22, 40}. Despite lack of consistency in methodology across studies, findings include a complete reduction in fast-twitch compared to slow-twitch fibers in the amputated limb within seven days²¹, and a reduction in slow-twitch fibers⁴⁰ and shorter fascicle length²⁰ in the vastus lateralis of the amputated limb compared to the intact limb. Additionally, elderly individuals with vascular etiologies of transtibial amputation had split muscle fibers, fiber atrophy, reduced cross-sectional fiber area and length, and adipose tissue in the gastrocnemius compared to younger individuals with traumatic etiologies²². Fiber atrophy and shorter fascicle lengths in the amputated limb indicate impaired ability to generate force, which can impede gait.

Overall, these studies suggest that amputated limbs had less thigh CSA and quadriceps thickness, more thigh fat, and more muscle fiber atrophy with shorter fascicle lengths compared to the intact limb, which could impact gait through reduced knee stabilization and decreased propulsion. Proactive screening for lower limb muscular atrophy along with targeted exercises to specific thigh muscles could help prevent muscle atrophy reduction, and lead to increased symmetry between amputated and intact limbs.

Clinical Considerations

Osteopenia and osteoporosis: Studies in this review found increased risks of fractures, osteopenia, and osteoporosis, particularly at the femoral neck and distal end of the amputated limb. This aligns with retrospective studies in this population^{15, 45}, and agrees with previous literature that decreased loading results in reduced BMD^{34, 46}. Coupled with muscle atrophy, which has also been associated with decreased loading, this population is particularly vulnerable to local and generalized osteoporosis^{13, 25, 26, 29}. Clinicians could focus on recommending targeted rehabilitation exercises that increase weight-bearing load through the amputated limb, particularly within the first six months post-amputation.

Osseointegration: Individuals with osseointegration may not experience the same reductions in bone health as individuals who use traditional prostheses. After 30 months, individuals with removed implants had reduced BMD, but individuals with non-removed implants had BMD values normalized to baseline values⁴⁷. Regarding preservation of femoral neck Z-scores in individuals with osseointegration, studies were inconsistent with results ranging from decreased, no significant change, and increased Z-scores. Differences in findings may be explained by amputation levels of included participants or different time points for follow-up measurements^{27, 48, 49}. Maintenance or increase of BMD may be evidence of more activity on the prosthetic limb or more frequent ambulation²⁷. Two studies agreed periprosthetic cortical thickness around the implant increased over two years^{24, 49}. Muscles contribute to femur stabilization with osseointegrated implants more than with a traditional prosthetic socket, which may lead to increased periprosthetic cortical thickness^{48, 49}. Due to the loading differences between osseointegration and traditional prosthetic sockets, individuals with osseointegration may not experience the same declines in BMD. However, localized bone declines in the femoral neck and distal end as stated above could put

individuals at increased risk of periprosthetic fracture and surgery, potentially resulting in more proximal amputation levels.

Muscle strength: Studies that investigated structural muscle properties in this review found reduced thigh CSA, indicative of reduced force production. This finding aligns with many studies that have measured muscle contraction strength or force generation and absorption during gait⁵⁰. The reduced ability of the amputated limb to produce force can impede gait and factor into the development of secondary health conditions, such as osteoarthritis^{5, 51-53}. Studies in this review also found reduced quadriceps strength and increased thigh fat mass in the amputated limb, so exercises that increase quadriceps strength and reduce thigh fat mass could be goals prioritized in rehabilitation. Additionally, daily socket use was found to be negatively correlated with adipose infiltrating muscle in one study⁵⁴, indicating less daily socket use was associated with more muscle atrophy. This supports the importance of daily prosthesis use to limit residual limb atrophy.

Level of amputation: Studies that directly compared individuals with transtibial and transfemoral amputations typically found a greater degree of BMD reduction and muscle atrophy in individuals with transfemoral amputations^{2, 19, 27, 36}. This aligns with numerous studies in this population that have found individuals with transfemoral amputations are more affected than individuals with transtibial amputations due to more proximal functional loss⁵. Therefore, individuals with transfemoral amputations have more structural and functional limitations than individuals with transtibial amputations, generally resulting in decreased musculoskeletal health. Less force is transferred to the body, particularly the femur, because force is transferred through the prosthetic socket to soft tissue and the ischial tuberosity. Force passes through more soft tissue in a

transfemoral prosthesis compared to a transtibial prosthesis, due to amputation surgery and prosthesis design³⁶.

Time since amputation: Nearly all studies that measured multiple time points found significantly reduced BMD and increased muscle atrophy within six months or one year following amputation surgery. Findings suggest six months for skeletal rehabilitation and one year for muscular rehabilitation post-amputation may be a critical threshold of time to strengthen musculoskeletal health in rehabilitation^{18, 55}, but more research across multiple time points is needed.

Regional differences within the amputated limb: Studies that directly compared regional differences in musculoskeletal architecture along the amputated limb found reduced BMD and increased muscle atrophy at the distal end of the amputated limb compared to proximal or middle sections^{2, 36, 55}. Throughout the proximal femur, found the lowest Young's Modulus values and BMD at the femoral neck and the highest values at the proximal quarter diaphysis of the femur⁵⁶. These results suggest the femoral neck and distal end of the amputated limb may be important regions to monitor musculoskeletal health and target in rehabilitation.

Participant demographics: Findings in this review are not representative of the majority of individuals with amputations. The majority of participants included in the studies were adults between 18-65 years of age with traumatic etiologies. However, 42% of individuals with limb loss are 65 years of age or older regardless of etiology, and 54% have dysvascular etiologies, such as diabetes mellitus and peripheral artery disease that have been associated with increased bone loss,

fracture risks, osteoporosis/penia^{1, 57-62}. Additionally, studies rarely compared results by amputated limb length, time since amputation, activity level, or prosthetic wear time, and findings typically conflicted. Additionally, two studies found significant differences between prosthetic wear time and BMD, but in different parameters^{24, 36}. More research is needed to generalize findings to the majority of individuals in this population.

Clinical outcome measures: While all twenty-seven manuscripts included in this review stated clinical considerations, only two collected clinical outcome measures^{27, 44}.Clinical outcome measures included the Houghton survey to assess prosthetic use⁴⁴, as well as the 6-Minute Walk Test and Timed Up and Go²⁷. However, the Houghton scores were not tied to findings in the study, and pre-osseointegration surgery 6-Minute Walk Test scores were positively correlated with BMD values at one-year follow-up. Thus, there is not yet a body of evidence that demonstrates how structural adaptations may potentially influence clinical outcome measure performance aside from one study in individuals with osseointegration. More research is needed to directly correlate structural findings summarized throughout this review to clinical outcome measure scores, as an indicator of functional mobility.

Limitations and Potential for Future Work

This review only summarized structural musculoskeletal properties, defined as anatomical or physiological components such as BMD and muscle architecture, published in the English language. Several articles measured other parameters, such as muscle activation using electromyography or muscle strength using dynamometers. These relationships should also be considered to understand how musculoskeletal architecture relates to functional mobility.

Future research can include larger sample sizes of participants with a variety of demographics, such as time since amputation and activity level. Additionally, studies can include participants that reflect the majority of individuals with limb loss, such as individuals who are older or have dysvascular etiologies. Including these individuals can also provide evidence to differentiate the effects of musculoskeletal adaptations due to amputation, aging, and dysvascular conditions such as diabetes. One study stated inclusion of individuals with congenital deficiencies, which were only two of nine participants, and did not compare etiologies³⁴. Individuals with a congenital deficiency may have differences in musculoskeletal architecture than individuals who undergo amputation, but no current literature has compared individuals with congenital etiologies to other etiologies.

Future work can also compare parameters such as time since amputation, prosthetic componentry, and activity level to provide a variety of musculoskeletal health expectations based on these factors. Multiple time points were compared by several studies, but more work is needed to confirm critical thresholds that could be important landmarks in rehabilitation. Additionally, few studies measured the same musculoskeletal parameters or included raw values, especially in terms of muscular adaptations, which made results difficult to compare across studies. This population also has a combination of a high risk of falls and fractures and lower BMD on the amputated hip. Proactive assessment of fracture risk and prevention could be an initial crucial piece of long-term care in this population²⁴. More work is needed to confirm findings by studies included in this

review, investigate muscle architecture, and translate findings to clinical outcome measure performance.

Conclusion

This review summarized literature investigating structural musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals with major unilateral lower-limb amputations to inform clinical considerations and guide directions for future research. Findings in this review aligned with findings from nonanatomical studies that have suggested increased risks of fractures, osteopenia, osteoporosis, and muscle atrophy. BMD was reduced in individuals with amputation compared to controls and amputated limbs compared to intact limbs in T-scores and Z-scores, whole-body, lumbar spine, femoral neck, Ward's triangle, proximal femur, proximal tibia, and BMC. These findings indicate increased risks of experiencing fractures, osteopenia, and osteoporosis, particularly in the femoral neck and amputated limb. Amputated limbs also had more muscle atrophy compared to the intact limb, specifically in parameters of decreased thigh CSA and quadriceps thickness with more thigh fat and muscle fiber atrophy. These findings were more pronounced in individuals with transfemoral amputations compared to transtibial amputations, and in individuals with amputations compared to control groups. Studies that measured multiple time points indicated the first six months to one-year post-amputation may be a critical threshold for musculoskeletal rehabilitation. Musculoskeletal adaptations could eventually be screened by clinicians to inform rehabilitation techniques and improve functional mobility. However, more research is needed to directly inform clinical outcome measure performance and functional mobility.

Acknowledgements

Conceptualization: MGF. Investigation: MGF, SK, and WN. Visualization: MGF, SK, WN. Writing- original draft: MGF and SK. Writing- review and editing: WN, RAM. Supervision: RAM. All authors accept responsibility for the integrity of the data analysis.

The authors would like to thank research librarian Laura Haygood at the University of North Texas Health Science Center for formulating the search criteria.

MGF was supported by the National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Aging (T32 AG020494) and the Institute for Healthy Aging. SK was supported by Grant (# RP170301) from Cancer Prevention and Research Institutes of Texas. This project is taken in part from a dissertation MGF submitted to the University of North Texas Health Science Center in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

References

1. Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al. Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008;89(3):422-9.

2. Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. Interlimb muscle and fat comparisons in persons with lower-limb amputation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2010;91(7):1077-81.

3. Rubin CT, Lanyon LE. Regulation of bone formation by applied dynamic loads. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1984;66(3):397-402.

4. Frost HM. Wolff's Law and bone's structural adaptations to mechanical usage: an overview for clinicians. Angle Orthod 1994;64(3):175-88.

5. Gailey R, Allen K, Castles J, et al. Review of secondary physical conditions associated with lower-limb amputation and long-term prosthesis use. J Rehabil Res Dev 2008;45(1):15-29.

6. Renstrom PAFH, Alaranta H, Pohjolainen T. Review: leg strengthening of the lower limb amputee. 1995;7(1):11-32.

7. Finco MG, Menegaz RA. Skeletal asymmetries in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputations. PM&R; Online ahead of print. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pmrj.12599</u>

8. Liu K, Tang T, Wang A, et al. Surgical revision for stump problems after traumatic above-ankle amputations of the lower extremity [Article]. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2015;16(1).

9. Yepson H, Mazzone B, Eskridge S, et al. The influence of tobacco use, alcohol consumption, and weight gain on development of secondary musculoskeletal injury after lower limb amputation [Article]. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2020;101(10):1704-1710.

10. Highsmith MJ, Kahle JT, Miro RM, et al. Prosthetic interventions for people with transtibial amputation: systematic review and meta-analysis of high-quality prospective literature and systematic reviews. J Rehabil Res Dev 2016;53(2):157-84.

11. van Velzen JM, van Bennekom CA, Polomski W, et al. Physical capacity and walking ability after lower limb amputation: a systematic review. Clin Rehabil 2006;20(11):999-1016.

12. Kahle JT, Highsmith MJ, Schaepper H, et al. Predicting walking ability following lower limb amputation: an updated systematic literature review. Technol Innov 2016;18(2-3):125-137.

Kulkarni J, Adams J, Thomas E, et al. Association between amputation, arthritis and osteopenia in british male war veterans with major lower limb amputations. Clin Rehabil 1998;12(4):348-53.

14. Isakov E, Burger H, Gregorič M, et al. Stump length as related to atrophy and strength of the thigh muscles in trans-tibial amputees [Article]. Prosthet Orthot Int 1996;20(2):96-100.

15. Haleem S, Yousaf S, Hamid T, et al. Characteristics and outcomes of hip fractures in lower limb amputees [Article]. Injury 2021;52(4):914-917.

16. Steinberg N, Gottlieb A, Siev-Ner I, et al. Fall incidence and associated risk factors among people with a lower limb amputation during various stages of recovery - a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2019;41(15):1778-1787.

17. Swanson EC, Friedly JL, Wang RK, et al. Optical coherence tomography for the investigation of skin adaptation to mechanical stress. Skin Res Technol 2020;26(5):627-638.

18. Bemben DA, Sherk VD, Ertl WJJ, et al. Acute bone changes after lower limb amputation resulting from traumatic injury. Osteoporos Int 2017;28(7):2177-2186.

19. Cavedon V, Sandri M, Peluso I, et al. Body composition and bone mineral density in athletes with a physical impairment. PeerJ 2021;9:e11296.

20. Sibley AR, Strike S, Moudy SC, et al. The effects of long-term muscle disuse on neuromuscular function in unilateral transtibial amputees [Article]. Exp Physiol 2020;105(3):408-418.

21. Sharma GR, Kumar V, Kanojia RK, et al. Fast and slow myosin as markers of muscle regeneration in mangled extremities: pilot Study. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2019;29(7):1539-1547.

22. de Palma L, Marinelli M, Pavan M, et al. Involvement of the muscle-tendon junction in skeletal muscle atrophy: an ultrastructural study. Rom J Morphol Embryol 2011;52(1):105-9.

23. Hoyt BW, Lundy AE, Clark DM, et al. Femoral neck hounsfield units as an adjunct for bone mineral density after combat-related lower extremity amputation. J Orthop Trauma 2021;35(5):e158-e164.

24. Smith É, Comiskey C, Carroll Á, et al. A study of bone mineral density in lower limb amputees at a national prosthetics center [Article]. J Prosthet Orthot 2011;23(1):14-20.

25. Tugcu I, Safaz I, Yilmaz B, et al. Muscle strength and bone mineral density in mine victims with transtibial amputation. Prosthet Orthot Int 2009;33(4):299-306.

26. Yazicioglu K, Tugcu I, Yilmaz B, et al. Osteoporosis: A factor on residual limb pain in traumatic trans-tibial amputations. Prosthet Orthot Int 2008;32(2):172-8.

27. Thomson S, Lu W, Zreiqat H, et al. Proximal bone remodeling in lower limb amputees reconstructed with an osseointegrated prosthesis. J Orthop Res 2019;37(12):2524-2530.

28. Lewiecki EM. Osteoporosis: clinical evaluation. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al., editors. Endotext. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000.

29. Rush PJ, Wong JS, Kirsh J, et al. Osteopenia in patients with above knee amputation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1994;75(1):112-5.

30. Cardadeiro G, Baptista F, Zymbal V, et al. Ward's area location, physical activity, and body composition in 8- and 9-year-old boys and girls. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25(11):2304-12.

31. Nardi A, Ventura L, Rossini M, et al. The importance of mechanics in the pathogenesis of fragility fractures of the femur and vertebrae. Clinical cases in mineral and bone metabolism : the official journal of the Italian Society of Osteoporosis, Mineral Metabolism, and Skeletal Diseases 2010;7(2):130-134.

32. Yoshihashi AK, Drake AJ, 3rd, Shakir KM. Ward's triangle bone mineral density determined by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry is a sensitive indicator of osteoporosis. Endocr Pract 1998;4(2):69-72.

33. Kanis JA, Glüer CC. An update on the diagnosis and assessment of osteoporosis with densitometry. Committee of Scientific Advisors, International Osteoporosis Foundation.
 Osteoporos Int 2000;11(3):192-202.

34. Royer T, Koenig M. Joint loading and bone mineral density in persons with unilateral, trans-tibial amputation. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2005;20(10):1119-25.

35. Melzer I, Yekutiel M, Sukenik S. Comparative study of osteoarthritis of the contralateral knee joint of male amputees who do and do not play volleyball. J Rheumatol 2001;28(1):169-72.

36. Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. BMD and bone geometry in transtibial and transfemoral amputees. J Bone Miner Res 2008;23(9):1449-57.

37. Prentice A, Parsons TJ, Cole TJ. Uncritical use of bone mineral density in absorptiometry may lead to size-related artifacts in the identification of bone mineral determinants. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60(6):837-42.

38. Compston JE. Bone Density: BMC, BMD, or Corrected BMD? Bone 1995;16(1):5-7.

39. Baroncelli GI, Bertelloni S, Ceccarelli C, et al. Measurement of volumetric bone mineral density accurately determines degree of lumbar undermineralization in children with growth hormone deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1998;83(9):3150-4.

40. Renström P, Grimby G, Morelli B, et al. Thigh muscle atrophy in below-knee amputees. Scand J Rehabil Med Suppl 1983;9:150-62.

41. Adamczyk PG, Kuo AD. Mechanisms of gait asymmetry due to push-off deficiency in unilateral amputees. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2015;23(5):776-785.

42. Rutkowska-Kucharska A, Kowal M, Winiarski S. Relationship between asymmetry of gait and muscle torque in patients after unilateral transfemoral amputation. Appl Bionics Biomech 2018;2018:5190816.

43. Schmalz T, Blumentritt S, Reimers CD. Selective thigh muscle atrophy in trans-tibial amputees: an ultrasonographic study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2001;121(6):307-12.

44. Şahin Onat Ş, Malas F, Öztürk GT, et al. Ultrasonographic assessment of the quadriceps muscle and femoral cartilage in transtibial amputees using different prostheses. Prosthet Orthot Int 2016;40(4):484-9.

45. Denton JR, McClelland SJ. Stump fractures in lower extremity amputees. J Trauma 1985;25(11):1074-8.

46. Pearson OM, Lieberman DE. The Aging of Wolff's "Law": Ontogeny and responses to mechanical loading in cortical bone. Am J Phys Anthropol 2004;Suppl 39:63-99.

47. Hansen RL, Langdahl BL, Jørgensen PH, et al. Changes in periprosthetic bone mineral density and bone turnover markers after osseointegrated implant surgery: A cohort study of 20 transfemoral amputees with 30-month follow-up. Prosthet Orthot Int 2019;43(5):508-518.

48. Haket LM, Frölke JPM, Verdonschot N, et al. Periprosthetic cortical bone remodeling in patients with an osseointegrated leg prosthesis. J Orthop Res 2017;35(6):1237-1241.

49. Thomson S, Thomson A, Tetsworth K, et al. Radiographic evaluation of bone remodeling around osseointegration implants among transfemoral amputees. J Orthop Trauma 2019;33(8):e303-e308.

50. Prinsen EC, Nederhand MJ, Rietman JS. Adaptation strategies of the lower extremities of patients with a transtibial or transfemoral amputation during level walking: a systematic review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2011;92(8):1311-25.

51. Silverman AK, Fey NP, Portillo A, et al. Compensatory mechanisms in below-knee
amputee gait in response to increasing steady-state walking speeds. Gait Posture 2008;28(4):6029.

52. Beyaert C, Grumillier C, Martinet N, et al. Compensatory mechanism involving the knee joint of the intact limb during gait in unilateral below-knee amputees. Gait Posture 2008;28(2):278-84.

53. Norvell DC, Czerniecki JM, Reiber GE, et al. The Prevalence of knee pain and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis among veteran traumatic amputees and nonamputees. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2005;86(3):487-93.

54. Bramley JL, Worsley PR, Bader DL, et al. Changes in tissue composition and load response after transtibial amputation indicate biomechanical adaptation. Ann Biomed Eng 2021;49(12):3176-3188.

55. Putz C, Block J, Gantz S, et al. Structural changes in the thigh muscles following transfemoral amputation. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2017;27(6):829-835.

56. Ramírez JF, Isaza JA, Mariaka I, et al. Analysis of bone demineralization due to the use of exoprosthesis by comparing young's modulus of the femur in unilateral transfemoral amputees. Prosthet Orthot Int 2011;35(4):459-66.

57. Pasqualini L, Ministrini S, Macura A, et al. Increased bone resorption: a possible pathophysiological link between hypovitaminosis d and peripheral arterial disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2016;52(3):352-9.

58. Hyde Z, Mylankal KJ, Hankey GJ, et al. Peripheral arterial disease increases the risk of subsequent hip fracture in older men: the health in men study. Osteoporos Int 2013;24(5):1683-8.

59. Ungprasert P, Wijarnpreecha K, Thongprayoon C, et al. Peripheral arterial disease and risk of hip fracture: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Postgrad Med 2018;64(4):220-225.

60. Jiao H, Xiao E, Graves DT. Diabetes and its effect on bone and fracture healing. Curr Osteoporos Rep 2015;13(5):327-35.

61. Baldwin MJ, Policha A, Maldonado T, et al. Novel association between bone mineral density scores and the prevalence of peripheral artery disease in both sexes. Vasc Med 2017;22(1):13-20.

62. Krakauer JC, McKenna MJ, Buderer NF, et al. Bone loss and bone turnover in diabetes. Diabetes 1995;44(7):775-82.

Chapter 1 Linkage

Chapter 1 informed decisions for the all three studies listed under 'Section 2: Musculoskeletal Symmetry.'

Specifically, findings from Chapter 1 highlighted the need to investigate the underlying mechanisms behind changes in anatomy post-amputation. Specifically, how these changes could be used as indicators of femoral fracture risk, hip and knee osteoarthritis, and muscle atrophy. Additionally, Chapter 1 showed no anatomical donors with amputation had been studied in prior literature. Including anatomical donors can allow for more detailed musculoskeletal data collection (e.g. whole muscle dissection to calculate physiological cross-sectional area), that could not reasonably be performed in living individuals. We also discovered from personal experience that anatomical donors could provide an alternative method of data collection in instances when human participant data collection is restricted, such as global pandemics.

CHAPTER 2

NORMALIZATION OF KINEMATIC WALKING SYMMETRY DATA TO INFORM CLINICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR INDIVIDUALS WHO USE LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES

Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics. Accepted Nov 2, 2021.

Online Ahead of Print April 13, 2022:

https://journals.lww.com/jpojournal/Abstract/9900/Normalized_Kinematic_Walking_Symmetry

<u>Data_for.7.aspx</u>

MG Finco¹, Sarah C. Moudy², Rita M. Patterson²

¹Department of Physiology and Anatomy, University of North Texas Health Science Center,

Fort Worth, TX 76107

²Texas College of Osteopathic Medicine, University of North Texas Health Science Center,

Fort Worth, TX 76107

Abstract

<u>Introduction</u>: Individuals who use unilateral transtibial or transfemoral prostheses have negative secondary health effects associated with decreased kinematic (e.g., spatiotemporal and joint angle) walking symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs. Research studies have quantified kinematic walking symmetry, but studies can be difficult to compare owing to the inclusion of small sample sizes and differences in participant demographics, biomechanical parameters, and mathematical analysis of symmetry. This review aims to normalize kinematic walking symmetry research data across studies by level of limb loss and prosthetic factors to inform considerations in clinical practice and future research.

<u>Methods</u>: A search was performed on March 18, 2020, in PubMed, Scopus, and Google Scholar to encompass kinematic walking symmetry literature from the year 2000. First, the most common participant demographics, kinematic parameters, and mathematical analysis of symmetry were identified across studies. Then, the most common mathematical analysis of symmetry was used to recalculate symmetry data across studies for the five most common kinematic parameters.

<u>Results:</u> Forty-four studies were included in this review. The most common participant demographics were younger adults with traumatic etiology who used componentry intended for higher activity levels. The most common kinematic parameters were step length, stance time, and sagittal plane ankle, knee, and hip range of motion. The most common mathematical analysis was a particular symmetry index equation.

<u>Conclusions</u>: Normalization of data showed that symmetry tended to decrease as level of limb loss became more proximal and to increase with prosthetic componentry intended for higher activity levels. However, most studies included 10 or fewer individuals who were active younger adults with traumatic etiologies.

<u>Clinical Relevance</u>: Data summarized in this review could be used as reference values for rehabilitation and payer justification. Specifically, these data can help guide expectations for magnitudes of walking symmetry throughout rehabilitation or to justify advanced prosthetic componentry for active younger adults under 65 years of age with traumatic etiologies to payers.

Introduction

Evaluating lower-limb walking symmetry can help clinicians establish functional limitations, track changes over time, and assess effectiveness of rehabilitation techniques.¹ Walking symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs is often viewed as a measure of improved rehabilitation in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses (IULLPs),² such as transtibial and transfemoral prostheses. Walking symmetry has been associated with increased balance,^{3–5} decreased fall risk,⁶ and decreased risk of developing musculoskeletal overuse injuries such as osteoarthritis.⁷ Confidence in walking and balance tasks have been shown to improve community participation and quality of life.^{6,8} Therefore, increasing walking symmetry has the potential to improve functional mobility and quality of life in IULLPs.

Several reviews have discussed walking symmetry in IULLPs. In 2004, a review examined the influence of prosthetic componentry on kinematics, kinetics, and electromyography.⁹ Reviews on lumbopelvic parameters,¹⁰ standing balance,⁴ and the influence of muscle strength on balance⁵ also exist. Reviews on gait training¹⁵ and suspension systems¹¹ have been shown to influence walking symmetry, and a review in 2011 identified the most common kinematic parameters studied in IULLPs.¹² However, a review normalizing kinematic walking symmetry data across studies to inform clinical considerations in this population is lacking from the literature. Normalized walking symmetry data summarized from research in IULLPs can provide quantitative baseline characteristics to better inform clinical decision making.

Translating research findings into clinical care was identified as a 2020 research priority by the American Academy of Orthotists and Prosthetists, highlighting the importance of narrowing the barrier that exists between research data and clinical application.¹³ However, research studies have been difficult to compare, posing a barrier to translating research findings into clinical practice. Research studies typically have small sample sizes and differences in objectives, participant demographics, kinematic parameters, and mathematical analysis of symmetry.¹⁴ As a result, consensus among clinical practitioners has largely been based on observational effects rather than research findings.⁹ In order to translate kinematic walking symmetry research findings into clinical care, data needs to be comparable, which can be achieved by normalizing research data across studies. Normative, or reference, values for symmetry have not been identified across current literature, and could provide clinicians evidence-based rehabilitation targets by level of limb loss and payer justification for certain prosthetic componentry.

Therefore, the objective of this review was to normalize kinematic walking symmetry data in IULLPs by level of limb loss and prosthetic factors to inform considerations in clinical practice and future research. The most common participant demographics, kinematic parameters, and mathematical analysis of symmetry were identified. Then, data were normalized across studies using the most common mathematical analysis of symmetry for the five most common parameters identified in this review. Considerations for designing future kinematic walking symmetry studies are also provided to help promote clinical translation.

Methods

A search was performed on March 18th, 2020 in PubMed, Scopus, and Google Scholar to encompass literature from the year 2000. References from identified studies were also examined for inclusion.

The following search terms were used:

PubMed: (spatiotemporal) AND transtibial OR transfemoral AND prosth* AND unilateral AND symmetry OR asymmetry; (kinematic) AND transtibial AND prosth* AND unilateral AND symmetry OR asymmetry

Scopus: interlimb AND kinematic AND prosth* AND symmetry AND unilateral AND transtibial OR "below knee" OR transfemoral OR "above knee"

Google Scholar: kinematic OR spatiotemporal AND prosth* AND symmetry OR asymmetry OR "symmetry index" AND unilateral AND transtibial OR "below knee" AND transfemoral OR "above knee" AND gait OR ambulation -running -sprinting -powered -stair -ramp -incline -slope

Studies were selected based on the following inclusion criteria (Fig. 1):

- Adult population (defined as 18 or older) who used unilateral transtibial or transfermoral prostheses
- Kinematic symmetry data was reported between the prosthetic and intact limbs
- Participants walked on a level surface (ground or treadmill)

Studies were excluded based on the following criteria:

- Case reports (defined as less than 5 participants)
- Conference papers

- Novel development or testing of prosthetic components not commonly prescribed in clinical practice
- Participants performed movement tasks other than walking (e.g. stairs, running)
- Computer modeling was used in place of participant testing



Fig. 1: Flow diagram of inclusion process.

Many studies included in this review investigated parameters other than kinematics such as kinetics, energy consumption, or patient preference. Several studies also investigated movement tasks other than walking such as traversing stairs or inclines, navigating turns, or performing sitto-stand transitions. Only the portions of each study that met the inclusion criteria were discussed in this review.

The most common participant demographics, kinematic parameters, and mathematical analysis of symmetry were identified across studies. Findings by level of limb loss and prosthetic factors were then determined by using the most common mathematical analysis of symmetry identified in this review to recalculate symmetry data across studies for the five most common kinematic parameters in this review.

Normalizing data typically involves recalculating values to a range between 0 and 1.¹⁵ This review normalized data to a range between 0 and 100% between-limb symmetry across studies. Several conversions were made to report results consistently. All spatiotemporal units were converted to meters (m) and seconds (s). The most common mathematical analysis of symmetry in this review was Eq. 1, which provides asymmetry percentages.

$$\frac{I-P}{0.5*(I+P)}*100$$

Eq. 1

I represents the intact limb and P represents the prosthetic limb. Perfect symmetry is a value of 0% and perfect asymmetry is a value of either 100% if intact limb values are greater or -100% if prosthetic limb values are greater. Therefore, an absolute value of 100 - Eq. 1 was used to provide symmetry percentages, resulting in 100% representing perfect symmetry and 0% representing perfect asymmetry.

Out of the 44 studies included in this review, 34 studies could be converted to normalized symmetry values. The remaining ten studies could not be normalized because symmetry was examined through ratio scales or waveform analysis, and did not provide prosthetic and intact limb values necessary for recalculation using Eq. $1.^{15-24}$

Results

This review included 44 studies after applying inclusion and exclusion criteria. Table 1 summarizes each study by objective, participant demographics, prosthetic componentry of participants, kinematic parameters measured, and mathematical analysis of symmetry. Results are reported in the following sections: participant demographics, kinematic parameters, and mathematical analysis of symmetry.

Author, Year	Objectives	Participants	Prosthesis Components	Kinematic Parameters	Assessment of Symmetry
1. Astrom and Stenstrom, 2004	Investigate effects of using a polyurethane liner on gait and socket comfort	7 TT (4M 3F); Vascular (4), Nonvascular (3); Age (mean 46, range 23-71 years)	Prescribed silicone liners: Iceross(5), EVA(2); polyurethane liner used for study; Feet: Conventional (5), Flex(2)	Spatiotemporal: WS, StepL, StepT, SLS; Joint angles: Knee ROM during step period, Knee ROM at LR, Knee varus/valgus during stance	((I-P)/ (.5*(I+P)) *100
2. Bai et al., 2017	Kinematic and biomimetic assessment of a hydraulic ankle/foot (Echelon) compared with a fixed prosthetic ankle/foot (Esprit)	5 TF (all M); Age (range 27-65 years): 12 Controls (5M 7F); Age (mean 26 SD 2 years)	Knee: KX06(2), Linx(2), IP(1); Feet: Echelon VT(1), Elan(2), Linx(2); fitted with Echelon (hydraulic) and Esprit (fixed) for study	Spatiotemporal: WS, StepL, StanceT, StrideL; Joint angles: Ankle PF peak, Ankle DF peak, Ankle MS Eversion	Statistical comparison
3. Bateni and Olney, 2002	Identify kinematic characteristics of gait in TT and compare results to other studies	5 TT (all M); Trauma(all); Age (range 32-77 years)	Foot: SAFE foot (all)	Spatiotemporal: WS, StrideL, StrideT, StanceT, DLS Time; Joint angles: Knee ROM, Hip ROM	Statistical comparison
4. Carse et al., 2020	Identify differences in gait symmetry between NA and established unilateral TF mechanical knee users and characterize common gait deviations in TF group	60 TF or KD IULLPs (49M 11F); Trauma(32), Infection(7), PAD w/o diabetes(7), PAD w/ diabetes(1), Tumor(8), Other(5); Age (mean 51.1 SD 15.2 years); K2(10), K3(31), K4(18); 10 Controls (5M 5F)	Sockets: IsC(37) Quad(19), Distal end bearing(4); Suspension: Seal-in(18), Total suction(15), Pin(9), Waist belts(13), Other(5) Knee: Polycentric(20), Hydraulic yielding(15), Stance (weight) activated(19), Single axis (alignment controlled)(1), Hand operated knee lock(2), Semi-automatic knee lock(1), Fluid controlled hydraulic(1), Other(1)	WS, StepL, StepT, BoS, COM deviation	Ratio

Table 1: Summary of Included Studies

5. Chow et al., 2006	Investigate effects of anteroposterior translations and tilts in prosthesis alignment on gait symmetry	7 TT (6M 1F); Age (range 32-58 years)	Sockets: PTB and SACH; some originally used exoskeletal designs; all used endoskeletal designs for study	Spatiotemporal: StepL, StanceT; Joint angles: Knee Flex at LR, Time to Knee Flex at LR, Max Knee Flex during Swing, Time to Max Knee Flex during Swing, Knee ROM	(I-P) /(.5*(I+P))*100; absolute value
6. Clemens et al., 2020	Measurement of gait symmetry and repeatability using IMUs	128 total IULLPs; 65 TT (34M and 31F) Age (mean 51 SD 14.1 years) 63 TF (27M and 36F) Age (mean 47.9 SD 16.2 years)	NR	Thigh: Segmental Symmetry Score (SSS) and Segmental Repeatability Score (SRS); Shank: Segmental Symmetry Score and Segmental Repeatability Score; sagittal angular velocities of the thigh and shank	100 – (100 * x/y) where x is the average Angular Velocity Difference value, and y is the threshold of symmetry
7. Cutti et al., 2018	Determine reference values for gait temporal asymmetry	60 K3-K4 total IULLPs; Trauma(all); 23 TT Age (mean 44 SD 14 years); 37 TF Age (mean 46 SD 10 years): 10 Controls	Knee: Mechanical (12- including TotalKnee 2100(5), 3R60(2), Mauch(2)), C-leg (25); Feet: Vari-flex or Vari- flex LP foot, 1C40, Truestep, Esprit	StepT, StanceT	Ratio; StepT= I/P, StanceT= I/P
8. Darter et al., 2013	Investigate if home- based treadmill training improves gait performance in established unilateral TF MPK users	8 TF; Trauma or Cancer; Age (mean 41.4 SD 12.1 years)	Knee: MPKs	StepL, StanceT	Ratio; StepL= longer/shorter, StanceT = P/I

9. Darter et al., 2017	Investigate locomotor adaptability on a split belt treadmill	10 TT (all M); Trauma(all); Age (mean 32.2 range 23-39): 8 Controls	Suspension: Suction with sleeve(8), Pin lock(1), Elevated vacuum(1) Feet: Vari-flex XC(5), Soleus Tactical(3), Re- flex Rotate(1), Kinterra(1)	StepL, StanceT, Limb Excursion	(fast-slow)/ (fast + slow)
10. De Asha and Buckley, 2015	Investigate effects of walking speed on minimum toe clearance, and the temporal relationship between minimum clearance and peak swing-foot velocity	10 TT (all M) Age (mean 48 SD 11.7 years)	Feet: Esprit	Minimum toe-ground clearance, Peak Swing Velocity	Statistical comparison
11. Gholizadeh et al., 2014	Investigate effects of suction and pin/lock suspension systems on gait performance	10 TT; Trauma(5) Diabetes(5); Age (mean 45.8 SD 14.4 years); K2(4) K3(6)	Each participant used each suspension: Iceross Dermo Liner with pin lock, Iceross seal-in suction; Feet: Flex foot	Spatiotemporal: WS, StepL, StrideL, StanceT and SwingT; Joint Angles: Hip Position IC, Max Hip Ext, Hip ROM, Knee Position IC, Max Knee Flex Stance, Max Knee Flex Swing, Knee ROM, Ankle Position IC, Max Ankle PF Stance, Max Ankle PF Swing, Max Ankle DF Stance, Ankle ROM	((I-P) / (.5*(I+P))) *100

12. Gholizadeh et al., 2020	Compare effects of unity suspension system on gait between vacuum on and off conditions	12 TT (11M 1F); Trauma(8), Diabetes(3), Infection(1); Age (mean 57.2 SD 15.3 years); K3(10) and K4(2)	Suspension: Pin- lock(9), Suction(2); fit with Unity elevated vacuum suspension and Pro-flex XC foot for study	Spatiotemporal: WS, StepL, Step width, StepT, StrideL, StrideT, StanceT, SwingT, SLS Time, DLS Time; Joint Angles: Hip ROM, Peak Hip Flex early Stance, Knee ROM, Peak Knee Flex Swing, Knee Flex IC, Ankle ROM, Peak Ankle PF early Stance,	((I-P) / (.5*(I+P))) *100
13. Graham et al., 2007	Compare gait symmetry between conventional (Multiflex) and ESAR(Vari-flex) prosthetic feet in high- functioning TF	6 TF (all M): Age (range 34-50)	Knee: Blatchford stabilized with pneumatic swing phase control(1), IP (5); Feet: Multiflex(all); Foot changed to Vari-flex for study	Peak Ankle DF Stance Spatiotemporal: StepL, StanceT; Joint Angles: Ankle DF Late Stance, Knee Flex Midswing, Hip Flex Late Swing, Hip Ext Late Stance, Transverse Pelvic Rotation	Ratio
14. Hak et al., 2014	Determine if stepping asymmetry might be functional in terms of gait stability	10 TT (9M 1F); Trauma(8), Dysvascular(1), Other(1); Age (range 21-66)	Socket: TSB(1) PTB(9); Feet: Axtion(1), Elite VT(1), 1C40(3), Vari-flex EVO(2), Fusion(1), Celsus(1), Propiofoot(1)	StepL, FFP, Trunk Progression	(I / ((I+P)/2)*100
15. Hekmatfard et al., 2013	Investigate effects of four prosthetic mass conditions on spatiotemporal knee kinematics	10 TF (all M); Trauma(all); Age (range 27.2-60)	Socket: IC; Suspension: belt; Knee: single axis w/ ext. assist; Foot: single axis	WS, Cadence, walking distance, StepL, StrideL, Step speed, gait cycle duration, Stance T, SwingT, COM	Statistical comparison
16. Highsmith et al., 2010	Determine differences in spatiotemporal parameters between transtibial and transfemoral IULLPs	 15 total IULLPs; 7 TT (all M); Trauma(3), PVD(3), Tumor(1); Age (range 32-70 years) 8 TF (all M); Trauma(all); Age (range 21-72 years) 	Suspension: shuttle lock(7- all TT), suction(6), seal-in (2) Knees: C-Leg(6), Rheo(1), Plie(1); Feet: Trustep(1), Proprio(1), Perfect stride II(1), Vari-flex(2), Renegade(2), Ceterus(1), 1C40(2), Reflex-VSP(1), ESAR foot where brand not indicated(2), Journey(1), Luxon Max(1)	WS, Cadence, StepL, Step width, StepT	((I-P) / (I+P))
----------------------------------	--	--	---	---	------------------------
17. Houdijk et al., 2018	Compare StepL symmetry and MoS between Vari-flex to SACH prosthetic feet	15 TT (all M); Trauma(all); Age (mean 55.8 SD 11.1 years); K3(all)	all originally used ESAR foot; Feet: Variflex vs SACH foot	StepL, backward MoS	Statistical comparison
18. Johansson et al., 2005	Compare kinematics between the Mauch hydraulic knee, C-Leg MPK, and Rheo MPK	8 TF LLPs (7M 1F); Trauma(3), Infection(2), Cancer(2), Congenital(1); Age (range 29-54 years)	Suspension: suction(6), silesian belt(1), pin- lock(1)	WS, StepL, StepT, SLS Time, DLS Time	Statistical comparison
19. Kahle and Highsmith, 2014	Compare gait, balance, and subjective analysis between IsC and brimless TF socket designs with vacuum assisted suspension	10 TF (8M 2F); Trauma(7), PVD(2), Sarcoma(1); Age (mean 42.9 years)	Same liner, pump, knee, and foot utilized in both conditions; Knee: SAFE(1), C-leg(9); Feet: ESAR	WS, StepL, StepT, BoS width, SLS Time, DLS Time, Swing Time, StanceT	((I-P) / (I+P))

20. Kaufman et al., 2012	Compare gait asymmetry between TF of mechanical and MPKs	15 TF (12M 3F); Trauma(7), Cancer(6), PVD(1), Congenital(1); Age (mean 42 range 26–57 years); K3 and K4: 20 NA (9M 11F); Age (mean 26 SD 9 years)	Knee: session one with mechanical fluid controlled knee prosthesis (Mauch SNS(11), CaTech(2), Black Max(1), Total Knee 2000(1)); session 2 with Otto Bock C- Leg; Feet: kept same; Luxon Max(5), Dynamic Plus(1), College Park(1), Axtion(8)	Hip Stance, Hip Swing, Knee Stance, Knee Swing, Ankle Stance, Ankle Swing	Entire waveform analysis; singular value decomposition; subtracted the mean value from every value in the waveform
21. Keklicek et al., 2019	Compare gait variability and symmetry between trained individuals TT and TF	25 total IULLPs; 14 TT (12M 2F); 11 TF (4M 7F); Trauma(all): 14 Controls (8M 6F)	Knee: mechanical knee joint (Otto Bock 3R15); Feet: dynamic (Otto Bock 1D10) for both TT and TF Amps	StepL, StepL % Variability, StanceT, Ambulation Index Score (relative to 100 based on foot-to-foot time distribution ratio and average step cycle)	Statistical comparison
22. Kovac et al., 2010	Investigate spatial, temporal and kinematic characteristics in traumatic TT amputee gait	12 TT (all M); Trauma(all); Age (mean 40.25 SD 6 years): 12 Controls; Age (mean 37.46 SD 5.25 years)	Feet: Dynamic foot(7), Greissenger foot(2), Flex foot(2)	WS, Cadence, StepL, StrideL, StrideT, Swing Velocity, StanceT, SwingT, DLS Time	Statistical comparison
23. Marinakis, 2004	Compare interlimb symmetry in the early rehabilitation stage between two different prosthetic feet (Greissenger Plus and SACH)	9 TT (all M); Trauma (all); Age (mean 54.3 years SD 2.1 years): 13 Controls (all M); Age (mean 52.3 years SD 11.3 years)	PTB socket with removable prosthetic liner (all); used Greissenger Plus and SACH for study	Spatiotemporal: WS, Cadence, StepL, StepT, StanceT, StrideT, %StrideT (division of StanceT by the StrideT and multiplied by 100); Joint Angles: Hip ROM, Knee ROM, Ankle ROM	Method 1: 100* min(P,I)/max(P,I); Method 2: 100- ((100*(P-I)) /(.5*(P+I))) for absolute difference; Method 3: 100- (P- I)(*50/max(P,I)- min(P,I)))
24. Mattes et al., 2000	Investigate walking symmetry after matching prosthetic and intact limb inertial properties	6 TT; Age (mean 35 SD 12 years); Trauma(3), Blood Clot(1), Cancer(1), Congenital(1)	NR	StepL, SwingT, StanceT	((P-I) / (.5*(P+I))) *100

25. Mishra et al., 2019	Compare kinematic gait symmetry between the Jaipur knee joint to each participant's prescribed prosthesis	11 TF (9M 2F); Age (mean 45 range 26-66 years); Trauma(8), PVD(2), Cancer(1)	Knee: Jaipur used in study; prescribed prostheses NR	Hip ROM, Knee ROM, Ankle ROM; all separated into swing and stance	Entire waveform analysis; singular value decomposition; subtracted the mean value from every value in the waveform
26. Moore, 2016	Compare StanceT asymmetry between hydraulic ankle units(Avalon for K2 and Echelon for K3) and previous prescription	13 total IULLPs; 7 TT; 6 TF; K3(6) K2(7)	Feet: K2 level= originally used Multiflex(12). K3 level= on the Multiflex(3), Javelin(2), Dynamic Response (1), Re-flex VSP(1), Seattle Lite-foot(1), Elite Blade(1), 1D10(1); Echelon (K3) and Avalon (K2) feet for study	StanceT	Statistical comparison
27. Morgan et al., 2016 ⁸³	Compare effects of a concurrent cognitive task on walking between TF MPK users and NA	14 TF (9M 5F); Trauma(8) Tumor(3) Vascular(1) Infection(2); Age (mean 53.8 SD 13.6 years): 14 Controls	Suspension: suction, seal-in, or pin-locking liners; Knee: all MPK= C-Leg, Genium, X2	WS, Cadence, Step Width, StepT, StrideL	Absolute value of the difference between right and left
28. Moylan et al., 2015	Investigate effects of increased prosthetic mass on gait symmetry in dysvascular TF	10 TF (9M 1F); PVD(all); Age (mean 64 range 52-78 years); No assistive device(2), Cane(3), Walker(3), Rollator(2)	Suspension: suction(3), silesian belt(7); Knee: Mauch SNS(4), Locked(6) Foot: SACH(4), Single axis(4), Multi-axis(2)	StepL, StepT, Step Width, SLS Time	((I-P) / (I+P))
29. Nadollek et al., 2002	Investigate the relationship between quiet stance ability, strength of the hip abductor muscles, and gait	22 TT; PVD(10), Diabetic complications(12); Age (mean 71.7 range 54-86 years)	Socket: PTB or patella tendon supracondylar prosthesis; Suspension: cuff, silicone liner, or shuttle lock	WS, Cadence, StepL, StrideL, Stance: Swing Ratio, DLS Time	Statistical comparison

30. Nolan et al., 2003	Compare WS gait symmetry between TF, TT, and NA	8 total IULLPs; 4 TT Age (mean 29 SD 18.9 years); 4 TF Age (mean 31.5 SD 10.9 years); Trauma(all): 6 Controls (32.2 SD 9.3 years)	Knee: hinge knee prosthesis with SACH foot(all TF); Feet: SACH foot(all TT)	StepT, StanceT, SwingT	(I-P)/ (.5*(I+P)) *100; absolute value
31. Orekhov et al., 2019	Investigate knee joint biomechanics in gait, cycling, and elliptical training	10 TT (7M 3F); Age (mean 32.2 SD 6.7 years): 10 Controls; Age (range 20-26 years)	Foot: Vari-Flex; (8) originally used this foot	Max MS Knee Flex Angle (and timing), Max Swing Knee Flex Angle (and timing)	Statistical comparison
32. Petersen et al., 2010	Compare gait symmetry between the C-leg MPK and hydraulic 3R60 in TF	5 TF (4M 1F); Trauma(3), Cancer(2); Age (range 26-48 years)	Socket: IsC(4), Stump end bearing socket(1); Knee: C-leg and 3R60 (all originally used C- Leg but had past experience with hydraulic knees) Feet: Pacifica LP(1), Renegade(1), C- Walk(1), Axtion(1), Flex-foot(1)	StepL, StanceT, SLS Time, Temporal Symmetry % (calculated from duration of stance phase), Spatial Symmetry % (calculated from step length)	((I-P)/ (.5*(I+P)) * 100; absolute value
33. Roerdink et al., 2012	Determine if StepL asymmetry should be measured in conjunction with FFP and trunk progression	3 TT (2M 1F); Vascular(1), Trauma (2); Age (range 29-68): 7 TF (1F 6 M); Vascular(4), Trauma(3); Age (range 50-68)	Knees= 3R60(2), OFM1(1), 3R33(1), Hybrid Knee N1- C311(1), 3R106(1), C- leg(1); Feet: Multiflex(2), 1D10/1D11(4), 1C30 Trias(1), Vari-flex with EVO(1), Flex-Foot Assure(1), C-Walk 1C40(1)	StepL, FFP, Trunk Progression	((P-I)/(P+I)) * 100

34. Rowe, 2014	Determine if music improves self-regulated walking in terms of cadence and gait symmetry in TT with nontraumatic amputations	17 TT (15M 2F); Vascular(10), Congenital(5), Complications following trauma(2); Age (mean 52.2 SD 12.9 years)	Participants using microprocessor or carbon fiber spring feet not included	WS, Cadence, StepL, StepT, SLS Time	((P-I)/ (.5*(P+I))) *100
35. Schaarschmidt et al., 2012	Compare gait symmetry between the C-Leg MPK and the hydraulic 3R80 in TF	5 TF; Trauma(all); Age (mean 42.6 SD 13.4 years)	Knees: C-Leg (all, all had prior experience with mechanical knees) Feet: C-Walk	StepT, StanceT, SLS Time, DLS time	((P-I)/ (.5*(P+I))) *100
36. Segal et al., 2006	Compare gait symmetry between the C-Leg MPK and the Mauch SNS hydraulic knee after 3 month acclimation periods with each knee	8 TF (7M 1F); Age (mean 29 years) 6 Controls (all M)	Socket: thermoplastic(4),carbon fiber(4); Suspension: pin(6), suction(2); Knees: C-Leg (all), Mauch SNS (all); Feet of C-Leg users: Dynamic Plus(5), C- Walk(1), LuXon Max(2); Feet of Mauch SNS users: Seattle Lite Foot(5), Flex Walk Foot(3)	Spatiotemporal: WS, StepL; Joint Angles: Max Knee Flex in early stance, Knee Flex at opposite heel strike, Max Knee Flex during Swing	Statistical comparison
37. Sjodahl et al., 2002	Compare gait in the sagittal plane before and after special gait re- education	 9 TF (5M 4F); Trauma or Tumor; Age (mean 33 range 16-51 years): 18 total Controls; 9 Controls (all M); Age (mean 33 range 21-47 years): 9 NA (all F); Age (mean 39 range 25- 52 years) 	Socket: IsC(3), Quad(6) Knee: Total knee mechanical(3), Aqua pend pneumatic(3), T- Ling pneumatic(1), Mauch knee hydraulic(1), Vaxjo knee hydraulic(1) Feet: Seattle foot(2), Flex foot(6), Multiflex(1), Multiaxis Vaxjo foot(1)	Spatiotemporal: WS, Cadence, StepL, SLS Time, DLS Time; Joint Angles: Hip Flex ROM, Knee Flex ROM, Ankle ROM	Statistical comparison

38. Smith and Martin, 2013	Investigate effects of prosthetic mass distribution on walking symmetry	6 TT (5M 1 F); Trauma(5) Congenital bone disease(1); Age (mean 47 SD 16 years)	Feet: Genesis(1), College Park(3), Flex- foot(2)	StanceT, SwingT, Max Knee Angular Velocity during Swing, Max Thigh Angular Velocity during Swing	((P-I) / (.5*(P+I))) *100
39. Supan et al., 2010	Investigate effects of a Talux prosthetic foot on gait parameters of nonvascular TT	10 TT (7M 3F); Nonvascular(all); Age (range 34-62 years)	Talux (3 originally used Talux)	Spatiotemporal: WS, Cadence, StepL, StepT, %SLS, StanceT; Joint Angles: Hip Position at IC, Hip Max Ext, Hip ROM, Knee Position at IC, Knee Max Flex at Stance, Knee Max Ext at Stance, Knee Max Swing Flex, Knee ROM, Ankle Position at IC, Ankle Max PF at Stance, Ankle Max DF at Stance, Ankle Max DF at Stance, Ankle Max PF at Swing, Ankle ROM, Foot Progression Angle at IC, Foot Progression Angle Min at Swing, Foot Progression Angle ROM	Statistical comparison
40. Svoboda and Janura, 2007	Investigate effects of prosthetic alignment (DF and PF) and prosthetic foot length changes (shorter and longer) on temporal symmetry of I and P limbs	11 TT (all M); Age (mean 58 SD 9.47 years)	Feet: all dynamic feet characterized by a smooth rollover during gait and intended for second level activity users	StanceT, SwingT, %Stance (StanceT/duration of gait cycle)	((I-P) / (I+P)) * 100

41. Uchytil et al., 2014	Compare spatiotemporal parameters between the Rheo MPK and the Mauch SNS hydraulic knee in TF	8 TF (4M 4F); Age (mean 38.2 SD 6.1 years); K3(all) 10 Controls (8M 2F); Age (mean 27.6 SD 5.2 years)	All used ischial containment and SACH foot; Knees: Rheo MPK, Mauch SNS hydraulic knee	StepL, StepT, StanceT, SwingT	((I-P)/ (.5*(I+P)) * 100
42. Uchytil et al., 2017	Compare pelvis and lower limb joint angles in TF Rheo MPK and hydraulic knee joint users	11 TF (6M 5F); Trauma(3), Cancer(7), ; Age (mean 39.2 SD 10.1 years): 10 Controls (8M 2F); Age (mean 27.6 SD 5.2 years)	All used IsC socket and SACH foot; Knee: Rheo MPK, Hydraulic	Pelvis: Min Pelvic Tilt, Min Pelvic Obliquity, Max Pelvic Obliquity, Max Rot; Hip: Flex IC, Max Ext in Stance, Max Flex in Swing, Max Add in Stance, Max Add in Stance, Max Add in Swing, Max Int Rot in Stance, Max Ext Rot in Swing; Knee: Flex at IC, Max Flex during LR, Max Ext Stance, Max Flex Swing, Max IR in Stance, Max ER in Swing	((I-P) / (I+P)) * 100

43. Xu et al., 2017	Investigate effects of vacuum level on gait characteristics in TT of elevated vacuum suspension	 9 TT; Trauma(5), Vascular(1), Other(3); Age (mean 51.1 SD 16.1 years); K3(7) and K4(2): 9 Controls; Age (mean 27.8 SD 3.7 years) 	all originally used elevated vacuum suspension	Spatiotemporal: WS, Cadence, StepL, StepT, StanceT, SLS Time, DLS Time; Joint Angles: Hip Ext Stance, Hip Abd Swing, Hip ER Swing, Hip ROM Sagittal, Hip ROM Frontal, Hip ROM Transverse, Knee Flex Swing, Knee ROM Transverse, Knee ROM Frontal, Knee ROM Frontal, Knee ROM Transverse, Ankle DF Stance, Ankle PF Swing, Ankle ROM Sagittal	Statistical comparison
44. Yang et al., 2018	Compare gait patterns between two different shapes of ESAR prosthetic feet: 1C30 Trias and 1C60 Triton (has split forefoot and heel wedge) in TT	10 TT; Age (mean 63.8 SD 2.49 years); K2(4) and K3(6)	1C30 Trias, 1C60 Triton; none originally used ESAR feet	Spatiotemporal: WS, Cadence, StepL, Step Width, StanceT, SwingT; Stance: Swing Ratio Joint Angles: Hip Ext at TS, Hip Flex at Midswing, Knee Flex at TS, Knee Flex at Midswing, Ankle PF at IC, Ankle DF at MS, Ankle PF at TS, Ankle Pronation at early MS, Ankle Supination at onset of Preswing	Statistical comparison

Table 1. Overview of 44 studies included in this review.

Abbreviations: TT= individuals who use transtibial prostheses, TF= individuals who use transfemoral prostheses, IULLPs= individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses, M= male, F= female, I= intact, P= prosthetic, SD= standard deviation, ESAR= energy storage and return, PTB= patellar tendon bearing, SACH= solid ankle cushion heel, MPK= microprocessor knee, IsC= ischial containment, WS= walking speed, StepL= step length, StepT= step time, StrideL= stride length, StrideT= stride time, StanceT= stance time, SwingT= swing time, SLS= single limb support, DLS= double limb support, BoS= base of support, MoS= margin of stability, FFP= forward foot placement, COM= center of mass, ROM= range of motion, Min= minimum, Max= maximum, PF= plantarflexion, DF= dorsiflexion, Flex= flexion, Ext= extension, Add= adduction, Abd= abduction, IR= internal rotation, ER= external rotation, IC= initial contact, MS= midstance, LR= loading response, TS= terminal stance.

Liner manufacturer: Iceross (Ossur, Reykjavik, Iceland).

Knee manufacturers: KX06, Linx, IP, CaTech, Black Max (Blatchford, USA, Canada, and UK); Jaipur Knee (BMVSS organization, Jaipur, India); Hybrid Knee N1-C311 (Nabtesco, Kobe, Japan); Rheo, Total Knee 2000, Total Knee 2100, Mauch SNS, OFM (Ossur, Reykjavik, Iceland); C-leg, Genium, X2, 3R60, 3R15, 3R33, 3R106, Aqua Knee (Ottobock, Duderstadt, Germany); SAFE (ST&G, California, USA).

Foot manufacturers: Foot manufacturers: Echelon, Echelon VT, Elan, Linx, Esprit, Multiflex, Javelin, Elite Blade, Avalon (Blatchford, USA, Canada, UK); Celsus, Truestep, Soleus Tactical (College Park, MI, USA); Genesis II (MICA Manufacturing Corp, WA, USA); Kinterra, Pacifica LP, Renegade (Freedom Innovations, CA, USA); Vari-flex, Vari-flex LP, Vari-flex XC, Vari-flex EVO, Pro-flex XC, Propiofoot, Reflex VSP, Reflex Rotate, Flex-foot, Flex-foot Assure, Talux (Ossur, Reykjavik, Iceland); Axtion, 1C30 Trias, 1C60 Triton, 1C40 C-Walk, 1D10, 1D11, Greissenger Plus, LuXon Max (Otto Bock, Duderstadt, Germany); Seattle Lite-foot (Trulife, USA, Canada, UK, Ireland); Fusion (Willowwood, OH, USA).

Participant Demographics

The highest number of IULLPs in a single study were 128,²⁵ followed by 60 in two studies.^{15,16} However, 84.1% of studies included 15 or less IULLPs, and 61.4% of studies included 10 or less IULLPs. Half of studies included both females and males (n=22, where n indicates the number of studies) and several studies only included males (n=12) or did not report sex (n=10). The mean age of IULLPs ranged from 29.0 to 71.7 years. IULLPs with traumatic etiologies were included in over twice as many studies (n = 31) as those with vascular etiologies (n=15). Eleven studies did not report the etiology of participants.

Functional activity levels are assigned to IULLPs based on ambulation potential, and defined by Medicare as K-levels (K0-K4).²⁶ No studies included in this review had IULLPs at K0 or K1 functional activity levels. Therefore, this review defines lower functional activity as K2, and higher functional activity as K3 or K4. Only six studies included at least one IULLP at a lower functional activity level of K2,^{15,17,18,27–29} while the remaining studies included IULLPs at higher functional levels of K3 or K4.

Kinematic Parameters

The most common spatiotemporal parameters were step length (n=31) and stance time (n=27). The most common joint angle parameters were sagittal plane range of motion (RoM) at the hip (n=12), knee (n=16), and ankle (n=12). Few studies investigated all five of these parameters (n=8).

The most common equipment used to assess symmetry was motion capture (n=29), followed by the GaitRite system (n=5), instrumented insoles (n=2), instrumented treadmills (n=3), and inertial measurement units (IMUs) (n=1).

Mathematical Analysis of Symmetry

Symmetry index equations were most commonly used to assess interlimb symmetry (n= 20). The most common equation, which provides an asymmetry value, was Eq. 1 (n=6). Many studies did not directly calculate symmetry, but used statistical comparison (n=16), ratio scales (n=5), waveform analysis (n=2), or developed their own measures of symmetry (n=1) to examine differences between limbs.

Findings by Level of Limb Loss and Prosthetic Factors

Findings by level of limb loss and prosthetic factors are summarized by differences between limbs in metric units (seconds, meters, degrees) in Table 2 and normalized symmetry percentages in Table 3. Individual study values used to calculate summaries in Tables 2 and 3 can be found in Supplementary Data Tables. Individuals who used unilateral transtibial prostheses were most frequently included (n=27), followed by individuals who used unilateral transfemoral prostheses (n=25), and individuals without limb loss were included as a control group in 15 studies. Individuals without limb loss tended to have the most symmetry, followed by individuals who used transfemoral prostheses.

Half of studies included in this review investigated the influence of prosthetic factors on symmetry (n=22). Specifically, these studies investigated prosthetic factors of as suspension (n=5), alignment

(n=2), foot componentry (n=6), and knee componentry (n=9). Suspension and alignment studies compared liners (n=1), transfemoral socket designs (n=1), transtibial suspension methods (n=3), and transtibial alignments (n=2). Foot componentry studies compared energy storage and return (ESAR) to non-ESAR feet (n=3), two different shapes of ESAR feet (n=1), and hydraulic feet to non-hydraulic feet (n=2). Knee componentry studies compared hydraulic knees to microprocessor knees (MPKs; n=5).

Summary	Step Length Differences (m):	Stance Time Differences (s):	Stance Time Differences	Overall Hip RoM Differences (°):	Overall Knee RoM Differences	Overall Ankle RoM Differences
			(% gait cycle):		(°):	(°):
Ranges by Level	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=
of Limb Loss	0.003 - 0.01	0.001 - 0.02	0.71	NR	1.5	NR
	TT	TT_	TT_	TT_	TT_	TT_{-}
	11=	11=			11=	11=
	0.01 - 0.12	0.01 - 0.04	0.07 - 5.15	0.63 - 3.05	1.43 - 14.6	0.8 - 12.2
	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=
	0.008 - 0.164	0.01 - 0.24	5.0 - 20.7	3.72 - 19.0	1.01 - 16.7	2.4 - 7.7
Ranges by	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=
Prosthetic Feet	0.05	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=
	0.01 - 0.13	0.04 - 0.07	0.3 - 8.0	0.63 - 1.47	1.43 - 3.19	2.4 - 12.2
Ranges by	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=
Prosthetic Knees	0.04 - 0.09	0.07 - 0.11	7.4	8.75	1.01 - 13.4	NR
	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=
	0.03 -0.07	0.03 - 0.13	5.3	3.72	1.26 - 16.74	NR

Га	ble	2:	Di	fferences	Between	Prost	hetic	and	Intact	Limt)S
----	-----	----	----	-----------	---------	-------	-------	-----	--------	------	----

Table 2: Summary of studies (31 total) that reported raw values for prosthetic and intact limbs or differences between limbs in meters (m), seconds (s), % of the gait cycle, or degrees (°) for step length, stance time, or overall sagittal range of motion (RoM) at the hip, knee, and ankle. Studies that measured stance time either reported values in seconds or % of the gait cycle, so these are reported separately. Results are taken from level ground walking conditions at self-selected walking speeds. Baseline conditions and intermediate walking speeds were chosen if multiple conditions or speeds were tested. Normalized symmetry percentages calculated from these raw values are reported in Table 3. NR= not reported, TT= individuals who use unilateral transtibial prostheses, TF= individuals who use unilateral transfemoral prostheses, IULLPs= individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses, SACH= solid ankle cushion heel, ESAR= energy storage and return, MPK= microprocessor knee.

Tal	ble 3	3:1	Normal	ized S	Symmetry	/ Percentages
-----	-------	-----	--------	--------	----------	---------------

	Step Length (% Symmetry from m)	Stance Time (% Symmetry from s)	Stance Time (% Symmetry from % gait cycle)	Overall Sagittal Hip RoM (% Symmetry from °)	Overall Sagittal Knee RoM (% Symmetry from °)	Overall Sagittal Ankle RoM (% Symmetry from °)
Ranges by Level	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=
of Limb Loss	97.0 – 99.6	97.2 – 99.8	98.6	NR	96.2	NR
	TT=	TT=	TT=	TT=	TT=	TT=
	81.3 - 98.0	78.9 – 98.8	81.3 - 99.9	85.7 – 99.8	70.8 – 97.8	23.7 – 96.1
	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=
	66.4 – 98.5	74.5 – 98.4	58.6 – 91.6	55.0 – 91.9	70.5 – 98.2	53.2 - 83.2
Ranges by	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=
Prosthetic Feet	NR	78.9	NR	85.7	84.9	23.7
	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=
	81.6 – 97.3	97.0	87.1 – 99.5	89.0 – 98.5	91.4 – 97.8	44.5 - 83.2
Ranges by	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=
Prosthetic Knees	86.6 – 94.2	74.7 – 91.2	88.2	82.6	77.8 – 98.2	NR
	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=
	90.3 – 95.9	71.4 – 96.0	91.6	91.6	70.5 – 97.7	NR

Table 3: Summary of studies (34 total) that could be converted to percentages using 100- Eq. 1. Studies that measured stance time either reported values in seconds or % of the gait cycle, so these are reported separately. Results are taken from level ground walking conditions at self-selected walking speeds. Baseline conditions and intermediate walking speeds were chosen if multiple conditions or speeds were tested. NR= not reported, TT= individuals who use unilateral transtibial prostheses, TF= individuals who use unilateral transfemoral prostheses, IULLPs= individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses, SACH= solid ankle cushion heel, ESAR= energy storage and return, MPK= microprocessor knee.

Discussion

The objective of this review was to normalize kinematic walking symmetry data in IULLPs by level of limb loss and prosthetic factors to inform considerations in clinical practice and future research. Symmetry tended to decrease as the level of limb loss became more proximal, and increase with more advanced prosthetic foot and knee componentry. However, it should be noted studies primarily included ten or less individuals who were less than 65 years of age, had traumatic etiologies, and ambulated at higher functional levels of K3 or K4. While these findings are not novel, this review provides normative symmetry values by level of limb loss and prosthetic componentry, as well as considerations for future research in this population, such as including larger sample sizes and individuals who are over 65 years of age, have diabetic etiologies, and ambulate at K2 functional levels to reflect clinical considerations for the majority of IULLPs.

Participant Demographics

Functional activity level, age, and etiology can influence decisions regarding rehabilitation goals in IULLPs. Most IULLPs included in this review were individuals who were less than 65 years of age, had traumatic etiologies, and ambulated at higher functional levels of K3 or K4.

The six studies that included at least one IULLP at a lower functional level of K2 provided normalized symmetry values of 86.2- 97.2% for step length, 92.2- 99.5% for stance time, 96.4- 97.1% for hip RoM, 77.0- 97.8% for knee RoM, and 44.5- 96.1% for ankle RoM. These values were in line with studies that did not include K2 participants, which is not surprising considering few participants were classified as K2 in each of these studies.

General literature has found that walking symmetry declines with age in individuals without limb loss from \geq 90% to 80-85% in individuals over 65 years of age.^{30,31} Many individuals with limb loss are over 65 years of age, and vascular etiologies are the primary cause of amputation.³² Yet, IULLPs 65 years of age or older with vascular etiologies were only included in twelve and fifteen studies, respectively. Only two studies exclusively included older IULLPs with vascular etiologies, with mean ages of 64 and 71.7 years.^{17,28} One study could not be normalized, and the other only measured step length in individuals who used transtibial prostheses, providing normalized symmetry values of 96.6%. In contrast, ten studies exclusively included IULLPs with traumatic etiologies with mean ages ranging 30 to 45 years across studies.^{16,22,23,33–39} Normalized symmetry values ranged 89.5- 98.5% for step length, 74.5- 98.4% for stance time, 92.9% for hip RoM, and 87.9% for knee RoM, which were comparable to individuals without limb loss.^{16,23,34,35}

Therefore, IULLPs who are older adults, have vascular etiologies, or ambulate at lower functional activity levels may differ compared to IULLPs that were included in this review. Collecting kinematic walking symmetry data from individuals with these demographic characteristics can help inform clinical considerations in a way that accurately represents the majority of IULLPs.

Kinematic Parameters

The most commonly investigated parameters identified in this review, specifically step length, stance time, and knee RoM, were in line with a previous review of individuals who used transtibial prostheses.¹² Future studies could include these parameters to improve comparison of findings across studies.

Mathematical Analysis of Symmetry

The most common mathematical analysis of symmetry in this review were symmetry index equations (n= 18), with the most common equation being Eq. 1 (n=6), or a derivation of Eq. 1 (n=4). This equation was first described by Robinson et al. (1987) and then Herzog et al. (1989) in individuals without limb loss using right and left limbs, rather than prosthetic and intact limbs. Therefore, when applying this equation to IULLPs, it is up to the authors whether to use the prosthetic or intact limb as the reference value. Three studies instead calculated the absolute value of Eq. 1 to obtain only positive values.^{35,40,41} Absolute values eliminate the need for a reference value, but also eliminate the distinction of which limb had higher or lower values. In this case, researchers could include both absolute percent symmetry values alongside the original data values (Table 2 & Table 3) to ease comparisons across studies.⁴²

Additionally, one study used three different analyses for calculating symmetry with various statistical significance depending on the equation used,⁴³ and one developed symmetry scores based on thigh and shank angular velocity data collected from inertial measurement units.²⁵ These symmetry values were consistent with studies including similar demographics. Until these newly developed equations are consistently used or considered a better representation of symmetry, it is suggested that future studies analyze kinematic walking symmetry data using Eq. 1, in addition to the newly developed equations, to ease comparisons of findings across studies.

Findings by Level of Limb Loss

In agreement with research prior to 2000,^{48–51} individuals without limb loss tended to show the most symmetrical gait with values over 90% (97.0- 99.8%), followed by individuals who used

transtibial prostheses (70.8- 98.5%), while individuals who used transfermoral prostheses tended to show the least symmetrical gait (53.2- 98.5%).

Spatiotemporal Parameters

Step lengths tended to be longer on the prosthetic limb compared to the intact limb, with more symmetry in individuals who used transtibial prostheses than transfemoral prostheses. Two studies in this review suggested step length differences between prosthetic and intact limbs might be functional compensations to preserve backward margin of stability during double limb support.^{48,49}

Stance times tended to be shorter on the prosthetic limb compared to the intact limb, with more symmetry in individuals who used transtibial prostheses than transfemoral prostheses. Three studies in this review compared stance time symmetries, and found the greatest symmetry in individuals without limb loss, followed by individuals who used transtibial prostheses (89.7-93.4%), and then individuals who used transfemoral prostheses (58.6- 74.5%).^{16,34,35} However, individuals without limb loss and individuals who used transtibial prostheses tended to have similar amounts of symmetry in studies included in this review. Individuals who used transfemoral prostheses tended to have the widest range of symmetry across studies with the lowest minimum values.

Joint Angle Parameters

In a study of seventy-eight individuals without limb loss, the ankle was the least symmetrical joint (88.0- 94.0%) compared to the knee (96.0- 98.0%) and hip (96.0- 98.0%).⁵⁰ The ankle was also the least symmetrical joint for all IULLPs in this review (Table 3). Transtibial values for

normalized symmetry averaged 64.7% (23.7- 96.1%) at the ankle compared to 87.7% (70.8-97.8%) at the knee and 97.8% (85.7- 99.8%) at the hip. Transfemoral values for normalized symmetry averaged 68.2% (53.2- 83.2%) at the ankle compared to 86.0% (70.5- 98.2%) at the knee and 73.3% (55.0- 91.9%) at the hip. The prosthetic foot had less ankle plantarflexion compared to the intact limb in individuals who used transtibial prostheses.^{43,51–54} This agrees with previous research,^{55–57} and supports the idea that the intact limb may compensate for lack of plantarflexion in the prosthetic foot.^{14,58–62}Ankle symmetry was not reported in any study included in this review for individuals without limb loss.

Findings by Prosthetic Factors

Prosthetic factors are discussed by studies that examined suspension and alignment, foot componentry, and knee componentry. The influence of suspension and alignment findings on symmetry were inconclusive for the five normalized kinematic parameters. ESAR and hydraulic feet tended to show increased symmetry compared to non-ESAR and non-hydraulic feet.^{18,19,37,43,51} MPKs tended to show increased symmetry compared to non-MPKs.^{16,20,41,63,64}

Suspension and Alignment

Spatiotemporal Parameters

Suspension systems are typically considered the most critical part of a prosthesis, since it provides direct contact between an individual's prosthesis and residual limb. Individuals who used transtibial prostheses had decreased gait variability when participants wore a polyurethane liner compared to their previous liner, but had no difference in step length or stance time symmetry.⁶⁵ Individuals who used transfemoral prostheses had more symmetrical step lengths with a wider

base of support while wearing an ischial containment socket (98.0%) compared to a brimless socket with vacuum suspension (92.0%).⁶⁶ Individuals who used transtibial prostheses showed increased step length and stance time symmetry, though not statistically significant, with suction suspension (93.2%) compared to pin-lock suspension (86.2%),²⁹ and increased step lengths with vacuum suspension (91.9- 95.8%) compared to without vacuum (91.5%).^{54,67,68}

Prosthetists optimize prosthetic alignment by observing an individual's gait, and make prosthetic adjustments to increase symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs. Misalignment of the prosthesis can negatively influence gait and cause residual limb irritation. One study found stance time symmetry was consistent across alignment conditions,⁴⁰ but another found stance time was least symmetrical during the optimal alignment condition.⁶⁹ Both investigated individuals who used transtibial prostheses. Differences in findings may be explained by prosthetic design and foot componentry. In the study that found stance time symmetry was consistent across alignment conditions,⁴⁰ some participants typically ambulated with an exoskeletal prosthesis, but used an endoskeletal prosthesis for the study. Participants in this study also used SACH feet, while participants used ESAR feet in the study that found stance time was least symmetrical during the optimal alignment condition.⁶⁹

Joint Angle Parameters

Transtibial suspension studies found almost identical hip RoM symmetry across pin-lock, suction, and vacuum suspensions.^{29,67} Astrom and Stenstrom (2004) found no differences in knee symmetry when participants used polyurethane liners compared to their prescribed liners. Chow et al. (2006) determined knee flexion at loading response had the least relevance in determining acceptable

alignment. One study found pin-lock suspension (84.4%)showed significantly increased knee joint symmetry compared to suction suspension (77.0%),²⁹ and one study found differences in knee RoM between vacuum on (97.0%) and off (97.6%) conditions were almost identical.^{54,67} Ankle symmetry had less than a 1% difference between pin-lock and suction suspensions,²⁹ and almost identical values between vacuum on and off conditions.^{54,67}

Foot Componentry

Spatiotemporal Parameters

Studies agreed ESAR and hydraulic feet increased step length and stance time symmetry compared to non-ESAR and non-hydraulic feet.^{16,18,19,37,43,51} Yang et al. (2018) found the ESAR foot with split forefoot and heel wedge (97.3%) slightly increased step length symmetry compared to an ESAR foot without those features (94.2%). Moore (2016) results could not be normalized, but found hydraulic feet significantly increased symmetry in comparison to non-hydraulic feet regardless of whether participants used transtibial or transfemoral prostheses, or ambulated at lower or higher functional activity levels.

Joint Angle Parameters

Hip, knee, and ankle symmetry increased when individuals who used transtibial prostheses ambulated with an ESAR foot compared to a SACH foot. The ankle showed the most prominent differences between ESAR (63.5%) and SACH (23.7%) feet.⁴³ Findings were consistent across three different equations Marinakis (2004) used to calculate results. Yang et al. (2018) showed the ESAR foot with split forefoot and heel wedge (60.8%) increased ankle dorsiflexion symmetry between limbs compared to the ESAR foot without those features (44.5%) throughout the gait

cycle. Bai et al. (2017) found the non-hydraulic foot (83.2%) had increased ankle symmetry compared to the hydraulic foot (53.2%) throughout the gait cycle.

Knee Componentry

Spatiotemporal Parameters

Several studies found participants had increased step length symmetry with MPKs compared to hydraulic knees^{64,70} while other studies found no significant differences.^{41,71} These conflicting findings may be explained by prosthesis accommodation times. Studies that found significant differences had accommodation times of 3 months or stated each participant used the prosthetic knee for at least two years prior to testing, while studies that found no significant differences had accommodation times of 1 week or 10 hours. A previous review concluded proper accommodation times are important in determining findings that are reflective of long-term use and allowing clinicians to make appropriate prosthetic decisions.⁷²

Stance time symmetry findings were also conflicting. One study found MPKs increased stance time symmetry compared to hydraulic knees,⁴¹ while another found the opposite,³⁹ and two other studies found no significant differences.^{64,71} Conflicting findings may be explained by selection of hydraulic knee componentry. The study that found MPKs increased stance time symmetry tested hydraulic 3R60 knees (Ottobock, Duderstadt, Germany), while the study that found the opposite tested hydraulic 3R80 knees (Ottobock, Duderstadt, Germany), and both studies with no significant differences tested hydraulic Mauch SNS knees (Ossur, Reykjavik, Iceland). Conflicting step length and stance time findings were in line with a clinical practice guideline stating

spatiotemporal parameters may not be primary indications for prosthetic knee joint selection due to comparable symmetries among knees.⁷³

Joint Angle Parameters

MPKs (91.6%) tended to increase hip RoM symmetry compared to non-MPKs (82.6%), but showed similar amounts of knee RoM symmetry with MPKs (70.5- 97.7%) compared to non-MPKs (77.8- 98.2%).^{20,63,64} One study using waveform analysis found MPKs had more stance phase symmetry in all three joints compared to a variety of non-MPKs, though findings were not statistically signifcant.²⁰ Another study found MPKs had more symmetry in all three joints across the gait cycle compared to hydraulic knees, with most increased symmetry at the hip.⁶³ Finally, participants had more knee angle symmetry with MPKs compared to hydraulic knees after three-month acclimation periods to each knee. No studies that compared prosthetic knee componentry reported ankle symmetry or RoM.

Clinical Considerations

Walking symmetry is not typically quantified in clinical practice. Instead, prosthetists use observational gait analysis to observe kinematic symmetry parameters, such as step length or joint RoM, to make prosthetic adjustments and inform treatment plans. Effectiveness of using observational gait analysis can be dependent on subjective factors such as practitioner experience, user fatigue, or time allotted for the appointment. Observational gait analysis could be supplemented by translating kinematic walking symmetry research findings into clinical practice.

Motion capture was most commonly used to measure kinematic parameters in this review. While motion capture typically quantifies symmetry in research settings, it can be impractical to use in clinic for several reasons: high costs, lack of portability, and the need for specialized personnel.¹⁴ Some studies used equipment such as gait mats or inertial measurement units to collect data outside of research lab settings. As portable and wearable equipment becomes more ubiquitous and cost effective, clinicians and researchers may find this equipment more practical.

Clinicians can use normalized data summarized in this review, particularly the Table 2 summary of differences between prosthetic and intact limbs in metric units, as reference values for step length, stance time, and sagittal plane hip, knee, and ankle range of motion. These values provide evidence-based data that can be used to guide thresholds of symmetry in rehabilitation and justify ESAR feet and MPKs for active adults under 65 years of age with traumatic etiologies to insurance payers.

Limitations and Future Research

This review focused on kinematic symmetry due to ease of translation to observational gait analysis in clinical practice, and several researchers have noted kinematics alone should not be the sole determinant of gait symmetry.^{16,74} The majority of studies included in this review measured parameters other than kinematics such as kinetics, muscle strength, patient preference, or energy consumption, which should also be assessed. Furthermore, this review only included studies that measured walking. Other movement tasks such as sit-to-stand transitions, turns, and navigating inclines, declines, or uneven terrain are also important activities of daily living that should be examined in future research.

Several considerations can be applied to future studies regarding information collected from participants. Length of time since amputation was often assumed to reflect gait consistency. However, gait consistency could also be influenced by prosthetic socket or alignment changes, regardless of a participant's time since amputation. Collecting the date since last prosthetic fitting, adjustment, or alignment, may be a more accurate way to determine the consistency of a participant's gait pattern than time since amputation. Additionally, testing clinically appropriate components with adequate accommodation time is necessary to determine findings that accurately inform clinical decisions.

Considerations for data collection and analysis could also be applied to future research. Future studies could use normalized values provided in this review as a reference for their findings, and include the most common kinematic parameters and mathematical analysis of symmetry identified in this review to improve comparisons across studies. Studies could include larger sample sizes of IULLPs with a wide variety of demographics, which may be more feasible as portable and wearable equipment becomes more ubiquitous.

Several topics for future research were identified in this review. Collecting pelvic and trunk symmetry could improve understanding of gait deviations that contribute to commonly reported secondary health conditions such as low back pain in IULLPs.^{10,75,76} No studies included in this review directly examined differences in gait symmetry by age or etiology, examined ankle symmetry in individuals who used transfemoral prostheses, or compared componentry intended for individuals with lower activity levels.

Conclusions

This review normalized kinematic walking symmetry data in IULLPs by level of limb loss and prosthetic factors to provide considerations for clinical practice, and also provided considerations to promote clinical translation in future research. Individuals without limb loss had the most symmetry, followed by individuals who used transtibial prostheses, then individuals who used transfemoral prostheses in step length, stance time, and lower limb sagittal RoM parameters.

Componentry intended for individuals with higher activity levels, such as ESAR feet and MPKs, tended to increase symmetry. However, the majority of studies included ten or less individuals young adult IULLPs with traumatic etiologies who used componentry intended for higher activity levels. Clinicians can use normalized values in this study to guide thresholds for walking symmetry during rehabilitation, and future research can include larger sample sizes of larger sample sizes and individuals who are older, have vascular etiologies, or use componentry intended for lower activity levels to help promote translation of research findings into clinical practice for the majority of IULLPs. Identifying reference values reflective of the majority to IULLPs could ultimately help clinicians elevate the standard of care for individuals with lower-limb loss.

Acknowledgements

This work was written while the first author was supported by the National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Aging (T32 AG020494) and the Institute for Healthy Aging. This project is taken in part from a dissertation MGF submitted to the University of North Texas Health Science Center in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

References

1. Viteckova S, Kutilek P, Svoboda Z, et al. Gait symmetry measures: A review of current and prospective methods. *Biomed Signal Process Control* 2018; 42: 89–100.

2. Michael JW. Modern Prosthetic Knee Mechanisms: *Clin Orthop* 1999; 361: 39–47.

3. Hof AL, van Bockel RM, Schoppen T, et al. Control of lateral balance in walking. *Gait Posture* 2007; 25: 250–258.

4. Ku PX, Abu Osman NA, Wan Abas WAB. Balance control in lower extremity amputees during quiet standing: A systematic review. *Gait Posture* 2014; 39: 672–682.

5. van Velzen JM, van Bennekom CA, Polomski W, et al. Physical capacity and walking ability after lower limb amputation: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil* 2006; 20: 999–1016.

6. Miller WC, Deathe AB, Speechley M, et al. The influence of falling, fear of falling, and balance confidence on prosthetic mobility and social activity among individuals with a lower extremity amputation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2001; 82: 1238–1244.

 Kulkarni J, Adams J, Thomas E, et al. Association between amputation, arthritis and osteopenia in British male war veterans with major lower limb amputations. *Clin Rehabil* 1998; 12: 348–353.

8. Asano M, Rushton P, Miller WC, et al. Predictors of quality of life among individuals who have a lower limb amputation. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2008; 32: 231–243.

9. van der Linde H van der, Hofstad CJ, Geurts ACH, et al. A systematic literature review of the effect of different prosthetic components on human functioning with a lower-limb prosthesis. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2004; 41: 555.

10. Devan H, Hendrick P, Ribeiro DC, et al. Asymmetrical movements of the lumbopelvic region: Is this a potential mechanism for low back pain in people with lower limb amputation? *Med Hypotheses* 2014; 82: 77–85.

11. Gholizadeh H, Abu Osman NA, Eshraghi A, et al. Transtibial prosthesis suspension systems: Systematic review of literature. *Clin Biomech* 2014; 29: 87–97.

12. Sagawa Y, Turcot K, Armand S, et al. Biomechanics and physiological parameters during gait in lower-limb amputees: A systematic review. *Gait Posture* 2011; 33: 511–526.

13. Research Priorities 2020, https://www.oandp.org/page/research-priorities-2020.

 Gard, SA. Use of Quantitative Gait Analysis for the Evaluation of Prosthetic Walking Performance. *J Prosthet Orthot* 2006; 18: 93–104.

 Carse B, Scott H, Brady L, et al. A characterisation of established unilateral transfemoral amputee gait using 3D kinematics, kinetics and oxygen consumption measures. *Gait Posture* 2020; 75: 98–104.

16. Cutti AG, Verni G, Migliore GL, et al. Reference values for gait temporal and loading symmetry of lower-limb amputees can help in refocusing rehabilitation targets. *J NeuroEngineering Rehabil* 2018; 15: 61.

Moylan B, Paner R, Pauley T, et al. Impact of Increased Prosthetic Mass on Gait
 Symmetry in Dysvascular Transfemoral Amputees: A Randomized Prospective Double-Blind
 Crossover Trial. *J Prosthet Orthot* 2015; 27: 63–67.

18. Moore R. Effect on Stance Phase Timing Asymmetry in Individuals with Amputation Using Hydraulic Ankle Units: *J Prosthet Orthot* 2016; 28: 44–48.

 Graham LE, Datta D, Heller B, et al. A Comparative Study of Conventional and Energy-Storing Prosthetic Feet in High-Functioning Transfemoral Amputees. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2007; 88: 801–806.

20. Kaufman KR, Frittoli S, Frigo CA. Gait asymmetry of transfemoral amputees using mechanical and microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knees. *Clin Biomech* 2012; 27: 460–465.

21. Mishra P, Singh S, Ranjan V, et al. Performance Evaluation of Jaipur Knee Joint through Kinematics and Kinetics Gait Symmetry with Unilateral Transfemoral Indian Amputees. *J Med Syst* 2019; 43: 55.

Highsmith MJ, Schulz BW, Hart-Hughes S, et al. Differences in the Spatiotemporal
Parameters of Transtibial and Transfemoral Amputee Gait: *JPO J Prosthet Orthot* 2010; 22: 26–30.

23. Darter BJ, Bastian AJ, Wolf EJ, et al. Locomotor adaptability in persons with unilateral transtibial amputation. *PLOS ONE* 2017; 12: e0181120.

24. De Asha AR, Buckley JG. The effects of walking speed on minimum toe clearance and on the temporal relationship between minimum clearance and peak swing-foot velocity in unilateral trans-tibial amputees. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2015; 39: 120–125.

25. Clemens S, Kim KJ, Gailey R, et al. Inertial sensor-based measures of gait symmetry and repeatability in people with unilateral lower limb amputation. *Clin Biomech* 2020; 72: 102–107.

26. Balk E, Gazula, A MG. Table 1, Lower limb extremity prosthesis Medicare Functional Classification Levels (K levels). In: *Lower Limb Prostheses: Measurement Instruments,*

Comparison of Component Effects by Subgroups, and Long-Term Outcomes. Rockville, MD:

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US),

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK531517/table/ch2.tab1/.

27. Yang JR, Yang HS, Ahn DH, et al. Differences in Gait Patterns of Unilateral Transtibial
Amputees With Two Types of Energy Storing Prosthetic Feet. *Ann Rehabil Med* 2018; 42: 609–616.

28. Nadollek H, Brauer S, Isles R. Outcomes after trans-tibial amputation: the relationship between quiet stance ability, strength of hip abductor muscles and gait. *Physiother Res Int* 2002; 7: 203–214.

29. Gholizadeh H, Abu Osman NA, Eshraghi A, et al. The Effects of Suction and Pin/Lock Suspension Systems on Transtibial Amputees' Gait Performance. *PLoS ONE* 2014; 9: e94520.

30. Laroche DP, Cook SB, Mackala K. Strength Asymmetry Increases Gait Asymmetry and Variability in Older Women: *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 2012; 44: 2172–2181.

31. Skelton, DA, Kennedy J, Rutherford OM. Explosive power and asymmetry in leg muscle function in frequent fallers and non-fallers aged over 65. *Age Ageing* 2002; 31: 1.

32. Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al. Estimating the Prevalence of Limb Loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008; 89: 422–429.

33. Bateni H, Olney SJ. Kinematic and Kinetic Variations of Below-Knee Amputee Gait: *JPO J Prosthet Orthot* 2002; 14: 2–10.

34. Keklicek H, Kirdi E, Yalcin A, et al. Comparison of gait variability and symmetry in trained individuals with transtibial and transfemoral limb loss. *J Orthop Surg* 2019; 27: 230949901983266.

35. Nolan L, Wit A, Dudziñski K, et al. Adjustments in gait symmetry with walking speed in trans-femoral and trans-tibial amputees. *Gait Posture* 2003; 17: 142–151.

36. Kovac I, Medved V, Ostojic L. Spatial, temporal and kinematic characteristics on traumatic transtibial amputee's gait. *Coll Antropol* 2010; 34: 205–213.

37. Houdijk H, Wezenberg D, Hak L, et al. Energy storing and return prosthetic feet improve step length symmetry while preserving margins of stability in persons with transtibial amputation. *J NeuroEngineering Rehabil* 2018; 15: 76.

38. Hekmatfard M, Farahmand F, Ebrahimi I. Effects of prosthetic mass distribution on the spatiotemporal characteristics and knee kinematics of transfemoral amputee locomotion. *Gait Posture* 2013; 37: 78–81.

39. Schaarschmidt M, Lipfert SW, Meier-Gratz C, et al. Functional gait asymmetry of unilateral transfemoral amputees. *Hum Mov Sci* 2012; 31: 907–917.

40. Chow DHK, Holmes AD, Lee CKL, et al. The Effect of Prosthesis Alignment on the
Symmetry of Gait in Subjects with Unilateral Transtibial Amputation. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2006;
30: 114–128.

41. Petersen AO, Comins J, Alkjær T. Assessment of Gait Symmetry in Transfemoral
Amputees Using C-Leg Compared With 3R60 Prosthetic Knees: *JPO J Prosthet Orthot* 2010;
22: 106–112.

42. Błażkiewicz M, Wiszomirska I, Wit A. Comparison of four methods of calculating the symmetry of spatial-temporal parameters of gait. *Acta Bioeng Biomech* 2014; 16: 29–35.

43. Marinakis GNS. Interlimb symmetry of traumatic unilateral transtibial amputees wearing two different prosthetic feet in the early rehabilitation stage. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2004; 41: 581.

44. Jaegers SMHJ, Arendzen JH, de Jongh HJ. Prosthetic gait of unilateral transfemoral amputees: A kinematic study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1995; 76: 736–743.

45. Waters RL, Perry J, Antonelli D, et al. Energy cost of walking of amputees: the influence of level of amputation. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1976; 58: 42–46.

46. Zuniga EN, Leavitt LA, Calvert JC, et al. Gait patterns in above-knee amputees. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1972; 53: 373–382.

47. James U, Oberg K. Prosthetic gait pattern in unilateral above-knee amputees. *Scand J Rehabil Med* 1973; 5: 35–50.

48. Roerdink M, Roeles S, van der Pas SCH, et al. Evaluating asymmetry in prosthetic gait with step-length asymmetry alone is flawed. *Gait Posture* 2012; 35: 446–451.

49. Mattes SJ, Martin PE, Royer TD. Walking symmetry and energy cost in persons with unilateral transtibial amputations: Matching prosthetic and intact limb inertial properties. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2000; 81: 561–568.

50. Forczek W, Staszkiewicz R. An Evaluation of Symmetry in the Lower Limb Joints During the Able-Bodied Gait of Women and Men. *J Hum Kinet* 2012; 35: 47–57.

51. Bai X, Ewins D, Crocombe AD, et al. Kinematic and biomimetic assessment of a hydraulic ankle/foot in level ground and camber walking. *PLOS ONE* 2017; 12: e0180836.

52. Sjödahl C, Jarnlo G-B, Söderberg B, et al. Kinematic and kinetic gait analysis in the sagittal plane of trans-femoral amputees before and after special gait re-education. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2002; 26: 101–112.

53. Supan T, Lebiedowska M, Dodson R, et al. The Effect of a Talux® Prosthetic Foot on Gait Parameters and Limb Loading of Nonvascular Transtibial Amputees: *JPO J Prosthet Orthot* 2010; 22: 43–52.

54. Xu H, Greenland K, Bloswick D, et al. Vacuum level effects on gait characteristics for unilateral transtibial amputees with elevated vacuum suspension. *Clin Biomech* 2017; 43: 95–101.

55. Breaky, J. Gait of unilateral below-knee amputees. *O&P Library Digital Resource*, http://www.oandplibrary.org/op/1976_03_017.asp.

56. Dingwell JB, Davis BL, Frazder DM. Use of an instrumented treadmill for real-time gait symmetry evaluation and feedback in normal and trans-tibial amputee subjects. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 1996; 20: 101–110.

57. Winter DA, Sienko SE. Biomechanics of below-knee amputee gait. *J Biomech* 1988; 21: 361–367.

58. Boonstra, AM, Schrama J. The gait of unilateral transfemoral amputees. *Gait Unilateral Transfemoral Amputees* 1994; 26: 217–223.

59. Schmalz T, Blumentritt S, Jarasch R. Energy expenditure and biomechanical characteristics of lower limb amputee gait: *Gait Posture* 2002; 16: 255–263.

60. Berger, N. Atlas of limb prosthetics: surgical, prosthetic rehabilitation principles. In: *Analysis of amputee gait.* St Louis: Mosby-Year Book, Inc., 1992.

61. Czerniecki JM. Rehabilitation in limb deficiency. 1. Gait and motion analysis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1996; 77: S3–S8.

62. Neptune RR, Kautz SA, Zajac FE. Contributions of the individual ankle plantar flexors to support, forward progression and swing initiation during walking. *J Biomech* 2001; 34: 1387–1398.

63. Uchytil J, Jandacka D, Farana R, et al. Kinematics of gait using bionic and hydraulic knee joints in transfemoral amputees. *Acta Gymnica* 2017; 47: 130–137.

64. Segal AD, Orendurff MS, Klute GK, et al. Kinematic and kinetic comparisons of transfemoral amputee gait using C-Leg and Mauch SNS prosthetic knees. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2006; 43: 857.

65. Åström I, Stenström A. Effect on gait and socket comfort in unilateral trans-tibial amputees after exchange to a polyurethane concept. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2004; 28: 28–36.

66. Kahle JT, Highsmith MJ. Transfemoral interfaces with vacuum assisted suspension comparison of gait, balance, and subjective analysis: Ischial containment versus brimless. *Gait Posture* 2014; 40: 315–320.

67. Gholizadeh H, Lemaire ED, Sinitski EH, et al. Transtibial amputee gait with the unity suspension system. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol* 2020; 15: 350–356.

68. Board WJ, Street GM, Caspers C. A comparison of trans-tibial amputee suction and vacuum socket conditions. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2001; 25: 202–209.

69. Svoboda, Z, Janura M. Temporal symmetry of sound and prosthetic limbs during transtibial amputee gait with various prosthetic alignment. *Acta Gymn* 2007; 37: 55–60.

70. Uchytil J, Jandacka D, Zahradnik D, et al. Temporal–spatial parameters of gait in transfemoral amputees: Comparison of bionic and mechanically passive knee joints. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2014; 38: 199–203.

71. Johansson JL, Sherrill DM, Riley PO, et al. A Clinical Comparison of Variable-Damping and Mechanically Passive Prosthetic Knee Devices: *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2005; 84: 563–575.

Wanamaker AB, Andridge RR, Chaudhari AM. When to biomechanically examine a lower-limb amputee: A systematic review of accommodation times. *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2017; 41: 431–445.

73. Stevens PM, Wurdeman SR. Prosthetic Knee Selection for Individuals with Unilateral Transfemoral Amputation: A Clinical Practice Guideline. *J Prosthet Orthot* 2019; 31: 2–8.

74. Childers WL, Kogler GF. Symmetrical kinematics does not imply symmetrical kinetics in people with transtibial amputation using cycling model. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2014; 51: 1243–1254.

75. Devan H, Hendrick P, Hale L, et al. Exploring Factors Influencing Low Back Pain in People With Nondysvascular Lower Limb Amputation: A National Survey. *PM&R* 2017; 9: 949–959.

76. Gailey R. Review of secondary physical conditions associated with lower-limb amputation and long-term prosthesis use. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2008; 45: 15–30

Chapter 2 Linkage

Chapter 2 informed decisions for both studies listed under 'Section 3: Biomechanical Symmetry.'

Chapter 2 findings highlighted the need for a standard measure of spatiotemporal and kinematic symmetry in this population. Specifically, this review helped inform the following decisions in both biomechanical studies: to recruit underrepresented populations in this field of research (older individuals with diabetes), the equation to use to calculate symmetry (most commonly used in articles included in the review), and which spatiotemporal and biomechanical measures to collect (stance time, ankle, knee, and hip sagittal plane kinematics). This review also provided comparison data for our findings in Chapter 8.
CHAPTER 3

CLINICAL EVALUATION OF FALL RISKS IN OLDER ADULTS WHO USE LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES: A SCOPING REVIEW

Submitted revisions for publication to Journal of the American Geriatrics Society

on September 10, 2022

MG Finco¹, Nathalie Sumien², Sarah C. Moudy³

¹Department of Physiology and Anatomy, University of North Texas Health Science Center,

Fort Worth, TX 76107

²Department of Pharmacology and Neuroscience, University of North Texas Health Science

Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107

³Texas College of Osteopathic Medicine, University of North Texas Health Science Center,

Fort Worth, TX 76107

Abstract

<u>Background</u>: Falls are prevalent among the general population of older adults and those who use a lower-limb prosthesis at any age, potentially placing older adults who use lower-limb prostheses at greater risks of falls. An abundance of literature has informed evidence-based clinical protocols to evaluate fall risk in the general population of older adults. However, no reviews or evidencebased clinical protocols exist to evaluate fall risk in lower-limb prosthesis users. This scoping review sought to determine assessments, defined as clinical outcome measures and gait parameters, associated with fall risk in this population to determine if a systematic review is warranted and help inform an evidence-based clinical protocol.

<u>Methods:</u> Google Scholar, PubMed, and Scopus were searched on April 19th, 2022 to include peer-reviewed original research. Included articles reported relationships between falls and clinical outcome measures or gait parameters in older adults who use transtibial or transfemoral prostheses. Clinical outcome measures included self-reported questionnaires and functional mobility tests. Gait parameters included spatiotemporal, kinematic, and kinetic data during walking and stair negotiation.

<u>Results:</u> Nineteen articles were included. Clinical outcome measure scores, gait parameter data, and cutoff scores by fall status (non-fallers, single fallers, recurrent fallers) were summarized. The Timed Up and Go was the clinical outcome measure most frequently found to be significantly associated with falls, but only in two of eight articles. Four gait parameters in walking kinetics and ten parameters in stair ascent were significantly associated with falls, but only in one article each.

<u>Conclusions</u>: The majority of articles found no clinical outcome measure or gait parameter alone was effective at determining fall risks in this population. Future research should evaluate a combination of assessments and collect prospective fall data to move towards establishing an evidence-based protocol to evaluate fall risk in older adults using lower-limb prostheses.

Key words: amputee, mobility, limb loss, balance, prosthesis

Introduction

Older adults in the general population have high fall risks,¹ as well as adults who use lower-limb prostheses.²⁻⁴ Adults 18 years of age or older with lower-limb amputation have similar or higher fall risks compared to adults 65 years of age or older in the general population.^{6,10} In both of these populations, falls have been associated with a wide variety of negative secondary health effects, such as diminished mobility, social activity, and fall-related injury.^{1,5-9} Therefore, combined fall risk factors of older age and prosthesis use may make older adults who use prostheses more vulnerable to falls than either risk factor alone.¹¹ Further, older adults are estimated to be 42% of the amputee population, and numbers are expected to increase with the prevalence of peripheral vascular disease and type 2 diabetes.¹² As the prevalence of older adults who rely on lower-limb prostheses increases, the need for effective fall risk screening in this population increases.

Established evidence-based clinical protocols exist to evaluate fall risk in older adults in the general population, based on evidence from systematic reviews and meta-analyses.^{13–16} However, no evidence-based clinical protocol exists to effectively evaluate fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses, or adults at any age,^{11,17–19} despite falls being one of the most prevalent and costly concerns in this population.^{20–22} While several studies have associated poor balance with older age in adults who use lower-limb prostheses,^{23,24} older adults are typically underrepresented in amputation and prosthesis user literature surrounding musculoskeletal and biomechanical adaptations.^{25,26}

No literature reviews have summarized assessments associated with fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses. Clinical outcome measures that are self-reported questionnaires (e.g. Activities-Specific Balance Confidence (ABC)) or functional mobility tests (e.g. Timed Up and Go (TUG)) are clinically feasible ways to potentially evaluate fall risk, but there is still no consensus on collecting clinical outcome measures for general prosthetic rehabilitation.²⁷ Additionally, walking on level terrain has been identified as the most common activity when falls occur in adults who use lower-limb prostheses, and falls often involve the prosthesis.^{2,28} Therefore, gait assessments while walking on level terrain may be useful to evaluate fall risk in this population. For instance, recent studies have suggested clinically feasible ways (e.g. mobile phone applications) to measure gait parameters during clinic visits in adults who use lower-limb prostheses.^{29–31} Further, studies in non-prosthetic populations have suggested gait assessments may be stronger indicators of fall risk than clinical outcome measure scores^{32,33} or could supplement clinical outcome measure scores^{34,35} to improve fall risk screening. Thus, we also examine the literature surrounding gait analysis to determine if gait data would be useful to evaluate fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses.

Determining clinical outcome measures and gait parameters associated with fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses could provide a reference for clinicians and researchers to improve fall risk screening and move towards an evidence-based clinical protocol. However, this literature has yet to be summarized. The objective of this scoping review is to determine which, if any, clinical outcome measures or gait parameters have been associated with fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses in previous literature.

Methods

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR) guideline was followed, according to their published checklist (Supplemental Document 1).³⁶

A search was performed on April 19th, 2022 in Google Scholar, PubMed, and Scopus to encompass all previous peer-reviewed original research articles of falls in older adults who use transtibial or transfemoral prostheses. References were also examined for inclusion.

The following search terms were used:

<u>Google Scholar:</u> amput* AND fall* OR balance AND older OR elderly AND above-knee OR below-knee OR transfemoral OR transtibial OR lower-limb OR leg

<u>PubMed:</u> ("fall"[Title/Abstract]) OR balance[Title/Abstract] AND older[Title/Abstract] OR elderly[Title/Abstract] AND ((((amputees[MeSH Terms]) OR (amputation[MeSH Terms])) OR (amput*[Title/Abstract])) AND ((below-knee OR transtibial OR trans-tibial OR above-knee OR transfemoral OR trans-femoral OR leg OR lower-limb OR lower limb OR "above knee" OR "below knee") OR ((extremities, lower[MeSH Terms])))))

Scopus: (amput* AND fall* OR balance AND older OR elderly AND above-knee OR belowknee OR transfemoral OR transtibial OR lower-limb OR leg)

Articles were included if they reported original research on falls in older adults who used transtibial or transfemoral prostheses. Original research on falls was defined as studies that distinguished groups by fall status (e.g. non-fallers, single fallers, recurrent fallers) or reported number of falls. MGF intended to define studies involving older adults as having a mean age of 65+ years, but only 4 articles met this criterion. Fifty-five years is the upper mean age limit of other studies in this population with large sample sizes (50-55 years), so older adults were defined as having a mean participant age of 55 years or older.^{37–39}

Titles of articles were excluded if they did not include adults who used transtibial or transfemoral prostheses or were not original research (e.g. literature reviews). Abstracts of articles were excluded if they were not peer-reviewed or included less than five participants. Full-text articles were excluded if they were not available in English, did not report fall data, did not include adults with a mean age of at least 55 years, or did not report clinical outcome measure scores or gait data.

MGF applied search terms, screened titles, and screened abstracts. MGF and SCM independently screened full-texts. MGF and SCM discussed and resolved any differences in screening, so both authors agreed on the final list of included articles. Screening and data synthesis were completed manually in Microsoft Excel (version 6.6.27, 2016, Washington, USA). MGF extracted and summarized all data. Statistical significance was defined as either: 1) significance between fall data and clinical outcome measures or gait parameters (e.g. lower number of falls associated with improved Timed Up and Go times), or 2) significance in clinical outcome measure scores or gait parameters between groups by fall status (e.g. a difference in Timed Up and Go times between non-fallers and fallers). Thresholds for statistical significance were defined by each article, which was $p \le 0.05$ for standard statistical tests. No articles assessed clinical significance, so clinical significance was not reported or discussed in this review. A review protocol was not registered for this project.

Results

Article Demographics:

Nineteen articles were included in this review.^{5,10,40–56} Figure 1 depicts the inclusion process, and Supplemental Table 1 summarizes the included articles. Articles included ≤ 10 participants (n=3, where n is the number of articles), 16-30 participants (n=8), 31-50 participants (n=5), and 51 or more participants (n=3). Articles reported only clinical outcome measures (n=9), only gait parameters (n=4), or both (n=6). Clinical outcome measures and gait parameters that were reported by at least two articles in this review are summarized in Supplemental Tables 2 and 3, respectively. Articles reported the number of falls (n=9), or distinguished participant groups by non-fallers and fallers (n=11) or single and recurrent fallers (n=4). Only one article collected prospective fall data.⁴¹ Six articles found significance between fall data and clinical outcome measures or gait parameters, summarized in Table 1.



Figure 1: Flow diagram of the inclusion process.

		Study and population	Population	Summary or Cutoff Score		
Clinical Outcomes	Self-Reported Questionnaires					
	SF-36	Barnett et al. 2013	TT	Higher falls efficacy was significantly associated with improved SF-36 scores		
	LCI-advanced	Dite et al. 2007	TT	Score of 15 distinguished single and recurrent fallers		
	mFES	Jayaraman et al. 2021	TF	Higher falls efficacy while using MPKs as opposed to using non-MPKs		
	Functional Mobility					
	BBS	Wong et al. 2015	TT & TF	Better balance was significantly associated with greater fall risk		
	TUG	Dite et al. 2007	TT	19s to distinguish single and recurrent fallers		
	TUG	Hakim et al. 2018	TT & TF	10.03s to distinguish nonfallers and fallers		
	FSST	Dite et al. 2007	TT	24s to distinguish single and recurrent fallers		
	AMPPRO	Hakim et al. 2018	TT & TF	41.7 to distinguish nonfallers and fallers		
	180 degree turn test	Dite et al. 2007	TT	3.7s turn time and 6 steps to distinguish single and recurrent fallers		
	TUG, FSST, 12-month retrospective falls	Sawers and Hafner 2022	TT	Model that combined these assessments was significantly better than a null model at predicting the number of 6- month prospective falls		
Gait Parameters	Walking Kinetics					
	peak vGRF 1 (braking)	Vanicek et al. 2009	TT	Fallers had greater first peak vertical force on the prosthetic limb than nonfallers		
	Load rate	Vanicek et al. 2009	TT	Fallers had greater load rate on the prosthetic limb than nonfallers		
	A1 (ankle power)	Vanicek et al. 2009	TT	Fallers had smaller ankle absorption power burst in terminal stance on the intact limb than nonfallers		

Table 1: Significant Associations with Falls

H2	Vanicek et al. 2009	TT	Fallers had greater power absorption burst in stance on the
(hip power)			intact limb than nonfallers
Stair Ascent (step over			
step)			
Speed (m/s)	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers ascended steps significantly faster than nonfallers
Peak hip extension	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had less hip extension on the trailing (prosthetic) limb than nonfallers
Knee flexion foot clearance	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had more knee flexion on the leading (intact) limb than nonfallers
Knee flexion overall ROM	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had less knee flexion on the trailing (prosthetic) limb than nonfallers
Pelvic tilt pull-up	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had less anterior pelvic tilt on the trailing (prosthetic) limb than nonfallers
Peak vertical 1 (loading phase)	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had greater peak vertical 1 than nonfallers
Low vertical 2 (midstance phase)	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had less low vertical 2 than nonfallers
Peak vertical 3 (pre-swing phase)	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had greater peak vertical 3 than nonfallers
Hip extensor moment weight acceptance	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had greater hip extensor moment on the leading (intact) limb than nonfallers
Ankle plantarflexor moment forward continuance	Vanicek et al. 2010	TT	Fallers had greater ankle plantarflexor moment on the leading (intact) limb than nonfallers

Table 1: Clinical outcome measures and gait parameters reported to have statistically significant relationships to falls. Abbreviations:

TT= transtibial, TF= transfemoral, SF-36= 36-Item Short Form, LCI= Locomotor Capabilities Index, BBS= Berg Balance Scale,

TUG= Timed Up and Go, AMPPRO= Amputee Mobility Predictor.

Participant Demographics:

Detailed participant demographics can be found in Supplemental Table 1. Included articles evaluated adults who used transtibial prostheses (n=8), transfemoral prostheses (n=5), or both (n=6). The majority of articles primarily included adults with dysvascular etiologies (n=9), as well as traumatic (n=5), cancer (n=2), and congenital (n=1). Four articles did not report etiologies. Fifteen articles had mean participant ages of 55-65 years, and the remaining four articles had mean ages of 65+ years. Fifteen articles included at least one female.

Clinical Outcome Measures:

Clinical outcome measures (n=15) were subcategorized in this review by self-reported questionnaires (n=5) and functional mobility tests (n=8) (Supplemental Table 2). The TUG was the most commonly reported measure (n=8) and was found to be significantly different (n=2 of 8) between fall status groups (non-fallers vs fallers, as well as single vs recurrent fallers) (Table 1). Additionally, the following had significance with falls in one article: 36-Item Short Form (SF-36, n=2, significant in n=1), advanced version of the Locomotor Capabilities Index (LCI-advanced, n=2, significant in n=1), Berg Balance Scale (BBS, n=3, significant in n=1), Four Square Step Test (FSST, n=3, significant in n=1), and the 180 degree turn test (n=1, significant in n=1) (Table 1).

Gait Parameters:

Gait parameters were reported for walking (n=6), stair ascent (n=1) and stair descent (n=1), and categorized in this review by spatiotemporal (n=9), kinematic (n=4), and kinetic (n=4) parameters (Supplemental Table 3). Walking kinetics (n=2, significant in n=1) and stair ascent (n=1, significant in n=1) were the only gait parameters significantly associated with falls (Table 1).

Discussion

This scoping review sought to determine which clinical outcome measures and gait parameters were associated with fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses. Clinical outcome measure scores, gait parameter data, and cutoff scores by fall status were difficult to summarize due to differences among articles in population, assessments, and reported fall data. The TUG was the most commonly reported clinical outcome measure, but was only significantly associated with falls in two of eight articles. Gait parameters that significantly distinguished fallers and non-fallers included four kinetic parameters during walking and ten spatiotemporal, kinematic, and kinetic parameters during stair ascent. However, walking kinetics and stair ascent were only each reported by one article. Most articles found no clinical outcome measure or gait parameter alone was effective at determining fall risk in this population. A combination of assessments and collecting prospective fall data may be necessary to establish an evidence-based clinical protocol for fall risk evaluation in this population.

Clinical Outcome Measures and Fall Risk:

Studies that have collected both self-reported questionnaires and functional mobility tests suggest functional mobility tests are stronger indicators of fall risk in both older adults and adults who use lower-limb prostheses.^{15,56} However, the self-reported questionnaires that were found to be significantly associated with falls in this review in Table 1 could potentially supplement functional mobility tests to improve fall screening. Additionally, an article that was excluded from this review due to a mean age of 47.1 years found ABC (self-reported measure of balance confidence) and PLUS-M scores (self-reported measure of mobility for prosthesis users), but not TUG times, were significantly different in non-dysvascular fallers who used transtibial and transfemoral prostheses

compared to non-fallers.⁵⁷ If these findings are generalizable to older lower-limb prosthesis users, ABC and PLUS-M self-report may be useful self-report measures to evaluate fall risk.

The TUG, a functional walking test including rising from a chair and sitting, has been extensively used to assess fall risk in the general population of older adults.^{16,58–61} TUG cutoff times ranging from 12 - 14 seconds have been adopted as standards in clinical practice to distinguish non-fallers from fallers.^{14,62} In this review, the TUG was the most evidence-supported clinical outcome measure or gait parameter to evaluate fall risk, but was only significant in two of eight articles that included the TUG. Articles that did not find significance included smaller sample sizes of transfemoral prosthesis users (10, 12, and 27 participants),^{54–56} or included a majority or all transtibial prosthesis users with mean ages of 65.^{42,51} These findings suggest the TUG alone may not be an effective screening tool for this population, particularly adults 65 years and older.

The FSST, a functional outcome that involves stepping over four canes in a specific order, has also been found to be useful in predicting falls in the general population of older adults.⁶³ However, only one article in this review found significance between the FSST and fall risk. An article that was excluded from this review due to a mean age of 48.7 years, established FSST cutoff scores for fall risk in lower-limb prosthesis users.⁶⁴ This article found cutoff scores for the TUG (8.17 seconds) and FSST (8.49 seconds) were stronger indicators of falls than the BBS (score of 50.5), a functional measure of balance tasks, or ABC (score of 80.2). If findings are generalizable to older adults who use lower-limb prostheses and dysvascular individuals, FSST and TUG times, may be valuable assessments to evaluate fall risk in this population.

A combination of clinical outcome measures is likely necessary to improve fall risk screening. Reviews in the general population of older adults have recommended the TUG,^{15,59} or any clinical outcome,¹⁴ not be used in isolation to assess fall risk. Similarly, one article included in this review determined no combination of functional tests effectively predicted 6-month prospective falls in adults who used transtibial prostheses.⁴¹ Rather, 12-month retrospective fall history combined with TUG and FSST times were most effective at predicting 6-month prospective falls.⁴¹ If findings are replicated and generalizable to a larger number of older adults who use lower-limb prostheses, this combination of assessments could become an evidence-based clinical protocol to screen fall risk in this population.

Walking Parameters and Fall Risk:

No spatiotemporal or kinematic walking parameters were found to be significantly associated with fall data. However, only two articles directly measured this relationship. Recent research in other populations with lower-limb pathologies, such as stroke, have found significance of spatiotemporal and kinematic data (e.g. fallers had reduced walking speed and stride length, greater double limb support and stride time, and reduced kinematic coordination compared to non-fallers) with fall risk.^{65–67} More research is needed to determine if spatiotemporal or kinematic parameters could also be associated with fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses.

During level-ground walking, one article identified four kinetic parameters that significantly distinguished non-fallers and fallers.⁴⁶ Findings in Table 1 indicate clinicians should focus on improving eccentric ankle and hip strength in the intact limb and weight transfer to single support of the prosthetic limb.⁴⁶ As force data becomes more feasible to collect in clinical settings, it will

be increasingly important to determine if these findings are generalizable to a larger portion of this population.

Stair Parameters and Fall Risk:

The only article on stair ascent found kinematic and kinetic parameters significantly distinguished non-fallers and fallers.⁴⁷ The researchers suggested their findings (listed in Table 1) may indicate that non-fallers were more cautious than fallers when ascending stairs.⁴⁷ This research group reported stair descent in the same participants, but significance could not be measured due to a combination of reduced sample size and multiple stair descent strategies.⁴⁸ While not significant, findings indicate that similar to stair ascent, fallers descended steps faster than non-fallers.⁴⁸ Perhaps a clinical outcome measure that records time taken to negotiate stairs could distinguish fallers and non-fallers.

Evaluation of gait parameters during stair negotiation may be more difficult to translate directly into clinical settings than walking data, as stairs are less common than walkways in clinical practice. Still, findings that are generalizable to a larger number of older adults who use lowerlimb prostheses could provide justification for the integration of short staircases into clinical practice for fall risk screenings. Few studies have examined activities of daily living besides walking to evaluate fall risk, and could be more sensitive at evaluating fall risk than walking measures.

Limitations:

Several limitations of this scoping review should be noted. Only articles available in English were included. The definition of older adults in this review as a mean participant age of 55 years influenced which articles were ultimately included. However, lowering the mean age threshold to 48 years would have only included two more articles.^{17,57} Five of the nineteen articles included examined the relationship between MPKs and fall risk. MPKs are computerized prosthetic knees that measure and respond to an individual's gait in real time, and have been shown to be associated with reduced fall risk in previous literature. However, the relationship between MPKs and falls has been examined recently,^{68,69} and was outside the scope of this review. Inpatient falls, fall-related injuries, and near-falls were outside the scope of this review, but are prevalent and could be captured in questionnaire assessments.^{8,28,70} Risk factors for inpatient falls and fall-related injury include older adult inpatients, dysvascular etiologies and using two or more medications.^{8,9,71} It is logical to conclude these risk factors would be similar among community-dwelling ambulators, but should be directly examined in future work.

Future Research:

Further research is needed to assess generalizability of assessments beyond single studies to a larger portion of older adults who use lower-limb prostheses. Specifically, TUG and FSST clinical outcome measures, as well as kinetic data during walking and the ten significant gait parameters during stair ascent. Additionally, future research can examine if spatiotemporal and kinematic gait parameters could also be indicators of fall risk in this population. Neither spatiotemporal or kinematic parameters were found to be significant in this review, but have been found to be significant in other populations of older adults (e.g. stroke). Gait parameters with significance were only examined in older adults who used transtibial prostheses, so future research can also

determine if these findings are generalizable to older adults who use transfemoral prostheses. More evidence can warrant a systematic review and meta-analysis to establish evidence-based clinical protocols for fall risk screening in this population.

The majority of articles included in this review only collected retrospective fall history. Collecting retrospective fall history can shorten the time required for data collection, since it requires no participant follow-up. However, collecting retrospective fall history is less accurate than prospective fall occurrence due to issues with participant recall and gait adjustments after falls to increase stability.¹⁵ The ability to predict future fall risk using prospective data can allow for more appropriate clinical interventions to reduce fall risk.

Based on findings in this review and in the general population of older adults, a combination of clinical outcome measures and gait parameters is likely necessary to determine associations with retrospective fall history and predict future fall risk. Researchers can collect multiple assessments and analyze their combined effectiveness at predicting fall risk, beginning with the assessments summarized in Table 1 as having significance, as a bridge to determining clinical significance in terms of fall risk screening and prediction.

Conclusion

This scoping review summarized clinical outcome measures and gait parameters associated with fall risk in older adults who use lower-limb prostheses. The authors conclude a systematic review is not yet warranted due to differences among articles in population, assessments, and reported fall data. Despite differences among articles, the majority found no clinical outcome measure or gait

parameter alone was effective at determining fall risks. Future research can determine a combination of clinical assessments and collect prospective fall data to move towards establishing an evidence-based clinical protocol to screen fall risk in this population.

Acknowledgements

MGF was supported by the National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Aging (T32 AG020494) and the Center for Healthy Aging while writing this manuscript. This project is taken in part from a dissertation MGF submitted to the University of North Texas Health Science Center in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest.

Sponsor's Role: The sponsor had no role in the preparation of this manuscript.

<u>Author Contributions:</u> Conceptualization: MGF, NS, SCM; Methodology: MGF, SCM; Visualization: MGF; Writing- original draft: MGF; Writing- review and editing: MGF, NS, SCM.

References

1. Fact Sheet: Older Adult Falls. Published online 2020. Accessed April 26, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/steadi/pdf/STEADI_ClinicianFactSheet-a.pdf

2. Kim J, Major MJ, Hafner B, Sawers A. Frequency and Circumstances of Falls Reported by Ambulatory Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users: A Secondary Analysis. *Journal of Injury, Function and Rehabilitation*. 2019;11(4):344-353. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2018.08.385

3. Chihuri ST, Youdan Jr GA, Wong CK. Quantifying the risk of falls and injuries for amputees beyond annual fall rates—A longitudinal cohort analysis based on person-step exposure over time. *Preventive Medicine Reports*. 2021;24:101626.

doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101626

4. Miller W, Deathe A. A prospective study examining balance confidence among individuals with lower limb amputation. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. 2004;26(14-15):875-881. doi:10.1080/09638280410001708887

5. Miller WC, Deathe AB, Speechley M, Koval J. The influence of falling, fear of falling, and balance confidence on prosthetic mobility and social activity among individuals with a lower extremity amputation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2001;82(9):1238-1244. doi:10.1053/apmr.2001.25079

6. Wong C, Chihuri S, Li G. Risk of fall-related injury in people with lower limb amputations: A prospective cohort study. *J Rehabil Med*. 2016;48(1):80-85. doi:10.2340/16501977-2042

 Kulkarni J, Adams J, Thomas E, Silman A. Association between amputation, arthritis and osteopenia in British male war veterans with major lower limb amputations. *Clin Rehabil*. 1998;12(4):348-353. doi:10.1191/026921598672393611

8. Pauley T, Devlin M, Heslin K. Falls Sustained During Inpatient Rehabilitation After Lower Limb Amputation: Prevalence and Predictors. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*. 2006;85(6):521-532. doi:10.1097/01.phm.0000219119.58965.8c

9. Chihuri S, Wong CK. Factors associated with the likelihood of fall-related injury among people with lower limb loss. *Inj Epidemiol*. 2018;5(1):42. doi:10.1186/s40621-018-0171-x

 Dite W, Connor HJ, Curtis HC. Clinical Identification of Multiple Fall Risk Early After Unilateral Transtibial Amputation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*.
 2007;88(1):109-114. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2006.10.015

 Clemens S, Doerger C, Lee SP. Current and Emerging Trends in the Management of Fall Risk in People with Lower Limb Amputation. *Curr Geri Rep*. 2020;9(3):134-141.
 doi:10.1007/s13670-020-00328-4

Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, Travison TG, Brookmeyer R.
 Estimating the Prevalence of Limb Loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2008;89(3):422-429. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2007.11.005

Montero-Odasso MM, Kamkar N, Pieruccini-Faria F, et al. Evaluation of Clinical
 Practice Guidelines on Fall Prevention and Management for Older Adults: A Systematic Review.
 JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(12):e2138911. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.38911

14. Park SH. Tools for assessing fall risk in the elderly: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2018;30(1):1-16. doi:10.1007/s40520-017-0749-0

Lusardi MM, Fritz S, Middleton A, et al. Determining Risk of Falls in Community
 Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Using Posttest Probability.
 Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy. 2017;40(1):1-36. doi:10.1519/JPT.00000000000099

16. Panel on Prevention of Falls in Older Persons, American Geriatrics Society and British Geriatrics Society. Summary of the Updated American Geriatrics Society/British Geriatrics Society Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention of Falls in Older Persons: AGS/BGS CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE FOR PREVENTION OF FALLS. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2011;59(1):148-157. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03234.x

Sawers A, Hafner B. Validation of the Narrowing Beam Walking Test in Lower Limb
Prosthesis Users. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2018;99(8):1491-1498.e1.
doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2018.03.012

 Elizabeth Halsne, Hunter King, Brian Hafner. Falls in Lower Limb Prosthesis Users: A Scoping Report. Published online February 2017. Accessed April 26, 2022. https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.oandp.org/resource/resmgr/docs/srs/SR-02-2017_halsne.pdf

19. Major MJ, Fatone S, Roth EJ. Validity and Reliability of the Berg Balance Scale for Community-Dwelling Persons With Lower-Limb Amputation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2013;94(11):2194-2202. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.07.002

20. Tobaigy M, Hafner BJ, Sawers A. Recalled Number of Falls in the Past Year—Combined With Perceived Mobility—Predicts the Incidence of Future Falls in Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users. *Physical Therapy*. 2022;102(2):pzab267. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzab267

21. Kuhlmann A, Krüger H, Seidinger S, Hahn A. Cost-effectiveness and budget impact of the microprocessor-controlled knee C-Leg in transfemoral amputees with and without diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Health Econ*. 2020;21(3):437-449. doi:10.1007/s10198-019-01138-y

22. Mundell B, Maradit Kremers H, Visscher S, Hoppe K, Kaufman K. Direct medical costs of accidental falls for adults with transfemoral amputations. *Prosthetics & Orthotics International.* 2017;41(6):564-570. doi:10.1177/0309364617704804 23. Seth M, Lamberg E. Standing balance in people with trans-tibial amputation due to vascular causes: A literature review. *Prosthetics & Orthotics International*. 2017;41(4):345-355. doi:10.1177/0309364616683819

24. Quai TM, Brauer SG, Nitz JC. Somatosensation, circulation and stance balance in elderly dysvascular transtibial amputees. *Clin Rehabil*. 2005;19(6):668-676.

doi:10.1191/0269215505cr857oa

25. MG Finco, Sarah Moudy, Rita Patterson. Normalized kinematic walking symmetry data for individuals who use lower-limb prostheses: considerations for clinical practice and future research. Published online November 2, 2021.

26. MG Finco, Suhhyun Kim, Wayne Ngo, Rachel Menegaz. A review of musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals following major lower-limb amputation. Published online January 10, 2022. https://www.ismni.org/jmni/accepted/JMNI_21M-09-185.pdf

27. Ostler C, Scott H, Sedki I, Kheng S, Donovan-Hall M, Dickinson A, Metcalf C. From outcome measurement to improving health outcomes after lower limb amputation—A narrative review exploring outcome measurement from a clinical practice perspective. *Prosthet Orthot Int.* 2022;31(3). 10.1097/PXR.0000000000000000

28. Kim J, McDonald CL, Hafner BJ, Sawers A. Fall-related events in people who are lower limb prosthesis users: the lived experience. *Disability and Rehabilitation*. Published online March 10, 2021:1-12. doi:10.1080/09638288.2021.1891467

29. Juneau P, Baddour N, Burger H, Bavec A, Lemaire ED. Amputee Fall Risk Classification Using Machine Learning and Smartphone Sensor Data from 2-Minute and 6-Minute Walk Tests. *Sensors*. 2022;22(5):1749. doi:10.3390/s22051749

30. Daines KJF, Baddour N, Burger H, Bavec A, Lemaire ED. Fall risk classification for people with lower extremity amputations using random forests and smartphone sensor features from a 6-minute walk test. Eshraghi A, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2021;16(4):e0247574.

doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0247574

31. Shawen N, Lonini L, Mummidisetty CK, et al. Fall Detection in Individuals With Lower Limb Amputations Using Mobile Phones: Machine Learning Enhances Robustness for Real-World Applications. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth*. 2017;5(10):e151. doi:10.2196/mhealth.8201

32. Betteridge CMW, Natarajan P, Fonseka RD, Ho D, Mobbs R, Choy WJ. Objective fallsrisk prediction using wearable technologies amongst patients with and without neurogenic gait alterations: a narrative review of clinical feasibility. *mHealth*. 2021;7:61-61.

doi:10.21037/mhealth-21-7

33. Viccaro LJ, Perera S, Studenski SA. Is Timed Up and Go Better Than Gait Speed in Predicting Health, Function, and Falls in Older Adults?: IS TIMED UP AND GO BETTER THAN GAIT SPEED? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*. 2011;59(5):887-892. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03336.x

34. Kikkert LHJ, de Groot MH, van Campen JP, et al. Gait dynamics to optimize fall risk assessment in geriatric patients admitted to an outpatient diagnostic clinic. Kellermayer MS, ed. *PLoS ONE*. 2017;12(6):e0178615. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0178615

35. Tilson JK, Wu SS, Cen SY, et al. Characterizing and Identifying Risk for Falls in the LEAPS Study: A Randomized Clinical Trial of Interventions to Improve Walking Poststroke. *Stroke*. 2012;43(2):446-452. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.636258

36. Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. *Ann Intern Med.* 2018;169(7):467-473. doi:10.7326/M18-0850

37. Pezzin LE, Dillingham TR, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim P, Rossbach P. Use and satisfaction with prosthetic limb devices and related services 11No commercial party having a direct financial interest in the results of the research supporting this article has or will confer a benefit on the author(s) or on any organization with which the author(s) is/are associated. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2004;85(5):723-729. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2003.06.002

38. Ehde DM, Czerniecki JM, Smith DG, et al. Chronic phantom sensations, phantom pain, residual limb pain, and other regional pain after lower limb amputation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*. 2000;81(8):1039-1044. doi:10.1053/apmr.2000.7583

 Wurdeman SR, Stevens PM, Campbell JH. Mobility Analysis of AmpuTees II: Comorbidities and Mobility in Lower Limb Prosthesis Users. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil*.
 2018;97(11):782-788. doi:10.1097/PHM.000000000000067

40. Wong C, Chen C, Blackwell W, Rahal R, Benoy S. Balance ability measured with the Berg Balance Scale: A determinant of fall history in community-dwelling adults with leg amputation. *J Rehabil Med.* 2015;47(1):80-86. doi:10.2340/16501977-1882

41. Sawers A, Hafner BJ. Performance-based balance tests, combined with the number of falls recalled in the past year, predicts the incidence of future falls in established unilateral transtibial prosthesis users. *PM&R*. 2022;14(4):434-444. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12627

42. Cowley A, Kerr K. Amputees and Tightropes: A Pilot Study to Measure Postural Control Post-Amputation. *Physical Therapy Reviews*. 2001;6(1):5-15.

doi:10.1179/108331901786161618

43. Barnett CT, Vanicek N, Polman RCJ. Temporal adaptations in generic and populationspecific quality of life and falls efficacy in men with recent lower-limb amputations. *JRRD*. 2013;50(3):437. doi:10.1682/JRRD.2011.10.0205

44. Hakim RM, Frey CM, Spadoni KE, Meyer K. Identifying Fallers Using Clinical Balance Measures in Community-Dwelling Adults with Lower Extremity Amputation: A Cross-Sectional Study. *J Dev Phys Disabil*. 2018;30(5):677-688. doi:10.1007/s10882-018-9612-2

45. Schafer ZA, Perry JL, Vanicek N. A personalised exercise programme for individuals with lower limb amputation reduces falls and improves gait biomechanics: A block randomised controlled trial. *Gait & Posture*. 2018;63:282-289. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.04.030

46. Vanicek N, Strike S, McNaughton L, Polman R. Gait patterns in transtibial amputee
fallers vs. non-fallers: Biomechanical differences during level walking. *Gait & Posture*.
2009;29(3):415-420. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2008.10.062

47. Vanicek N, Strike SC, McNaughton L, Polman R. Lower Limb Kinematic and Kinetic Differences between Transtibial Amputee Fallers and Non-Fallers. *Prosthetics & Orthotics International*. 2010;34(4):399-410. doi:10.3109/03093646.2010.480964

48. Vanicek N, Strike SC, Polman R. Kinematic differences exist between transtibial amputee fallers and non-fallers during downwards step transitioning. *Prosthetics & Orthotics International*. 2015;39(4):322-332. doi:10.1177/0309364614532867

49. Anderson CB, Miller MJ, Murray AM, Fields TT, So NF, Christiansen CL. Falls After Dysvascular Transtibial Amputation: A Secondary Analysis of Falling Characteristics and Reduced Physical Performance. *PM&R.* 2021;13(1):19-29. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12376

50. Hordacre B, Barr C, Crotty M. Community activity and participation are reduced in transtibial amputee fallers: a wearable technology study. *BMJ Innov*. 2015;1(1):10-16. doi:10.1136/bmjinnov-2014-000014

51. Christiansen CL, Miller MJ, Kline PW, et al. Biobehavioral Intervention Targeting Physical Activity Behavior Change for Older Veterans after Nontraumatic Amputation: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *PM&R*. 2020;12(10):957-966. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12374

52. Kaufman KR, Bernhardt KA, Symms K. Functional assessment and satisfaction of transfemoral amputees with low mobility (FASTK2): A clinical trial of microprocessor-controlled vs. non-microprocessor-controlled knees. *Clinical Biomechanics*. 2018;58:116-122. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2018.07.012

53. Mileusnic MP, Hahn A, Reiter S. Effects of a Novel Microprocessor-Controlled Knee, Kenevo, on the Safety, Mobility, and Satisfaction of Lower-Activity Patients with Transfemoral Amputation. *J Prosthet Orthot*. 2017;29(4):198-205. doi:10.1097/JPO.000000000000146

54. Lansade C, Vicaut E, Paysant J, et al. Mobility and satisfaction with a microprocessorcontrolled knee in moderately active amputees: A multi-centric randomized crossover trial. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine*. 2018;61(5):278-285.

doi:10.1016/j.rehab.2018.04.003

55. Hafner BJ, Askew RL. Physical performance and self-report outcomes associated with use of passive, adaptive, and active prosthetic knees in persons with unilateral, transfemoral amputation: Randomized crossover trial. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* 2015;52(6):677-700.

doi:10.1682/JRRD.2014.09.0210

56. Jayaraman C, Mummidisetty CK, Albert MV, et al. Using a microprocessor knee (C-Leg) with appropriate foot transitioned individuals with dysvascular transfemoral amputations to higher performance levels: a longitudinal randomized clinical trial. *J NeuroEngineering Rehabil*. 2021;18(1):88. doi:10.1186/s12984-021-00879-3

57. Clemens S, Gaunaurd I, Raya M, Kirk-Sanchez N, Kulte G, Gailey R. Using theoretical frameworks to examine fall history and associated prosthetic mobility in people with nondysvascular lower limb amputation. *Prosthet Orthot Int.* Published Online Ahead of Print. May 4, 2022. 10.1097/PXR.00000000000140.

58. Roshdibenam V, Jogerst GJ, Butler NR, Baek S. Machine Learning Prediction of Fall Risk in Older Adults Using Timed Up and Go Test Kinematics. *Sensors*. 2021;21(10):3481. doi:10.3390/s21103481

59. Barry E, Galvin R, Keogh C, Horgan F, Fahey T. Is the Timed Up and Go test a useful predictor of risk of falls in community dwelling older adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMC Geriatr*. 2014;14(1):14. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-14

60. Beauchet O, Fantino B, Allali G, Muir SW, Montero-Odasso M, Annweiler C. Timed up and go test and risk of falls in older adults: A systematic review. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2011;15(10):933-938. doi:10.1007/s12603-011-0062-0

61. Shumway-Cook A, Brauer S, Woollacott M. Predicting the probability for falls in community-dwelling older adults using the Timed Up & Go Test. *Phys Ther*. 2000;80(9):896-903.

62. Rehabilitation Measures Database: Timed Up and Go. Accessed April 26, 2022. https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/timed-and-go

63. Cleary K, Skornyakov E. Predicting falls in older adults using the four square step test. *Physiotherapy Theory and Practice*. 2017;33(10):766-771. doi:10.1080/09593985.2017.1354951

64. Sawers A, Hafner BJ. Using Clinical Balance Tests to Assess Fall Risk among Established Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users: Cutoff Scores and Associated Validity Indices. *PM&R*. 2020;12(1):16-25. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12160

65. Sadeghi H, Shojaedin SS, Abbasi A, et al. Lower-Extremity Intra-Joint Coordination and Its Variability between Fallers and Non-Fallers during Gait. *Applied Sciences*. 2021;11(6):2840. doi:10.3390/app11062840

66. Gillain S, Boutaayamou M, Schwartz C, et al. Gait symmetry in the dual task condition as a predictor of future falls among independent older adults: a 2-year longitudinal study. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2019;31(8):1057-1067. doi:10.1007/s40520-019-01210-w

67. Rodríguez-Molinero A, Herrero-Larrea A, Miñarro A, et al. The spatial parameters of gait and their association with falls, functional decline and death in older adults: a prospective study. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):8813. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-45113-2

68. Wurdeman SR, Miller TA, Stevens PM, Campbell JH. Stability and Falls Evaluations in AMPutees (SAFE-AMP 1): Microprocessor knee technology reduces odds of incurring an injurious fall for individuals with diabetic/dysvascular amputation. *Assistive Technology*. Published online January 13, 2022:1-6. doi:10.1080/10400435.2021.2010147

69. Monaco V, Aprigliano F, Palmerini L, Palumbo P, Chiari L, Micera S. Biomechanical Measures for Fall Risk Assessment and Fall Detection in People with Transfemoral Amputations for the Next-Generation Prostheses: A Scoping Review. *J Prosthet Orthot*. 2022;34(3). doi: 10.1097/JPO.000000000000393

70. Hunter SW, Batchelor F, Hill KD, Hill AM, Mackintosh S, Payne M. Risk Factors for
Falls in People With a Lower Limb Amputation: A Systematic Review. *PM&R*. 2017;9(2):170180.e1. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.07.531

71. Vu K, Payne MWC, Hunter SW, Viana R. Risk Factors for Falls in Individuals With Lower Extremity Amputations During the Pre-Prosthetic Phase: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *PM&R.* 2019;11(8):828-833. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12046

Chapter 3 Linkage

Chapter 3 provided context for both studies listed under 'Section 3: Biomechanical Symmetry.'

Chapter 3 findings showed the importance of developing a clinical protocol to evaluate fall risk in individuals of any age who use lower-limb prostheses, particularly older individuals. This scoping review helped inform decisions regarding which clinical outcome measures and gait parameters to include in Chapter 8.

SECTION 2. MUSCULOSKELETAL SYMMETRY

CHAPTER 4

SKELETAL ASYMMETRIES IN ANATOMICAL DONORS WITH LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATIONS

CHAPTER 5

STRUCTURAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL PLASTICITY IN THIGH MUSCULATURE IN DIABETIC MALE ANATOMICAL DONORS WITH LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATION

CHAPTER 6

MUSCULOSKELETAL HEALTH IN ANATOMICAL DONORS WITH LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATIONS: COMPARISON TO DIABETIC AND HEALTHY CONTROLS

CHAPTER 4

SKELETAL ASYMMETRIES IN ANATOMICAL DONORS WITH LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATIONS

PM&R (2022), 14(3):406 - 408

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/pmrj.12599

MG Finco, Rachel Menegaz

Department of Physiology and Anatomy, University of North Texas Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107 Key words: Amputations-Lower Extremity, Prosthetics, Bone Diseases

Individuals with lower-limb amputations experience asymmetrical musculoskeletal loading that has been associated with gait asymmetry, increased fall risk, and overuse injuries.¹ To the authors' knowledge, this is the first case series to examine skeletal properties in anatomical donors, or cadavers, with lower-limb amputations as opposed to living individuals. Many biomechanical modeling systems rely on cadaveric data for a gold standard, so it is important to ensure findings in cadavers with lower-limb amputation reflect findings in living individuals with lower-limb amputation.

This case series investigated how prosthesis use following lower-limb amputation in cadavers influenced skeletal properties. Previous research in living individuals has found prolonged bone unloading of the residual limb can lead to significant bone loss²⁻⁴ and atrophy⁵ in the residual limb, as well as osteoarthritis in the intact limb.⁶ Therefore, we expected each donor's most compromised limb would show decreased bone mineral density (BMD)² and bone mineral content (BMC),³ more tissue fat,⁵ thinner femoral diaphysis width,⁴ and wider acetabular and knee joint space⁶ compared to their most intact limb.

Four donors with transtibial lower-limb amputation secondary to diabetes from the Willed Body Program at the University of North Texas Health Science Center were included in this study (Table 1). All donors used a prosthesis. Each donor's most compromised limb was the limb with transtibial amputation, except Donor 1, who had a transfemoral amputation. X-rays and dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) scans were taken within three days of receiving of each donor, and donors were stored at 37°F when data was not actively being collected.

	Donor 1	Donor 2	Donor 3	Donor 4
Sex	Male	Male	Male	Male
Age (years)	61	67	63	64
Weight (kg)	72.6	108.9	95.3	63.5
Amputation	R Transtibial 2017	R 1st Metatarsal 2010	R Transtibial 2018	R Transmet 2004/5
Level	L Transfemoral 2019	L Transtibial 2016	L Intact	L Transtibial 2012
DEXA % Difference				
BMD	-36.64%	-31.81%	-32.24%	-19.28%
BMC	-22.66%	-32.94%	-64.50%	-34.47%
Tissue % Fat	38.80%	51.82%	39.45%	49.40%
T-score	-3.2	-1.1	-1.2	-1.5
Z-score	-0.7	-1.7	-1.7	-0.6
X-ray % Difference				
Acetabular Joint Space	Hip replacements	6.12%	3.31%	10.10%
Femoral Diaphysis Width	-4.84%	0.80%	4.44%	-6.63%
Knee Joint Space	Left knee absent	43.80%	33.70%	32.74%

Table 1: Donor Demographics and Results

Table 1: Perfect symmetry between limbs is 0%. Negative percent differences indicate lower values on the most compromised limb compared to the most intact limb. R and L indicate right and left limbs, respectively.

The same individual trained to operate the DXA scanner (GE Lunar Prodigy, GE Healthcare, Madison, WI, USA) set parameters for each total body scan, which provided BMD, BMC, and percent tissue fat for each lower limb. Unequal limb lengths caused reduced values on each donor's compromised limb. For accurate comparison, both limb lengths were measured from the greater

trochanter, and values for each donor's most compromised limb were adjusted as a percentage of their most intact limb:

$$\left(\frac{most\ compromised\ limb\ length}{most\ intact\ limb\ length}
ight)x100$$

The same two individuals took X-rays of the hip joint, femoral midshaft, and knee joint for each donor using a mobile C-Arm (9600, GE OEC Medical Systems Inc., Salt Lake City, UT, USA). A radiopaque ruler was included in X-ray images to calibrate measurements taken in ImageJ software.⁷ The same individual collected all measurements in ImageJ. Femoral diaphysis width was measured across the widest point of the femoral midshaft at six different points, and acetabular joint space was measured from the femoral head to the acetabulum at six different points. Knee joint space was measured from the distal end of the femur to the proximal end of the tibia at six different points: three on the medial compartment and three on the lateral compartment. Joint space measurements were used as indicators of osteoarthritis, which is known to result in joint narrowing.¹ Measurements were averaged for each final value.

Each donor's most intact limb was used as a control to compare their most compromised limb. Asymmetry was assessed using percent differences between limbs:⁸

$$\left[1 - \left(\frac{most intact limb}{most compromised limb}\right)\right] x \ 100$$

Limb differences less than 10% were considered symmetrical, since this is considered symmetrical in the able-bodied population, and has been a threshold of gait symmetry in individuals with lower-limb amputation.⁹

Each donor's most compromised limb had decreased BMD (19.3-36.6%) and BMC (11.5-64.5%),²⁻³ more tissue fat (38.8-51.8%),⁵ and wider knee joint space (9.1-53.3%)⁶ (Table 1; Figure 1). Despite large variability between donors, this case series found similar percent differences in BMD and BMC as reported in fifty-two living individuals with transtibial or transfemoral limb loss.³ T-scores and Z-scores were also similar to previous research,²⁻³ and indicated osteopenia for three donors and osteoporosis for one donor according to the World Health Organization's classification.¹⁰



Figure 1: Percent differences between limbs where perfect symmetry is 0%. Negative percent differences indicate lower values on the donor's most compromised limb compared to their most
intact limb. Donor 1 had bilateral total hip replacements and only one remaining knee, so acetabular and knee joint space could not be calculated.

Two donors had thinner femoral diaphysis width (4.8-6.6%), while two donors had wider femoral diaphysis width (0.8-4.4%) on their most compromised limb. Each donor had wider acetabular joint spaces (3.3-10.1%) on their most compromised limb. However, both femoral diaphysis width and acetabular joint spaces had 10% differences or less, potentially due to the inclusion of only one donor with transfemoral amputation. Unlike previous research,³ those with more proximal amputation levels or increased time since amputation did not show more asymmetry. This could be due to our small sample size and heterogeneous donor demographics, since only one donor had transfemoral amputation and only one donor had amputations occurring beyond the last five years.

We observed lower BMD and BMC, more tissue fat, and wider knee joint space in each donor's most compromised limb, consistent with findings in living individuals with lower-limb amputation. However, percentages of asymmetry varied widely between donors. Differences in activity level or use of assistive devices could have influenced results. Future research could include larger sample sizes of donors with longer time since amputation, compare findings to individuals who are older and diabetic without amputation, or investigate other known anatomical risk factors associated with falls and overuse injuries.

Acknowledgements

The authors extend their deepest gratitude to the individuals who donated their bodies to further anatomical research, as well as their families. The authors also thank Tyler Johnson at the UNTHSC Willed Body Program for coordinating donor transport, Amy Moore, RN, for DXA scanner coordination, and Dr. Steven Romero for DXA scanner operation. This project is taken in part from a dissertation MGF submitted to the University of North Texas Health Science Center in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

References

1. Lloyd CH, Stanhope SJ, Davis IS, Royer TD. Strength asymmetry and osteoarthritis risk factors in unilateral trans-tibial amputee gait. *Gait Posture*. 2010;32(3): 296-300. doi:

10.106/j.gaitpost.2010.05.003

2. Smith E, Comiskey C, Carroll A, Ryall N. A study of bone mineral density in lower limb amputees at a national prosthetics center. *J Prosthet Orthot.* 2011;23(1):14-20.

 Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. BMD and bone geometry in transtibial and transfemoral amputees. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23(9):1449-57. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.080402.
 PMID: 18410229.

4. Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. Interlimb muscle and fat comparisons in persons with lower-limb amputation. *Arch Phys Med Rebil.* 2010;91(7):1077-81.

5. Sevastikoglou JA, Eriksson U, Larsson SE. Skeletal changes of the amputation stump and the femur on the amputated side: a clinical investigation. *Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica*. 1969;40(5): 624-633. doi: 10.3109/17453676908989528

 Orekhov G, Robinson AM, Hazelwood SJ, Klisch SM. Knee joint biomechanics in transtibial amputees in gait, cycling, and elliptical training. PLoS One. 2019 Dec 12;14(12):e0226060. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226060. PMID: 31830082; PMCID: PMC6907759.

7. Rueden, C. T.; Schindelin, J. & Hiner, M. C. et al. (2017), "ImageJ2: ImageJ for the next generation of scientific image data", BMC Bioinformatics 18:529, PMID 29187165, doi:10.1186/s12859-017-1934-z

8. Schiltz M, Lehance C, Maquet D, Bury T, Crielaard J, Croisier J. Explosive strength imbalances in professional basketball players. *Journal of Athletic*

Training. 2009. 44(1): 39-47.

9. Gholizadeh H, Lemaire ED, Sinitski EH, Nielen D, Lebel P. Transtibial amputee gait with the unity suspension system. *Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol*. 2020; 15: 350–356. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1579000

Lewiecki EM. Osteoporosis: Clinical Evaluation. [Updated 2018 Apr 23]. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al., editors. Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000-. [Table, Table 1. World Health Organization criteria for classification of patients with bone mineral density measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (3).]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279049/table/osteoporosis-clinic.classifica/

Chapter 4 Linkage

Chapter 4 examined skeletal symmetry in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputation, while Chapter 5 examined muscular symmetry in the same anatomical donors. Thus, Chapter 5 expands the tissue composition results from Chapter 4 by examining more specific indications of muscle atrophy: physiological cross-sectional area and muscle fiber type ratios. CHAPTER 5

STRUCTURAL AND PHYSIOLOGICAL PLASTICITY IN THIGH MUSCULATURE IN DIABETIC MALE ANATOMICAL DONORS WITH LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATION

Intended submission as a clinical letter pending final histological results MG Finco^{1*} & Suhhyun Kim^{1,2*}, Wayne Ngo², Rachel Menegaz¹ *co-first authors

¹Department of Physiology and Anatomy, University of North Texas Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107 ²Texas College of Osteopathic Medicine, University of North Texas Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107

Abstract

<u>Background:</u> Musculoskeletal remodeling occurs in both intact and amputated limbs, but has rarely been investigated from structural and physiological perspectives. Indicators of muscle atrophy, such as physiological cross-sectional area and ratios of slow to fast-twitch muscle fibers, can help inform targeted rehabilitation exercises in this population.

<u>Objective:</u> Identify differences in physiological cross-sectional area and ratios of slow to fasttwitch muscle fibers between intact and amputated limbs.

<u>Methods</u>: Gluteus maximus, sartorius, rectus femoris, and biceps femoris long head muscles were dissected from intact and amputated limbs of three unembalmed donors with transtibial lower-limb amputation. Physiological cross-sectional area for all muscles and ratios of slow to fast-twitch muscle fibers of the antagonist muscle pair (rectus femoris and biceps femoris long head), were calculated.

<u>Results:</u> The amputated limb biceps femoris long head had smaller physiological cross sectional areas than the intact limb across donors (18.1-68.6%). Histological results of slow-to-fast twitch muscle fiber ratios in the rectus femoris and biceps femoris are pending final analysis.

<u>Conclusions:</u> Targeting the intact limb biceps femoris in rehabilitation exercises might help improve musculoskeletal symmetry in this population. Histology results can help inform whether exercises targeting slow or fast twitch muscle fibers would be most beneficial.

Key words: amputation, rehabilitation, exercise, muscle, atrophy, symmetry

Introduction

Individuals with lower-limb amputations often have muscular asymmetries from loading prosthetic and intact limbs differently during ambulation.¹ Decreased loading in the residual limb post-amputation can result in structural and physiological muscle changes such as atrophy, architecture, and fiber phenotype.^{1,2}

However, few studies have examined individuals' muscular status post-amputation from structural and physiological perspectives.³⁻⁶ A thorough search of the relevant literature yielded no prior studies investigating muscular properties in donors, or cadavers, with lower-limb amputation aside from our previous study.⁷ Measuring muscular asymmetries in anatomical donors can improve our understanding of underlying function in a way that would be difficult or impossible in living individuals.

For instance, physiological cross-sectional area (PCSA) is an established equation used to measure the maximum force a muscle can generate, and is an indicator of muscle atrophy.⁸ Since muscle weight, pennation fiber angle, and length of muscle fibers is needed to calculate PCSA, dissection of whole muscles is most accurate, but not possible in living individuals. Additionally, slow-twitch fibers are trained by low weight exercises with a high number of repetitions, while fast-twitch fibers are trained by high weight exercises with a low number of repetitions.² Ratios of slow-twitch to fast-twitch muscle fibers can be used to determine if selective atrophy of muscle fiber types has occurred.² One study found selective atrophy of slow-twitch fibers in amputated limbs compared to intact limbs,⁴ which aligns with studies that have examined unloading effects during space flight.² Therefore, PCSA can indicate which muscle should be targeted in rehabilitation due to having the least symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs, and muscle fiber type ratios can indicate what type of exercise would be most beneficial to increase symmetry.

Previously, we examined skeletal asymmetries in these donors and found each donor's most compromised limb, compared to their most intact limb, had: less bone mineral density and bone mineral content, more tissue fat, and wider knee joint space.⁷ This case series aimed to translate biological findings of muscular properties into considerations to help inform specific rehabilitation exercises to increase thigh muscle symmetry in living individuals with lower-limb amputations. We hypothesized each donor's most compromised limb would show more muscle atrophy compared to their most intact limb. Specifically, we expected each donor's most compromised limb, compared to the intact limb, would show: 1) smaller physiological cross-sectional area (PCSA), and 2) fewer and smaller slow-twitch muscle fibers.

Methods

Three unembalmed donors with transtibial lower-limb amputation secondary to diabetes from the Willed Body Program at the University of North Texas Health Science Center were included in this study (Table 1). Our previous study that examined skeletal asymmetries included four donors, but one donor had to be excluded from this study due to having a communicable blood disease. All donors used a prosthesis, but no information on mobility could be provided. Each donor's most compromised limb had a transtibial amputation, except Donor 1, who also had a transfemoral amputation. Muscles were dissected within three days of receiving each donor. Donors were stored at 37°F when data was not actively being collected.

Four muscles were dissected from each limb of each donor: the gluteus maximus, sartorius, rectus femoris, and the biceps femoris long head. The biceps femoris long head was chosen, as opposed to the short head, because of its role in hip extension.

To collect the PCSA of each muscle, muscle mass and fiber lengths were measured using a hanging scale and calipers, respectively. Muscles were photographed (Nikon D5600 body with an AF-S Micro NIKKOR 60mm f/2.8G ED lens) to collect pennation angles in ImageJ software.⁹ An average of three weights, five caliper measurements, and three pennation angles were taken to determine final values for each muscle. PCSA was calculated using the following formula, with recommended muscle density of 1.067g/cm⁻³:¹⁰

$\frac{\text{muscle mass x cos}(pennation angle)}{\text{fiber length } x \text{ muscle density}}$

Eq. 1

The sartorius was the only parallel muscle dissected. Cross-sectional area is used for parallel muscles instead of PCSA, since parallel muscles do not contain pennation angles. Therefore, the sartorius was measured using the same equation as above, excluding the factor of pennation angle.

Asymmetry between compromised and intact limbs were assessed using an established equation of percent differences between limbs:¹⁰

Eq. 2
$$\operatorname{abs}\left(\left(\frac{I-R}{(I+R)*0.5}\right)*100\right)$$

Limb differences less than 10% were considered symmetrical, since this is considered symmetrical in the able-bodied population, and has been a threshold of gait symmetry in individuals with lower-limb amputation.¹⁰

Based on our PCSA results, we also performed histological analysis to determine differences in slow-twitch to fast-twitch muscle fiber type ratios. Ratios were determined in terms of density and cross sectional area in the two antagonist thigh muscles: rectus femoris and biceps femoris long head. Samples were fixed in paraffin wax. Immunohistochemical (IHC) staining was used to identify the percentage of fibers containing the fast-twitch, or type II, isoform of myosin heavy chain (MHC). A 3,3'Diaminobenzidine (DAB) staining kit (Abcam ab64238) was used to differentiate slow-twitch from fast-twitch muscle fibers. Microscope slides were imaged using a brightfield microscope (Meiji Techno MT5300L) with 10x objective, and images were uploaded to ImageJ software. Histology results are pending analysis.

Results and Discussion

Table 1 contains donor demographics and PCSA results. Histology results, when analyzed, will be added into the final manuscript submission. Figure 1 depicts muscles that were dissected to obtain PCSA results. Figure 2 is a graphical depiction of PCSA results.

	Donor 1	Donor 2	Donor 3
Sex	Male	Male	Male
Age (years)	61	67	64
Weight (kg)	72.6	108.9	63.5
Amputation Level	R Transtibial 2017	R 1st Metatarsal 2010	RTransmetatarsal 2004/5
	L Transfemoral 2019	L Transtibial 2016	L Transtibial 2012
CSA % Differences Between Limbs			
Gluteus Maximus	60.4%	37.1%	-45.9%
Sartorius	3.5%	1.4%	33.9%
Rectus Femoris	-22.5%	-66.1%	26.2%
Biceps Femoris Long Head	68.6%	67.9%	18.1%

Table 1: Donor Demographics and PCSA Results

Table 1: Donor demographics and percent differences between most compromised and most intact limbs. Perfect symmetry is 0%. Clinically significant symmetry, based on previous research, was considered \leq 10%. Negative percent differences indicate lower values on the most compromised limb compared to the most intact limb. R and L indicate right and left limbs, respectively. CSA indicates cross-sectional area.

The only muscle with PCSAs consistently smaller or larger across donors was the biceps femoris long head, with 18.1-68.6% larger PCSAs on each donor's most compromised limb compared to the most intact limb. Differences between limbs were largely driven by pennation angle, as opposed to muscle mass or fiber lengths, for each muscle. Larger biceps femoris long head PCSAs on each donor's most intact limb indicates more atrophy in the hamstrings on each donor's most compromised limb compared to their most intact limb. This is consistent with previous studies in living individuals that found more hip extension and power generation on the intact limb to maintain stability and forward progression during ambulation.^{11,12}

Conclusions

PCSA findings suggest the biceps femoris long head was the most asymmetrical of the muscles we examined. The biceps femoris long head had larger PCSAs in the intact limb compared to the most compromised limb. This aligns with the few prior anatomical studies that have examined thigh muscle atrophy in this population, as well as biomechanics studies in living individuals that have observed increased compensatory hip extension mechanisms. Histology findings of slow to fast-twitch fiber ratios will help determine which types of exercise might be most beneficial to exercise the biceps femoris long head. Future research could include more donors or examine muscle biopsies in living individuals to assess the generalizability of our findings. Additionally, since intact limbs also undergo changes in loading, comparing individuals with amputation to controls without amputation can provide a more accurate view of loading influences on muscle changes.

References

1. Gailey R, Allen K, Castles J, Kucharik J, Roeder M. Review of secondary physical conditions associated with lower-limb amputation and long-term prosthesis use. J Rehabil Res Dev. 2008;45(1):15-29. doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2006.11.0147. PMID: 18566923.

2. Scott W, Stevens J, Binder–Macleod SA. Human Skeletal Muscle Fiber Type Classifications. *Physical Therapy*. 2001;81)11:1810-16. doi: 10.1093/ptj/81.11.1810

3. Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. Interlimb muscle and fat comparisons in persons with lower-limb amputation. *Arch Phys Med Rebil.* 2010;91(7):1077-81.

 Fraisse N, Martinet N, Kpadonou TJ, Paysant J, Blum A, André JM. Les muscles de l'amputé tibial [Muscles of the below-knee amputees]. *Ann Readapt Med Phys.* 2008;51(3):218-227. doi:10.1016/j.annrmp.2008.01.012.

5. Finco MG, Kim S, Ngo W, Menegaz RA. A review of musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals following major lower-limb amputation. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact*. 2022;22(2):269-283.

6. Isakov E, Burger H, Gregori M, Marin C. Isokinetic and isometric strength of the thigh muscles in below knee amputees. *Clin Biomech. 1996;* 11(4):232-35.

7. Finco MG, Menegaz RA. Skeletal asymmetries in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputations. PM&R: 2021;1–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmrj. 12599

8. Physiological cross-sectional area. Oxford Reference. Web page. https://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/oi/authority.20110803100325446#:~:text=The %20PCSA%20of%20a%20muscle,length%20to%20muscle%20length%20ratios 9. Rueden CT, Schindelin J, Hiner MC, et al. ImageJ2: ImageJ for the next generation of scientific image data. BMC Bioinformatics. 2017;18:529. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859- 017-1934-z.

 Finco MG, Moudy SC, Patterson RM. Normalized Kinematic Walking Symmetry Data for Individuals Who Use Lower-Limb Prostheses: Considerations for Clinical Practice and Future Research. *JPO*. Online Ahead of Print. April 13, 2022 - 10.1097/JPO.000000000000435 doi: 10.1097/JPO.00000000000435

11. Rabago CA, Wilken JM. The prevalence of gait deviations in individuals with transtibial amputation. Mil Med. 2016;181(S4):30-37. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-15-00505.

12. Gitter A, Czerniecki JM, DeGroot DM: Biomechanical analysis of the influence of prosthetic feet on below-knee amputee walking. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 1991; 70(3): 142–8. doi: 10.1097/00002060-199106000-00006.

Chapter 5 Linkage

Chapter 5 concluded musculoskeletal findings from anatomical donors. The desire to increase our sample size and compare our findings in individuals with lower-limb amputation to diabetic and healthy control groups led us to perform the study in Chapter 6. Utilizing the New Mexico Decedent Image Database allowed us to determine if findings in Chapters 4 and 5 were generalizable, and how findings compared to diabetic and healthy controls without amputation.

CHAPTER 6

MUSCULOSKELETAL HEALTH AFTER LOWER-LIMB AMPUTATION: DIFFERENTIATING INFLUENCES OF AMPUTATION AND DIABETES IN DECEASED MALE INDIVIDUALS

In Review

on October 2, 2022

MG Finco^{1*} & Caitlyn Finnerty^{2*}, Wayne Ngo³, Rachel Menegaz¹

*co-first authors

¹Department of Physiology and Anatomy, University of North Texas Health

Science Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107

²Department of Kinesiology, The College of New Jersey, Ewing, NJ 08628

³Texas College of Osteopathic Medicine, University of North Texas Health

Science Center, Fort Worth, TX 76107

Abstract

<u>Background:</u> Individuals with lower-limb amputations, many of whom have type 2 diabetes, experience impaired musculoskeletal health. This study: 1) compared residual and intact limbs of diabetic and non-diabetic individuals with amputation to identify structures vulnerable to injury, and 2) compared findings to diabetic and healthy control groups to differentiate influences of amputation and diabetes on musculoskeletal health.

<u>Methods</u>: Postmortem CT scans of three groups, ten individuals each, were included: 1) individuals with transtibial or transfemoral amputations, half with diabetes 2) diabetic controls, and 3) healthy controls. Hip and knee joint spaces, cross-sectional thigh muscle and fat areas, and cross-sectional bone properties (e.g. area, thickness, geometry) were measured. Wilcoxon Signed-Rank and Kruskal-Wallis tests assessed statistical significance. Asymmetry percentages between limbs assessed clinical significance.

<u>Findings</u>: Residual limbs of individuals with amputation, particularly those with diabetes, had significantly less thigh muscle area and thinner distal femoral cortical bone compared to intact limbs. Compared to control groups, individuals with amputation had significantly narrower joint spaces, less thigh muscle area bilaterally, and thinner proximal femoral cortical bone in the residual limb. Diabetic individuals with amputation had the most clinically significant asymmetry.

<u>Interpretation</u>: Individuals with amputation showed an increased risk of thigh muscle atrophy and femoral fracture in their residual limb compared to both their intact limb and the control populations, and an increased risk of osteoarthritis in their residual limb compared to control

populations. The combined effect of amputation and diabetes may increase the risk of thigh muscle atrophy. Larger sample sizes of living individuals are needed to assess generalizability of findings. Quantifying musculoskeletal properties and differentiating influences of amputation and diabetes could help direct rehabilitation techniques.

Key words: amputee, limb loss, leg, atrophy, prosthesis, physiology

1. Introduction

Forces acting on the human body during gait help maintain musculoskeletal health. Individuals with lower-limb amputation (IWAs) experience increased forces on the intact limb and reduced forces on the amputated, or residual, limb while walking with a prosthesis (1). Chronic over or underuse of musculoskeletal structures leads to musculoskeletal remodeling, which can contribute to asymmetries between residual and intact limbs (2). These asymmetries have been associated with adverse health outcomes such as increased risks of hip and knee osteoarthritis (2,3), thigh muscle atrophy (4), and femoral fracture (5).

While gait asymmetries between residual and intact limbs have been studied extensively in this population, little attention has been paid to underlying structural musculoskeletal adaptations that have been associated with gait deviations (2). Understanding structural musculoskeletal properties in this population could help reduce these risks by improving rehabilitation foci and improving clinical screening metrics. Specifically, these risks may be assessed by quantifying structural musculoskeletal properties, such as narrower hip and knee joint spaces to indicate osteoarthritis (6), reduced muscle mass and fat tissue area to indicate muscle atrophy (7), and reduced cross-sectional bone properties and moment of inertia to indicate fracture risk (8).

Type 2 diabetes is a common comorbidity of IWAs (9) and is also associated with increased risks of hip and knee osteoarthritis, thigh muscle atrophy, and femoral fracture risk (10-12). However, diabetic IWAs are underrepresented in musculoskeletal literature (2, 13). Determining how lowerlimb amputation and diabetes differentially influence these risks can help inform rehabilitation techniques according to diabetic status in this population. As healthcare technology improves, quantifying musculoskeletal properties by pathology could help clinicians assess typical levels of musculoskeletal health, and implement rehabilitation exercises to reduce risks of hip and knee osteoarthritis, thigh muscle atrophy, and femoral fracture.

Therefore, this study quantified influences of amputation and diabetes on musculoskeletal parameters indicative of hip and knee osteoarthritis, thigh muscle atrophy, and femoral fracture risk. Our first aim was to determine if significant differences exist between residual and intact limbs of IWAs. We hypothesized that residual limbs, compared to intact limbs, would have significantly wider hip and knee joint spaces, reduced thigh muscle mass, and reduced cross-sectional bone properties (e.g. area, thickness, geometry). Our second aim was to compare IWA findings to diabetic and healthy control groups to differentiate interactions between amputation and diabetes on musculoskeletal health. We hypothesized IWAs, compared to diabetic and healthy control groups, would have significantly narrower hip and knee joint spaces, reduced muscle mass, and reduced cross-sectional bone properties. Overall, we expected diabetic IWAs would show the most impaired musculoskeletal health, followed by non-diabetic IWAs, diabetic controls, then healthy controls.

2. Methods

2.1 Study Population

Deidentified data of deceased individuals did not require ethics approval from the North Texas Regional Institutional Review Board. Computed tomography (CT) scans from deceased individuals were obtained with permission from the New Mexico Decedent Image Database (NMDID) (14) from June to October 2021. The NMDID used a Phillips Brilliance Big Bore 16 slice CT scanner with Z-position accuracy of ± 0.25 mm and resolution of up to 24Lp/cm. Three groups were included: transtibial or transfermoral IWAs (half with diabetes), diabetic controls without amputation, and healthy controls without amputation.

IWAs were identified by searching for males 40-90 years of age with relevant causes of death (e.g. diabetes) or record of lower limb surgery, as indicated by the NMDID records. IWAs were included if they had limb loss upon visual inspection of scout images, and excluded if they had advanced decomposition. A total of 10 IWAs were found in the NMDID database as of October 10th, 2021. Diabetic and healthy controls were sex, age, and BMI-matched to the identified IWAs. Healthy controls were excluded if they had: amputation, diabetes, advanced body decomposition, cancer, or an age or BMI outside the range of identified IWAs. Diabetic controls were excluded for any of the above criteria, except diabetes.

2.2 Sample Demographics

In total, thirty males 42-79 years of age with BMIs of 19.7-48.9 kg/m² were included. BMIs for IWAs were adjusted according to equations in previous literature (18). IWAs were added to the study until no more could be found, which resulted in ten IWAs. Five IWAs had a diagnosis of diabetes, and five did not have a diagnosis of diabetes. Therefore, ten diabetic controls and ten healthy controls were included in this study. Summary (Table 1) and individual (Table S1) demographics are provided. Two IWAs were affected bilaterally. For these individuals, the residual limb refers to the most proximally amputated limb and the intact limb refers to the most distally amputated limb. Supplemental tables present all raw data (Tables S2 and S3) and p-values (Tables S4 and S5).

	Sex	Age	BMI	Time	Race	Ethnicity	Primary	Side/Level of
		(years)	(Kg/m ⁻)	Irom Death to			Cause of Death	Amputation
				Death to Scon			Deatin	
				(days)				
Healthy Controls	All M	57.50 ±	30.93 ±	$61.20 \pm$	All White	4 of 10 Hispanic.	All Natural	N/A
(n=10)		11.17	8.05	130.42		Latino, or Middle		
						Eastern		
Diabetic	All M	$54.00 \pm$	$29.22 \pm$	$26.20 \pm$	9 White;	2 of 10 Hispanic,	All Diabetes	N/A
Controls (n=10)		9.18	6.89	38.71	1 Native	Latino, or Middle		
					American	Eastern		
All IWAs (n=10)	All M	$61.90 \pm$	31.08 ±	23.11 ±	7 White;	5 of 10 Hispanic,	5 Diabetes; 2	5 unilateral TT;
		11.05	9.76	15.83	1 Black or	Latino, or Middle	Natural; 3	3 unilateral TF;
					African	Eastern	Sepsis	1 bilateral TT;
					American; 1			1 bilateral TF
					Hispanic; I			
	A 11 X ((7.00)	20.61	14.00	Native American	1 65 11: :		
Diabetic IWAs	All M	$67.00 \pm$	$30.61 \pm$	$14.00 \pm$	3 White; 1	1 of 5 Hispanic,	2 Natural; 3	3 unilateral TT; 2
(n=5)		11.00	11.51	4.24	Hispanic; I	Latino, or Middle	Sepsis	unilateral IF
Non diabatia	A 11 M	56.90	21.55	20.40	1 Disals an	Eastern	All Dishatas	2
IWAs (n-5)	All M	$30.80 \pm$	$51.55 \pm$	$50.40 \pm$	1 Dlack of	U OI 5 HISpanic,	All Diabetes	5 unilateral TT; 2
1 WAS (II=5)		9.42	9.01	16.20	American: 4	Eastorn		unnateral IF,
					White	Lastern		
<i>p</i> -values between		0.18	0.95	0.08	, , inte			
Healthy		0110	0.70	0.00				
Controls,								
Diabetic								
Controls, and All								
IWAs								

Table 1: Summarized demographics

Table 1: Summarized demographic characteristics of all individuals included in this study as reported in the New Mexico Decedent

Image Database. Means \pm standard deviations. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, TT= transfibial, TF= transfemoral, N/A= not applicable.

2.3 Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur Morphology

CT scans were imported into 3D Slicer software (version 4.10) for the following bilateral measurements (15). CF measured all musculoskeletal properties in the IWAs. CF and WN were each randomly assigned to measure all musculoskeletal properties in half of the diabetic controls and half of the healthy controls.

Hip and knee joint spaces were measured from femoral head to acetabulum, and from femoral to tibial condyles, respectively. Fourteen measurements were averaged per hip and knee joint space, divided equally between anterior and posterior aspects or medial and lateral aspects, respectively.

Cross-sectional thigh muscle and fat tissue areas were measured at the femoral midshaft, defined as 50% of overall femur length. Within the midshaft slice, muscle and fat were identified using the threshold function within the Segmentation Editor module. Tissue areas were calculated using the Segmentation Statistics module.

Femur lengths were measured from greater trochanter to lateral condyle in intact limbs, and from greater trochanter to the lateral aspect of the distal end in residual limbs. Femoral head diameters were measured from anterior to posterior aspects and medial to lateral aspects. These two dimensions were averaged and expressed as a ratio of anterior-posterior to medial-lateral diameter. Femoral neck widths were measured superoinferiorly at the narrowest aspect. Femoral diaphysis width was measured anteroposteriorly at the midshaft.

2.4 Femur Geometry

Cross-sectional bone properties were also measured for the femur. CT scan slices were loaded into the BoneJ plugin (version 2) for Fiji to quantify cortical bone thickness and moment of inertia (16). Three slices per femur were used: the proximal (25% of total femoral length), middle (50%), and distal (75%) femoral shaft. The slice was cropped to enclose the cortical bone and converted into an 8-bit image. The grayscale threshold range was adjusted to encompass the bone while excluding air and soft tissue. Threshold values were imputed into the Slice Geometry module of BoneJ to calculate biomechanical properties of the bone at the specified cross-section.

2.5 Repeatability Study

A repeatability study was conducted to ensure intra and inter-observer reliability between CF and WN's control group measurements. CF and WN were assigned the same three scans, and collected all measurements three times with at least 24 hours between each collection. Intra- and inter-observer reliability of CF and WN were determined using paired and unpaired t-tests, respectively. Percent differences in measurements were also calculated. No significant differences were found, and all reliability measurements differed by less than 10%.

2.6 Statistics

NCSS Statistical Software (2021, LCC, Kaysville, UT, USA) was used for statistical analysis (17). Missing data points (e.g. knee joint space absent due to transfemoral amputation) were not included. For Aim 1, Wilcoxon Signed-Rank tests assessed differences between residual and intact limbs of IWAs, right and left limbs of diabetic controls, and right and left limbs of healthy controls. For Aim 2, Kruskal-Wallis tests with assessed differences between groups. Bonferroni corrections were used to reduce risks associated with Type 1 (false-negative) errors in our small sample size. Right and left limbs were averaged for diabetic and healthy controls to provide a single limb value. Two Kruskal-Wallis tests were performed: 1) compared the intact limbs of IWAs to diabetic and healthy controls, and 2) compared the residual limbs of IWAs to diabetic and healthy controls. Mann-Whitney p-values were performed for significant Kruskal Wallis group comparisons. All significance levels were set at $\alpha \leq 0.05$.

2.7 Calculation of Asymmetry

Asymmetry between limbs was calculated to assess clinical significance. A threshold of 10% asymmetry is considered a clinically relevant threshold, where 0% is perfectly symmetrical and 100% is perfectly asymmetrical (13). Asymmetry percentages were calculated using the following equation:

Eq. 1
$$\operatorname{abs}\left(\left(\frac{I-R}{(I+R)*0.5}\right)*100\right)$$

For IWAs, I represents the intact limb value and R represents the residual limb value. For diabetic and healthy controls, the left limb value replaced I and the right limb value replaced R.

3. Results

3.1 Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur Morphology

3.1.1 Between-Limb Comparisons

Data are presented in Table 2 and Figure 1. Healthy controls had significantly different knee joint spaces (p=0.032) between right and left limbs. IWAs had significantly less muscle tissue area (p=0.010) in residual limbs compared to intact limbs. Diabetic IWAs also showed this significance

in muscle tissue area (p=0.031). Diabetic controls had significantly different anterior-posterior femoral head width between right and left limbs (p=0.014), and significant differences in femoral head ratio (p=0.032). Healthy controls had significantly different femoral diaphysis widths (p=0.019) between right and left limbs.



Figure 1: Between-limb comparisons with statistical significance for: a) joint space, b) tissue area, and c) femur morphology.

	Hip Joint Space (mm)	Knee Joint Space (mm)	AP Femoral Head	ML Femoral Head	Femoral Head Ratio (AP/ML)	Femoral Neck Width	Femoral Diaphysis Width	Muscle Area (mm ²)	Fat Area (mm ²)
	()	()	Width (mm)	Width (mm)	()	(mm)	(mm)		
Healthy Controls (n=10)									
Left	3.80 ±	6.41 ±	46.46 ±	46.78 ±	0.99 ±	31.76 ±	32.23 ±	12530.90 ±	8999.39
	1.66	2.07	4.66	4.51	0.04	4.03	3.13	2655.17	± 7546.05
Right	3.77 ± 1.47	7.44 ± 2.40*	46.15 ± 3.98	47.86 ±	0.97 ± 0.04	31.99 ± 4 62	31.72 ± 3.13*	12182.84 ± 2339.91	8964.95 +6950.44
Direction of Asymmetry	L > R	L< R	L > R	L< R	L > R	L< R	L > R	L > R	L > R
Asymmetry	0.69%	14.85%	0.67%	2.29%	2.69%	0.72%	1.59%	2.82%	0.38%
Diabetic Controls (n=10)									
Left	3.65 ± 2.03	6.30 ± 1.77	43.22 ± 3.17	44.91 ± 4.20	0.96 ± 0.03	31.20 ± 2.94	31.98 ± 3.21	10295.51 ± 2445.49	9686.75 ±6617.29
Right	3.80 ± 2.29	6.45 ± 2.16	44.84 ± 3.91*	45.32 ± 3.75	0.99 ± 0.02*	32.05 ± 2.98	32.24 ± 3.75	10052.81 ± 2989.30	9492.07 ±6571.87
Direction of Asymmetry	L< R	L< R	L< R	L< R	L< R	L< R	L< R	L > R	L > R
Asymmetry	4.07%	2.33%	3.66%	0.89%	2.58%	2.70%	0.83%	2.39%	2.03%
IWAs (n=10)									
Intact	1.75 ± 0.42	$\begin{array}{c} 4.02 \pm \\ 0.97 \end{array}$	47.21 ± 2.88	49.41 ± 3.88	0.96 ± 0.04	$\begin{array}{c} 35.50 \pm \\ 3.60 \end{array}$	34.27 ± 7.90	9398.17 ± 3620.11	6755.21 ±4758.96
Residual	1.59 ± 0.42	3.78±0.94	46.86 ± 3.63	48.70 ± 3.41	0.96 ± 0.06	33.57 ± 3.40	33.09 ± 6.26	7791.61 ± 3333.84*	7213.73 ±5059.76
Direction of Asymmetry	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res

Table 2: Between-Limb Comparisons of Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur Morphology

Asymmetry	9.56%	5.93%	0.75%	1.46%	0.61%	5.58%	3.48%	18.69%	6.57%
Diabetic IWAs (n=5)									
Intact	1.79 ±	3.62 ±	46.53 ±	48.39 ±	0.96 ±	$35.08 \pm$	35.70 ±	9745.16 ±	7040.71
	0.48	1.10	1.89	2.89	0.04	4.08	12.36	3870.95	± 2763.96
Residual	$1.80 \pm$	3.79 ±	$46.49 \pm$	$48.76 \pm$	0.95 ±	31.64 ±	34.00 ±	8761.36 ±	7663.18
	0.49	1.24	4.34	4.10	0.05	3.20	9.61	2815.49	±3723.55
Direction of Asymmetry	Int < Res	Int < Res	Int > Res	Int < Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
Asymmetry	0.37%	4.83%	0.08%	0.76%	0.91%	10.30%	4.90%	10.63%	8.47%
Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)									
Intact	1.70 ±	4.51 ±	47.89 ±	50.43 ±	0.95 ±	35.92 ±	33.12 ±	9120.58 ±	6526.81
	0.41	0.59	3.73	4.780	0.05	3.47	2.57	3841.30	± 6278.47
Residual	1.38 ±	3.77 ±	47.22 ±	48.63 ±	$0.97 \pm$	35.50 ±	32.37 ±	7015.81 ±	6854.17
	0.24	0.82	3.25	3.06	0.06	2.56	2.76	3819.82*	±6359.25
Direction of Asymmetry	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
Asymmetry	21.01%	17.90%	1.41%	3.63%	2.13%	1.17%	2.28%	26.09%	4.89%

Table 2: Between-limb comparisons of 3D Slicer data: joint space, tissue area, and femur morphology. Means with standard deviations. For healthy and diabetic control groups, right and left limbs were compared. For amputees, intact and residual limbs were compared. Wilcoxon-Signed Rank tests were used to assess significance. The significance level was set $\alpha \le 0.05$. An asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference between limbs. Direction of asymmetry indicates which limb had greater mean values. Asymmetry indicates the amount of asymmetry between limbs where 0% is perfectly symmetrical and 100% is perfectly asymmetrical. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, Int= intact limb, Res= residual limb, SD= standard deviation, AP= anterior-posterior, ML= medial-lateral.

Healthy controls had clinically significant knee joint space asymmetry (14.85%). Non-diabetic IWAs had clinically significant hip (21.01%) and knee (17.90%) joint space asymmetry. IWAs had clinically significant muscle area (18.69%) asymmetry, higher in diabetic (26.09%) compared to non-diabetic (10.63%) IWAs.

3.1.2 Between-Group Comparisons

Data are presented in Table 3 and Figure 2. Mann-Whitney post hoc comparisons for significant differences are presented in Table S6. Compared to diabetic and healthy controls, IWAs had significantly narrower hip joint space on intact (p=0.002) and residual (p<0.001) limbs, narrower knee joint space on intact (p<0.001) limbs, and wider femoral diaphysis on the intact limb (p=0.023). Compared to healthy controls, IWAs had significantly narrower knee joint space on residual (p<0.001) limbs, and reduced muscle area on intact (p=0.013) and residual (p=0.011) limbs.



Figure 2: Between-group comparisons with statistical significance for: a) joint space, b) tissue area, and c) femur morphology. Gray boxes provided to help visually distinguish graphs.

	Hip Joint Space (mm)	Knee Joint Space (mm)	AP Femoral Head Width (mm)	ML Femoral Head Width (mm)	Femoral Head Ratio (AP/ML)	Femoral Neck Width (mm)	Femoral Diaphysis Width (mm)	Muscle Area (mm ²)	Fat Area (mm²)
Healthy Controls (n=10)									
Right and Left Averaged	3.78 ± 1.56	6.93 ± 2.24	46.31 ± 4.32	47.32 ± 4.93	$\begin{array}{c} 0.98 \pm \\ 0.04 \end{array}$	31.87 ± 4.32	31.98 ± 3.13	12356.87 ± 2497.54	8982.17 ± 7248.25
Diabetic Controls (n=10)									
Right and Left Averaged	3.72 ± 2.16	6.37 ± 1.97	44.03 ± 3.54	45.11 ± 3.97	$\begin{array}{c} 0.98 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$	31.62 ± 2.96	32.11 ± 3.48	10174.16 ± 2717.39	9589.41 \pm 6594.58
All IWAs (n=10)									
Intact	1.75 ± 0.42†‡	4.02 ± 0.97*†‡	47.21 ± 2.88	49.41 ± 3.88	0.96 ± 0.04	35.49 ± 3.60†‡	34.27 ± 7.90	9398.17 ± 3620.11†‡	6755.21 ± 4758.96
Residual	1.59 ± 0.42*†‡	3.78± 0.94*†	46.86 ± 3.63	48.70 ± 3.41	0.96 ± 0.06	33.57 ± 3.40	33.09 ± 6.26	7791.61 ± 3333.84†‡	7213.73 ± 5059.76
Diabetic IWAs (n=5)									
Intact	1.79 ± 0.48	3.62 ± 1.10*†‡	46.53 ± 1.89	48.39 ± 2.89	$\begin{array}{c} 0.96 \pm \\ 0.04 \end{array}$	35.08 ± 4.08†‡	35.70 ± 12.36	9745.16 ± 3870.95†‡	7040.71 ± 2763.92
Residual	1.80 ± 0.49	3.79 ± 1.24	46.49 ± 4.34	48.76 ± 4.10	0.95 ± 0.05	31.64 ± 3.20	34.00 ± 9.61	8761.36 ± 2815.49	7663.19 ± 3723.55
Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)									

Table 3: Between-Group Comparisons of Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur Morphology

Intact	1.71 ± 0.41	4.51 ± 0.59	47.89 ± 3.73	50.43 ± 4.78	$\begin{array}{c} 0.95 \pm \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	35.92 ± 3.47†‡	33.12 ± 2.57	9120.58 ± 3841.30†‡	6526.81 ± 6278.47
Residual	1.38 ± 0.24*†‡	3.77 ± 0.82	47.22 ± 3.25	48.63 ± 3.06	$\begin{array}{c} 0.97 \pm \\ 0.06 \end{array}$	35.50 ± 2.56	32.37 ± 2.76	7015.81 ± 3819.82†‡	6854.17 ± 6359.25
<i>p</i> -values (Healthy vs Diabetic vs Intact Limbs of All IWAs)	0.002*	<0.001**	0.16	0.08	0.26	0.02*	0.13	0.01*	0.39
<i>p</i> -values (Healthy vs Diabetic vs Residual of All IWAs)	<0.001**	<0.001**	0.25	0.13	0.32	0.13	0.49	0.01*	0.45

Table 3: Between-group comparisons of 3D Slicer data for joint space, tissue area, and femur morphology. Means with standard deviations. For healthy and diabetic control groups, left and right limb values were averaged together. Kruskal-Wallis tests with Bonferroni corrections were used to assess significance. The significance level was set $\alpha \le 0.05$. Bold text indicates p-values less than or equal to 0.05. Asterisks (*) indicate a *p*-value < 0.01, daggers (†) indicate significant differences compared to healthy controls, and double daggers (‡) indicate significant differences compared to diabetic controls. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, SD= standard deviation; AP= anterior-posterior, ML= medial-lateral.

3.2 Femur Geometry

3.2.1 Between-Limb Comparisons

Data are presented in Table 4 and Figure 3. IWAs had significantly higher standard deviation cortical bone thickness (p=0.037), which indicates higher variability in cortical bone thickness, at the femoral midshaft in residual limbs compared to intact limbs. Healthy controls had significantly different maximum moments of inertia (p=0.025) at the proximal femur between right and left limbs. Diabetic controls had significantly different maximum (p=0.040) and standard deviation (p=0.025) thicknesses at the distal femur between right and left limbs.



Figure 3: Between-limb comparisons with statistical significance for a) proximal femur geometry and b) distal femur geometry. Gray boxes provided to help visually distinguish graphs.

		CSA		Imin		Imax(mm^	4	Max Thick	Mean Thick	SD Thick 2d
		(mm^2)		(mm^4))		2d (mm)	2d (mm)	(mm)
Proximal Femoral Shaft	Healthy Controls (n=10)									
25%	Left	504.04 72.67	±	41620.00 10665.26	±	31075.98 7636.79	±	9.03 ± 1.30	7.77 ± 0.78	0.95 ± 0.30
	Right	518.22 81.44	±	43648.46 10596.43	±	33416.99 8402.86*	±	9.21 ± 1.34	7.82 ± 0.95	0.946 ± 0.26
	Direction of Asymmetry	L < R		L < R		L < R		L < R	L < R	L > R
	Asymmetry	2.78%		4.76%		7.26%		2.05%	0.72%	0.33%
	Diabetic Controls (n=10)									
	Left	534.63 93.24	±	46211.27 13618.75	±	33446.60 10213.37	±	9.98 ± 2.03	8.25 ± 1.46	1.22 ± 0.46
	Right	533.19 110.94	±	46473.42 16509.03	±	32798.82 11755.50	±	10.15 ± 1.70	8.28 ± 1.38	1.39 ± 0.43
	Direction of Asymmetry	L > R		L < R		L < R		L < R	L < R	L < R
	Asymmetry	0.27%		0.57%		1.96%		1.68%	0.37%	13.39%
	IWAs (n=10)									
	Intact	511.98 131.01	±	50951.37 23625.27	±	39999.50 18084.10	±	8.68 ± 1.55	7.09 ± 1.32	1.08 ± 0.33
	Residual	476.20 166.52	±	50354.88 28305.25	<u>+</u>	37878.45 18401.54	±	8.09 ± 1.97	6.44 ± 1.78	1.09 ± 0.27
	Direction of Asymmetry	Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
	Asymmetry	7.24%		1.18%		5.45%		6.98%	9.60%	0.60%
	Diabetic IWAs (n=5)									

Table 4: Betwee	en-Limb	Compa	risons o	of Femur	Geome	try
				aat		-

	Intact	544 52	+	55105.06	+	43929.45	+	9.08 ± 1.36	754 + 149	0.99 ± 0.22
	Intuct	171.81	<u> </u>	32701.87	<u> </u>	25212.90	<u> </u>	9.00 ± 1.50	7.51 ± 1.19	0.99 ± 0.22
	Residual	490.86	±	52716.32	±	41062.19	±	8.19 ± 1.72	6.66 ± 1.63	1.01 ± 0.15
		201.76		39078.84		25648.81				
	Direction of	Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
	Asymmetry									
	Asymmetry	10.37%		4.43%		6.75%		10.39%	12.41%	2.26%
	Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)									
	Intact	479.44	±	46797.68	±	36069.56	\pm	8.27 ± 1.77	6.65 ± 1.10	1.18 ± 0.42
		80.33		11970.79		7843.88				
	Residual	461.53	±	47993.45	±	34694.70	±	7.99 ± 2.40	6.23 ± 2.10	1.17 ± 0.36
		145.42		16173.26		8870.45				
	Direction of	Int > Res		Int < Res		Int > Res		Int > Res	Int > Res	Int > Res
	Asymmetry	2.010/		2.520/		2.000/		2.260/	6 500/	0.020/
	Asymmetry	3.81%		2.52%		3.89%		3.36%	6.50%	0.82%
Middle Femoral Shaft	Healthy Controls (n=10)									
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10) Left	492.86 72.24	±	40155.28 10382.12	±	29080.35 8266.14	±	10.21 ± 0.91	8.02 ± 0.73	1.39 ± 0.28
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10) Left Right	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09	+++	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68	± ±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12	± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 ± 0.87	1.39 ± 0.28 1.44 ± 0.45
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10) Left Right Direction of Asymmetry	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09 L < R	± ±	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68 L < R	± ±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12 L < R	± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43 L < R	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 ± 0.87 L < R	$\begin{array}{c} 1.39 \pm 0.28 \\ 1.44 \pm 0.45 \\ L < R \end{array}$
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10) Left Right Direction of Asymmetry Asymmetry	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09 L < R 2.06%	± ±	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68 L < R 4.36%	± ±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12 L < R 3.06%	± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43 L < R 2.48%	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 ± 0.87 L < R 1.26%	$\begin{array}{c} 1.39 \pm 0.28 \\ 1.44 \pm 0.45 \\ L < R \\ 4.07\% \end{array}$
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10) Left Right Direction of Asymmetry Asymmetry Diabetic Controls	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09 L < R 2.06%	± ±	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68 L < R 4.36%	± ±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12 L < R 3.06%	± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43 L < R 2.48%	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 ± 0.87 L < R 1.26%	$\begin{array}{c} 1.39 \pm 0.28 \\ 1.44 \pm 0.45 \\ L < R \\ 4.07\% \end{array}$
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10) Left Right Direction of Asymmetry Asymmetry Diabetic Controls (n=10)	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09 L < R 2.06%	±	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68 L < R 4.36%	±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12 L < R 3.06%	± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43 L < R 2.48%	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 ± 0.87 L < R 1.26%	$\begin{array}{c} 1.39 \pm 0.28 \\ 1.44 \pm 0.45 \\ L < R \\ 4.07\% \end{array}$
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10) Left Right Direction of Asymmetry Asymmetry Diabetic Controls (n=10) Left	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09 L < R 2.06% 525.26	± ±	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68 L < R 4.36% 42877.95	± ±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12 L < R 3.06% 30743.20	± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43 L < R 2.48% 10.53 ± 1.15	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 \pm 0.87 L < R 1.26% 8.49 \pm 0.84	1.39 ± 0.28 1.44 ± 0.45 $L < R$ 4.07% 1.35 ± 0.45
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10)LeftRightDirection of AsymmetryAsymmetryDiabetic Controls (n=10)Left	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09 L < R 2.06% 525.26 89.01	± ± ±	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68 L < R 4.36% 4.36% 42877.95 16659.48	± ±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12 L < R 3.06% 30743.20 10097.47	± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43 $L < R$ 2.48% 10.53 ± 1.15	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 ± 0.87 L < R 1.26% 8.49 ± 0.84	$\begin{array}{c} 1.39 \pm 0.28 \\ 1.44 \pm 0.45 \\ L < R \\ 4.07\% \\ 1.35 \pm 0.45 \end{array}$
Middle Femoral Shaft 50%	Healthy Controls (n=10)LeftRightDirection of AsymmetryAsymmetryDiabetic Controls (n=10)LeftRight	492.86 72.24 503.13 81.09 L < R 2.06% 525.26 89.01 506.13	± ± ±	40155.28 10382.12 41944.95 11718.68 L < R 4.36% 4.36% 42877.95 16659.48 41817.58	± ± ±	29080.35 8266.14 29984.94 8619.12 L < R 3.06% 30743.20 10097.47 29336.44	± ± ±	10.21 ± 0.91 10.47 ± 1.43 $L < R$ 2.48% 10.53 ± 1.15 10.06 ± 1.39	8.02 ± 0.73 8.13 ± 0.87 L < R 1.26% 8.49 ± 0.84 8.16 ± 1.18	1.39 ± 0.28 1.44 ± 0.45 $L < R$ 4.07% 1.35 ± 0.45 1.33 ± 0.30
	Dimention of	TND		I N D		T > D		IND	I > D	L > D
------------------	-------------------	-----------	----------	-----------	----------	-----------	----------	-----------------	-----------------	------------------
	Direction of	L > K		L > K		L > K		L > K	L > K	L > K
	Asymmetry									
	Asymmetry	3.71%		2.50%		4.68%		4.57%	4.04%	1.69%
	IWAs (n=10)									
	Intact	511.53	<u>+</u>	48656.50	<u>+</u>	36209.66	<u>+</u>	8.64 ± 1.66	7.29 ± 1.52	1.13 ± 0.26
		154.98		30624.77		22120.00				
	Residual	474.15	<u>+</u>	46070.47	±	33372.45	<u>+</u>	9.03 ± 2.53	6.99 ± 1.81	$1.33 \pm 0.35*$
		169.90		32146.77		21112.44				
	Direction of	Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res		Int < Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
	Asymmetry									
	Asymmetry	7.59%		5.46%		8.16%		4.39%	4.14%	16.80%
	Diabetic IWAs									
	(n=5)									
	Intact	555.07	<u>+</u>	55105.68	<u>+</u>	41416.50	±	9.51 ± 1.75	7.98 ± 1.81	1.16 ± 0.20
		209.72		43469.35		30843.46				
	Residual	514.22	±	54975.60	\pm	39025.22	\pm	9.86 ± 2.58	7.36 ± 1.65	1.54 ± 0.37
		218.10		47994.16		31171.98				
	Direction of	Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res		Int < Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
	Asymmetry									
	Asymmetry	7.64%		0.24%		5.95%		3.66%	8.09%	28.49%
	Non-diabetic IWAs									
	(n=5)									
	Intact	467.99	±	42207.32	<u>+</u>	31002.82	±	7.78 ± 1.12	6.60 ± 0.86	1.10 ± 0.30
		72.93		10800.85		9045.13				
	Residual	442.08	±	38946.37	±	28850.23	±	8.37 ± 2.57	6.70 ± 2.06	1.17 ± 0.26
		138.43		14018.11		10255.95				
	Direction of	Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res		Int < Res	Int < Res	Int < Res
	Asymmetry									
	Asymmetry	5.69%		8.04%		7.19%		7.28%	1.55%	6.23%
Distal	Healthy Controls									
Femoral Shaft	(n=10)									

75%	Left	382.22	±	48118.49	±	37968.37	±	5.55 ± 0.90	4.63 ± 0.59	0.61 ± 0.18
		58.28		14337.67		11143.22				
	Right	390.46	±	50445.11	±	39463.18	±	5.91 ± 0.83	4.73 ± 0.55	0.69 ± 0.14
		61.91		16873.66		12036.90				
	Direction of	L < R		L < R		L < R		L < R	L < R	L < R
	Asymmetry									
	Asymmetry	2.13%		4.72%		3.86%		6.29%	2.11%	10.87%
	Diabetic Controls (n=10)									
	Left	397.60 34.27	±	46510.46 15166.72	±	38368.07 15022.90	±	6.41 ± 0.63	5.07 ± 0.53	0.77 ± 0.19
	Right	382.83 69.19	±	46991.59 16047.99	±	37397.42 15990.31	±	5.84 ± 1.07*	4.78 ± 0.79	$0.62 \pm 0.17*$
	Direction of	L > R		L < R		L > R		L > R	L > R	L > R
	Asymmetry									
	Asymmetry	3.79%		1.03%		2.56%		9.38%	5.91%	21.53%
	IWAs (n=10)									
	Intact	390.91	±	58415.07	<u>+</u>	45178.18	<u>+</u>	5.61 ± 1.00	4.52 ± 0.99	0.70 ± 0.18
		114.06		36624.33		26176.32				
	Residual	374.98	\pm	59347.39	\pm	47885.19	\pm	5.43 ± 1.05	4.29 ± 0.84	0.78 ± 0.24
		139.14		42489.22		31837.10				
	Direction of Asymmetry	Int > Res		Int < Res		Int < Res		Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
	Asymmetry	4.16%		1.58%		5.82%		3.18%	5.15%	10.20%
	Diabetic IWAs									
	(n=5)									
	Intact	408.86	±	60167.10	±	47110.09	±	5.82 ± 1.26	4.82 ± 1.29	0.80 ± 0.15
		150.75		48199.65		35097.36				
	Residual	351.26	±	57004.36	<u>+</u>	45708.57	<u>+</u>	5.44 ± 1.17	4.10 ± 0.99	0.90 ± 0.16
		181.41		57054.68		43083.92				
	Direction of	Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res		Int > Res	Int > Res	Int < Res
	Asymmetry									

Asymmetry	15.15%		5.40%		3.02%		6.78%	16.13%	11.73%
Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)									
Intact	368.50	±	56225.05	±	42763.29	±	5.34 ± 0.67	4.15 ± 0.28	0.58 ± 0.14
	56.45		21628.47		13067.91				
Residual	406.59	\pm	62471.43	\pm	50787.37	\pm	5.42 ± 1.11	4.56 ± 0.67	0.61 ± 0.24
	78.06		22528.35		15308.74				
Direction of	Int < Res		Int < Res		Int < Res		Int < Res	Int < Res	Int < Res
Asymmetry									
Asymmetry	9.83%		10.53%		17.15%		1.52%	9.29%	5.81%

Table 4: Between-limb comparisons of BoneJ data for femur geometry. Means with standard deviations of the proximal, middle, and distal femoral shafts. For healthy and diabetic control groups, right and left limbs were compared. For amputees, intact and residual limbs were compared. Wilcoxon-Signed Rank tests were used to assess significance. The significance level was set $\alpha \leq 0.05$. An asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference between limbs. Direction of asymmetry indicates which limb had greater mean values. Asymmetry indicates the amount of asymmetry between limbs where 0% is perfectly symmetrical and 100% is perfectly asymmetrical. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, Int= intact limb, Res= residual limb, CSA= cross-sectional area, Imin= minimum moment of inertia, Imax= maximum moment of inertia, Max= maximum, SD=standard deviation, Thick= cortical bone thickness.

At the proximal femur, non-diabetic IWAs had clinically significant cross-sectional area (10.37%), maximum (10.39%), and mean (12.41%) cortical bone thickness asymmetry. At the femoral midshaft, IWAs and diabetic IWAs had clinically significant standard deviation cortical bone thickness asymmetry (16.80% and 28.49%, respectively). At the distal femur, IWAs and non-diabetic IWAs had clinically significant standard deviation cortical bone thickness asymmetry (10.87% and 21.53%, respectively). Further, at the distal femur, diabetic IWAs had clinically significant cross-sectional area (15.15%), mean (16.13%), and standard deviation (11.73%) cortical thickness asymmetry. Additionally, non-diabetic IWAs had clinically significant asymmetry in minimum (10.53%) and maximum (17.15%) moments of inertia.

3.2.2 Between-Group Comparisons

Data are presented in Table 5 and Figure 4. Mann-Whitney post hoc comparisons for significant differences are presented in Table S6. At the proximal femur, residual limbs of IWAs had significantly narrower mean cortical thickness (p=0.027) than diabetic and healthy controls. At the femoral midshaft, residual limbs of diabetic IWAs had significantly narrower maximum (p=0.004) and mean (p=0.017) cortical thickness than diabetic and healthy controls. At the distal femur, residual limbs of non-diabetic IWAs had significantly higher standard deviation cortical thickness (p=0.020) than all groups.



Figure 4: Between-group comparisons with statistical significance for: a) proximal femur geometry, and b) distal femur geometry.

		CSA (mm ²)	Imin (mm ⁴)	Imax	Max Thick 2d	Mean Thick 2d (mm)	SD Thick 2d
Provimal	Healthy Controls					2u (IIIII)	(11111)
Femoral Shaft	(n=10)						
25%	Right and Left	511.13 ±	42634.23 ±	32246.49 ±	9.12 ± 1.32	7.79 ± 0.87	0.95 ± 0.28
	Averaged	77.05	10630.84	8019.83			
	Diabetic Controls (n=10)						
	Right and Left	533.91 ±	46342.35 ±	33122.71 ±	10.07 ± 1.87	8.27 ± 1.42	1.30 ± 0.44
	Averaged	102.09	15063.89	10984.43			
	All IWAs (n=10)						
	Intact	511.98 ±	50951.37 ±	$39999.50 \pm$	8.68 ± 1.55	7.09 ± 1.32	1.08 ± 0.33
		131.01	23625.27	18084.10			
	Residual	$476.20 \pm$	$50354.88 \pm$	$37878.45 \pm$	8.09 ± 1.97	6.44 ±	1.09 ± 0.27
		166.53	28305.25	18401.54		1.78†‡	
	Diabetic IWAs (n=5)						
	Intact	544.52 ±	$55105.06 \pm$	$43929.45 \pm$	9.08 ± 1.36	7.54 ± 1.49	0.99 ± 0.22
		171.81	32701.87	25212.90			
	Residual	$490.86 \pm$	52716.32 ±	$41062.19 \pm$	8.19 ± 1.72	6.66 ± 1.63	1.01 ± 0.15
		201.76	39078.84	25648.81			
	Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)						
	Intact	$479.44 \pm$	$46797.68 \pm$	$36069.56 \pm$	8.27 ± 1.77	6.65 ± 1.10	1.18 ± 0.42
		80.33	11970.79	7843.88			
	Residual	$461.53 \pm$	$47993.45 \pm$	$34694.70 \pm$	7.99 ± 2.40	6.23 ± 2.10	1.17 ± 0.36
		145.42	16173.26	8870.45			
Middle	Healthy Controls						
Femoral Shaft	(n=10)						
50%	Right and Left	$498.00 \pm$	$41050.11 \pm$	$29532.64 \pm$	10.34 ± 1.17	8.07 ± 0.80	1.42 ± 0.37
	Averaged	76.67	11050.40	8442.63			

Table 5: Between-Group Comparisons of Femur Geometry

	Diabetic Controls (n=10)						
	Right and Left Averaged	515.69 ± 93.56	$\begin{array}{r} 42347.76 \pm \\ 16456.68 \end{array}$	30039.82 ± 10277.51	10.30 ± 1.27	8.33 ± 1.01	1.34 ± 0.38
	All IWAs (n=10)						
	Intact	511.53 ± 154.98	$\begin{array}{r} 48656.50 \pm \\ 30624.77 \end{array}$	36209.66 ± 22119.99	8.64 ± 1.66	7.29 ± 1.52	1.13 ± 0.26
	Residual	474.15 ± 169.90	46070.47 ± 32146.77	33372.45 ± 21112.44	9.03 ± 2.53	6.99 ± 1.81	1.33 ± 0.35
	Diabetic IWAs (n=5)						
	Intact	555.07 ± 209.72	$55105.68 \pm \\ 43469.35$	$\begin{array}{r} 41416.50 \pm \\ 30843.46 \end{array}$	9.51 ± 1.75	7.98 ± 1.81	1.16 ± 0.20
	Residual	514.22 ± 218.10	54975.60 ± 47994.16	$\begin{array}{r} 39025.22 \pm \\ 31171.98 \end{array}$	9.86 ± 2.58	7.36 ± 1.65	1.54 ± 0.37
	Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)						
	Intact	467.99 ± 72.93	$\begin{array}{r} 42207.32 \pm \\ 10800.85 \end{array}$	31002.82 ± 9045.13	7.78 ± 1.12†‡	$6.60 \pm 0.86 \ddagger$	1.10 ± 0.33
	Residual	442.08 ± 138.43	38946.37 ± 14018.11	$28850.23 \pm \\10255.95$	8.37 ± 2.57	6.70 ± 2.06	1.17 ± 0.26
Distal Femoral Shaft	Healthy Controls (n=10)						
75%	Right and Left Averaged	386.34 ± 60.01	49281.80 ± 15605.66	38715.78 ± 11590.06	5.73 ± 0.87	4.68 ± 0.57	0.65 ± 0.16
	Diabetic Controls (n=10)						
	Right and Left Averaged	390.22 ± 51.73	$\begin{array}{r} 46751.03 \pm \\ 15607.36 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} 37882.75 \pm \\ 15506.61 \end{array}$	6.13 ± 0.85	4.92 ± 0.66	0.69 ± 0.18
	All IWAs (n=10)						
	Intact	390.91 ± 114.06	58415.07 ± 36624.33	45178.18 ± 26176.32	5.61 ± 1.00	4.52 ± 0.99	0.70 ± 0.18

Residual	374.98 ± 139.14	$59347.39 \pm \\ 42489.22$	$\begin{array}{r} 47885.19 \pm \\ 31837.10 \end{array}$	5.43 ± 1.05	4.29 ± 0.84	0.78 ± 0.24
Diabetic IWAs (n=5)						
Intact	408.84 ± 150.75	$\begin{array}{c} 60167.10 \pm \\ 48199.65 \end{array}$	47110.09 ± 35097.36	5.82 ± 1.26	4.87 ± 1.29	0.80 ± 0.15
Residual	351.26 ± 181.41	$57004.36 \pm \\57054.68$	45708.57 ± 43083.92	5.44 ± 1.17	4.10 ± 1.00	0.90 ± 0.16
Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)						
Intact	368.50 ± 56.45	56225.05 ± 21628.47	42763.29 ± 13067.91	5.34 ± 0.67	4.15 ± 0.28	0.58 ± 0.14
Residual	406.59 ± 78.06	62471.43 ± 22528.35	50787.37 ± 15308.74	5.42 ± 1.11	4.56 ± 0.67	0.61 ± 0.24†‡

Table 5: Between-group comparisons of BoneJ data for femur geometry. Means with standard deviations of the proximal, middle, and distal femoral shafts. For healthy and diabetic control groups, left and right limb values were averaged together. For amputees, intact and compromised limbs were compared separately. Kruskal-Wallis tests with Bonferroni corrections were used to assess significance. The significance level was set $\alpha \le 0.05$. Bold text indicates p-values less than or equal to 0.05. Asterisks (*) indicate a p-value < 0.01, daggers (†) indicate significant differences compared to healthy controls, and double daggers (‡) indicate significant differences compared to healthy controls, and double daggers (‡) indicate significant differences compared to diabetic controls. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, CSA= cross-sectional area, Imin= minimum moment of inertia, Imax= maximum moment of inertia, Max= maximum, SD=standard deviation, Thick= cortical bone thickness.

4. Discussion

Obtaining large cohorts of CT scans in living individuals with amputations can be challenging. Using the NMDID to collect musculoskeletal data from deceased individuals with amputations could help inform which properties might be most beneficial to examine in living individuals. To our knowledge, this was the first study to use CT scans to quantify musculoskeletal health in individuals with amputation, compare findings to diabetic and healthy controls, and is of the largest sample sizes to examine musculoskeletal health from an anatomical perspective in individuals with amputation. Findings aligned with other musculoskeletal methodologies, (e.g. MRI, ultrasound) and risk factors in living individuals.² Residual limbs of IWAs had higher indications of thigh muscle atrophy and distal femoral fracture risk compared to intact limbs. Compared to control groups, IWAs had higher indications of muscle atrophy and osteoarthritis bilaterally, along with proximal femoral fracture risk on the residual limb. Intact limbs of IWAs had wider femoral necks, indicative of increased femoral loading compared to diabetic and healthy controls. Diabetic IWAs tended to show the most impaired musculoskeletal health. Findings align with previous literature surrounding risk factors of hip and knee osteoarthritis, thigh muscle atrophy, and femoral fracture risk in living individuals with amputation. Future research should examine larger sample sizes of living individuals to determine if findings are generalizable.

4.1 Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis

Individuals who are unilateral lower-limb prosthesis users are more likely to develop hip and knee osteoarthritis on the intact limb, compared to the residual limb and nonamputee (1). Prosthesis users rely on their intact limb, resulting in more biomechanical load, narrow joint space, and accelerated cartilage degeneration (1). IWAs showed narrower hip and knee joint spaces bilaterally

compared to controls, in line with prior work on the prevalence of osteoarthritis in the IWAs population compared to the general population (1). However, in contrast with previous work (18-19), neither hip or knee joint space were significant between residual and intact limbs of IWAs. This may be due to our limited sample size. Pain from osteoarthritis can reduce mobility and quality of life (20), and eventually result in total hip or knee replacement. Recommended exercises for IWAs with osteoarthritis include improving core strength, balance, and flexibility to reduce gait deviations (21). Ensuring appropriate prosthetic alignment and gait training, as well as implementing proactive joint screenings, may help reduce risks of osteoarthritis.

4.2 Thigh Muscle Atrophy

Thigh atrophy can hinder prosthetic control (22) and balance (23). IWAs, particularly those with diabetes, showed more thigh muscle atrophy in residual limbs compared to intact limbs. IWAs also showed more thigh muscle atrophy bilaterally compared to diabetic and healthy controls. Findings align with work in living IWAs that used other methodologies (e.g. ultrasound, MRI) (4, 24-25). Elevated blood sugar levels, as seen in type 2 diabetes, may be associated with muscle atrophy (26), which may explain why diabetic IWAs had the most thigh muscle atrophy. No significant differences in fat mass were found in any group, in contrast with previous work (24, 27-28). Thigh muscle strengthening within the first year post-amputation may be a critical window to maintaining muscular health in IWAs (29). Rehabilitation exercises should target thigh muscle strength bilaterally, particularly in diabetic IWAs. Shortening time between amputation to physical therapy and ambulation may also help prevent muscle atrophy.

4.3 Femoral Fractures

Falls and fall-related injuries are prevalent in IWAs, so preventing fall-related fractures are of particular concern in this population (34). In alignment with prior work, intact limbs of IWAs, compared to controls, had wider femoral necks and thinner cortical bone at the proximal femur (30-31). Clinical significance among diabetic and non-diabetic IWAs suggest femoral adaptations may differ according to diabetic status. In nonamputees, proximal and distal femoral diaphysis are most adaptive to changes in biomechanical loading (32). This may also occur in IWAs, as our findings and previous literature have shown thinner cortical bone and increased fracture rates at the proximal and distal femoral diaphysis (31, 33). Proactive skeletal screening, rehabilitation exercises to promote residual limb loading, and earlier ambulation may help maintain skeletal health.

4.4 Control Groups

Significant differences within diabetic and healthy controls may have been driven by leg dominance and outliers. Right or left leg dominance is associated with the corresponding hand dominance of the individual (35). Diabetic controls tended to have larger left-side values on the left limb for gross and cross-sectional data. Healthy controls tended to have larger values on the right limb for all cross-sectional data. These tendencies in leg dominance, combined with outliers, may underlie significant differences between right and left limbs in both control groups.

4.5 Influence of Diabetes

Despite having no statistical significance between diabetic and non-diabetic IWAs, diabetic IWAs showed the most clinical significance in hip and knee joint space as well as muscle tissue area. Diabetic IWAs also had the most impaired musculoskeletal health in several parameters, including knee joint space bilaterally, intact limb femoral neck width, and thinner intact femoral midshaft cortical bone. These trends suggest additive effects of amputation and diabetes on impaired musculoskeletal health, despite a lack of statistical significance. Clinicians should still consider other diabetic complications, such as retinopathy and peripheral neuropathy, which can lead to fall-related fractures (36).

4.6 Limitations and Future Work

A major limitation of this study was the amount of medical history information available from the NMDID. While potential confounding factors of musculoskeletal health were excluded (e.g. cancer, advanced body decomposition), information on prosthesis use was absent. For instance, all of the IWAs had a confirmed amputation surgery, but no record of time since amputation, diabetic onset, prosthesis use, or activity level. Therefore, musculoskeletal findings could not be assessed by these factors. This study included individuals with unilateral and bilateral amputations, as well as transtibial and transfemoral amputations, so findings should not be applied to one subset of amputation level.

Several properties on two individuals could not be measured, since the limb was outside the frame of the CT scan, detailed in Supplemental Table 1. Similarly, several femoral properties could not be measured in individuals with transfemoral amputation. Further, while time between death and CT scan typically ranged between 10 and 30 days, two of the control individuals were scanned over 100 days after death. While this time delay could theoretically have influenced findings, outliers were not observed in these individuals. The authors located, to the best of our knowledge, all available scans of IWAs in the database for this study. Future work can differentiate quadriceps and hamstring atrophy, include a larger sample size to assess the generalizability of our findings as individuals are added to the database, or compare our results to CT scans of living individuals. Additionally, application of findings are limited to males. Future work could examine effects of aging or include females, particularly to examine additive effects of osteoporosis risk due to hormonal changes during menopause.

5. Conclusion

This study is currently among the largest sample sizes of musculoskeletal health in this population, and is the first to use CT scans of deceased individuals. While musculoskeletal health has been assessed in prior literature, few studies have collected anatomical properties underlying musculoskeletal health risks prevalent in this population. Findings aligned with previously reported health risks in living individuals. Residual limbs of IWAs had higher indications of muscle atrophy and fracture risk at the distal femur compared to intact limbs. IWAs, compared to control groups, had higher indications of muscle atrophy and osteoarthritis bilaterally, as well as higher indications of fracture risk at the proximal femur on the residual limb. Proactive musculoskeletal screenings, targeted rehabilitation exercises, shortening time from amputation to ambulation, and ensuring optimal prosthetic fit and alignment could help clinicians reduce these risks. Musculoskeletal adaptations from amputation and diabetes tended to show an additive effect, but were not statistically significant. Larger sample sizes and living individuals should be included in future work to assess generalizability of findings.

Acknowledgements & Funding

Thanks to Bethany Holley for identifying the majority of diabetic individuals used in this study. This project is taken in part from a dissertation submitted to the University of North Texas Health Science Center in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

The Free Access Decedent Database was funded by the National Institute of Justice grant number 2016-DN-BX-0144. MGF was supported by the National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Aging (T32 AG020494) and the Institute for Healthy Aging. CF was supported by the Summer Opportunities in Anatomy Research at the University of North Texas Health Science Center through the American Association for Anatomy Innovations Program.

References

1. Gailey R, Allen K, Castles J, Kucharik J, Roeder M. Review of secondary physical conditions associated with lower-limb amputation and long-term prosthesis use. J Rehabil Res Dev. 2008;45(1):15-29.

2. Finco MG, Kim S, Ngo W, Menegaz RA. A review of musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals following major lower-limb amputation. Journal of Musculoskeletal and Neuronal Interactions. Accepted Jan 10, 2022. In Press.

3. Lloyd CH, Stanhope SJ, Davis IS, Royer TD. Strength asymmetry and osteoarthritis risk factors in unilateral trans-tibial, amputee gait. Gait Posture. 2010;32(3):296-300.

 Sibley AR, Strike S, Moudy SC, Tillin NA. The effects of long-term muscle disuse on neuromuscular function in unilateral transtibial amputees. Experimental Physiology. 2020;105(3):408-18.

5. Finco MG, Menegaz RA. Skeletal asymmetries in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputations. Pm r. 2021.

6. Braun HJ, Gold GE. Diagnosis of osteoarthritis: Imaging. Bone. 2012;51(2):278-88.

7. Engelke K, Museyko O, Wang L, Laredo JD. Quantitative analysis of skeletal muscle by computed tomography imaging-state of the art. J Orthop Translat. 2018;15:91-103.

8. Treece GM, Gee AH. Independent measurement of femoral cortical thickness and cortical bone density using clinical ct. Med Image Anal. 2015;20(1):249-64.

 Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, Travison TG, Brookmeyer R.
 Estimating the prevalence of limb loss in the united states: 2005 to 2050. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2008;89(3):422-9.

185

10. Kim YK, Lee HS, Ryu JJ, In Lee H, Seo SG. Sarcopenia increases the risk for mortality in patients who undergo amputation for diabetic foot. J Foot Ankle Res. 2018;11:32.

Piva SR, Susko AM, Khoja SS, Josbeno DA, Fitzgerald GK, Toledo FG. Links between osteoarthritis and diabetes: Implications for management from a physical activity perspective.
 Clin Geriatr Med. 2015;31(1):67-87, viii.

12. Duarte VMG, Ramos AMO, Rezende LA, Macedo UBO, Brandão-Neto J, Almeida MG, et al. Osteopenia: A bone disorder associated with diabetes mellitus. Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism. 2005;23(1):58-68.

13. Finco MG, Moudy SC, Patterson RM. Normalized kinematic walking symmetry data for individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses: Considerations for clinical practice and future research. Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics. Accepted Nov 2, 2021. In Press.

14. Edgar HDB, S; Moes, E; Adolphi, NL; Bridges, P; Nolte, KB New mexico decedent image database: Office of the Medical Investigator, University of New Mexico; 2020

15. Fedorov A, Beichel R, Kalpathy-Cramer J, Finet J, Fillion-Robin JC, Pujol S, et al. 3d slicer as an image computing platform for the quantitative imaging network. Magn Reson Imaging. 2012;30(9):1323-41.

Doube M, Kłosowski MM, Arganda-Carreras I, Cordelières FP, Dougherty RP, Jackson
 JS, et al. Bonej: Free and extensible bone image analysis in imagej. Bone. 2010;47(6):1076-9.

17. Ncss 2021 statistical software (2021). NCSS, LLC. Kaysville, Utah, USA, ncss.com/software/ncss2021.

18. Himes JH. New equation to estimate body mass index in amputees. *J Am Diet Assoc*.
1995;95(6):646. doi:10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00175-1.

19. Welke B, Jakubowitz E, Seehaus F, Daniilidis K, Timpner M, Tremer N, et al. The prevalence of osteoarthritis: Higher risk after transfemoral amputation?—a database analysis with 1,569 amputees and matched controls. PLOS ONE. 2019;14(1):e0210868.

20. Farrokhi S, Mazzone B, Yoder A, Grant K, Wyatt M. A narrative review of the prevalence and risk factors associated with development of knee osteoarthritis after traumatic unilateral lower limb amputation. Mil Med. 2016;181(S4):38-44.

21. Araujo IL, Castro MC, Daltro C, Matos MA. Quality of life and functional independence in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2016;28(3):219-24.

22. Morgenroth DC, Gellhorn AC, Suri P. Osteoarthritis in the disabled population: A mechanical perspective. Pm r. 2012;4(5 Suppl):S20-7.

23. Isakov E, Burger H, Gregorič M, Marinček Č. Stump length as related to atrophy and strength of the thigh muscles in trans-tibial amputees. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 1996;20(2):96-100.

24. Hewson A, Dent S, Sawers A. Strength deficits in lower limb prosthesis users: A scoping review. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 2020;44(5):323-40.

25. Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. Interlimb muscle and fat comparisons in persons with lower-limb amputation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2010;91(7):1077-81.

26. Henson DP, Edgar C, Ding Z, Sivapuratharasu B, Le Feuvre P, Finnegan ME, et al.Understanding lower limb muscle volume adaptations to amputation. J Biomech.

2021;125:110599.

27. Bianchi L, Volpato S. Muscle dysfunction in type 2 diabetes: A major threat to patient's mobility and independence. Acta Diabetol. 2016;53(6):879-89.

28. Bramley JL, Worsley PR, Bader DL, Everitt C, Darekar A, King L, et al. Changes in tissue composition and load response after transtibial amputation indicate biomechanical adaptation. Ann Biomed Eng. 2021;49(12):3176-88.

29. Cavedon V, Sandri M, Peluso I, Zancanaro C, Milanese C. Body composition and bone mineral density in athletes with a physical impairment. PeerJ. 2021;9:e11296.

30. Putz C, Block J, Gantz S, Heitzmann DWW, Dreher T, Lehner B, et al. Structural changes in the thigh muscles following trans-femoral amputation. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol. 2017;27(6):829-35.

31. Kim J, Major MJ, Hafner B, Sawers A. Frequency and circumstances of falls reported by ambulatory unilateral lower limb prosthesis users: A secondary analysis. Pm r. 2019;11(4):344-5

32. Royer T, Koenig M. Joint loading and bone mineral density in persons with unilateral, trans-tibial amputation. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2005;20(10):1119-25.

33. Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. BMD and bone geometry in transtibial and transfemoral amputees. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23(9):1449-57.

34. Gosman JH, Hubbell ZR, Shaw CN, Ryan TM. Development of cortical bone geometry in the human femoral and tibial diaphysis. The Anatomical Record. 2013;296(5):774-87.

35. Haleem S, Yousaf S, Hamid T, Nagappa S, Parker MJ. Characteristics and outcomes of hip fractures in lower limb amputees. Injury. 2021;52(4):914-7.

36. Moayeri A, Mohamadpour M, Mousavi SF, Shirzadpour E, Mohamadpour S, Amraei M. Fracture risk in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and possible risk factors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2017;13:455-68.

Chapter 6 Linkage

Chapter 6 concludes the musculoskeletal section in this dissertation. This section quantified musculoskeletal symmetry in deceased individuals with amputation and discussed how findings could be used to evaluate injury risks posed by femoral fractures, hip and knee osteoarthritis, and muscle atrophy. The next section quantifies biomechanical symmetry in living individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses and discusses how findings could be used to evaluate fall risk.

SECTION 3: BIOMECHANICAL SYMMETRY

CHAPTER 7

ARE INERTIAL MEASUREMENT UNITS A VIABLE OPTION FOR INDIVIDUALS WHO USE UNILATERAL LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES?

CHAPTER 8

PRELIMINARY DATA: RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RETROSPECTIVE FALLS WITH CLINICAL OUTCOME MEASURES AND WALKING SYMMETRY IN INDIVIDUALS WHO USE LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES

CHAPTER 7

ARE INERTIAL MEASUREMENT UNITS A VIABLE OPTION FOR INDIVIDUALS WHO USE UNILATERAL LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES?

Submitted to Journal of Rehabilitation and Assistive Technologies

on September 26, 2022

MG Finco¹, Sarah C. Moudy^{1,2}, Rita M. Patterson²

¹Department of Physiology and Anatomy, University of North Texas Health Science Center,

Fort Worth, TX 76107

²Texas College of Osteopathic Medicine, University of North Texas Health Science Center,

Fort Worth, TX 76107

Abstract

<u>Introduction</u>: Inertial measurement units (IMUs) may be viable options to collect gait data in clinics. This study compared IMU to motion capture data in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses.

<u>Methods:</u> Participants walked with lower-body IMUs and reflective markers in a motion analysis space. Sagittal plane hip, knee, and ankle waveforms were extracted for the entire gait cycle. Discrete points of peak flexion, peak extension, and range of motion were extracted from the waveforms. Stance times were also extracted to assess the IMU software's accuracy at detecting gait events. IMU and motion capture-derived data were compared using absolute differences and root mean square error (RMSE).

<u>Results:</u> Five individuals (n=3 transtibial; n=2 transfermoral) participated. IMU prosthetic limb data was similar to motion capture (RMSE: waveform $\leq 5.65^{\circ}$; discrete point $\leq 9.62^{\circ}$; stance ≤ 0.10 s). However, one transfermoral participant had larger differences at the microprocessor knee joint (RMSE: waveform $\leq 13.28^{\circ}$; discrete $\leq 30.55^{\circ}$) from IMU magnetometer interference. Intact limbs tended to have minimal differences between IMU and motion capture data (RMSE: waveform $\leq 9.15^{\circ}$; discrete $\leq 9.90^{\circ}$; stance ≤ 0.03 s).

<u>Conclusion</u>: Findings suggest IMUs can collect data similar to motion capture systems in sagittal plane kinematics and stance time in this population.

Key words: amputee, validation, kinematic, prosthesis, biomechanics

Introduction

Motion capture equipment is considered the gold standard for collecting gait data, but is impractical to use in clinical practice for several reasons: high costs, lack of portability, and the need for specialized personnel.¹ Clinicians, such as prosthetists and physical therapists, evaluate prosthetic alignment and gait deviations using visual observation. Therefore, the patient's quality of rehabilitation can be subject to factors such as clinician experience, time allotted for the appointment, and patient fatigue. Existing low-cost and portable wearable sensors called inertial measurement units (IMUs) could provide an objective method for practical real-time clinical measurements of gait that could inform rehabilitation recommendations.² However, IMUs must first be compared to motion capture equipment to determine their validity in prosthetic limbs.

Numerous studies have validated IMUs against motion capture systems in healthy individuals.³ Several studies have also validated IMUs against motion capture systems in individuals with various lower-limb pathologies, such as stroke,⁴ Parkinson's Disease,⁵ and knee osteoarthritis.⁶ In individuals with unilateral lower-limb loss, recent studies have used IMUs to measure symmetry and repeatability,^{7,8} coronal plane kinematics,⁹ pose estimation,¹⁰ sensory feedback,¹¹ spatiotemporal parameters (e.g. stance time),¹² walking speed in daily life,¹³ and compare IMU algorithms to detect gait events.^{14–17} However, no previous literature has directly compared IMU-derived data to motion capture in individuals who use lower-limb prostheses, aside from a 2014 case study in a transfemoral user that found IMU-derived knee and ankle flexion data was within 4 degrees of motion capture data.¹⁸ Comparison of IMU-derived data to motion capture in this population can provide supporting evidence for use in prosthetic practice, provide comparisons for

future IMU-derived data to motion capture data from previous studies, and ensure prosthetic componentry does not interfere with IMU data collection.

Lower-limb kinematic (e.g. joint angle) and stance time data have been associated with adverse clinical events, such as falls, in individuals who use lower-limb prostheses.¹⁹ However, these gait parameters rely on force plates or motion capture gait event detection to calculate,²⁰ which makes data collection in clinics infeasible. Commercially available IMUs have the ability to detect gait events, yet no research has directly compared these data to motion capture. The ability to measure lower-limb sagittal plane kinematics and stance time of prosthesis users in clinical practice could aid prosthetists and physical therapists with decisions regarding prosthetic alignment, targeted rehabilitation exercises, and potentially insurance justification.

Therefore, IMU-derived kinematic and temporal data were compared to motion capture in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses. Based on a recent meta-analysis in healthy controls,³ we hypothesized IMU data on prosthetic limb, compared to motion capture, would show: 1) full gait cycle waveform root mean square errors at the hip, knee, and ankle $\leq 5.0^{\circ}$, 2) peak parameters at the hip, knee, and ankle $\leq 15.0^{\circ}$, and 3) stance durations ≤ 0.02 seconds (s). Findings could support the use of IMUs in clinical practice to collect lower-limb sagittal plane kinematics and stance time in this population.

Methods

Participants:

This study was approved under the North Texas Regional Institutional Review Board (#2020-048). Individuals who use unilateral transtibial or transfemoral prostheses were recruited from prosthetic clinics in the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex to complete a single visit at the University of North Texas Health Science Center. Individuals were included if they were: between the ages of 18 and 95 years, walking with a prosthesis for at least one year, and able to walk independently for at least five minutes or 100 yards. Individuals were excluded if they had: pain, open wounds or discomfort on their lower limbs or trunk on the day of testing, limb loss or deficiency on other limbs, major musculoskeletal injury or surgery in the last year besides amputation or revision, or other comorbidities that would make standing, turning, or walking unsafe. All participants provided written informed consent to voluntarily participate, and permission to use images.

Equipment:

Seven IMU sensors (iSen, STT Systems, San Sebastian, Spain) were used in this study to collect and store lower-body IMU data within iSen software. Each IMU (46g) had a tri-axial accelerometer ($\pm 16g$), gyroscope ($\pm 2000^{\circ}/s$), and magnetometer ($\pm 13G$) with company-reported pitch/roll accuracy within 0.5° and heading accuracy within 2.0°. A 14-camera motion capture system (Cortex, Motion Analysis Corp, Santa Rosa, CA) was used to collect and store data from 32 reflective markers using a modified full-body Helen-Hayes marker set. All data was collected at a sampling rate of 100Hz.

Data Collection:

Demographic data were collected and managed using Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) software hosted at the University of North Texas Health Science Center.^{21–23}

Participants also completed the following clinical outcome measures: Socket Comfort Score (SCS), Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility 12-Item Short Form (PLUS-M), and Amputee Mobility Predictor with Prosthesis (AMPPRO). Researchers placed IMUs and reflective markers on participants as shown in Figure 1.



<u>Figure 1:</u> Equipment placement. Panels A and B depict the location of reflective markers (mint green circles) and IMUs (dark blue squares) on from anterior and posterior views. Panels C and D depict locations of reflective markers and IMUs on a participant. Abbreviations: STER= sternum; RSHO= right shoulder; LSHO= left shoulder; XYPH= xyphoid, LNAV= left offset navel; RASIS= right anterior superior iliac spine; LASIS= left anterior superior iliac spine; RGTR= right greater trochanter; LGTR= left greater trochanter; RTHI= right thigh; LTHI= left thigh; RKMED= right knee medial; LKMED= left knee medial; RKLAT= right knee lateral; LKLAT= left knee lateral; RSHA= right shank; LSHA= left shank; RAMED= right ankle medial; LAMED= left ankle

medial; RALAT= right ankle lateral; LALAT= left ankle lateral; RMET= right base of fifth metatarsal; LMET= left base of fifth metatarsal; RTOE= right toe; LTOE= left toe; C7= seventh cervical vertebrae; RSCAP= right scapula; RPSIS= right posterior superior iliac spine; LPSIS= left posterior superior iliac spine; SACR= sacrum; RHEE= right heel; LHEEL= left heel.

IMUs were secured to each participant as recommended by STT Systems for the lower-body model: one on the sacrum, one on each thigh, one on each shank, and one on each foot. IMUs were secured to body segments with elastic straps provided by STT Systems, excluding foot IMUs, which were secured directly to the dorsal aspect of the shoe with velcro. Additionally, for transfemoral prosthetic limbs, the thigh IMU was secured directly to the prosthesis using self-adherent wrap (Coban 1580 Series, 3MTM, Saint Paul, MN) to prevent slippage. IMUs and reflective markers on the prosthetic limb were matched to the placement of the intact limb. Participants walked across 6 meters of level ground at their self-selected habitual walking speed for five trials.

Data analysis:

Figure 2 depicts the process used for data analysis. IMU data was processed to calculate joint angles and gait event detection within proprietary iSen software provided by STT Systems and exported to MATLAB for analysis. Motion capture data was processed using a custom MATLAB code based on Cortex definitions to derive joint angle data [Supplemental Document 1], with means and standard deviations in Supplemental Table 1. IMU and motion capture data were time-aligned and vertically aligned. Time alignment was necessary to ensure IMU and motion capture data different times. Vertical alignment was necessary to minimize the effects of magnitude shifts, since IMUs

can be subject to drift and were calibrated to 0 degrees at the start of each walking trial. For example, if the knees were slightly flexed 2 degrees during calibration, then the IMU calibration considered the 2 degrees of flexion as 0 degrees. While this error was minimized as much as possible by manually inspecting the participant at calibration, this is a limitation of utilizing IMUs with this type of calibration. Alignments were manually confirmed by MGF.



<u>Figure 2:</u> Data processing. The flow of IMU (dark blue) and motion capture (mint green) data processing. The left hip sagittal plane joint angles from a walking trial of a representative participant was used as an example. Data was exported to MATLAB (Panel A), time-aligned (Panel B), and vertically aligned (Panel C). Then, the middle step was extracted using initial contact gait events (Panel D). All data was processed using a custom MATLAB code and confirmed by visual inspection.

Three of the participant's five walking trials were selected for analysis. Typically, the first three trials were selected due to the last two trials showing evidence of IMU slippage distally on the thigh segment. Once three walking trials were selected, the middle step of each limb from each trial was extracted to minimize effects from the participant accelerating or decelerating, and to minimize IMU drift or distal slippage that tended to occur towards the end of the walking trial.

The step, for both IMU and motion capture-derived data, was defined as occurring between two initial contact events. For IMU-derived data, the step was extracted based on the automatic detection of gait events identified within iSen IMU software. Additionally, toe-off events were needed to calculate single and double limb support times, which were also automatically detected within iSen IMU software. For motion capture-derived data, the step was extracted based on the maximum distance between the sacrum marker and heel marker for each limb, and toe-off events to calculate single and double limb support times were extracted using the minimum distance between the toe marker for each limb and the sacrum marker.²⁴ MGF visually confirmed all gait events and cut steps were appropriate.

Lower-limb sagittal plane kinematic and stance time parameters were extracted from each cut step. Lower-limb sagittal plane waveforms at the hip, knee, and ankle, as well as peak flexion and extension values were extracted across the entire gait cycle. Range of motion was calculated from peak flexion and extension values. Stance time parameters included single and double limb support times for both prosthetic and intact limbs. These parameters were extracted from the middle step of three walking trials, then averaged. IMU and motion capture-derived data were then compared by calculating absolute differences in seconds and degrees. Additionally, root mean square error (RMSE) across the entire waveform and at discrete points of peak flexion and extension at the hip, knee, and ankle during the entire gait cycle were also calculated. Throughout this manuscript, error and RMSE are defined as the difference between the IMU and motion capture data.

Results

Five individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses (n=3 transtibial users; n=2 transfemoral users) participated in this study. Demographic characteristics are reported in Table 1. K-levels were determined based on normative AMP-PRO scores and prosthetic componentry. Absolute differences and group (transtibial and transfemoral) RMSE of discrete points between IMU and motion capture-derived data are reported for each participant in Table 2. Average RMSE values between IMU and motion capture-derived waveform data are reported for each participant in Table 3. Joint angle waveforms are depicted with RMSE values across the entire gait cycle for transtibial users in Fig 3 and transfemoral users in Figure 4.

Table 1: Participant Demographics

Participant	1	2	3	4	5
Age (yrs)	62.42	34.83	62.08	38.75	37.08
Height (cm)	185.42	172.72	182.88	167.64	167.64
Weight (kg)	141.52	56.70	72.12	89.58	54.43
Sex	М	F	М	М	F
TSA (yrs)	12.0	2.5	6.0	37.0	7.0
Etiology	Trauma	Trauma	Vascular	Congenital	Cancer
Res Limb Length (cm)	18.00	21.00	18.60	17.78	20.32
Level of Prosthesis	TT	TT	TT	TF	TF
K-Level	K3	K3	K2	К3	K3
Walking Speed (m/s)	0.64	0.63	0.65	0.77	1.06
SCS (out of 10)	7	8	9	9	7
PLUS-M	54	56	50	49	51

12-Item					
T-score					
AMPPRO	40	42	41	41	42
Time Using					
Prosthesis	9.0	3.0	5.5	1.0	3.0
(years)					
	Ossur Proflex foot;	Fillauer AllPro Sport	Kinterra K2 foot;	Ossur Powered Knee with	Ottobock C-leg 4 knee;
Components	vacuum suspension	foot; suction	suction	Ossur Cheetah Xplore foot;	Fillauer AllPro foot;
and Shoos	with a total of 8 ply	suspension with 2 ply	suspension with 1	Iceross 5-ring suction	magnetic system with
and Shoes	socks; Merrell tennis	socks and sleeve;	ply sock; Bicanno	suspension with 0 sock ply;	vaccuum suspension;
	shoes	Adidas tennis shoes	tennis shoes	Brooks tennis shoes	Brooks tennis shoes

Table 1: Participant demographics. <u>Abbreviations:</u> M= male; F= female; TSA- time since amputation; TT= transtibial; TF= transfemoral; SCS= Socket Comfort Score; PLUS-M= Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility; AMPPRO= Amputee Mobility Predictor; TUG= Timed Up Go. Manufacturers: Liner manufacturer: Iceross (Ossur, Reykjavik, Iceland). and manufacturers: Knee Powered Knee (Ossur, Reykjavik, Iceland); (Ottobock, Duderstadt, C-leg Germany); Foot manufacturers: Foot manufacturers: Kinterra (Freedom Innovations, CA, USA); Cheetah Xplore, ProFlex (Ossur, Reykjavik, Iceland); AllPro (Fillauer, Sollentuna, Sweden).

		Transtibial				Transf		
		Participant 1	Participant 2	Participant 3	RMSE	Participant 4	Participant 5	RMSE
	Double Limb Support (s)	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.08	0.01	0.01	0.03
Intact Limb	Single Limb Support (s)	0.07	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.02
	Peak Hip Flex (∘)	0.56	1.20	2.39	2.23	9.47	0.87	0.97
	Peak Hip Ext (∘)	1.43	1.39	2.22	2.04	10.27	1.02	1.17
	Overall Hip ROM (°)	0.87	0.20	4.61	4.14	19.76	1.89	1.93
	Peak Knee Flex (∘)	22.47	3.60	3.76	4.07	7.69	0.78	1.00
	Peak Knee Ext (°)	0.97	6.59	0.80	4.56	1.19	0.94	1.02
	Overall Knee ROM (°)	21.02	10.17	7.59	8.52	8.88	0.17	0.72
	Peak Ankle DF (°)	5.06	0.63	2.53	2.63	0.27	2.05	2.39
	Peak Ankle PF (°)	3.57	0.99	1.54	5.08	5.52	7.26	7.64
	Overall Ankle ROM (°)	8.63	0.36	0.99	3.13	5.79	9.31	9.90
Prosthetic Limb	Single Limb Support (s)	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.10
	Peak Hip Flex (°)	3.04	3.79	0.17	0.71	3.58	6.30	6.07
	Peak Hip Ext (°)	1.15	4.47	3.40	3.68	8.16	1.93	3.43
	Overall Hip ROM (°)	1.88	8.27	3.57	3.86	11.74	4.38	2.72
	Peak Knee Flex (∘)	5.25	0.68	7.37	7.57	9.76	1.79	2.76
	Peak Knee Ext (∘)	2.00	0.92	0.69	2.09	6.13	29.86	30.55
	Overall Knee ROM (°)	7.25	0.23	9.38	9.62	15.90	28.07	28.08
	Peak Ankle DF (°)	2.69	4.70	1.39	1.55	0.37	1.65	2.60
	Peak Ankle PF (°)	2.21	6.69	2.50	2.78	0.57	0.97	3.19
	Overall Ankle ROM (°)	4.89	0.23	3.88	4.27	0.21	5.26	5.70

Table 2: Discrete Point Absolute Differences and RMSE

Table 2: Absolute differences in seconds (s) and degrees (•) for each participant. Root mean square error (RMSE) in seconds (s) and degrees (•) for each group (transtibial and transfemoral). All values are an average of three walking trials. Abbreviations: Max= maximum, DF= dorsiflexion; PF= plantarflexion; ROM= range of motion, Flex= flexion, Ext= extension.

			Transtibial			Transfemoral		
			Participant 1	Participant 2	Participant 3	Participant 4	Participant 5	
RMSE	Intact Limb	Hip (∘)	3.59	1.81	1.56	9.15	1.76	
		Knee (°)	5.85	0.95	2.45	7.81	1.85	
		Ankle (°)	3.17	2.33	2.62	2.35	3.49	
	Prosthetic Limb	Hip (∘)	1.66	2.69	2.80	4.72	4.18	
		Knee (°)	2.02	4.95	3.19	5.65	13.28	
		Ankle (°)	1.83	1.96	1.24	0.98	1.67	

Table 3: Waveform Average RMSE Values

Table 3: Average root mean square error (RMSE) values in degrees (•) for each participant over the entire gait cycle.



<u>Figure 3:</u> Transtibial participant waveform data. Normalized to 100% of the gait cycle for each participant that used a transtibial prosthesis. Abbreviations: INT= intact limb; PROS= prosthetic limb; RMSE= root mean square error.



<u>Figure 4:</u> Transfemoral participant waveform data. Normalized to 100% of the gait cycle for both participants that used a transfemoral prosthesis. Abbreviations: INT= intact limb; PROS= prosthetic limb; RMSE= root mean square error.

Transtibial Participants

Prosthetic limbs

Waveforms of prosthetic limbs in transtibial participants had RMSEs of $\leq 4.95^{\circ}$ (Table 3) at hip, knee, and ankle joints. All three transtibial participants showed the highest prosthetic limb error at the knee joint (RMSEs 2.02°, 4.95°, and 3.19°, respectively), as opposed to hip or ankle joints (Table 3), driven by differences in maximum knee flexion values (Table 2, Figure 3). Double limb
support times had RMSEs of ≤ 0.08 s. For prosthetic limb support time, Participant 1 had a larger absolute difference (0.04s) than Participants 2 and 3 (0.01s, and 0.02s, respectively) (Table 2).

Intact limbs

Intact limbs tended to have higher error values than prosthetic limbs. With the exception of Participant 1's knee waveform (RMSEs $\leq 5.85^{\circ}$), intact limbs had RMSEs $\leq 2.45^{\circ}$ (Table 3, Figure 3). All three transtibial participants showed the highest intact limb RMSEs at the knee joint, as opposed to hip or ankle joints. These were driven by differences in maximum knee flexion values for Participants 1 and 3, and maximum knee extension values for Participant 2 (Table 2, Figure 3). Participant 1 had a larger absolute difference in intact limb support time (0.07s) than Participants 2 and 3 (0.01s and 0.02s, respectively) (Table 2).

Transfemoral Participants

Prosthetic limbs

For both transfermoral participants, hip, knee, and ankle waveform RMSEs were all $\leq 9.15^{\circ}$ (Table 3, Figure 4). However, Participant 5's prosthetic knee joint had higher error values of RMSE $\leq 13.28^{\circ}$, driven by differences in maximum knee extension values (Table 2, Figure 4). These higher prosthetic knee joint RMSEs in Participant 5 were caused by magnetometer interference, detailed in the discussion. Double limb support times had RMSEs of ≤ 0.03 s and prosthetic limb support times had RMSEs of ≤ 0.10 s (Table 2).

Intact limbs

Intact limbs tended to have higher error values than prosthetic limbs, particularly at the ankle joint (RMSEs $\leq 3.49^{\circ}$) (Table 3, Figure 4). Higher RMSE in ankle range of motion were driven by maximum ankle plantarflexion values (Table 2, Figure 4). Intact limb support times had RMSEs of $\leq 0.02s$ (Table 2).

Discussion

To our knowledge, this was the first study to directly compare gait data between IMUs and motion capture systems in unilateral lower-limb prosthesis users. IMUs provided similar prosthetic limb data compared to motion capture, with the exception of the microprocessor prosthetic knee joint in one transfemoral user due to magnetometer interference. Additionally, prosthetic limb RMSE tended to be less than intact limb RMSE and previous control data, which could be explained by: 1) differences in how the IMUs were secured to each limb (prosthetic with direct velcro and selfadherent wrap; intact with elastic straps), or 2) intact limb skin and muscle motion that does not occur on the prosthesis. Potentially for similar reasons, lower-limb kinematic IMU data was more similar to motion capture in the stance phase than the swing phase. Participant 1 had higher intact limb RMSE than the other two transtibial users, which may have been due to more IMU slippage and anatomical motion due to larger weight. Participant 4, a transfemoral user, had higher hip RMSE bilaterally compared to all other participants, which may have been due to increased compensatory motions from using a prosthesis from an age of two years old (as noted by the greatest time since amputation in Table 1). Overall, findings from this case series indicate IMUs could collect lower-limb sagittal plane kinematic and stance time data to inform rehabilitation. However, data across participants tended to vary widely, so comparisons across participants should be made with caution. Future studies should include a larger sample size to determine if findings

are generalizable to a larger population of unilateral lower-limb prosthesis users. The portability of IMUs could allow researchers to include participants that have been underrepresented in gait literature (e.g. diabetes, older in age, less active) to better reflect the overall population of lower-limb prosthesis users.^{20,25}

Prosthetic Limbs Compared to Previous Control Data

Prosthetic limbs had similar or less RMSE than healthy control participants in previous studies. A clinical threshold of 5 degrees (°) of error has been used for motion capture systems and recently applied to IMUs.^{26,27} Recent meta-analysis³ found multi-sensor waveform RMSEs in healthy controls at the hip $(2.7 - 6.3^{\circ})$,^{28–31} knee $(0.7 - 4.6^{\circ})$,^{28–30,32,33} and ankle $(4.0 - 7.8^{\circ})$.^{28–30,33} Compared to these values, prosthetic limbs in this study showed similar or lower RMSEs in transtibial participants at the hip $(1.66 - 2.80^\circ)$, knee $(2.02 - 4.95^\circ)$, and ankle $(1.24 - 1.96^\circ)$, and transfermoral participants at the hip $(4.18 - 4.72^\circ)$, and ankle $(0.98^\circ - 1.67^\circ)$. However, transfemoral participant RMSEs at the prosthetic knee tended to be higher than previous control data (5.65° - 13.28°). Discrete points of peak flexion and extension RMSE in control limbs at each joint have ranged 2.7 - 15°.^{34,35} Prosthetic limbs in this case series had similar or lower RMSEs of $1.55 - 9.38^\circ$, with the exception of the transfermoral prosthetic knee joint ($\leq 30.55^\circ$) of Participant 5 due to magnetometer interference with the microprocessor knee. In the same meta-analysis, IMU single limb support times were 0.02s.^{28,36–38} These values aligned with prosthetic limb support times in this case series of all participants (0.01s - 0.02s) except Participant 1 (0.07s), potentially due to increased IMU slippage and motion in the anatomical limb discussed later.

Prosthetic Limbs Compared to Intact Limbs

Control limb data mentioned above was similar to intact limb data in this case series. Therefore, prosthetic limbs also had similar or less RMSE than intact limbs, which may have been influenced by how the IMUs were secured to each limb. IMUs on the intact limb were typically secured using STT systems' recommended method of elastic straps, which allowed more slippage distally and movement between the IMU and individual's body segment. However, IMUs on the prosthetic limb were typically secured directly to the prosthesis with veloro and then wrapped tightly in self-adherent wrap to prevent slippage. Additionally, anatomical limbs produce skin and muscle motions that do not occur on the prosthesis. These findings are supported by a 2014 case study of a single transfemoral user that suggested the participant's intact limb RMSE was nearly four times higher than prosthetic limb RMSE due to skin and muscle motions.¹⁸

Transtibial Participant Comparisons

Participant 1 had the most conically shaped thigh of all participants, so increased IMU slippage down the thigh and anatomical motion could explain why they had higher RMSE values, particularly at the intact knee joint, than the other two transtibial participants. Of the three transtibial participants, Participant 2 was the youngest and had the highest mobility based on their PLUM-12 score, potentially explaining why they had the least RMSE at all joints. Participant 3 was the only participant that used a K2 level foot, which is classified by Medicare as typical for the limited community ambulator.³⁹ This difference in foot componentry may explain why Participant 3 had higher prosthetic limb RMSE at the knee and hip. They may have employed proximal compensation strategies to ensure prosthetic foot clearance, as well as intact limb compensations due to the reduced range of motion available in the prosthetic foot.

Transfemoral Participant Comparisons

The only study that has previously compared lower-limb sagittal plane kinematics between IMUs and motion capture was a 2014 case study that reported knee and ankle RMSEs in one transfemoral prosthesis user.¹⁸ Compared to knee error in the 2014 case study (RMSEs: prosthetic $\leq 1.0^{\circ}$; intact $\leq 4.0^{\circ}$), participants in this case series had higher prosthetic knee error (RMSE $\leq 13.28^{\circ}$) and intact knee error (RMSE $\leq 7.81^{\circ}$). Additionally, compared to ankle error in the 2014 case study (RMSE $\leq 2.0^{\circ}$ at the prosthetic and intact ankle), transfemoral participants in this case series had similar prosthetic ankle error (RMSEs $\leq 1.67^{\circ}$) but higher intact ankle error (RMSEs $\leq 3.47^{\circ}$). These differences between the 2014 case study and this case series may have been due to differences in IMU systems. Differences may have also been due to prosthetic foot componentry, as the prosthetic knee was the same as Participant 5, and the 2014 case study did not list the participant's prosthetic foot.

Participant 4 had larger differences between IMU and motion capture data during hip range of motion compared to all other participants, potentially due to proximal compensatory strategies from congenital prosthesis use. Further, Participant 5 had a large RMSE at the prosthetic knee joint due to a technical issue with the IMU magnetometer. The IMU magnetometers were disabled in Participants 4 and 5 to avoid interference with the microprocessor knees. Upon data analysis, MGF found the prosthetic knee data still looked as if the magnetometers were enabled, so data files were sent to the IMU company, iSen, for inspection. iSen staff concluded there still appeared to be magnetic interference, but could not explain why, since the display showed the magnetometers were disabled. After troubleshooting, our research group at the University of North Texas Health Science Center found the disabling of the magnetometers only took effect if data collection was

initiated with the magnetometers disabled. Participant 4 was able to come in for retesting, while Participant 5 could not be retested due to time constraints. Thus, Participant 4's data was collected with the magnetometers actually disabled, while Participant 5's data was collected while the system incorrectly showed the magnetometers were disabled.

Limitations and Future Work

For clinical use, while the user interface was generally intuitive, experience with biomechanics data was still required in order to process and interpret IMU data. A second limitation is that motion capture data was collected using a marker set and modeling technique that makes inherent assumptions regarding body segments that do not typically hold true for prostheses (e.g. body segment lengths remain constant during movement). ^{40,41} However, differences between IMU and motion capture-derived data were present on both intact and prosthetic limbs, and RMSEs were typically higher in intact limbs compared to prosthetic limbs. This suggests both intact limb and prosthetic limb data was similarly represented, regardless of the motion capture marker set and modeling techniques used in this case series.

Future studies should include more participants to determine if our findings are generalizable to a larger sample of unilateral and bilateral lower-limb prosthesis users. Future work could also determine if IMU RMSEs are influenced by: the method in which they are secured to body segments (e.g. elastic strap compared to direct velcro), motion capture marker modeling techniques, or IMU company. These future directions could help inform a recommended clinical data collection protocol.

Conclusions

Findings from this case series suggest IMUs are capable of providing lower-limb kinematic and stance time data comparable to motion capture systems. Prosthetic limbs tended to have less error than intact limbs or previous control limb data, potentially due to increased movement of the IMUs on anatomical limbs. We suspect for similar reasons, IMU-derived lower-limb kinematic data tended to be more similar to motion capture-derived data in stance than swing. However, error varied across participants, suggesting comparisons within individuals may be more accurate. Future studies should include larger sample sizes to assess generalizability of findings in this case series. Clinicians and researchers could eventually use IMUs to collect gait data that better reflects real-world conditions in prosthesis users to help inform rehabilitation.

Declarations

Conflicting interests: The authors declare that they have no conflicting interests.

<u>Funding</u>: MGF was supported by the National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Aging (T32 AG020494) and the Institute for Healthy Aging. This project was supported by an American Orthotics and Prosthetics Association research award administered by the Center for Orthotic and Prosthetic Learning and Outcomes/Evidence-Based Practice.

Guarantor: MGF

<u>Contributorship</u>: Conceptualization: SCM, RMP; Data Curation: MGF; Formal Analysis: MGF; Funding Acquisition: MGF, SCM; Investigation: MGF; Methodology: SCM, RMP; Project Administration: MGF: Software: MGF, SCM; Supervision: SCM, RMP; Resources: RMP; Visualization: MGF; Writing- Original Draft Preparation: MGF; Writing- Review and Editing: SCM, RMP.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Tasha Buxton and Shawn Kennedy for assisting with data collection. Thanks also to Cody Logenbaugh at Baker Orthotics and Prosthetics and Mark Ashford at Hanger Clinic for their help with participant recruitment. This project is taken in part from a dissertation MGF submitted to the University of North Texas Health Science Center in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

References

1. Gard, SA. Use of Quantitative Gait Analysis for the Evaluation of Prosthetic Walking Performance. *J Prosthet Orthot* 2006; 18: 93–104.

2. Iosa M, Picerno P, Paolucci S, et al. Wearable inertial sensors for human movement analysis. *Expert Review of Medical Devices* 2016; 13: 641–659.

3. Kobsar D, Charlton JM, Tse CTF, et al. Validity and reliability of wearable inertial sensors in healthy adult walking: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J NeuroEngineering Rehabil* 2020; 17: 62.

4. Feuvrier F, Sijobert B, Azevedo C, et al. Inertial measurement unit compared to an optical motion capturing system in post-stroke individuals with foot-drop syndrome. *Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine* 2020; 63: 195–201.

5. Romijnders R, Warmerdam E, Hansen C, et al. Validation of IMU-based gait event detection during curved walking and turning in older adults and Parkinson's Disease patients. *J NeuroEngineering Rehabil* 2021; 18: 28.

6. Hafer JF, Provenzano SG, Kern KL, et al. Measuring markers of aging and knee osteoarthritis gait using inertial measurement units. *Journal of Biomechanics* 2020; 99: 109567.

7. Valle MS, Casabona A, Sapienza I, et al. Use of a Single Wearable Sensor to Evaluate the Effects of Gait and Pelvis Asymmetries on the Components of the Timed Up and Go Test, in Persons with Unilateral Lower Limb Amputation. *Sensors* 2021; 22: 95.

8. Clemens S, Kim KJ, Gailey R, et al. Inertial sensor-based measures of gait symmetry and repeatability in people with unilateral lower limb amputation. *Clinical Biomechanics* 2020; 72: 102–107.

9. Leijendekkers RA, Hoogeboom TJ, van Hinte G, et al. Reproducibility and discriminant validity of two clinically feasible measurement methods to obtain coronal plane gait kinematics in participants with a lower extremity amputation. *PLoS ONE* 2019; 14: e0217046.

10. Duraffourg, Bonnet, Dauriac, et al. Real Time Estimation of the Pose of a Lower Limb Prosthesis from a Single Shank Mounted IMU. *Sensors* 2019; 19: 2865.

11. Keri M-I, Shehata AW, Marasco PD, et al. A Cost-Effective Inertial Measurement System for Tracking Movement and Triggering Kinesthetic Feedback in Lower-Limb Prosthesis Users. *Sensors* 2021; 21: 1844.

12. Houdijk H, Appelman FM, Van Velzen JM, et al. Validity of DynaPort GaitMonitor for assessment of spatiotemporal parameters in amputee gait. *JRRD* 2008; 45: 1335.

13. Kim J, Colabianchi N, Wensman J, et al. Wearable Sensors Quantify Mobility in People
With Lower Limb Amputation During Daily Life. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng* 2020;
28: 1282–1291.

14. Simonetti E, Villa C, Bascou J, et al. Gait event detection using inertial measurement
units in people with transfemoral amputation: a comparative study. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 2020;
58: 461–470.

15. Maqbool HF, Husman MAB, Awad MI, et al. Heuristic Real-Time Detection of Temporal Gait Events for Lower Limb Amputees. *IEEE Sensors J* 2019; 19: 3138–3148.

16. Ledoux ED. Inertial Sensing for Gait Event Detection and Transfemoral Prosthesis Control Strategy. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng* 2018; 65: 2704–2712.

17. Bastas G, Fleck JJ, Peters RA, et al. IMU-based gait analysis in lower limb prosthesis users: Comparison of step demarcation algorithms. *Gait & Posture* 2018; 64: 30–37.

 Seel T, Raisch J, Schauer T. IMU-Based Joint Angle Measurement for Gait Analysis. Sensors 2014; 14: 6891–6909.

19. Schafer ZA, Perry JL, Vanicek N. A personalized exercise programme for individuals with lower limb amputation reduces falls and improves gait biomechanics: a block randomized controlled trial. *Gait Posture*. 2018;63:282–9.

20. MG Finco, Sarah Moudy, Rita Patterson. Normalized Kinematic Walking Symmetry Data for Individuals Who Use Lower-Limb Prostheses: Considerations for Clinical Practice and Future Research. *JPO*. 2022. Online First.

https://journals.lww.com/jpojournal/Fulltext/9900/Normalized_Kinematic_Walking_Symmetry_ Data_for.7.aspx (2022).

 Obeid JS, McGraw CA, Minor BL, et al. Procurement of shared data instruments for Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap). *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 2013; 46: 259– 265.

22. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, et al. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 2009; 42: 377–381.

23. Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, et al. The REDCap consortium: Building an international community of software platform partners. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 2019; 95: 103208.

Zeni JA, Richards JG, Higginson JS. Two simple methods for determining gait events during treadmill and overground walking using kinematic data. *Gait & Posture* 2008; 27: 710–714.

 Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, et al. Estimating the Prevalence of Limb Loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2008; 89: 422–429.

26. Berner K, Cockcroft J, Morris LD, et al. Concurrent validity and within-session reliability of gait kinematics measured using an inertial motion capture system with repeated calibration. *Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies* 2020; 24: 251–260.

27. McGinley JL, Baker R, Wolfe R, et al. The reliability of three-dimensional kinematic gait measurements: A systematic review. *Gait & Posture* 2009; 29: 360–369.

28. Teufl W, Lorenz M, Miezal M, et al. Towards Inertial Sensor Based Mobile Gait Analysis: Event-Detection and Spatio-Temporal Parameters. *Sensors* 2018; 19: 38.

29. Lebel K, Boissy P, Nguyen H, et al. Inertial measurement systems for segments and joints kinematics assessment: towards an understanding of the variations in sensor accuracy. *BioMed Eng OnLine* 2017; 16: 56.

30. Karatsidis A, Jung M, Schepers HM, et al. Musculoskeletal model-based inverse dynamic analysis under ambulatory conditions using inertial motion capture. *Medical Engineering & Physics* 2019; 65: 68–77.

31. Ohtaki Y, Sagawa K, Inooka H. A Method for Gait Analysis in a Daily Living Environment by Body-Mounted Instruments. *JSME Int J, Ser C* 2001; 44: 1125–1132.

32. Cooper G, Sheret I, McMillian L, et al. Inertial sensor-based knee flexion/extension angle estimation. *Journal of Biomechanics* 2009; 42: 2678–2685.

33. Zhang J-T, Novak AC, Brouwer B, et al. Concurrent validation of Xsens MVN measurement of lower limb joint angular kinematics. *Physiol Meas* 2013; 34: N63–N69.

34. Nüesch C, Roos E, Pagenstert G, et al. Measuring joint kinematics of treadmill walking and running: Comparison between an inertial sensor based system and a camera-based system. *Journal of Biomechanics* 2017; 57: 32–38.

35. Jaysrichai T, Suputtitada A, Khovidhungij W. Mobile Sensor Application for Kinematic Detection of the Knees. *Ann Rehabil Med* 2015; 39: 599.

36. Allseits E, Lučarević J, Gailey R, et al. The development and concurrent validity of a real-time algorithm for temporal gait analysis using inertial measurement units. *Journal of Biomechanics* 2017; 55: 27–33.

37. Maffiuletti NA, Gorelick M, Kramers-de Quervain I, et al. Concurrent validity and intrasession reliability of the IDEEA accelerometry system for the quantification of spatiotemporal gait parameters. *Gait & Posture* 2008; 27: 160–163.

Sejdic E, Lowry KA, Bellanca J, et al. Extraction of Stride Events From Gait
 Accelerometry During Treadmill Walking. *IEEE J Transl Eng Health Med* 2016; 4: 1–11.

39. Balk E, Gazula, A MG. Table 1, Lower limb extremity prosthesis Medicare Functional Classification Levels (K levels). In: *Lower Limb Prostheses: Measurement Instruments, Comparison of Component Effects by Subgroups, and Long-Term Outcomes*. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US),

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK531517/table/ch2.tab1/.

40. Sawers AB, Hahn ME. The Potential for Error With Use of Inverse Dynamic Calculations in Gait Analysis of Individuals With Lower Limb Loss: A Review of Model Selection and Assumptions. *JPO Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics* 2010; 22: 56–61.

DA Winter. Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement. Hoboken: John
 Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2005.

Chapter 7 Linkage

Chapter 7 indicated the inertial measurement unit-derived data was similar to motion capture equipment in the parameters we intended to measure in Chapter 8 (stance time, sagittal plane kinematics at the ankle, knee, and hip). Thus, Chapter 7 provided evidence supporting our inertial measurement units could be used to carry out the study presented in Chapter 8. Chapter 8 will determine if inertial measurement units could supplement clinical outcome measures to evaluate fall risk. While the majority of data from Chapter 8 has been processed, we are awaiting 6-month prospective fall data from participants. Therefore, Chapter 8 presents preliminary results from the retrospective fall data.

CHAPTER 8

PRELIMINARY DATA: RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN RETROSPECTIVE FALLS WITH CLINICAL OUTCOME MEASURES AND WALKING SYMMETRY IN INDIVIDUALS WHO USE LOWER-LIMB PROSTHESES

MG Finco¹, Cody L. McDonald,² Rita M. Patterson,³ Sarah C. Moudy^{1,3}

 ¹Department of Anatomy and Physiology, University of North Texas Health Science Center, 3500 Camp Bowie Blvd, Fort Worth, TX, USA
 ²Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Washington, TX, USA
 ³Department of Family and Osteopathic Medicine, University of North Texas Health Science Center, 3500 Camp Bowie Blvd, Fort Worth, TX, USA

Abstract

<u>Background:</u> Despite technological advancements in healthcare, preventable overuse injuries, falls, and related detrimental secondary health effects remain treated post-occurrence rather than proactively identified and prevented. Among individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses, falls have been associated with decreased walking symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs. However, the relationship between falls and walking symmetry has not been directly determined. This study sought to determine if walking symmetry could distinguish non-fallers from fallers.

<u>Methods</u>: At the time of this dissertation, twenty-two participants who use a unilateral transtibial or transfemoral prosthesis were asked if they had fallen over the past year, completed clinical outcome measures (e.g. Timed Up and Go), and walked over level ground at their self-selected habitual walking speed with wearable sensors that collected kinematic and kinetic data. Walking symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs was calculated overall and for peak ranges of motion at the hip, knee, and ankle, as well as peak ground reaction force during braking and propulsion. After the study visit, participants also reported number of falls every two weeks for a total of 6 months, but this data is still being acquired. Mann-Whitney U tests were used to assess statistical significance between retrospective non-fallers and fallers, and this analysis will be repeated with the prospective data.

<u>Results</u>: The Four Square Step Test was the only parameters that distinguished retrospective nonfallers and fallers (p = 0.040).

<u>Conclusion:</u> Findings can help determine which clinical outcome measure scores or gait asymmetry parameters, if any, could be clinically useful indicators to screen for fall risk in this population.

Introduction

Falls are prevalent in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses. Community-dwelling adults 18+ years of age with lower-limb amputation have similar or higher fall risks compared to older adults 65+ years of age without amputation.^{1,2} Further, over 58% of individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses fall per year, and up to 39% report multiple falls.^{3–5} Falls in this population have been associated with injury,^{2,3,5–7} decreased mobility,^{8,9} and decreased quality of life.¹⁰ Despite this knowledge, this population is still not effectively screened for fall risk,^{11,12} and falls continue to be one of the most common concerns in this population.^{13,14}

The relationship between falls and gait symmetry has not been directly determined. Studies have examined the relationship between fall occurrence and: clinical assessment scores,^{15,16} muscle strength,¹⁷ overuse injuries,¹⁸ and quality of life.¹⁰ Studies have also examined the relationship between gait symmetry and: clinical assessment scores,¹⁹ muscle strength,²⁰ overuse injuries,²¹ and quality of life.²² Studies frequently state an association between falls and gait symmetry, however, none have directly examined this relationship. Directly examining this relationship is crucial in determining if gait symmetry could be a useful indicator of fall risk in clinical practice.

Recent studies in the general population of older adults have suggested walking symmetry could be used to predict fall risk,^{23,25} but no practical equipment exists to measure walking symmetry in clinical practice. Kinematic (e.g. stance time, range of motion) and kinetic (e.g. ground reaction force) walking data is collected in research settings using motion capture and force plate equipment, respectively. This equipment is impractical to use in clinic for several reasons: high costs, lack of portability, and the need for specialized personnel.²⁶ Wearable sensors, such as inertial measurement units (IMUs) and pressure insoles, can provide objective values for real-time clinical measurements of kinematic and kinetic walking symmetry to predict fall risk. The portability of wearable sensors allows for data collection in large sample sizes, and does not require specific expertise to use or obtain valid and reliable data. Both IMU-derived kinematic data (see Chapter 7 of this dissertation) and pressure insole-derived kinetic data have been validated to measure walking symmetry in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses.²⁷

Individuals who are stroke survivors and individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses both have gait asymmetries due to unilateral limb differences. Therefore, gait asymmetries associated with fall risk in stroke survivors might be comparable to gait asymmetries in individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses. In individuals with stroke, kinematic asymmetries in stance time and ankle range of motion in the sagittal plane, as well as kinetic asymmetries of peak propulsion force during walking, have recently been associated with increased fall risks.²⁸

However, no literature has determined the relationship between kinematic parameters and fall risk in individuals who use unilateral prostheses. Our previous literature review of lists several kinetic parameters have been associated with fall risk in older adults who use unilateral prostheses,²⁹ but this has not been tested using wearable technology or in individuals who are not older adults. Further, most falls in the general population and individuals who use lower-limb prostheses occur due to tripping or slipping during level-ground walking.³⁰ Thus, since many falls occur during weight transfer between limbs, asymmetries between intact and prosthetic limbs in joint range of motion or peak ground reaction force during level-ground walking may be clinically useful indicators of fall risk. Therefore, this study aims to determine if wearable sensor-derived walking asymmetry data can supplement clinical outcome measures to evaluate fall risk in individuals who use unilateral transtibial or transfemoral prostheses. We hypothesized sagittal plane gait asymmetry data can significantly distinguish non-fallers from fallers in this population, particularly in stance time, ankle range of motion, and peak propulsion based on literature in the stroke population. For clinical outcome measures and gait parameters that can significantly distinguish non-fallers, we will also determine cutoff scores that can be used in clinical practice.

Methods

Participants:

This study was approved under North Texas Regional Institutional Review Board (#2020-048). Individuals who used unilateral transtibial or transfemoral prostheses were recruited from prosthetic clinics in the Dallas-Fort Worth metroplex and the Amputee Coalition National Assembly. Individuals were included if they were: between the ages of 18 and 95 years, walking with a prosthesis for at least one year, and able to walk independently for at least five minutes or 100 yards. Individuals were excluded if they had: pain, open wounds or discomfort on their lowerlimbs or trunk on the day of testing, limb loss or deficiency on other limbs, major musculoskeletal injury or surgery in the last year besides amputation or revision, or other comorbidities that would make standing, turning, or walking unsafe.

Equipment:

Seven IMU sensors (iSen, STT Systems, San Sebastian, Spain) were used in this study to collect and store lower-body IMU data within iSen software. Each IMU (46g) had a tri-axial accelerometer ($\pm 16g$), gyroscope ($\pm 2000^{\circ}/s$), and magnetometer ($\pm 13G$) with company-reported pitch/roll accuracy within 0.5° and heading accuracy within 2.0°. Pressure insoles (Loadsol, Novel, USA) were also used to collect ground reaction force data. Each insole contained three pressure sensors on the medial, lateral, and heel aspects of the foot. All data was collected at a sampling rate of 100Hz.

Data Collection:

Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) software hosted at the University of North Texas Health Science Center was used to collect and manage demographic data and scores on clinical outcome measures.³¹⁻³³ After demographic data was collected, the following self-report clinical outcome were completed:

- 1. <u>Socket Comfort Score (SCS)</u>: One question that assesses an individual's socket comfort on a scale of 0 to 10, where higher scores indicate the greatest level of comfort.³⁴
- 2. <u>Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS-29)</u>: Twentynine questions that measure an individual's quality of life with their prosthesis, where higher scores indicate greater quality of life.³⁵
- Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility (PLUS-M) 12-Item Short Form: 12 questions determine functional mobility, where higher scores indicate greater functional mobility.³⁶
- 4. <u>Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC)</u>: 16 questions assess balance confidence, where higher scores indicate greater balance confidence.³⁷

Additionally, the following functional clinical outcome measures were completed:

- <u>Timed Up and Go (TUG) test:</u> This test requires standing up from a chair, walking 3 meters in a straight line, turning around, and sitting back down in the same chair. This test is performed 3 times and averaged.³⁸
- 3. <u>Amputee Mobility Predictor with Prosthesis (AMPPRO)</u>: This requires participants to complete a 21-item list that involves static and dynamic activities while sitting, standing, transferring, and walking.³⁹
- 4. Four Square Step Test (FSST): This requires participants to step forwards, backwards, and sideways over four canes arranged in a 'plus' sign (creating four squares). The test is performed 2 times and the faster time is used as the final score.⁴⁰

AMPPRO scores, were used to determine participant K-levels, which were confirmed by prosthetic componentry. Retrospective fall and near-fall histories over the previous 12 months were also collected. Falls and near-falls were defined according to a 2022 study, which conducted a focus group to determine definitions meaningful to this population.⁴¹ Falls were defined as "a loss of balance where your body landed on the ground or floor," and near-falls were defined as "a loss of balance where you caught yourself or recovered without landing on the ground or floor." Participants were asked if they had experienced a fall in the previous twelve months, and if so, how many they had experienced. Additionally, they were then asked to recall the fall they remembered best, and answered several additional questions outlined in the survey detailed in the 2022 study previously mentioned. For instance, questions asked whether or not the participant was wearing their prosthesis when they fell or nearly fell, if they experienced an injury, and the

significance of the fall or near-fall. These questions were then repeated for near-falls. Then, researchers placed IMUs and pressure insoles on each participant as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Anterior (panels A and C) and posterior (panels B and D) views of IMU and pressure insole equipment placed on a representative participant who uses a transtibial prosthesis.

IMUs were secured to each participant using recommendations from STT Systems for the lowerbody model: one on the sacrum, one on each thigh, one on each shank, and one on each foot. IMUs were secured to body segments with elastic straps provided by STT Systems, except the IMUs on each foot, which were secured directly to the shoe with velcro. Additionally, the thigh IMU on transfemoral prosthetic limbs was secured directly to the prosthesis using self-adherent wrap (Coban 1580 Series, 3M[™], Saint Paul, MN) to prevent sliding. For transfemoral participants, the IMU magnetometers were disabled during data collection to prevent magnetic interference from the microprocessor knees. Each participant was assessed by MGF for the proper size of pressure insoles, which were in standard US sizes. Pressure insoles were less than 3.4mm thick, worn bilaterally, and placed between the participant's foot and their shoe. Participants walked across 6 meters of level ground at their self-selected habitual walking speed for five trials.

After the data collection visit, participants were emailed a survey through REDCap every 2 weeks for a period of 6 months. The number of falls and near-falls over the 6-month period will be totaled to provide prospective fall and near-fall data for each participant. Since the majority of participants had their research visit in August 2022, we expect to have the majority of prospective fall and near-fall data by February 2023.

Data analysis:

IMU data was processed within proprietary iSen software provided by STT Systems, and ground reaction force data was processed within proprietary Loadsol software.

Three of the participant's five walking trials were selected for analysis, and the middle step of each limb from each trial was extracted. The middle step, for both IMU and pressure insole data, was defined as occurring between two initial contact events. For IMU-derived data, the middle step was extracted based on the automatic detection of gait events identified within iSen IMU software. Toe-off events were also needed to calculate single and double limb support times, which were also automatically detected within iSen IMU software. For Loadsol data, the middle step was extracted based on evidence of the first non-zero point (initial contact) and last non-zero point (toe-off).²⁶ Loadsol and IMU events were compared by MGF and were consistently within 2-3 frames (0.02- 0.03s) of each other. Once three walking trials were selected, the middle step of each limb from each trial was extracted to minimize effects from the participant accelerating or decelerating, and to minimize IMU drift or distal slippage that tended to occur towards the end of the walking trial. MGF visually confirmed all gait events and cut steps were appropriate.

Stance time and lower-limb sagittal plane kinematic parameters were extracted from each middle step of IMU data. Lower-limb sagittal plane waveforms at the hip, knee, and ankle, as well as peak flexion and extension values were extracted across the entire gait cycle. Range of motion was calculated from peak flexion and extension values. Stance time parameters included single and double limb support times for both prosthetic and intact limbs. For pressure insole data, ground reaction force parameters of peak braking and peak propulsive force were extracted from each cut step. Symmetry between intact and prosthetic limbs were calculated for all parameters using the equation below, and averaged across the three cut steps to provide final symmetry values. These parameters were extracted from the middle step of three walking trials, and the equation below was used to calculate symmetry between intact (I) and prosthetic (P) limbs.^{42,43} The symmetry values from the three trials were averaged.

Eq. 1
$$abs \left(\frac{(I-P)}{(0.5*(I+P))} * 100\right)$$

For both retrospective and prospective fall data analysis, we intend to stratify participants into two groups, non-fallers and fallers. Shapiro-Wilks tests will be used to determine normality of the data. Assuming our data is non-parametric, significance between groups will be assessed using MannWhitney U tests with a significance level set at $p \le 0.05$ and Hedge's g will be used to determine effect sizes. Then, for each clinical outcome measure and gait parameter that is significant between non-fallers and fallers, cut-off scores will be determined using area under the curve and receiver operating characteristic (AUC/ROC) analysis. Spearman correlations will also be used to assess relationships between number of falls with clinical outcome scores and gait asymmetry. Once the authors have the prospective fall data for all participants, these tests will be repeated for prospective non-fallers and fallers.

Results

Preliminary demographic data are listed in Table 1, clinical outcome measure data are listed in Table 2, and gait data are listed in Table 3.

Demographics	Non-Fallers (n=12)	Fallers (n=10)	<i>p</i> -values
Age (yrs)	57.5 ± 15.0	56.8 ± 13.8	0.461
Height (cm)	175.9 ± 8.8	173.0 ± 10.2	0.286
Weight (kg)	90.0 ± 25.4	92.1 ± 21.6	0.461
Sex	7 M / 5 F	8 M / 2 F	0.144
TSA (yrs)	19.0 ± 17.9	14.0 ± 14.3	0.265
Etiology	6 Tr / 2 Vasc / 3 Can / 1 Cong	4 Tr / 3 Vasc / 2 Can / 1 Cong	0.403
Residual Limb length (cm)	18.2 ± 4.0	17.3 ± 5.0	0.322
Level of Prosthesis Use	8 TT / 4 TF	7 TT / 3 TF	0.435
K-Level	9 K3 / 3 K2	8 K3 / 2 K2	0.497
Time using current prosthesis (yrs)	4.0 ± 2.6	3.3 ± 2.6	0.251
Last prosthetic adjustment (months)	3.1 ± 3.6	1.0 ± 0.5	0.185
# Retrospective Falls	0.0 ± 0.0	3.6 ± 4.2	0.012*
# Retrospective Near-Falls	2.2 ± 1.1	8.2 ± 15.8	0.249

Table 1: Preliminary demographic characteristics stratified by fall status.

Table 1: Preliminary mean \pm standard deviation data for the 22 participants that have been collected, stratified by retrospective non-fallers and fallers. K-levels were determined based on AMPPRO scores and prosthetic componentry. Abbreviations: TSA= time since amputation, M= male, F= female, Tr= trauma, Vasc= vascular, Can= cancer, Cong= congenital, TT= transtibial, TF= transfemoral.

Table 1 indicates non-fallers and fallers had similar demographic characteristics. However, while not significant, potentially notable differences in mean values between groups are: higher proportion of females in non-fallers (n=5) compared to fallers (n=2), longer time since last

prosthetic adjustment in non-fallers (3.1 months) than fallers (1.0 month), and lower number of self-reported near-falls in non-fallers (2.2) compared to fallers (8.2).

Clinical Outcomes	Non-Fallers (n=12)	Fallers (n=10)	<i>p</i> -values
SCS	8.7 ± 1.1	7.9 ± 2.3	0.268
PROMIS- Physical T-score	47.5 ± 6.7	45.0 ± 5.7	0.160
PROMIS- Anxiety T-score	44.8 ± 5.9	44.7 ± 5.9	0.470
PROMIS- Depression T-score	43.5 ± 4.6	43.6 ± 5.9	0.411
PROMIS- Fatigue T-score	46.8 ± 6.5	47.0 ± 8.1	0.286
PROMIS- Sleep T-score	45.4 ± 8.3	46.4 ± 7.3	0.371
PROMIS- Social T-score	55.0 ± 7.6	55.0 ± 6.3	0.500
PROMIS- Pain Interference T-score	47.8 ± 6.9	47.8 ± 7.0	0.472
PROMIS- Global Pain	1.6 ± 1.2	3.1 ± 2.5	0.089
ABC	8.4 ± 2.2	8.8 ± 0.6	0.234
PLUS-M 12 T-score	52.6 ± 4.6	50.2 ± 8.1	0.334
AMPPRO	41.3 ± 2.3	40.4 ± 3.2	0.303
TUG (s)	9.7 ± 1.8	11.1 ± 3.0	0.090
FSST (s)	12.7 ± 5.4	14.8 ± 3.4	0.040*

Table 2: Preliminary clinical outcome measure data stratified by fall status.

Table 2: Preliminary mean ± standard deviation data for the 22 participants that have been collected, stratified by retrospective non-fallers and fallers. Bold *p*-value with asterisk (*) indicates significance. Abbreviations: SCS= Socket Comfort Score, PROMIS= Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System, ABC= Activities Specific Balance Confidence Scale, PLUS-M= Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility, AMPPRO= Amputee Mobility Predictor with Prosthesis, TUG= Timed Up and Go, FSST= Four Square Step Test.

Table 2 indicates the FSST was the only clinical outcome measure that was statistically significant between non-fallers and fallers, with faster times in non-fallers (12.7s) compared to fallers (14.8s). While not statistically significant, non-fallers reported less pain in the PROMIS-Global Pain scale (1.6) than fallers (3.1). Additionally, non-fallers had faster TUG times (9.7s) compared to fallers (11.1s).

Gait Parameters	Non-Fallers (n=12)	Fallers (n=10)	<i>p</i> -values
Walking Speed (m/s)	0.6 ± 0.23	0.5 ± 0.14	0.138
SLS Asymmetry (%)	67.6 ± 41.1	68.4 ± 42.4	0.487
Hip Flexion Asymmetry (%)	47.40 ± 41.32	46.47 ± 37.53	0.461
Hip Ext. Asymmetry (%)	67.57 ± 45.16	56.99 ± 28.31	0.387
Hip Overall Asymmetry (%)	47.38 ± 41.49	39.17 ± 21.98	0.461
Knee Flexion Asymmetry (%)	47.34 ± 40.07	47.14 ± 29.07	0.269
Knee Ext. Asymmetry (%)	81.74 ± 38.51	89.35 ± 47.56	0.436
Knee Overall Asymmetry (%)	43.17 ± 34.78	33.46 ± 24.46	0.337
Ankle Dorsi. Asymmetry (%)	48.13 ± 45.59	71.74 ± 45.43	0.079
Ankle Plantar. Asymmetry (%)	65.21 ± 42.60	73.79 ± 38.55	0.291
Ankle Overall Asymmetry (%)	45.72 ± 42.89	56.69 ± 38.91	0.209
Peak Braking Asymmetry (%)	44.04 ± 38.21	45.04 ± 51.37	0.286
Peak Propulsive Asymmetry (%)	35.33 ± 41.49	24.57 ± 17.44	0.517

Table 3: Preliminary gait data stratified by fall status.

Table 3: Preliminary mean \pm standard deviation data for the 22 participants that have been collected, stratified by retrospective non-fallers and fallers. Abbreviations: SLS= Single Limb Support, Ext.= extension, Dorsi.= dorsiflexion, Plantar.= plantarflexion.

No significant differences in gait parameters were observed. While not statistically significant, non-fallers seemed to have notably less ankle dorsiflexion asymmetry (48.13%) than fallers (71.74%).

Discussion

Two recent studies have shown that three clinical outcome measures (TUG, FSST, AMPPRO) have strong relationships with retrospective falls in transtibial and transfemoral prosthesis users.^{11,12} While only the FSST was statistically significant in this study, the PROMIS-Global Pain and TUG had the next lowest p-values (0.089 and 0.09, respectively). The FSST and TUG times in this study (up to 14.8s and 11.1s in fallers, respectively) were slower than the prior studies, which determined cutoff scores for the FSST and TUG of 8.49s and 8.47s, respectively. This may be due to the inclusion of individuals with older age, K2 level ambulation, and dysvascular etiologies in this study. Additionally, this study included 22 participants to date, while the two previous studies included 38 and 40 participants. Our power analysis indicated we should include 38 participants to detect statistical significance between non-fallers and fallers, so our study might be underpowered due to a lower sample size of 22 participants.

Non-fallers reported a longer time since last prosthetic adjustment, lower number of near-falls, more socket comfort, and less global pain than fallers. Collectively, this may indicate non-fallers experienced increased stability and comfort with their prosthesis than non-fallers. Additionally, participants in this study tended to show more gait asymmetry in stance time, as well as hip, knee, and ankle range of motion, compared to values from previous studies summarized in Chapter 2

(please note this study reports asymmetry values while Chapter 2 reports symmetry values). As mentioned previously, this study included a greater number of older individuals, K2 participants, and individuals with vascular etiologies than reported in previous literature, which might explain these differences. From Chapter 3 (Table 1), we expected peak braking ground reaction force would be able to distinguish non-fallers from fallers. However, this study showed similar values between non-fallers and fallers.

We also intend to measure prospective fall risk in this population, which has rarely been reported. Instead, retrospective fall history is typically collected, despite flaws of participant recall and the adjustment of gait to increase stability if the participant has experienced a fall.²³ However, only one study, published earlier this year, has examined the relationship between these clinical assessments and number of prospective falls.²⁴ Based on this study, we expect a combination of number of retrospective falls combined with PLUS-M scores will be able to distinguish prospective non-fallers and fallers. We also expect gait asymmetry parameters, particularly ankle range of motion based on research in the stroke population, will be able to distinguish prospective non-fallers. Examining the relationship between prospective falls with clinical assessments and walking symmetry could help identify strong clinical predictors of falls.

Conclusion

Preliminary results indicate the FSST time was the only clinical characteristic that could distinguish retrospective non-fallers from fallers. Upon the inclusion of more participants, analysis of all retrospective fall data, and acquisition of prospective fall data, we will determine if any additional clinical outcome measures or gait parameters can significantly distinguish retrospective

non-fallers and fallers. Additionally, we will perform the same analysis to determine if any factors can distinguish prospective non-fallers from fallers. Findings can help clinicians proactively evaluate fall risk in this population.

Acknowledgements

MGF was supported by the National Institutes of Health/National Institute on Aging (T32 AG020494) and the Institute for Healthy Aging. This project was supported by an American Orthotics and Prosthetics Association research award administered by the Center for Orthotic and Prosthetic Learning and Outcomes/Evidence-Based Practice.

The authors would like to thank Caitlyn Finnerty, Shawn Kennedy, and Tasha Buxton for assisting with data collection. Thanks also to Cody Logenbaugh at Baker Orthotics and Prosthetics and Mark Ashford at Hanger Clinic for their help with participant recruitment. This project is taken in part from a dissertation MGF submitted to the University of North Texas Health Science Center in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

<u>Author contributions:</u> Conceptualization: MGF, CLM, SCM; Data Curation: MGF; Formal Analysis: MGF; Funding Acquisition: MGF, RMP, SCM; Investigation: MGF; Methodology: MGF, CLM, SCM; Project Administration: MGF, RMP, SCM: Software: MGF, SCM; Supervision: SCM; Visualization: MGF; Writing- Original Draft Preparation: MGF; Writing-Review and Editing: CLM, RMP, SCM.

References

 Dite W, Connor HJ, Curtis HC. Clinical Identification of Multiple Fall Risk Early After Unilateral Transtibial Amputation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2007; 88: 109–114.

Wong C, Chihuri S, Li G. Risk of fall-related injury in people with lower limb amputations:
 A prospective cohort study. *J Rehabil Med* 2016; 48: 80–85.

3. Miller WC, Speechley M, Deathe B. The prevalence and risk factors of falling and fear of falling among lower extremity amputees. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2001; 82: 1031–1037.

4. Kim J, Major MJ, Hafner B, et al. Frequency and Circumstances of Falls Reported by Ambulatory Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users: A Secondary Analysis. *Journal of Injury, Function and Rehabilitation* 2019; 11: 344–353.

 Kulkarni J, Adams J, Thomas E, et al. Association between amputation, arthritis and osteopenia in British male war veterans with major lower limb amputations. *Clin Rehabil* 1998; 12: 348–353.

6. Pauley T, Devlin M, Heslin K. Falls Sustained During Inpatient Rehabilitation After Lower Limb Amputation: Prevalence and Predictors. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation* 2006; 85: 521–532.

7. Chihuri S, Wong CK. Factors associated with the likelihood of fall-related injury among people with lower limb loss. *Inj Epidemiol* 2018; 5: 42.

8. van Velzen JM, van Bennekom CA, Polomski W, et al. Physical capacity and walking ability after lower limb amputation: a systematic review. *Clin Rehabil* 2006; 20: 999–1016.

9. Miller WC, Deathe AB, Speechley M, et al. The influence of falling, fear of falling, and balance confidence on prosthetic mobility and social activity among individuals with a lower extremity amputation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2001; 82: 1238–1244.

10. Pezzin LE, Dillingham TR, MacKenzie EJ. Rehabilitation and the long-term outcomes of persons with trauma-related amputations. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2000; 81: 292–300.

Hakim RM, Frey CM, Spadoni KE, et al. Identifying Fallers Using Clinical Balance
 Measures in Community-Dwelling Adults with Lower Extremity Amputation: A Cross-Sectional
 Study. J Dev Phys Disabil 2018; 30: 677–688.

Sawers A, Hafner BJ. Using Clinical Balance Tests to Assess Fall Risk among
 Established Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users: Cutoff Scores and Associated Validity
 Indices. *PM&R* 2020; 12: 16–25.

13. Heitzmann DWW, Leboucher J, Block J, et al. The influence of hip muscle strength on gait in individuals with a unilateral transfermoral amputation. *PLoS ONE* 2020; 15: e0238093.

14. Lloyd CH, Stanhope SJ, Davis IS, et al. Strength asymmetry and osteoarthritis risk factors in unilateral trans-tibial, amputee gait. *Gait & Posture* 2010; 32: 296–300.

15. Kark L, Odell R, McIntosh AS, et al. Quantifying prosthetic gait deviation using simple outcome measures. *WJO* 2016; 7: 383.

16. Rutkowska-Kucharska A, Kowal M, Winiarski S. Relationship between Asymmetry of Gait and Muscle Torque in Patients after Unilateral Transfemoral Amputation. *Applied Bionics and Biomechanics* 2018; 2018: 1–9.

17. Norvell DC, Czerniecki JM, Reiber GE, et al. The prevalence of knee pain and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis among veteran traumatic amputees and nonamputees. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2005; 86: 487–493.

 Gard, SA. Use of Quantitative Gait Analysis for the Evaluation of Prosthetic Walking Performance. *J Prosthet Orthot* 2006; 18: 93–104.

19. Clemens S, Kim KJ, Gailey R, et al. Inertial sensor-based measures of gait symmetry and repeatability in people with unilateral lower limb amputation. *Clinical Biomechanics* 2020; 72: 102–107.

20. Hordacre B, Barr C, Crotty M. Community activity and participation are reduced in transtibial amputee fallers: a wearable technology study. *BMJ Innov* 2015; 1: 10–16.

21. Seel T, Raisch J, Schauer T. IMU-Based Joint Angle Measurement for Gait Analysis. *Sensors* 2014; 14: 6891–6909.

22. Teufl W, Lorenz M, Miezal M, et al. Towards Inertial Sensor Based Mobile Gait Analysis: Event-Detection and Spatio-Temporal Parameters. *Sensors* 2018; 19: 38.

23. Lusardi MM, Fritz S, Middleton A, et al. Determining Risk of Falls in Community Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Using Posttest Probability. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy* 2017; 40: 1–36.

24. Tobaigy M, Hafner BJ, Sawers A. Recalled Number of Falls in the Past Year—Combined With Perceived Mobility—Predicts the Incidence of Future Falls in Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users. *Physical Therapy* 2022; 102: pzab267.

25. Gillain S, Boutaayamou M, Schwartz C, et al. Gait symmetry in the dual task condition as a predictor of future falls among independent older adults: a 2-year longitudinal study. *Aging Clin Exp Res* 2019; 31: 1057–1067.

26. Robinson, RO, Herzog, W, Nigg, BM. Use of force platform variables to quantify the effects of chiropractic manipulation on gait symmetry. *J Manip Physiol Ther* 1987; 10: 172–176.

27. Loiret I, Villa C, Dauriac B, et al. Are wearable insoles a validated tool for quantifying transfemoral amputee gait asymmetry? *Prosthetics & Orthotics International* 2019; 43: 492–499.

28. Liang JN, Ho K-Y, Lee Y-J, et al. Slow Walking in Individuals with Chronic Post-Stroke
Hemiparesis: Speed Mediated Effects of Gait Kinetics and Ankle Kinematics. *Brain Sci* 2021;
11: 365.

29. Finco MG, Sumien N, Moudy SC. Clinical evaluation of fall risk in older individuals who use lower-limb prostheses: a scoping review. In Review. *JAGS*.2022.

Nagano H. Gait Biomechanics for Fall Prevention among Older Adults. *Applied Sciences* 2022; 12: 6660.

 Obeid JS, McGraw CA, Minor BL, et al. Procurement of shared data instruments for Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap). *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 2013; 46: 259– 265.

32. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, et al. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 2009; 42: 377–381.

33. Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, et al. The REDCap consortium: Building an international community of software platform partners. *Journal of Biomedical Informatics* 2019;
95: 103208.

34. Hanspal R, Fisher K, Nieveen R. Prosthetic socket fit comfort score. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 2003; 25: 1278–1280.

35. Hafner BJ, Morgan SJ, CPO, et al. Psychometric evaluation of self-report outcome measures for prosthetic applications. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 2016; 53: 797–812.

36. Amtmann D, Bamer AM, Kim J, et al. A comparison of computerized adaptive testing and fixed-length short forms for the Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility (PLUS-MTM). *Prosthet Orthot Int* 2018; 42: 476–482.

37. Miller WC, Speechley M, Deathe AB. Balance confidence among people with lowerlimb amputations. *Phys Ther* 2002; 82: 856–865.

38. Schoppen T, Boonstra A, Groothoff JW, et al. The timed "up and go" test: Reliability and validity in persons with unilateral lower limb amputation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 1999; 80: 825–828.

39. Gailey RS, Roach KE, Applegate EB, et al. The Amputee Mobility Predictor: An instrument to assess determinants of the lower-limb amputee's ability to ambulate. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2002; 83: 613–627.

40. Langford Z. The Four Square Step Test. *Journal of Physiotherapy* 2015; 61: 162.

41. Sawers A, McDonald CL, Hafner BJ. A survey for characterizing details of fall events experienced by lower limb prosthesis users. *PLoS ONE* 2022; 17: e0272082.

42. Gholizadeh H, Abu Osman NA, Eshraghi A, et al. The Effects of Suction and Pin/Lock Suspension Systems on Transtibial Amputees' Gait Performance. *PLoS ONE* 2014; 9: e94520.

43. MG Finco, Sarah Moudy, Rita Patterson. Normalized Kinematic Walking Symmetry Data for Individuals Who Use Lower-Limb Prostheses: Considerations for Clinical Practice and Future Research,

https://journals.lww.com/jpojournal/Fulltext/9900/Normalized_Kinematic_Walking_Symmetry_ Data_for.7.aspx (2022).
SUMMARY

Individuals who use lower-limb prostheses have increased risks of developing overuse injuries and experiencing falls. These risks have been attributed to decreased musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry between prosthetic and intact limbs, but this relationship not been directly examined. This dissertation sought to quantify musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry to determine their relationships to overuse injuries and falls in individuals with unilateral lower-limb loss or absence. Quantifying musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry could help clinicians move towards proactive monitoring of overuse injury and fall risk assessment in this population.

Findings:

Literature Reviews: Chapters 1-3 helped inform decisions for Aims 1 and 2. Chapter 1 summarized the limited amount of research that has investigated musculoskeletal health in individuals with lower-limb amputations, and directed our focus towards bone mineral density, muscle fiber types, and use of CT scans to collect data in Aim 1. Chapter 2 helped inform decisions to validated our inertial measurement units against motion capture in Chapter 7 and summarized results that served as normative values for symmetry in Chapter 8 of Aim 2. Chapter 3 determined which clinical outcome measures would be selected to evaluate fall risk and highlighted the need to collect both retrospective and prospective falls in Chapter 8.

<u>Aim 1:</u> Aim 1 sought to evaluate musculoskeletal symmetry in anatomical donors associated with risk of developing overuse injuries. Chapters 4 and 5 demonstrated amputated limbs in anatomical donors had indications of increased risks of lower-limb fracture, hip and knee osteoarthritis, and

muscle atrophy compared to intact limbs. These findings were supported by Chapter 6 using CT Scans from the New Mexico Decedent Image Database. Specifically, Chapter 6 found amputated limbs had increased indications of thigh muscle atrophy and distal femoral fracture compared to intact limbs. Further, Chapter 6 demonstrated increased indications of thigh muscle atrophy and osteoarthritis bilaterally compared to diabetic and healthy control limbs. Clinicians could eventually use quantified symmetry values from non-invasive patient scans (e.g., dual x-ray absorptiometry, CT, x-ray) to help inform risks of overuse injuries in this population.

<u>Aim 2:</u> Aim 2 sought to determine the relationship between wearable sensor-derived walking symmetry values and fall risk in living individuals. In Chapter 7, inertial measurement units were validated against the gold standard of motion capture in five individuals who used a unilateral transtibial or transfemoral prosthesis. Then, they were used in Chapter 8, along with pressure insoles, to determine if gait symmetry could supplement clinical outcome measures to evaluate fall risk. At the time of this dissertation, two more participants are scheduled for the study in Chapter 8, but data has not been collected. Clinical outcomes and gait parameters that significantly distinguished retrospective fallers and non-fallers over the previous year are still being analyzed. Prosthetists or physical therapists could use cutoff scores for self-repot or functional clinical outcomes, or gait parameters from wearable sensors, to assess 6-month prospective fall risk.

<u>Overall</u>: Impaired musculoskeletal symmetry observed in anatomical donors was in line with the high prevalence of femoral fractures, hip and knee osteoarthritis, and thigh muscle atrophy in this population. Specifically, thigh muscle atrophy in the biceps femoris long head seen in Chapter 5 is congruent with previous literature regarding asymmetries in hip extension in living individuals.

Preliminary results from Chapter 8 support also partially support this, with large asymmetry values in peak hip extension (mean of 67.57 in non-fallers and 56.99 in fallers) and overall hip range of motion (47.38 in non-fallers and 39.17 in fallers). Chapter 8 showed larger kinematic asymmetry values than reported in previous literature (symmetry values summarized in Chapter 2), which may be due to the inclusion of more participants who are K2 and/or older in age than in previous literature. Inertial measurement units were found to be a viable data collection tool to quantify gait, and clinicians may be able to use these, in combination with pressure insoles, to evaluate fall risk in this population. Future research could, within the same study, collect musculoskeletal symmetry and gait symmetry in larger samples of living individuals to further establish the relationship between musculoskeletal and gait health.

Future Directions:

<u>Aim 1</u>: Researchers could expand Aim 1 by increasing the sample size of donors or examining living individuals to determine if findings are generalizable. Additionally, researchers could lower the donor/database age criteria to differentiate age-related musculoskeletal changes, or examine females to determine potential contributions of menopause on impaired musculoskeletal health post-amputation. A larger sample size that includes a wider age range and females could help inform specific treatment plans for musculoskeletal monitoring and rehabilitation exercises by age, sex, comorbidities, or amputation level.

<u>Aim 2</u>: Prospective fall data is still being gathered and will help inform fall risk prediction. Researchers could also determine if data collected from a single inertial measurement unit (i.e. pelvis) was sensitive enough to distinguish fallers from non-fallers, which could further reduce the cost and labor for clinicians to implement fall risk evaluation. Future studies could determine if findings are generalizable to: a larger subset of the population by recruiting a more heterogeneous sample of lower-limb prosthesis users, or other wearable systems by evaluating inertial measurement units and pressure insoles from different companies.

<u>Overall:</u> Researchers could directly examine relationships between musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry by having participants complete a series of musculoskeletal evaluations (e.g. bone density scan, CT scan, wearable electromyography sensors), in addition to the clinical outcome measures and biomechanical gait evaluations reported in Chapter 8 within the same study. This dissertation was completed during the COVID-19 pandemic, which made a cross-disciplinary study difficult to accomplish. Determining relationships between musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry could potentially help clinicians evaluate musculoskeletal health based on gait symmetry or vice versa.

Final Thoughts:

While this dissertation examined musculoskeletal and biomechanical symmetry, these are only two potential factors that could influence risks of developing overuse injuries and experiencing falls. Clinicians and researchers should consider how other factors (e.g. fall self-efficacy, visual or vestibular impairments, living environment, medication use, motor control impairments resulting from neural damage, etc.) could influence risks of developing overuse injuries and experiencing falls, in addition to the musculoskeletal and biomechanical factors presented in this dissertation. Ensuring individuals are considered from a variety of perspectives helps inform a broader view of strategies to reduce adverse health outcomes in this population.

APPENDIX

APPENDIX A

IRB APPROVAL LETTER



3500 Camp Bowie Blvd Fort Worth, TX 76107 NorthTexRegIRB@unthsc.edu (817) 735-0409

DATE:	November 12, 2021
TO: FROM:	Rita Patterson, PhD North Texas Regional Institutional Review Board
PROJECT TITLE:	[1603361-4] Use of Wearable Inertial Sensors to Measure Walking Symmetry in Individuals with Lower Limb Pathologies
REFERENCE #:	2020-048
SUBMISSION TYPE:	Amendment/Modification
ACTION:	APPROVED
APPROVAL DATE:	November 12, 2021
REVIEW TYPE:	Expedited Review

Thank you for your submission of Amendment/Modification materials for this project. The North Texas Regional Institutional Review Board has APPROVED the protocol modifications via Expedited review procedures under the provisions of 45 CFR 46.110(b)(1)(ii). This submission received Expedited review and approval based on applicable federal regulations.

The following modifications have been approved with this submission:

- · Compensation for participants with lower limb loss
- · Updated language to the study documents to provide flexibility in recruiting the three groups
- · Updated protocol synopsis to reflect current key personnel
- Minor modifications to survey instruments to indclude additional questions about falls for limb loss participants

The following items have been approved with your submission:

- · Protocol Synopsis
- · Recruitment materials (i.e. flyers and electronic annoucements for all 3 groups)
- · Consent forms

Please remember that informed consent is a process beginning with a description of the project and insurance of participant understanding followed by a signed consent form. Informed consent must continue throughout the project via a dialogue between the researcher and research participant. Federal regulations require that each participant receives a copy of the consent document.

Generated on IRBNet

You may ONLY use documents that have been IRB-approved and display IRB approval verification (printstamping).

Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by the IRB prior to initiation. Please use the appropriate revision procedures for this activity.

All UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS involving risks to subjects or others (UPIRSOs) and SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported promptly to this office. Please use the appropriate reporting forms for this procedure. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed.

All NON-COMPLIANCE issues or COMPLAINTS regarding this project must be reported promptly to this office within 10 business days of identifying the issue / complaint.

In addition, the Principal Investigator must notify the IRB immediately if any new potential Conflict of Interest arises.

Any research / key personnel involved in the study are also responsible for maintaining appropriate human subject protection educational training current.

If you have any questions, please contact Jessica Bird at 817-735-2081 or jessica.bird@unthsc.edu. Please include your project title and reference number in all correspondence with this committee.

This letter has been electronically signed in accordance with all applicable regulations, and a copy is retained within North Texas Regional Institutional Review Board's records.

- 2 -

Generated on IRBNet

APPENDIX B

QUESTIONNAIRES

Confidential Page 7 **Inclusion Exclusion Criteria Form** Date of Visit Inclusion Criteria Is the participant an adult between the ages of 18 and 95? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Has the participant been walking on a prosthesis for at least one year? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Does the participant have unilateral limb loss between their ankle and hip? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Is the participant able to walk independently for at least 5 minutes or 100 yards? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No **Exclusion Criteria** Does the participant have bilateral lower-limb loss? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Does the participant have arm or foot amputations? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Does the participant currently have pain, open wounds, or discomfort in their lower-limbs or trunk? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Has the participant had major musculoskeletal injury or surgery in the last year besides amputation or revision? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Does the participant have visual deficits not corrected by eye glasses or contact lenses? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No Does the participant have medical or health issues that would make walking, turning while walking, sitting/standing up from a chair without armrests difficult or unsafe? ⊖ Yes ⊖ No REDCap 01/20/2022 2:25pm projectredcap.org

Page 8

Does the participant have cognitive impairments preventing ability to follow instructions?

 \bigcirc Yes \bigcirc No

Participant cannot understand the English language to give informed consent or follow instructions? (select no if participant can understand English)

⊖Yes ⊖No

Patient is ELIGIBLE for enrollment.

Patient is NOT ELIGIBLE for enrollment.

Examined by:

Date:

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

Participant Demographics

Please complete the survey below.

Thank you!

 ○ None ○ Transtibial ○ Transfemoral
 ○ None ○ Transtibial ○ Transfemoral
○ Male○ Female
 Hispanic or Latino NOT Hispanic or Latino Unknown/ Prefer not to answer
American Indian/Alaska Native Asian Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander Black or African American White Other Uhrpown/Prefer not to answer

32) Please provide us with an email address you check regularly. If you are part of the main study, a brief survey will be sent to the email address you provide every 2 weeks over a period of 6 months.

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

	Please complete the survey below		
	Thank you!		
	On a 0-10 scale, if 0 represents the most uncomfortable soc comfortable socket you can imagine	ket you an imagine and 10 represents the most	
3)	How would you score the comfort of your socket at the moment?	<pre> 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10</pre>	
1)	How would you score the comfort of your socket over the last week?	○ 0 ○ 1 ○ 2 ○ 3 ○ 4 ○ 5 ○ 6 ○ 7 ○ 8 ○ 9 ○ 10	

PLUS-M

Please complete the survey below.

Thank you!

Please respond to all questions as if you were wearing the prosthetic leg you use most days. If you would normally use a cane, crutch, or walker to perform the task, please answer the questions as if you were using that device.

Please choose "unable to do" if you: -would need help from another person to complete the task -would need a wheelchair or scooter to complete the task, or -feel the task may be unsafe for you

35)	Are you able to walk a short distance in your home?	 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do
36)	Are you able to step up and down curbs?	 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do
37)	Are you able to walk across the parking lot?	 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do
38)	Are you able to walk over gravel surfaces?	 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do
39)	Are you able to move a chair from one room to another?	 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do
40)	Are you able to walk while carrying a shopping basket in one hand?	 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do
41)	Are you able to keep walking when people bump into you?	 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

256

ABC Scale

Please complete the survey below.

Thank you!

For each of the following activities, pl	lease indicate your level	l of self-confidence by choosing a nu	mber.
--	---------------------------	---------------------------------------	-------

0% = No confidence 100% = Completely confident

How confident are you that you will not lose your balance or become unsteady when you...

48)	Walk around the house?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
49)	Walk up or down stairs?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
50)	Bend over and pick up a slipper (or item) from the front of a closet floor?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
51)	Reach for a small can off a shelf at eye level?	0% 10% 20% 30% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%		
	01/20/2022 2:25pm		projectredcap.org	REDCap

Con	fidential		Page 14
52)	Stand on your tiptoes and reach for something above your head?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 	
53)	Stand on a chair and reach for something?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 	
54)	Sweep the floor?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 	
55)	Walk outside the house to a car parked in the driveway?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 	
56)	Get into or out of a car?	0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%	

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

Cont	ridential			Page 15
57)	Walk across a parking lot to the mall (store)?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
58)	Walk up or down a ramp?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
59)	Walk in a crowded mall where people rapidly walk past you?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
60)	Are bumped into by people as you walk through the mall?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
61)	Step onto or off an escalator while you are holding onto a railing?	 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 		
	01/20/2022 2:25pm		projectredcap.org	REDCap

Retrospective Falls And Near-Falls

Please complete the survey below.

Thank you!

This survey asks about FALLS and NEAR-FALLS you have experienced in the past 12 months.

Please respond to all questions with the following definitions in mind:
A FALL is a loss of balance where your body landed on the ground or floor.
A NEAR-FALL is a loss of balance where you caught yourself or recovered without landing on the ground or floor.

If you report MULTIPLE falls or MULTIPLE near-falls, please answer the following questions for the fall or near-fall you REMEMBER BEST.

FALLS	
Have you experienced a FALL in the past 12 months?	⊖ Yes ⊖ No
How many FALLS have you experienced in the past 12 months?	
Example: 2	
Were you wearing your prosthesis when you fell?	⊖ Yes ⊖ No
(Choose the best answer)	O Do not remember
In what direction did you fall?	Forward Backward
(Select ALL that apply)	To the right
	Straight down
	Do not remember
Did you experience an injury because of the fall?	○ Yes ○ No
Did you receive medical treatment because of the fall?	 Self-administered treatment Treated but net taken to provider
(Choose the best answer)	 Treated but not sent to provider Treated and sent home the same day Hospitalized for 1 night Hospitalized for 2-3 nights Hospitalized for more than 3 nights Did not receive medical treatment Do not remember

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

Have you done any of the following because of the fall? (Select ALL that apply)	 Changed how you do certain activities Do certain activities less often Stopped doing certain activities altogether Rested more than usual Become more careful or cautious Pay more attention to your surroundings Began to use a cane, crutch, or walker Relied more on a cane, crutch, or walker Made safety modifications to your home Received physical help to perform activities None of these apply Do not remember 		
Did you experience any of the following changes after the fall? (Select ALL that apply)	 Less confident in your balance More afraid of falling Less confident in your prosthesis None of these apply Do not remember 		
On a scale of 0 (not significant at all) to 10 (extremely significant) how would you rate the fall? (Choose the best answer)	 0 (not significant at all) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (extremely significant) 		
NEAR-FALLS			
Have you experienced a NEAR-FALL in the past 12 months?	⊖ Yes ○ No		
How many NEAR-FALLS have you experienced in the past 12 months?			
Example: 2			
Were you wearing your prosthesis when you nearly fell? (Choose the best answer)	 ○ Yes ○ No ○ Do not remember 		
In what direction did you nearly fall?	Forward		
(Select ALL that apply)	Backward To the right To the left Straight down Do not remember		
Did you experience an injury because of the near-fall?	⊖ Yes ⊖ No		
01/20/2022 2:25pm			

Did you receive medical treatment because of the near-fall? (Choose the best answer)	 Self-administered treatment Treated but not taken to provider Treated and sent home the same day Hospitalized for 1 night Hospitalized for 2-3 nights Hospitalized for more than 3 nights Did not receive medical treatment Do not remember
Have you done any of the following because of the near-fall? (Select ALL that apply)	 Changed how you do certain activities Do certain activities less often Stopped doing certain activities altogether Rested more than usual Become more careful or cautious Pay more attention to your surroundings Began to use a cane, crutch, or walker Relied more on a cane, crutch, or walker Made safety modifications to your home Received physical help to perform activities None of these apply Do not remember
Did you experience any of the following changes after the near-fall? (Select ALL that apply)	 Less confident in your balance More afraid of falling Less confident in your prosthesis None of these apply Do not remember
On a scale of 0 (not significant at all) to 10 (extremely significant) how would you rate the near-fall? (Choose the best answer)	 0 (not significant at all) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (extremely significant)

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

262

PROMIS-29 Profile/Battery v2.1

Please complete the survey below.

Thank you!

FINAL RESULTS T-score Standard Error PFA11 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do Are you able to do chores such as vacuuming or yard work? PFA21 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do Are you able to go up and down stairs at a normal pace? PFA23 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do Are you able to go for a walk of at least 15 minutes? PFA53 Without any difficulty With a little difficulty With some difficulty With much difficulty Unable to do Are you able to run errands and shop?

projectredcap.org

PROMIS-29 Profile/Battery v2.1

FINAL RESULTS			
T-score			
Standard Error			
FRANKA1			
EDANXOI			
In the past 7 days I felt fearful	 Never Rarely Sometimes Often Always 		
EDANX40			
In the past 7 days	ONever		
I found it hard to focus on anything other than my anxiety	Rarely		
	Often		
	Aiways		
EDANX41			
In the past 7 days	○ Never		
My worries overwhelmed me	O Rarely		
	Often		
	Aiways		
EDANX53			
In the past 7 days	○ Never		
l felt uneasy	O Rarely		
	O Often		
	Always		
01/20/2022 2:25pm		projectredcap.org	REDCap

FINAL RESULTS	
Г-score	
Standard Error	
EDDEP04	
n the past 7 days felt worthless	 Never Rarely Sometimes Often Always
EDDEP06	
n the past 7 days felt helpless	 Never Rarely Sometimes Often Always
EDDEP29	
n the past 7 days felt depressed	 Never Rarely Sometimes Often Always
EDDEP41	
n the past 7 days felt hopeless	 Never Rarely Sometimes Often Always

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

FINAL RESULTS		
T-score		
Standard Error		
HI7		
During the past 7 days: I feel fatigued	 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Ouite a bit 	
	O Very much	
FATEXP40		
In the past 7 days	O Not at all	
How fatigued were you on average?	 A little bit Somewhat 	
	Quite a bit	
FATEXP41		
In the past 7 days How run-down did you feel on average?	O Not at all	
	O Somewhat	
Δn3		
During the past 7 days:	O Not at all	
I have trouble starting things because I am tired	A little bit Somewhat	
	O Quite a bit	
	O very much	

 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much 		
 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much 		
 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much 		
 Very poor Poor Fair Good Very good 		
	 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much Very poor Pair Good Very good 	 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much Very much Very poor Fair Good Very good

PROMIS-29 Profile/Battery v2	2.1		Page
FINAL RESULTS			
T-score			
Standard Error			
SRPPER11 CaPS			
I have trouble doing all of my regular leisure activities with others	 Never Rarely Sometimes Usually Always 		
SRPPER18_CaPS			
l have trouble doing all of the family activities that l want to do	 Never Rarely Sometimes Usually Always 		
SRPPER23_CaPS			
l have trouble doing all of my usual work (include work at home)	 Never Rarely Sometimes Usually Always 		
SRPPER46 CaPS			
– I have trouble doing all of the activities with friends that I want to do	 Never Rarely Sometimes Usually Always 		
01/20/2022 2:25pm		projectredcap.org	REDCa

PROMIS-29 Profile/Battery v2.1

Page	26
------	----

FINAL RESULTS	
T-score	
Standard Error	
PAININ9	
In the past 7 days How much did pain interfere with your day to day activities?	 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much
PAININ22	
In the past 7 days how much did pain interfere with work around the home?	 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much
PAININ31	
In the past 7 days How much did pain interfere with your ability to participate in social activities?	 Not at all A little bit Somewhat Quite a bit Very much

PAININ34

In the past 7 days How much did pain interfere with your household chores?

O Not at all
 A little bit
 Somewhat
O Quite a bit
O Very much

T-score	FINAL RESULTS		
Standard Error GlobalO7 In the past 7 days How would you rate your pain on average? O O O O O O O O O O O O O	T-score		
Standard Error Global07 In the past 7 days How would you rate your pain on average? 0			
Global07 In the past 7 days How would you rate your pain on average?	Standard Error		
In the past 7 days	Global07		
	In the past 7 days How would you rate your pain on average?	0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0 10	

For Research Staff- Amputee Mobility Predictor w/ Prosthesis

Testee is seated in a hard chair with arms. The following maneuvers are tested while using the prosthesis. Advise the testee of each task or group of tasks prior to performance. Please avoid talking throughout the test. No task should be performed if either the tester or testee feels the item cannot be completed safely.

128) Sitting balance: sit forward in a chair with arms folded across chest for 60s	 Cannot sit upright independently Can sit upright independently
 129) Sitting reach: reach forward and grasp the ruler. (Tester holds ruler 12in beyond extended arms midline to the sternum) 	 Does not attempt Cannot grasp or requires arm support Reaches forward and successfully grasps item
130) Chair to chair transfer: 2 chairs at 90 degrees. Patient may choose direction and use their upper extremities.	 Cannot do or requires physical assistance Performs independently, but appear unsteady Performs independently, appears to be steady
131) Arise from a chair: ask patient to fold arms across chest and stand. If unable, use arms or assistive device.	 Unable without help (physical assistance) Able, uses arms/assist device to help Able, without using arms
132) Attempts to arise from a chair (stopwatch ready): if attempt in #4 was without arms, then ignore and allow another attempt without penalty.	 Unable without help (physical assistance) Able, requires more than one attempt Able to rise first attempt
133) Immediate standing balance (first 5s): begin timing immediately.	 Unsteady (staggers, moves foot, sways) Steady using walking aid or other support Steady without walker or other support
134) Standing balance (30s) (stopwatch ready): for items #7 and #8, first attempt is without assistive device. If support is required, allow after first attempt.	 Unsteady Steady but uses walking aid or other support Standing without support
135) Single-limb standing balance (stopwatch ready): time the duration of single limb standing on the sound limb up to 30s. Grade the quality, not the time.	 Nonprosthetic side- Unsteady Nonprosthetic side- Steady but uses walking aid or other support for 30s Nonprosthetic side- Single limb standing without support for 30s
136) Single-limb standing balance (stopwatch ready): time the duration of a single limb standing on the prosthetic limb up to 30s. Grade the quality, not the time.	 Prosthetic side- Unsteady Prosthetic side- Steady but uses walking aid or other support for 30s Prosthetic side- Single limb standing without support for 30s
137) Standing reach: reach forward and grasp the ruler (Tester holds ruler 12in beyond extended arm(s) midline to the sternum).	 Does not attempt Cannot grasp or requires arm support on assistive device Reaches forward and successfully grasps item no support
138) Nudge test (subject at maximum position #7): with feet as close together as possible, examiner pushes firmly on subject's sternum with palm of hand 3 times (toes should rise).	 Begins to fall Staggers, grabs, catches self, or uses assistive device Steady
01/20/2022 2:25pm	

	Page 29
 Eyes closed (at maximum position #7): if support is required grade as unsteady. 	 Unsteady or grips assistive device Steady without any use of assistive device
40) Picking up objects off the floor (pick up a pencil from the floor placed midline 12in in front of foot).	 Unable to pick up object and return to standing Performs with some help (table, chair, walking aid, etc) Performs independently (without help from object or person)
 Sitting down: ask patient to fold arms across chest and sit. If unable, use arm or assistive device. 	 Unsafe (misjudged distance, falls into chair) Uses arms, assistive device, or not a smooth motion Safe, smooth motion
42) Initiation of gait (immediately after told to "go").	\bigcirc Any hesitancy or multiple attempts to start \bigcirc No hesitancy
43) Step length and height: walk a measured distance of 12ft twice (up and back). "Marked deviation" is defined as extreme substitute movements to permit clearing the floor. Nonprosthetic foot.	 Does not advance a minimum of 12in Advances a minimum of 12in
44) Nonprosthetic foot clearance from previous question.	 Foot does not completely clear floor without deviation Foot completely clears floor without marked deviation
45) Prosthetic step length from previous question	 Does not advance a minimum of 12in Advances a minimum of 12in
46) Prosthetic foot clearance from previous question.	 Foot does not completely clear floor without deviation Foot completely clears floor without marked deviation
47) Step continuity.	 Stopping or discontinuity between steps (stop & go gait) Steps appear continuous
48) Turning: 180 degree turn when returning to chair.	 Unable to turn, requires intervention to prevent falling Greater than 3 steps but completes task without intervention No more than 3 continuous steps with or without assistive aid
49) Variable cadence: walk a distance of 12ft fast as safely as possible 4 times. (Speeds may vary from slow to fast and fast to slow, varying cadence.)	 Unable to vary cadence in a controlled manner Asymmetrical increase in cadence controlled mann Symmetrical increase in speed in a controlled manner
50) Stepping over obstacle: place a movable box of 4in. in	Cannot step over the box Catches foot, interrupts stride

01/20/2022 2:25pm

REDCap

projectredcap.org

	-	-	-	<u> </u>
2	а	ρ	- 1	υ.
	-	-	-	~

		Page 30
151) Stairs (must have at least 2 steps): try to go up and down these stairs without holding on to the railing. Don't hesitate to permit patient to hold on to rail. Safety first, if examiner feels that any risk is involved, then omit and score as 0.	 Ascending Unsteady, cannot do One step at a time, or must hold device Steps over step, does not hold or device 	on to railing or to the railing or
152) Assistive device selection: add points for the use of an assistive device if used for 2 or more items. If testing without prosthesis use of appropriate assistive device is mandatory.	 Bed bound Wheelchair Walker Crutches (axillary or forearm) Cane (straight or quad) None 	
153) AMPPRO Score		
01/20/2022 2:25pm	projectredcap.org	REDCap

For Research Staff- Functional Measures Data Collection

Four Square Step Test:

General Information:

-The patient is instructed to stand in square 1 facing square number 2 (see figure below) -The patient is required to step as fast as possible into each square in the following sequence: 2, 3, 4, 1, 4, 3, 2, and 1 requires the patient to step forward, backward, and sideway to the right and left -Equipment required for the FSST includes a stopwatch and 4 canes. Patient Instructions (derived from Dite and Temple 2002): -"Try to complete the sequence as fast as possible without touching the sticks. Both feet must make contact with the floor in each square. If possible, face forward during the entire sequence." -Demonstrate the sequence to the patient. -Ask the patient to complete one practice trial to ensure the patient knows the sequence. Repeat the trial if the patient is unsuccessful at completing the sequence, loses balance, or contacts a cane during the trial. -Two FSST are completed with the best time taken as the score. -A score is still provided if the patient is unable to face forward during the entire sequence. Scoring: -the best time of two FSST is the score -stopwatch starts when the first foot contacts the floor in square 2 stopwatch finishes when the last foot comes back to touch the floor in square 1 [Attachment: "Four Step Square Test Instructions.pdf"] 154) FSST Time (in seconds) 155) FSST Time (in seconds) Place biomechanics equipment (e.g. IMUs, reflective markers, and/or pressure insoles) on participant. Ask them to walk in designated area/distance in a straight line and stop. Inform participant they will be performing 5 trials at a comfortable walking speed, then 5 trials at a fast walking speed. Participants may take breaks between trials or choose not to complete all trials. 156) Walking Trial 1 Comfortable Walking Speed (in meters/second) 157) Walking Trial 2 Comfortable Walking Speed (in m/s) 158) Walking Trial 3 Comfortable Walking Speed (in m/s) 159) Walking Trial 4 Comfortable Walking Speed (in m/s) 160) Walking Trial 5 Comfortable Walking Speed (in m/s) 161) Walking Trial 1 Fast Speed (in m/s) 01/20/2022 2:25pm REDCap projectredcap.org

162) Walking Trial 2 Fast Speed (in m/s)		
163) Walking Trial 3 Fast Speed (in m/s)		
164) Walking Trial 4 Fast Speed (in m/s)		
165) Walking Trial 5 Fast Speed (in m/s)		
Timed Up and Go Test: Begin by having the patient sit back in a standard arm chair and floor.	identify a line 3 meters, or 10 feet	away, on the
When I say "Go," I want you to: 1. Stand up from the chair. 2. Walk to the line on the floor at your normal pace. 3. Turn. 4. Walk back to the chair at your normal pace. 5. Sit down again		
On the word "Go," begin timing. 3 Stop timing after patient sits back down. 4 Record time.		
Participant will complete 3 trials, which will be averaged.		
166) TUG Time (in seconds)		
167) TUG Time (in seconds)		
168) TUG Time (in seconds)		
169) TUG Average Score		
01/20/2022 2:25pm	projectredcap.org	REDCap
	p,	

For Research Staff- Prosthetic	Componentry	Page 33
70) Height in feet and inches (5ft 6in)		
71) Weight in lbs (150lbs)		
72) Residual limb length in cm:		
PROSTHETIC COMPONENTRY		
73) Prosthetic knee model:		
74) Prosthetic foot model:		
75) Shoe model:		
76) Shoe size:		
7) Suspension (vacuum, sleeve, skin fit, pin-lock, etc.):		
78) Sock ply:		
9) Comments:		
01/00/2022 2:25		EDCas [*]

Fall and Near-Fall Tracking

Please complete the survey below.

Thank you!

This survey asks about FALLS and NEAR-FALLS you have experienced in the past 2 weeks.

Please respond to all questions with the following definitions in mind:
A FALL is a loss of balance where your body landed on the ground or floor.
A NEAR-FALL is a loss of balance where you caught yourself or recovered without landing on the ground or floor.

If you report MULTIPLE falls or MULTIPLE near-falls, please answer the following questions for the fall or near-fall you REMEMBER BEST.

FALLS	
Have you experienced a FALL in the past 2 weeks?	○ Yes ○ No
How many FALLS have you experienced in the past 2 weeks?	
Example: 2	
Were you wearing your prosthesis when you fell?	⊖ Yes ⊖ No
(Choose the best answer)	O Do not remember
In what direction did you fall?	Forward Rackward
(Select ALL that apply)	To the right To the left Straight down Do not remember
Did you experience an injury because of the fall?	⊖ Yes ⊖ No
Did you receive medical treatment because of the fall?	 Self-administered treatment Treated but not taken to provider
(Choose the best answer)	 Treated and sent home the same day Hospitalized for 1 night Hospitalized for 2-3 nights Hospitalized for more than 3 nights Did not receive medical treatment Do not remember

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

Have you done any of the following because of the fall? (Select ALL that apply)	 Changed how you do certain activities Do certain activities less often Stopped doing certain activities altogether Rested more than usual Become more careful or cautious Pay more attention to your surroundings Began to use a cane, crutch, or walker Relied more on a cane, crutch, or walker Made safety modifications to your home Received physical help to perform activities None of these apply Do not remember
Did you experience any of the following changes after the fall? (Select ALL that apply)	 Less confident in your balance More afraid of falling Less confident in your prosthesis None of these apply Do not remember
On a scale of 0 (not significant at all) to 10 (extremely significant) how would you rate the fall? (Choose the best answer)	 0 (not significant at all) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (extremely significant)
NEAR-FALLS	
Have you experienced a NEAR-FALL in the past 12 months?	⊖ Yes ⊖ No
How many NEAR-FALLS have you experienced in the past 12 months?	
Example: 2	
Were you wearing your prosthesis when you nearly fell?	_ Yes
(Choose the best answer)	 ○ No ○ Do not remember
In what direction did you nearly fall?	Forward
(Select ALL that apply)	To the right To the left Straight down Do not remember
Did you experience an injury because of the near-fall?	⊖ Yes ○ No

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap
Confidential

	Page 36
Did you receive medical treatment because of the near-fall? (Choose the best answer)	 Self-administered treatment Treated but not taken to provider Treated and sent home the same day Hospitalized for 1 night Hospitalized for 2-3 nights Hospitalized for more than 3 nights Did not receive medical treatment Do not remember
Have you done any of the following because of the near-fall? (Select ALL that apply)	 ☐ Changed how you do certain activities ☐ Do certain activities less often ☐ Stopped doing certain activities altogether ☐ Rested more than usual ☐ Become more careful or cautious
	 Pay more attention to your surroundings Began to use a cane, crutch, or walker Relied more on a cane, crutch, or walker Made safety modifications to your home Received physical help to perform activities None of these apply Do not remember
Did you experience any of the following changes after the near-fall?	 Less confident in your balance More afraid of falling Less confident in your prosthesis
(Select ALL that apply)	 Do not remember
On a scale of 0 (not significant at all) to 10 (extremely significant) how would you rate the near-fall?	 0 (not significant at all) 1 2
(Choose the best answer)	 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 (extremely significant)

01/20/2022 2:25pm

projectredcap.org

REDCap

APPENDIX C

SUPPLEMENTAL TABLES

Chapter 2 Supplemental Data for Table 2

	Step Length	Stance Time	Stance Time	Overall Sagittal	Overall Sagittal	Overall Sagittal
	(m)	(s)	(% gait cycle)	Hip RoM(°)	Knee RoM(°)	Ankle RoM(°)
Bai et al.,	Echelon	NR	Echelon	NR	NR	Echelon
2017	(hydraulic foot)=		(hydraulic			(hydraulic foot)=
	0.13		foot)=			7.7
			8.0			
	Esprit (non-					Esprit (non-
	hydraulic foot)=		Esprit (non-			hydraulic foot)=
	0.12		hydraulic foot)=			2.4
			6.8			
Bateni and	NR	NR	4.2	2.6	7.7	NR
Olney, 2002						
		TT				
Clemens et	NR	$T^{1} = 0.03$	NR	NR	NR	NR
al., 2020		TE 0.1				
		1F = 0.1				
Darter et al	Pre-training=	Pre-training=	NR	NR	NR	NR
2013	0.13	0.12				
2015	0.15	0.12				
	Intermediate= 0.1	Intermediate=0.1				
		2				
	Post-training=					
	0.1	Post-training=				
		0.09				
Gholizadeh et	Suction= 0.04	NR	Suction= 3.3	Suction= 1.1	Suction= 14.6	Suction= 1.0
al., 2014						
	Pin-Lock= 0.08		Pin-Lock= 5.0	Pin-Lock= 1.1	Pin-Lock= 8.9	Pin-Lock= 0.8

Gholizadeh et al., 2020	Vacuum suspension off= 0.05	Vacuum suspension off= 0.02	NR	Vacuum suspension off= 2.4	Vacuum suspension off= 1.53	Vacuum suspension off= 8.41
	Vacuum suspension on= 0.03	Vacuum suspension on= 0.03		Vacuum suspension on= 3.1	Vacuum suspension on= 1.88	Vacuum suspension on= 8.22
Hak et al., 2014	0.02*	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Hekmatfard et al., 2013	Unweighted condition=: 0.01	NR	Unweighted condition= 13.0	NR	NR	NR
Highsmith et al., 2010	TT= 0.03	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
	TF= 0.02					
Houdijk et al.,	SACH= 0.05					
2018	ESAR= 0.01					
Johansson et al., 2005	Mauch (hydraulic knee) = 0.05	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 0.09	NR	NR	NR	NR
	C-Leg MPK=	C-Leg MPK= 0.1				
	0.05	Rheo MPK= 0.1				
	Rheo MPK= 0.06					
Keklicek et	Control= 0.01	NR	Control=0.71	NR	NR	NR
, =017	TT=		TT=			

	0.02		5.15			
	TF= 0.16		TF= 20.73			
Kovac et al.,	Control= 0.01	Control= 0.001s		NR	NR	NR
2010	TT= 0.07	TT= 0.04s				
Mattes et al., 2000	Unweighted condition= 0.03*	Unweighted condition= 0.01*		NR	NR	NR
Moore, 2016	NR	K3 group: pre-Echelon foot= 0.07		NR	NR	NR
		post-Echelon foot= 0.05				
		K2 group: pre-Avalon foot= 0.06				
		post-Avalon foot= 0.04				
Nadollek et al., 2002	0.01	NR		NR	NR	NR
Nolan et al., 2003	NR	TT= 0.06				

		TF= 0.24				
Orekhov et al., 2019	NR	NR		NR	Control= 1.5*	NR
					TT= 13.0*	
Petersen et al., 2010	3R60 (hydraulic knee)= 0.06	NR	3R60 (hydraulic knee)= 7.4	NR	NR	NR
	C-Leg MPK= 0.06		C-Leg MPK= 5.3			
Rowe, 2014	0.03	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Schaarschmid t et al., 2012	NR	Speed of 0.8m/s: 3R80 (hydraulic knee)= 0.07	NR	NR	NR	NR
		C-Leg MPK=0.08				
		Speed of 1.1m/s: 3R80 (hydraulic knee)= 0.02				
		C-Leg MPK=0.01				
Segal et al., 2006	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 0.04	NR	NR	NR	Mauch knee= 1.26	NR

	C-Leg MPK= 0.03				C-Leg MPK= 13.39	
Sjodahl et al., 2002	Before gait training= 0.12	NR	Before gait training= 5.0	Before gait training= 18.0	NR	NR
Smith and Martin, 2013	After gait training= 0.08 NR	Baseline condition= 0.04*	After gait training= 7.0 NR	After gait training= 19.0 NR	Baseline condition = 10*	NR
Supan et al., 2010	Baseline condition= 0.07	NR	Baseline condition= 0.07	Baseline condition= 0.98	Baseline condition= 8.27	Baseline condition= 6.56
Svoboda and Janura, 2007	NR	Optimal alignment condition= 0.01	NR	NR	NR	NR
Uchytil et al.,	Control= 0.003	Control= 0.02	NR	NR	NR	NR
2014	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 0.09	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 0.07				
	Rheo MPK= 0.07	Rheo MPK= 0.03				
Uchytil et al., 2017	NR	NR	NR	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 8.75	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 1.01	NR
				Rheo MPK= 3.72	Rheo MPK= 16.7	

Xu et al., 2017	15 inHg condition= 0.06	NR	15 inHg Condition= 2.1	15 inHg condition= 1.3	15 inHg condition= 7.8	15 inHg Condition= 10.1
Yang et al., 2018	1C30 Trias (ESAR foot)= 0.04	NR	IC30 Trias= 0.3	IC30 Trias= 0.63	IC30 Trias= 3.19	IC30 Trias= 9.27
	1C60 Trias (ESAR split forefoot & heel wedge)= 0.02		1C60 Trias= 0.6	1C60 Trias= 1.47	1C60 Trias= 1.43	IC60 Trias= 12.22
Summary	Step Length Differences (m):	Stance Time Differences (s):	Stance Time Differences (% gait cycle):	Overall Hip RoM Differences (°):	Overall Knee RoM Differences (°):	Overall Ankle RoM Differences (°):
Ranges by Level of	Control = 0.003 - 0.01	Control= $0.001 - 0.02$	Control= 0.71	Control= NR	Control=	CONTROL= NR
Limb Loss	0.005 0.01	0.001 0.02	0.71		1.5	
	TT= 0.01 - 0.12	TT= 0.01 - 0.04	TT= 0.07 – 5.15	TT= 0.63 - 3.05	TT= 1.43 – 14.6	TT= 0.8 - 12.2
	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=
	0.008 - 0.164	0.01 - 0.24	5.0 - 20.7	3.72 - 19.0	1.01 – 16.7	2.4 - 7.7
Ranges by Prosthetic Feet	SACH= 0.05	SACH= NR	SACH= NR	SACH= NR	SACH= NR	SACH= NR
	ESAR= 0.01 - 0.13	ESAR= 0.04 - 0.07	ESAR= 0.3 - 8.0	ESAR= 0.63 – 1.47	ESAR= 1.43 – 3.19	ESAR= 2.4 – 12.2
Ranges by Prosthetic Knees	Hydraulic= 0.04 – 0.09	Hydraulic= 0.07 – 0.11	Hydraulic= 7.4	Hydraulic= 8.75	Hydraulic= 1.01 – 13.4	Hydraulic= NR
	MPKs= 0.03 –0.07	MPKs= 0.03 - 0.13	MPKs= 5.3	MPKs= 3.72	MPKs= 1.26 – 16.74	MPKs= NR

Table 2: Supplemental data for Table 2. Summary of studies (31 total) that reported raw values for prosthetic and intact limbs or differences between limbs in meters (m), seconds (s), % of the gait cycle, or degrees (°) for step length, stance time, or overall sagittal range of motion (RoM) at the hip, knee, and ankle. Studies that measured stance time either reported values in seconds or % of the gait cycle, so these are reported separately. Results are taken from level ground walking conditions at self-selected walking speeds. Baseline conditions and intermediate walking speeds were chosen if multiple conditions or speeds were tested. An asterisk (*) indicates values were estimated from a graph or chart because they were not explicitly stated in a table. Ranges by level of limb loss, prosthetic feet, and prosthetic knees are summarized from the 31 studies above in Table 2. NR= not reported, TT= individuals who use unilateral transtibial prostheses, TF= individuals who use unilateral transfemoral prostheses, IULLPs= individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses, SACH= solid ankle cushion heel, ESAR= energy storage and return, MPK= microprocessor knee.

Supplemental Da	Step Length (% Symmetry from m)	Stance Time (% Symmetry from s)	Stance Time (% Symmetry from % gait cycle)	Overall Sagittal Hip RoM (% Symmetry from °)	Overall Sagittal Knee RoM (% Symmetry from °)	Overall Sagittal Ankle RoM (% Symmetry from °)
Astrom and Stenstrom, 2004	83 to "over 90%"^	82 to "over 90%"∧	NR	NR	86 to "over 90%"^	NR
Bai et al., 2017	Echelon (hydraulic foot)= 81.6	NR	Echelon (hydraulic foot)= 87.1	NR	NR	Echelon (hydraulic foot)= 53.2
	Esprit (non- hydraulic foot)= 82.9		Esprit (non- hydraulic foot)= 89.1			Esprit (non- hydraulic foot)= 83.2
Bateni and Olney, 2002	NR	NR	93.3	93.0	87.9	NR
Clemens et al., 2020	NR	TT= 95.8 TF= 87.2	NR	NR	NR	NR

Chow et al., 2006	Most symmetrical alignment= 97.9^	Most symmetrical alignment = 93.7^		NR	Most symmetrical alignment = 85.1^	NR
	Avg. of all alignments= 88.5^	Avg. of all alignments= 90.6^			Avg. of all alignments= 83.1^	
Darter et al., 2013	Pre-training= 78.9	Pre-training= 84.6	NR	NR	NR	NR
	Intermediate= 84.8	Intermediate= 83.5				
	Post-training= 84.8	Post-training= 87.8				
Darter et al., 2017	Baseline conditions: Control= 97.0*	Baseline conditions: Control= 98.0*	NR	NR	NR	NR
	TT= 98.0*	TT= 92.0*				
Gholizadeh et al., 2014	Suction suspension= 93.2	NR	Suction suspension= 94.8	Suction suspension= 97.1	Suction suspension= 77.0	Suction suspension= 95.3
	Pin-lock suspension= 86.2		Pin-lock suspension= 92.2	Pin-lock suspension= 97.0	Pin-lock suspension= 84.4	Pin-lock suspension= 96.1

Gholizadeh et al., 2020	Vacuum suspension off= 91.5	Vacuum suspension off= 97.4	NR	Vacuum suspension off= 93.6	Vacuum suspension off= 97.6	Vacuum suspension off= 64.5
	Vacuum suspension on= 95.8	Vacuum suspension on= 96.2		Vacuum suspension on= 91.7	Vacuum suspension on= 97.0	Vacuum suspension on= 65.0
Hak et al., 2014	96.7*	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Hekmatfard et al., 2013	Unweighted condition= 98.5	NR	Unweighted condition= 81.3	NR	NR	NR
Highsmith et al., 2010	TT= 95.4	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
	TF= 97.1					
Johansson et al., 2005	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 93.2	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 80.6	NR	NR	NR	NR
	C-Leg MPK= 95.9	C-Leg MPK= 78.7				
Keklicek et	Rheo MPK= 91.7 Control= 97.6	Rheo MPK= 79.2 NR	Control= 98.6	NR	NR	NR
al., 2019	TT- 05 5		TT- 89 7			
	1F = 66.4		1F = 58.6			

Kahle and Highsmith, 2014	Ischial containment= 98.0^	Ischial containment= 94.0^	NR	NR	NR	NR
	Brimless socket w/ vacuum= 92.0^	Brimless socket w/ vacuum= 92.0^				
Kovac et al.,	Control= 98.4	Control= 99.8		NR	NR	NR
2010	TT= 89.6	TT= 94.9				
Marinakis, 2004	NR	Used 3 different equations (Symmetry Index 2)	NR	Used 3 different equations (Symmetry Index 2)	Used 3 different equations (Symmetry Index 2)	Used 3 different equations (Symmetry Index 2)
		SACH foot= 78.9 [^]		SACH foot= 85.7^	SACH foot= 84.9^	SACH foot= 23.7 [^]
		Greissenger (ESAR foot)= 97.0^		Greissenger (ESAR foot)= 89.0^	Greissenger (ESAR foot)= 91.4^	Greissenger (ESAR foot)= 63.5^
Mattes et al., 2000	Unweighted condition= 96.7*	Unweighted condition= 98.6*	NR	NR	NR	NR
Nadollek et al., 2002	96.6	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

Nolan et al., 2003	NR	Control=97.4	NR	NR	NR	NR
		TT= 93.5				
		TF= 74.5				
Orekhov et al., 2019	NR	NR	NR	NR	Control= 96.2*	NR
2017					TT= 70.8*	
Petersen et al., 2010	3R60 (hydraulic knee)= 90.9	NR	3R60 (hydraulic knee)= 88.2	NR	NR	NR
	C-Leg MPK= 90.9		C-Leg MPK= 91.6			
Roerdink et al., 2012	Avg. of participants at comfortable walking speed= 94.9	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR
Rowe, 2014	95.3	NR	NR	NR	NR	NR

Schaarschmidt et al., 2012	NR	Speed of 0.8m/s: 3R80 (hydraulic knee)= 89.3	NR	NR	NR	NR
		C-Leg MPK= 87.9				
		Speed of 1.1m/s: 3R80 (hydraulic knee)= 96.8				
		C-Leg MPK= 98.4				
Segal et al., 2006	Mauch (hydraulic knee) = 94.2	NR	NR	NR	Mauch knee= 97.7	NR
	C-Leg MPK= 95 7				C-Leg MPK= 77.7	
Sjodahl et al., 2002	Before gait training= 82.1	NR	Before gait training= 91.6	Before gait training= 55.0	NR	NR
	After gait training= 91.0		After gait training= 88.4	After gait training= 60.0		
Smith and Martin, 2013	NR	Unweighted prosthesis: 95.6	NR	NR	Unweighted prosthesis: 83.3	NR

Supan et al., 2010	Baseline condition= 81.3	NR	Baseline condition= 99.9	Baseline condition= 97.6	Baseline condition= 83.8	Baseline condition= 71.2
Svoboda and Janura, 2007	NR	Optimal alignment condition= 98.8	NR	NR	NR	NR
Uchytil et al.,	Control= 99.6	Control= 97.2	NR	NR	NR	NR
2014	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 86.6	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 91.2				
	Rheo MPK= 90.3	Rheo MPK= 96.0				
Uchytil et al., 2017	NR	NR	NR	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 82.6	Mauch (hydraulic knee)= 98.2	NR
				Rheo MPK=	Rheo MPK=	
Xu et al., 2017	15 inHg condition= 91.9	NR	15 inHg Condition= 96.7	15 inHg condition= 97.5	15 inHg condition= 88.6	15 inHg Condition= 62.5
Yang et al.,	1C30 Trias	NR	IC30 Trias= 99.5	IC30 Trias= 98.5	IC30 Trias= 95.0	IC30 Trias= 60.8
2010	94.2 1C60 Trias (ESAR split forefoot & heel wedge)= 97.3		1C60 Trias= 99.0	1C60 Trias= 96.4	1C60 Trias= 97.8	IC60 Trias= 44.5

Summary	Step Length (% Symmetry from m)	Stance Time (% Symmetry from s)	Stance Time (% Symmetry from % gait cycle)	Overall Sagittal Hip RoM (% Symmetry from °)	Overall Sagittal Knee RoM (% Symmetry from °)	Overall Sagittal Ankle RoM (% Symmetry from °)
Ranges by Level	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=	Control=
of Limb Loss	97.0 - 99.6	97.2 - 99.8	98.6	NR	96.2	NR
	TT=	TT=	TT=	TT=	TT=	TT=
	81.3 - 98.0	78.9 - 98.8	81.3 - 99.9	85.7 – 99.8	70.8 - 97.8	23.7 - 96.1
	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=	TF=
	66.4 - 98.5	74.5 - 98.4	58.6 - 91.6	55.0 - 91.9	70.5 - 98.2	53.2 - 83.2
Ranges by	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=	SACH=
Prosthetic Feet	NR	78.9	NR	85.7	84.9	23.7
	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=	ESAR=
	81.6 - 97.3	97.0	87.1 – 99.5	89.0 - 98.5	91.4 - 97.8	44.5 - 83.2
Ranges by	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=	Hydraulic=
Prostnetic Knees	86.6 - 94.2	/4./-91.2	88.2	82.0	11.8-98.2	NK
	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=	MPKs=
	90.3 - 95.9	71.4 - 96.0	91.6	91.6	70.5 - 97.7	NR

Table 3: Supplemental data for Table 3. Summary of studies (34 total) that could be converted to percentages using 100- Eq. 1. Studies that measured stance time either reported values in seconds or % of the gait cycle, so these are reported separately. A circumflex symbol (^) indicates studies that used Eq. 1 or could be converted to Eq. 1, but are not in Table 2 because they did not include raw prosthetic and intact limb values. An asterisk (*) indicates prosthetic and intact limb values were estimated from a graph or chart. Ranges by level of limb loss, prosthetic feet, and prosthetic knees are summarized from the 34 studies above. NR= not reported, TT= individuals who use unilateral transtibial prostheses, TF= individuals who use transfemoral prostheses, IULLPs= individuals who use unilateral lower-limb prostheses, SACH= solid ankle cushion heel, ESAR= energy storage and return, MPK= microprocessor knee.

Chapter 3

supplemental		lary of menudeu Africies			
	Author, Year	Title	Participants	Assessments	Fall Data
Clinical Outcomes	Cowley & Kerr 2001	Amputees and Tightropes: A Pilot Study to Measure Postural Control Post-Amputation	7 TT prosthesis users; mean age 64.6 yrs; 6 male, 1 female	FES, BBS, TUG	Falls and falls efficacy during 3 month study
	Dite et al. 2007	Clinical identification of multiple fall risk early after unilateral transtibial amputation	47 uni TT prosthesis users; Non-recurrent fallers= 27 participants mean age 65.2 \pm 11.18 yrs, Recurrent fallers= 13 participants mean age 59.9 \pm 14.28 yrs; 30 males, 17 females; PVD or diabetes= 26	LCI-advanced, TUG, FSST, 180 degree turn test	6 month retrospective falls
	Hakim et al. 2018	Identifying Fallers and nonfallers	40 uni total; 20 Non-fallers, 14 TT prosthesis users, 6 TF prosthesis users, 17 male, 3 female, mean age 56.9 ± 16.0 yrs, K2=4, K3=12, K4=4, 12 used assistive devices; 20 Recurrent Fallers, all TT prosthesis users, 12 male, 8 female, mean age 58.3 ± 15.9 yrs, K2=0, K3=13, K4=7, 8 used assistive devices	TUG, AMPPRO, Functional Reach, Single Limb Stance	Nonfallers and recurrent fallers grouped by 12 month retrospective falls
	Jayaraman et al. 2021	Using a microprocessor knee (C-Leg) with appropriate foot	10 uni TF prosthesis users using a non-MPK; 4 male, 6 female; all dysvascular or	mFES, PEQ-MS, BBS, TUG, AMPPRO, FSST, 10MWT,	Falls efficacy via mFES only

Supplemental Table 1: Summary of Included Articles

diabetic; all K1 or K2;

transitioned individuals

6MWT

	with dysvascular transfemoral amputations to higher performance levels: a longitudinal randomized clinical trial	mean age 63 ± 9 yrs; half the participants (n=5) were aged 69 and older; mean TSA 5.8 ± 8.1 yrs		
Lansade et al. 2018	Mobility and satisfaction with a microprocessor- controlled knee in moderately active amputees: A multi- centric randomized crossover trial	27 TF Non-MPK users completed the study; 25 uni, 2 bi TF-TT; mean age 64.5 ± 9.7 yrs; mean TSA 61.4 ± 85.5 yrs; etiologies= 14 vascular, 2 vascular diabetic, 4 trauma, 1 tumor, 1 infection; assistive devices= 7 none, 10 cane(s), 11 crutch(es)	SF-36v2, LCI-5, TUG, Quebec User Evaluation of Satisfaction with Assistive Technology (QUEST) 2.0	Number of falls during study with non-MPK and MPK over 1 month
Mileusnic et al. 2017	Effects of a Novel Microprocessor- Controlled Knee, Kenevo, on the Safety, Mobility, and Satisfaction of Lower- Activity Patients with Transfemoral Amputation	23 TF total; 22 uni, 1 bi; mean age 63.2 ± 9.5 yrs; mean TSA 6.3 ± 8.9 yrs; 6 vascular, 5 infection, 1 cancer, 1 trauma (not all responded); 1 K1, 19 K2, 3 K3;	(n=11 for all outcomes) LCI-5, Houghton scale, PLUS-M	Number of falls during study and fear of falling
Miller et al. 2001	The influence of falling, fear of falling, and balance confidence on prosthetic mobility and social activity among individuals with a lower extremity amputation	435 total; mean age 62 ± 15.7 yrs; 319 TT; 309 males; 230 vascular; Nonfallers= 207, Fallers= 228	ABC, PEQ-MS, Houghton scale, Frenchay activities index	12 month retrospective falls

	Sawers & Hafner 2022	Performance-based balance tests, combined with the number of falls recalled in the past year, predicts the incidence of future falls in established unilateral transtibial prosthesis users	45 uni TT prosthesis users: Non-fallers= mean age 53.4 yrs; mean TSA 13.1 yrs; Single fallers= mean age 56.6 yrs and mean TSA 19.6 yrs; Recurrent fallers= mean age 55.7 yrs and mean TSA 6.6 yrs; 33 males and 12 females; 20 dysvacular, 25 non- dysvascular; 11 K1-K2, 34 K3-K4	SCS, PLUS-M, TUG, FSST, 10MWT, Narrow Beam Walking Test	12 month retrospective falls; 6 month prospective falls
	Wong et al. 2015	Balance ability measured with the Berg balance scale: a determinant of fall history in community-dwelling adults with leg amputation	54 uni/bi TT /TF 46 prosthesis users, 8 non- prosthesis users; mean age 56.8 yrs; 36 males, 18 females; Non-fallers= 25, Single fallers= 15, Recurrent fallers= 14	ABC, Houghton Scale, BBS	Nonfallers and fallers groups by 12 month retrospective falls
Gait Parameters	Schafer et al. 2018	A personalised exercise programme for individuals with lower limb amputation reduces falls and improves gait biomechanics: A block randomised controlled trial	15 total; Exercise group= mean age 60 ± 12 yrs, mean TSA 10 ± 17 yrs, 5 uni TF, 2 uni TT, 4 males, 3 females, 3 vascular, 1 trauma, 2 cancer, 1 infection; Control group= mean age 65 ± 16 yrs, mean TSA 19 ± 20 year, 5 uni TF, 3 uni TT, 7 males, 1 female, 2 vascular, 4 trauma, 1 cancer, 1 infection	spatiotemporal (stance time, SLS, DLS), kinematics (peak hip abd, hip add, hip flex, hip ext, knee flex, knee ext, ankle PF, ankle DF), kinetics (peak vertical GRF, peak braking force, peak propulsive force, peak sagittal plane moments, peak powers)	12 month retrospective falls at 1 year follow-up

	Vanicek et al. 2009	Gait patterns in transtibial amputee fallers vs. non-fallers: biomechanical differences during level walking	11 uni TT prosthesis users; 5 non-fallers= 2 females, 3 males, mean age 57 ± 21 yrs; 6 fallers= all male, mean age 56 ± 13 yrs	walking: spatiotemporal parameters (walking speed, double support, step length, step frequency, stance); peak vertical GRF; Hip ROM (extension, adduction stance, abduction swing, total sagittal, total frontal); Knee ROM (flexion in loading response, flexion in swing, total sagittal); Ankle ROM (dorsiflexion in terminal stance, ankle angle toe-off, planarflexion swing, total sagittal); Moments (hip, knee, and ankle waveforms); Kinetics (posterior braking, anterior propulsion, vertical 1, vertical 2, load rate, decay rate)	Nonfallers and fallers grouped by 9 month retrospective falls
	Vanicek et al. 2010	Lower Limb Kinematic and Kinetic Differences between Transtibial Amputee Fallers and Non-Fallers	11 uni TT prosthesis users; 5 non-fallers= 2 females, 3 males, mean age 57 ± 21 yrs; 6 fallers= all male, mean age 56 ± 13 yrs		Nonfallers and fallers grouped by 9 month retrospective falls
	Vanicek et al. 2015	Kinematic differences exist between transtibial amputee fallers and non- fallers during downwards step transitioning	11 uni TT prosthesis users; 5 non-fallers= 2 females, 3 males, mean age 57 ± 21 yrs; 6 fallers= all male, mean age 56 ± 13 yrs	stair ascent: spatiotemporal, kinematics, & kinetics	Nonfallers and fallers grouped by 9 month retrospective falls
Both Clinical Outcomes & Gait	Anderson et al. 2021	Falls After Dysvascular Transtibial Amputation: A Secondary Analysis of	69 TT; all 6mo to 5yrs after dysvascular amputation; Nonfallers= mean age 65.2	TUG, 2MWT, gait speed, step count	Nonfallers and fallers grouped by falls during
Parameters		Falling Characteristics	\pm 8.6yrs, TSA, 1.3 \pm 1.4yrs;		12 week study

	and Reduced Physical Performance	Fallers= mean age $63.7 \pm$ 8.5yrs, TSA 1.1 ± 1.3yrs		
Barnett et al. 2013	Temporal adaptations in generic and population- specific quality of life and falls efficacy in men with recent lower-limb amputations	7 TT prosthesis users; mean age 56.1 yrs; all male; 4 vascular, 3 nonvascular	mFES, , SF-36, PEQ, walking speed	Falls efficacy via mFES only
Christiansen et al. 2020	Biobehavioral Intervention Targeting Physical Activity Behavior Change for Older Veterans after Nontraumatic Amputation: A Randomized Controlled Trial	31 total; 26 TT users, 5 TF users; mean age 65.7 ± 7.8 yrs; mean TSA 36.4 months; all male	FES-I, PEQ-MS, TUG, 2MWT, step counts, walking speed from 5MWT	Number of falls during 12 week study
Hafner & Askew 2015	Physical performance and self-report outcomes associated with use of passive, adaptive, and active prosthetic knees in persons with unilateral, transfemoral amputation: Randomized crossover trial	12 uni TF prosthesis users; mean age 58.8 ± 6.1 yrs; mean TSA 28.9 ± 12.5 yrs; all males; all nonvascular etiologies; all K3; tested under 3 conditions= prescribed passive knee, adapative MPK, and active MPK	ABC, PEQ-MS, PROMIS- Physical Function, PROMIS- Fatigue, PROMIS- Global Health, Timed Stair Test, Timed Ramp Test, Outdoor Obstacle Course, StepWatch3 Activity Monitor	Number of falls during previous week for each knee condition
Hordacre et al. 2015	Community activity and participation	46 uni TT prosthesis users; Non-fallers= 30, mean age 58.5 ± 13.3 yrs, 26 male, mean TSA 13.2 ± 19.1 , 9 PVD, 11 trauma, 10 other, K1= 0, K2= 1, K3= 9, K4= 20; Fallers= 16, mean age	AMPPRO, step counts over 7 days using accelerometer and GPS	Nonfallers and fallers grouped by 12 month retrospective falls

			64.4 ± 13.5 yrs, 10 male, mean TSA 18.0 ± 19.2, 6 trauma, 1 other, K1= 1, K2= 3, K3= 4, K4= 8		
K	Kaufman et al. 2018	Functional assessment and satisfaction of transfemoral amputees with low mobility (FASTK2): A clinical trial of microprocessor- controlled vs. non- microprocessor- controlled knees	50 uni TF tested using prescribed non-MPK and fit with MPK; all K2; mean age 69 yrs; tested at baseline with non-MPK, then 10 wks after using MPK, then 4 wks after reverting to non-MPK	PEQ, ActiGraph GTX3 wearable sensors= time spent sitting, upright activity, gait complexity (with MPK= significant decrease in time spent sitting, significant increase in time spent upright, gait complexity increased)	Number of falls during study with MPK and non-MPK

Supplemental Table 1: Summary of nineteen articles included in this review. Abbreviations: TT= transtibial, TF= transfemoral, uni= unilateral, bi= bilateral, TSA= time since amputation, PVD= peripheral vascular disease, ABC= Activities-Specific Balance Confidence scale, FES= Falls Efficacy Scale, SF-36= 36-Item Short Form, PEQ-MS= Prosthetic Evaluation Questionnaire Mobility Subscale, PEQ-A= Prosthetic Evaluation Questionnaire- Ambulation, LCI= Locomotor Capabilities Index, PLUS-M= Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility, BBS= Berg Balance Scale, TUG= Timed Up and Go, 2MWT= 2-minute walk test, AMPPRO= Amputee Mobility Predictor, FSST= Four Square Step Test, 10MWT= 10-meter walk test, SLS= single limb support, DLS= double limb support, ROM= range of motion, MPK= Microprocessor knee.

			All participants (not distinguished by fall status)	Non- Fallers	Fallers (not distinguished by single or recurrent falls)	Single Fallers	Recurrent Fallers
Self-Reported Questionnaires	ABC	Hafner & Askew 2015	Active knee: 78.5= BL, 82.3= interv; Adaptive knee: 83.3= BL, 84.5= interv				
		Miller et al. 2001	62.8 ± 27.1				
		Sawers & Hafner 2022		3.15		3.07	2.78
		Wong et al. 2015		66.6 ± 30.5		61.2 ± 26.7	73.7 ± 19.5
	FES	Barnett et al. 2013 (modified/14 items)	75.7 ± 17.2= 1mo., 70.6 ± 17.5= 3mo., 78.4 ± 15.9= 6mo.				
		Christiansen et al. 2020 (FES-I score out of 64)	Group 1: 28.9= BL, 30.3= 12w, 27.5= 24w; Group 2: 28.0 BL, 32.5= 12w, 29.1= 24w				
		Cowley & Kerr 2001 (unmodified/10 items)	89.8= BL, 92.8= 6wks, 82.6= 3mo				
		Jayaraman et al. 2021 (modified/14 items)	$7.78 \pm 1.14 =$ BL, Non- MPK = 8.51 ± 1.03 , MPK = 9.33 ± 0.69				
	SF-36	Barnett et al. 2013	60.8 ± 19.2= 1mo., 61.5 ± 19.3= 3mo., 68.2 ± 14.2= 6mo.*				
		Lansade et al. 2018 (v2)	Mental: Non-MPK= 53.3, MPK= 60.2; Physical:				

Supplemental Table 2: Clinical Outcome Measures Associated with Falls

		Non-MPK= 44.1, MPK=			
PEQ-MS	Barnett et al. 2013 (PEQ-A)	$\begin{array}{r} 50.3 \\ 74.5 \pm 6.0 = 1 \text{mo}, \ 60.3 \pm \\ 14.9 = 3 \text{mo}, \ 71.4 \pm 18.0 = \\ 6 \text{mo} \end{array}$			
	Christiansen et al. 2020	Group 1: 2.5= BL, 2.4= 12w, 2.7= 24w; Group 2: 2.7= BL, 2.6= 12w, 2.7= 24w			
	Hafner & Askew 2015	Active knee: 2.9= BL, 2.9= interv; Adaptive knee: 3.1 BL, 3.2 interv			
	Jayaraman et al. 2021 (PEQ-A)	$60.63 \pm 18.75 =$ BL, Non- MPK = 59.15 ± 19.31, MPK = 81.92 ± 18.74			
	Kaufman et al. 2018 (PEQ-A)	Non-MPK ~ 50.0, MPK ~ 45.0 (estimated from chart)			
	Miller et al. 2001		7.4	7.0	
LCI	Dite et al. 2007 (LCI-advanced score out of 21)			17.6 ± 4.2	12.9 ± 4.3
	Lansade et al. 2018 (LCI-5)	Non-MPK= 40.4 ± 7.6 , MPK= 42.8 ± 6.2			
	Mileusnic et al. 2017 (<i>LCI-5</i>)	Non-MPK= 37.7 ± 11.2 , MPK= 40.0 ± 12.7			
Houghton Scale	Mileusnic et al. 2017	Non-MPK= 7.0 ± 2.2 , MPK= 8.0 ± 2.7			
	Miller et al. 2001		8.7	8.5	
	Wong et al. 2015		6.6 ± 4.8	6.4 ± 4.0	7.6 ± 3.1

	PLUS-M	Mileusnic et al. 2017	Non-MPK= 45.5 ± 7.0, MPK= 48.3 ± 10.7				
		Sawers & Hafner 2022		58.0		57.1	54.5
Functional Mobility	BBS	Cowley & Kerr 2001	38.3 BL, 44.3 6wks, 44.0 3mo				
		Jayaraman et al. 2021	37 ± 8= BL, Non-MPK = 39 ± 15, MPK = 44 ± 13				
		Wong et al. 2015				36.3 ± 16.6*	48.8 ± 5.9*
	TUG (s)	Christiansen et al. 2020	Group 1: 19.4= BL, 18.0= 12w, 15.3= 24w; Group 2: 14.9 BL, 14.8= 12w, 14.5= 24w				
		Cowley & Kerr 2001	34.1= BL, 14.4= 6wks, 17.0= 3mo				
		Dite et al. 2007				16.2s ± 5.3*	$25s \pm 6.9*$
		Hafner & Askew 2015	Active knee: 11.1= BL, 13.7= interv; Adaptive knee: 11.5= BL, 10.6= interv				
		Hakim et al. 2018		10.7 ± 2.6*			14.8 ± 7.3*
		Jayaraman et al. 2021	27.5 ± 15 = BL, Non-MPK = 29.0 ± 16.3, MPK= 25.3 ± 14.1				
		Lansade et al. 2018	Non-MPK 23.1s ± 5.4, MPK= 19.4s ± 5.1				
		Sawers & Hafner 2022		9.4s		10.3s	10.4s
	2MWT	Anderson et al. 2021		313.9 ± 121.6	298.2 ± 111.5		

	Christiansen et al. 2020	Group 1: 97.7= BL, 85.5= 12w, 103.4= 24w; Group 2: 101.8 BL, 101.3= 12w, 103.3= 24w				
AMPPRO	Hakim et al. 2018		41.7 ± 3.1*			36.9 ± 7.4*
	Hordacre et al. 2015		43.0 ± 3.2	39.6 ± 7.2		
	Jayaraman et al. 2021	31 ± 7= BL, Non-MPK = 35 ± 6, MPK = 36 ± 5				
FSST (s)	Dite et al. 2007				17.6 ± 8.3*	32.6 ± 10.1*
	Jayaraman et al. 2021	$17.4 \pm 5.0=$ BL, Non- MPK = 19.6 \pm 12.4, MPK = 16.8 \pm 11.2				
	Sawers & Hafner 2022		9.1		9.4	8.6
10MWT (s)	Jayaraman et al. 2021	9.7= BL, 7.8= Non-MPK, 7.3= MPK				
	Sawers & Hafner 2022		8.3		8.8	8.5

Supplemental Table 2: Clinical outcome measure scores reported by at least 2 included studies in this review. Means with standard deviations (±). Bold text with asterisk (*) indicates the study found a significant association with falls, further described in Table 4. All functional outcomes collected at comfortable walking speed. Abbreviations: ABC= Activities-Specific Balance Confidence scale, FES= Falls Efficacy Scale, SF-36= 36-Item Short Form, PEQ-MS= Prosthetic Evaluation Questionnaire Mobility Subscale, PEQ-A= Prosthetic Evaluation Questionnaire- Ambulation, LCI= Locomotor Capabilities Index, PLUS-M= Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility, BBS= Berg Balance Scale, TUG= Timed Up and Go, 2MWT= 2-minute walk test, AMPPRO= Amputee Mobility Predictor, FSST= Four Square Step Test, 10MWT= 10-meter walk test, BL= baseline, interv= intervention, MPK= Microprocessor knee, wks= weeks, mo= months.

Supple	mental	Table 3	3: C	Gait Parameters	Associated	with Falls
--------	--------	---------	------	-----------------	------------	------------

			All participants	Non- Fallers	Fallers (not distinguished by single or recurrent)	Single Fallers	Recurrent Fallers
Spatiotemporal	Step counts	Anderson et al. 2021		1669.7 ± 1386.2	1582.3 ± 1393.6		
		Christiansen et al. 2020	Group 1: BL= 1862, 12wks= 1609, 24wks= 1716; Group 2: BL= 1869, 12wks= 1897, 24wks= 1773				
		Hafner & Askew 2015	Active knee: BL= 2204.4, Interv= 1942.5; Adaptive knee: BL= 2238.9, Interv= 2041.4				
		Hordacre et al. 2015	2124				
	Walking speed (m/s)	Anderson et al. 2021		0.866 ± 0.308	0.825 ± 0.278		
		Jayaraman et al. 2021 (<i>calculated</i> <i>from 10MWT</i>)	BL= 1.0, Non-MPK= 1.3, MPK= 1.4				
		Kaufman et al. 2018	88% had < 0.5				
		Schafer et al. 2018	BL= 0.77, 12mo= 0.98				
		Sawers & Hafner 2022 (calculated from 10MWT)		1.2		1.8	1.1

		Vanicek et al. 2009		1.07 ± 0.2	1.19 ± 0.35	
	Step length	Schafer et al. 2018 (<i>m</i>)	BL: I= 0.52 ± 0.1 , P= 0.55 ± 0.1 ; 12mo: 0.52 ± 0.1 , P= 0.62 ± 0.1			
		Vanicek et al. 2009 (% body height)		$\begin{array}{c} I{=}\;0.35\pm\\ 0.1,P{=}\\ 0.37\pm0.1 \end{array}$	$\begin{matrix} I = 0.37 \pm 0.1, P = \\ 0.38 \pm 0.1 \end{matrix}$	
	Cadence (steps/min)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 97 ± 20, P= 109 ± 8; 12mo: 78 ± 16, P= 88 ± 16			
		Vanicek et al. 2009		$ I{=}\; 106 \pm 8, \\ P{=}\; 104 \pm \\ 10 $	I= 106 ± 9 , P= 105 ± 6	
	DLS (%)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL= 31.4 ± 7, 12mo= 27.0 ± 3.7			
		Vanicek et al. 2009		30 ± 4	27 ± 7	
	Stance (%)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 71.3 ± 5.7, P= 59.7 ± 2.0; 12mo: I= 68.6 ± 4.8, P= 56.4 ± 3.2			
		Vanicek et al. 2009		I= 66 ± 3 , P= 63 ± 3	$I{=}~65\pm4,~P{=}~62\pm3$	
Kinematics	Peak hip adduction (stance)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= -0.7 ± 4.9, P= - 7.2 ± 7.1; 12mo: I= -0.3 ± 5.7, P= -6.2 ± 4.7			
(joint angles in degrees)		Vanicek et al. 2009		$I= 5.8 \pm 5.4, P= 0.4 \pm 2.4$	$\begin{matrix} I = 4.9 \pm 5.4, P = \\ 2.3 \pm 3.8 \end{matrix}$	
	Peak hip abduction (swing)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= -9.7 \pm 3.7, P= 4.7 \pm 7.4; 12mo: I= 9.2 \pm 6.9, P= 5.2 \pm 6.7			

-					
	Vanicek et al. 2009		I= -2.2 ± 5.5, P= - 6.1 ± 1.9	$\begin{array}{c} I{=}\;{-}4.8\pm4.8,P{=}{-}\\ 6.0\pm4.2 \end{array}$	
Peak hip extension	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= -9.2 ± 9.1, P= - 9.5 ± 14.0; 12mo: I=- 22.2 ± 4.5, P= -23.5 ± 3.1			
	Vanicek et al. 2009		$I=0.6 \pm \\ 5.5, P= \\ 6.6 \pm 8.6$	I= -1.3 ± 8.5, P= - 0.7 ± 8.5	
Peak knee flexion (loading response)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 4.0 ± 7.3, P= 0.8 ± 8.7; 12mo: I= 7.5 ± 9.2, P= 1.7 ± 10.0			
	Vanicek et al. 2009		$I=17.2 \pm 3.2, P= 19.8 \pm 13.5$	$I{=}\;18.0\pm4.4,P{=}\\15.1\pm4.6$	
Peak knee flexion (swing)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 56.7 \pm 6.5, P= 40.3 \pm 20.6; 12mo: I= 63.7 \pm 4.0, P= 49.4 \pm 14.8			
	Vanicek et al. 2009		I= 59.4 ± 3.8, P= 73.2 ± 13.5	$\begin{matrix} I = 61.7 \pm 5.1, P = \\ 66.5 \pm 7.8 \end{matrix}$	
Peak ankle dorsiflexion (terminal stance)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 17.0 ± 3.5, P= 14.5 ± 6.4; 12mo: I= 17.8 ± 2.7, P= 11.0 ± 4.2			
	Vanicek et al. 2009		I= 17.8 ± 2.7, P= 16.7 ± 3.9	$I=17.2 \pm 4.2, P=15.7 \pm 2.3$	

	Peak ankle plantarflexion	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= -12.2 ± 5.2, P= - 9.9 ± 7.0; 12mo: I= - 14.3 ± 2.8, P= -2.8 ± 3.5			
		Vanicek et al. 2009		$I=-10.6 \pm \\ 6.8 P= 3.1 \\ \pm 2.9$	$I=-3.6\pm 8.0, P=\\ 8.4\pm 2.2$	
Kinetics	Peak braking force (N/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= -0.12 \pm 0.07, P= -0.09 \pm 0.05; 12mo: I= -0.16 \pm 0.06, P= -0.10 \pm 0.05			
		Vanicek et al. 2009		$\begin{array}{l} I= -0.20 \pm \\ 0.03, \ P= - \\ 0.10 \pm \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	$I=-0.18 \pm 0.06, \\ P=-0.12 \pm 0.03$	
	Peak propulsion force (N/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 0.17 ± 0.04 , P= 0.05 ± 0.04 ; 12mo: I= 0.20 ± 0.04 , P= 0.09 ± 0.04			
		Vanicek et al. 2009		$I=0.17 \pm 0.06, P= 0.13 \pm 0.02$	$I{=}\; 0.16 \pm 0.07, P{=}\\ 0.12 \pm 0.03$	
	Peak vGRF 1 (loading response) (N/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	$\begin{array}{l} \text{BL: I= } 0.97 \pm 0.14, \text{P=} \\ 1.01 \pm 0.13; 12\text{mo: I=} \\ 1.05 \pm 0.16, \text{P=} 1.01 \pm \\ 0.16 \end{array}$			
		Vanicek et al. 2009		I= 1.14 ± 0.10, P= 1.01 ± 0.03*	$I=1.14\pm 0.28, P=1.10\pm 0.05*$	
	Peak vGRF 2 (pre- swing) (N/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 0.93 ± 0.09, P= 0.95 ± 0.07; 12mo: I=			

		1.06 ± 0.12 , P= 0.90 ± 0.09			
	Vanicek et al. 2009		I= 1.07 ± 0.12, P= 0.98 ± 0.08	$I{=}\; 1.02 \pm 0.23, P{=}\\ 1.06 \pm 0.08$	
Hip extensor moment (loading reaponse) (Nm/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 0.42 ± 0.26 , P= 0.28 ± 0.48 ; 12mo: I= 0.61 ± 0.22 , P= 0.52 ± 0.23			
	Vanicek et al. 2009 (estimated from graph)		I= -0.6, P= -0.6	I= -0.9, P= -0.75	
Ankle plantarflexor moment (preswing) (Nm/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 0.99 ± 0.28 , P= 1.10 ± 0.35 ; 12mo: I= 1.33 ± 0.13 , P= 1.08 \pm 0.39			
	Vanicek et al. 2009 (estimated from graph)		I= 1.3, P= 0.8	I= 1.4, P= 1.2	
H2 Power (W/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= -0.39 ± 0.20, P= -0.35 ± 0.21; 12mo: I= -0.46 ± 0.29, P= -0.74 ± 0.50			
	Vanicek et al. 2009 (estimated from graph)		I= -0.2*, P= -0.5	I= -0.8*, P= -0.5	
H3 Power (W/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 0.60 ± 0.33 , P= 0.36 ± 0.19 ; 12mo: I= 0.99 ± 0.32 , P= 0.87 ± 0.57			

	Vanicek et al. 2009 (estimated from graph)		I= 0.6, P= 0.7	I= 0.8, P= 0.8	
A1 Power (W/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= -0.56 \pm 0.22, P= -0.51 \pm 0.29; 12mo: I= -0.86 \pm 0.25, P= -0.67 \pm 0.26			
	Vanicek et al. 2009 (estimated from graph)		I= -1.0*, P= -0.5	I= -0.5*, P= -0.4	
A2 Power (W/kg)	Schafer et al. 2018	BL: I= 1.49 ± 0.60 , P= 0.48 ± 0.29 ; 12mo: I= 2.81 ± 0.29 , P= 0.50 ± 0.27			
	Vanicek et al. 2009 (estimated from graph)		I= 1.9, P= 0.4	I= 2.1, P= 0.4	

Supplemental Table 3: Gait parameters reported by at least 2 included studies in this review. Means with standard deviations (\pm). Bold text with asterisk (*) indicates the study found a significant association with falls. All Schafer et al. 2018 values depict the exercise group. 'Calculated by 10MWT' indicates the first author calculated walking speed from reported 10MWT times. 'Estimated from graph' indicates values were visually estimated from a graph. Abbreviations: DLS= double limb support, ROM= range of motion, BL= baseline, Interv= intervention, wks= weeks, mo= months, I= intact side, P=prosthetic side, H= hip power bursts, A= ankle power bursts.

Chapter 6

Supplemental Table 1: Detailed Demographics

	Sex	Age (years)	BMI (kg/m^2)	Race	Ethnicity	Primary Cause of Death	Side/Level of Amputation	Percent Residual Limb Length of Intact (%)
Healthy Controls								
	Male	50	24.31	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	62	24.36	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	56	25.1	White	Hispanic or Latino	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	59	25.91	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	76	26.79	White	Hispanic or Latino	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	74	28.58	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	60	35.39	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	44	40.78	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	44	48.14	White	Hispanic or Latino	Natural	N/A	N/A
	Male	50	29.9	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Natural	N/A	N/A
Diabetic Controls								
	Male	58	21.57	White	Hispanic or Latino	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	60	24.93	White	Hispanic or Latino	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	47	26.09	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	71	23.88	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	51	27.32	White	Hispanic or Latino	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	52	34.46	White	Hispanic or Latino	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	43	33.83	Native American	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	46	36.08	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	N/A	N/A.
	Male	47	41.94	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
	Male	65	22.1	White	Not Hispanic, Latino or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	N/A	N/A
IWAs								
Diabetic	Male	42	44.41	ck or African Ameri	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	Bilateral TT	N/A- bilateral
	Male	59	24.43	White	Hispanic or Latino	Diabetes	Right TF	26.35
	Male	59	26.16	White	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	Bilateral TF	N/A- bilateral
	Male	56	37.68	White	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	Left TT	ND- femur not in frame
	Male	68	25.08	White	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Diabetes	Left TT	65.25
Non-Diabetic	Male	66	34.35	Hispanic	Hispanic or Latino	Sepsis	Right TT	59.28
	Male	50	48.88	White	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Natural	Right TF	ND- femur not in frame
	Male	74	25.97	White	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Natural	Right TF	44.98
	Male	66	24.11	Native American	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Sepsis	Right TT	60.64
	Male	79	19.72	White	Not Hispanic, Latino, or Middle Eastern	Sepsis	Left TT	67.41

Supplemental Table 1: Demographic characteristics of all individuals included in this study as reported in the New Mexico Decedent

Image Database. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, TT= transtibial, TF= transfermoral, ND= no data collected.

	Torringed	144	501	LEFT (mact und for IMA	(g) Vern 1-ini Denne (med)	An Course! Need (mail	W frame [Bood (and	0.44 (10 ML)	and the building in the	and Markey's Middle	Manda Anna (mm17)	Contrast (mark)	MGHT (Nesidual Linb for I	[15]	Concert Versi (mai)	W Concellined (and	10 0-45- 11D-185-	and the West law	anni Markaja Midiria	Bards for (and 3)	For how peerfor	LEFT & RIGHT AVERAGED	(Controls Uniy)	An Course' Mand (mar)	M Course Seed loss		and the first wide law	and State of Balls	Hards first lead \$1	for two levels)
n	ILESCUEUC	vå	RMI	kib nouzobace (uui)	vuee nour obece (uui)	AY HERICIAL HERO (MIN)	WT LEUOISI KESO (UU)	euolai keep kapo (ek.)mke	ELICUSI VECK MICU (UUL	ui www.sisłuden recou	WISCE WES (UULT)	Facilities (mm*4)	Hib hour abacs (um)	uee nous obece lunal	A. LEWOLEN HEED (WW)	NT LEUOLEI HEED (UUU)	EUCLEI HEED KEUD MILLINGE	EUDISI VECK MIDILI (UU	ui uow ssłućen recu	WIRCH WER (UUL.T)	Fatilitiea (nmr.4)	Hib hour obecs (um)	vuee nous obece luuri	er tenoiai Heao (mm)	WT LEUCISI KESO (LULI) IE	walai keed kado Misiwake	euolai veck matu luur	norai urapriyais moon (n	wracie wies (uuu.t)	Fat Area (mmr.z.)
112016	Reatity	5	5/(329)(839)	3965	1385	51.22	19789	1.024614821	3178	23 31	80012	21/1/8	38114	2320	51.17	2732	0.924313994	38.03	3314	10051.3	2087.28	37941	23369	2/182	52.615	030098525	2231	237112	8020122	212374
1239(1	48503	20	2005960152	* dE3 1111	4,200	10 01	£1.85	1.043053213	3230	22.8	11004.1	M 2004	799187	1.3521	10.24	20.20	0.049690434	3(2)	323	113971	1210 11	1/087	1 9455	95.0 tr	135.12	1382125712	30.00	21192	VLADÓ EE	\$101.35
191543	neetily	20	1001001	1201	6105	6036	01.10	1/200000174	20105	2011	1349120	1000'49	1093	1 000	4011	51/20	17100094010	997	201	12201.0	30,2020	1120	1000	214.42	01/02	776/827251	26.432	2010	12210/22	000010
122264	neatry Deathy	20	1000001	3 038	514	20'81	33 82	1105010052	32.63	21.05	3,2219	1243 80	165	6'202	12 UF	11 10	0.00034595	371	3120	22 2003	85 LIVIE 27 C1 C2	J 103	3 1000	31,215	90 102 20102	1010129222	21/122	26.91	367 62/0	14.00 080
136179	Hooky Hoothy	20	26 0005565	2.013	1446	73.62	20.00	0.01020242.00	53 B	si dil Scan	13201 0	3611 (N	£01	1 803	TC 30	eU 84	0.000040000	3338	5113	1 8005	404730	582	7.8065	कारी 19110	61.52	0.015233165	33 382	31 ES	4130212	120102
106838	Bally	14	38 28054884	3513	2417	113	10'11	9155806250	24.65	2011	17204.6	88995102	3 188	FEDE	18 H	85	0.000001.014	3818	3018	1947	10458.5	3 1982	71255	12.852	47.905	0.6201635	20155	20.222	12161.15	512 aus
148390	Healthy	60	35,382/538	534	10.013	10.38	33/84	1.013554217	33.37	32.05	12903.4	8842.38	1557	11.418	1338	43.24	1.003237743	3316	32.55	12967.8	8325.51	19485	10.7155	41788	4154	100838688	33415	323	12935.6	8585.445
115/29	Healthy	#	41,780/8596	5,128	8198	1885	1013	0.982706616	214	32.96	15872.2	8304'88	6363	11.03	42.14	46.59	1.011805108	30.91	3254	16228.5	10631.7	5,7455	10,114	19008	4816	0.997255862	30,155	32.15	16050.35	8968'34
10/808	Heathy	#	48,141251	5.551	4977	41.58	1518	0.995022517	27.48	29.55	14516.8	28527.7	5083	5.83	38.28	39.6	1.01781658	27.18	28.89	13825.5	27178.3	5.322	541	10183	10.385	1,006319549	27.335	29.22	14171.15	28353
150158	Dabeic	58	21.56683432	1648	6)48	38'18	393	0.969724311	29.23	58 38	6869.1	4422.15	1365	16	4031	39.99	1.008002001	27.83	28.52	29 0905	4897.12	1.505	4,609	383	38.945	0.966863156	28.53	28,465	5964,895	1109.64
168853	Diaberic	60	24.92585739	1.538	1532	16.21	16.51	0.963935793	27.33	23.44	80236	6088'E7	1.722	3348	18.97	49,15	0.996337742	30.77	3004	10245.3	5194.16	1.83	3.9405	47.605	49.56	1363136767	29.05	28.N	50,8558	5641,415
101413	Dabeic	15	SE 09418583	2.555	7.859	42	49.05	0.961346363	29,49	37.77	10706.8	8481.75	2648	5.622	48.27	66	0.985668317	31.05	383	100858	7791.14	2.6015	6.7455	€ <i>1</i>]	47.255	0.97850734	30.27	39,832	104013	7966.45
165953	Dabeic	И	23.87564238	2.357	1965	48.27	51.76	0.932573416	37.21	34.77	1838.4	3051.95	2312	5.111	50.9	50.08	1.016373802	38.34	3483	7763.06	3272.09	2.3345	5.0385	48.585	50.92	0.974473609	37.775	34.8	7820.73	3150.02
131646	Dabeic	51	27.32332602	1,188	4597	4239	45.23	0.946053504	28.47	27.9	9430.3	6447.3	0825	138	451	#132	1.016910636	30.35	21	7823.66	95,8008	102	4,685	43.945	4(3)	0.98148222	29.385	27.8	8636.98	6226.93
188854	Dabeic	82	22.1	6.601	4512	41.5	685	0.947056139	33.58	32.77	7971.76	3582.95	6209	8.776	44.58	46.33	0.962227488	33'03	313	8321.76	3832.41	6405	6.644	1511	45.075	0324641819	33.305	33 232	8146.76	3609.18
168638	Dabeic	52	31.45585344	18	7.826	3830	38.23	1.017787078	3531	35 74	11039.6	12337.8	5994	8738	3811	39108	0.983358835	32.22	3311	10216.2	11406.2	5312	8 8852	38.66	38.645	1.000573007	32,285	35.815	10627.9	11872
117820	Daberic	13	33 82851143	131	7.527	1231	19:38	0.945822994	32.46	32.22	127/12	167837	1519	1221	15.42	6.98	0.967820782	33'48	32.58	13155.9	188881	4.2945	1524	6.9	473	0.966821883	32.975	32.4	12936.55	16885.25
105618	Dabeic	18	36.07877407	6.033	1394	1016	41.08	0.975413827	28.54	3138	14887.4	123609	7.055	8082	4139	<i>۳</i> ۵	0.976822934	29.09	3358	15260.1	1511161	654	8.2445	40.825	41'852	0816133381	28.315	3315	15073.75	12268.65
141694	Dabeic	ť	41/34534402	5.584	8131	1131	16.74	0.961489089	32.33	21.17	1176.7	23634.3	2586	6.19	44.EI	6.95	0.948957411	3138	2825	12485.6	23454.8	5.585	7.6105	4(775	482	0.95572325	33342	28.715	12114.65	23544.55
106139	Non-debetic IMA	74	31 31 3 2 8 8 3	1.197	4611	#1	13'88	10049	33'18	28 M	13858	8729.33	2336	1103	1518	10251	98880	29.33	2677	12148.2	12019.7									
181218	Non-debetic IMA	18	13.124(2)68	2384	2214	16.9	21,68	030//	31/45	208	213(1	3221.35	2022	2.365	401	2011	02401	3112	1631	80413	309/1									
191859	Non-debetic IMA	14	52.510650	1391	2/64	13	63	0380	33.65	3/91	12154.6	83(2,1)	10/3	1.11	1281	20108	ORIAN	28.85	2518	27.8588	99774									
10000	VOU-OBDECC INV	80	5611130/46	1721	79/2	673	179	0.960	72.00	78.18	8097.92	P\$33'et	1980	0	673	675	12010	511	201	6883.5	49(3)3									
128438	VOU-OBDECC INW	20	41 10380131 62 2162180P	817	1000 EPE	628	672	07831	17.30		430031	6963.05	1.20	0 051	2235	22.21	1,0008	32.61	~~~	(100)	2007 45									
149200	Disperce Mill	15	erenværte	1309	4885	44./1 AC 20	10.10	0835	41.14	2012	133825	9511.79	1,000	9077	67.9	40.01	0.0536	33.56	32.25	112811	1512.15									
111249	DROBIC MW	28	26.02200134	0.000	6200	60.20	4140	0.0003	35.30	2114	8118711	4000 UJ 4003'20	1000	1101	1013	63/02	0.0014	37.00	2711	2111/20	4010.0									
122204	Distate WA	£0 00	36 1010000404	1971	2222	11.8	10.00	0.0022	33 54	31 65	Ci 1935	4033.05	1.000	664	1210	20.02	0.0036	33.54	3602	36017	400 570									
117000	Annone and		12 1011010	1994	1001	477	40.00	0.0003	33 53	20.05	1100.7 0	433543	110	1600	60.31	610	4 0505	35 03	30.48	DEVO IN	(3308.3									

Supplemental Table 2: Raw Data for Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur Morphology

Supplemental Table 2: All raw 3D Slicer data for joint space, tissue area, and femur morphology. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals

with lower-limb amputation, SD= standard deviation, AP= anterior-posterior, ML= medial-lateral.

Supplemental Table 3: Raw Data for Femur Geometry

			LEFT (Intact Limb for IWA:	a)					RIGHT (Residual Limb fi	or IWAs)					RIGHT & LEFT AVERAGE	D (Controls only)				
ID	Treatment	Regions	CSA (mm [*] 2)	Imin (mm^4)	lmax(mm^4)	Max Thick 2d (mm)	Mean Thick 2d (mm)	SD Thick 2d (mm)	CSA (mm*2)	Imin (mm*4)	Imax(mm^4)	Max Thick 2d (mm)	Mean Thick 2d (mm)	SD Thick 2d (mm)	CSA (mm^2)	Imin (mm*4)	Imax(mm*4)	Max Thick 2d (mm)	Mean Thick 2d (mm)	SD Thick 2d (mm)
112016	Healthy	25%	536.24900	47795.033	34425.758	9.35200	7.91200	1.04600	515.60100	47679.521	32451.046	7,79300	7.34600	0.55500	525.925	47737.277	33438.402	8.5725	7.629	0.8005
112016	Healthy	509	638 36400	20952 564	25572.012	0.49100	9 17200	1 12000	402 72800	25950 457	20210.021	0.25200	7 77200	0.94000	£11.04P	37856 0105	22101 0065	0.4165	7.072	1.02
112016	Pealiny	50%	528.35400	33002.004	35573.012	9.48100	8.17200	1.12000	493.73800	35659.457	30810.981	9.35200	1.17200	0.94000	511.046	37856.0105	33191.9965	9.4165	1.972	1.03
112016	Healthy	75%	337.66100	44208.71	32/8/.616	4.67600	4.10100	0.57900	346.16300	41276.64	34486.852	4.92900	4.15600	0.53900	341.912	42/42.6/5	33637.234	4.8025	4.1285	0.559
153971	Healthy	25%	455.91200	38147.743	26830.271	8.02100	6.77100	0.81500	473.50500	41109.678	31347.923	8.50800	6.83500	1.10700	464.7085	39628.7105	29089.097	8.2645	6.803	0.961
153971	Healthy	50%	430.77900	35516.89	23650.485	9.07900	6.91100	1.17200	434,29700	36130.607	24724.109	9.07900	6.78100	1.17300	432.538	35823.7485	24187.297	9.079	6.846	1,1725
153971	Healthy	75%	327 23100	43998 281	33862.054	4 48400	3 76800	0.54400	325 723	40867.963	37468 744	4 48400	3,80600	0.50400	326.477	42433 122	35665 399	4 484	3 787	0.524
190245	Healthy	25%	594.09200	52/94.674	41451.383	10.78100	8.67500	1.32000	586.02000	50529.127	42769.897	10.78100	8.71300	1.23200	590.056	51661.9005	42110.64	10.781	8.694	1.276
190245	Healthy	50%	617.50000	56653.657	42533.725	11.50600	9.12500	1.45300	628.80100	60351.99	43315.198	12.70600	9.43300	1.93200	623.1505	58502.8235	42924.4615	12.106	9.279	1.6925
190245	Healthy	75%	489.15700	67401.221	55244.872	7.18800	5.53700	0.63600	494.00000	70072.774	58504.05	6.47900	5.51100	0.78500	491.5785	68736.9975	56874.461	6.8335	5.524	0.7105
135307	Healthy	25%	508 42300	43969 415	35905 361	9.50400	7 49500	1 13200	515 74700	43452 676	37456 465	9.11100	7 51600	0.96000	512 085	43711.0455	36680.913	9 3075	7 5055	1.046
405007	I leader in the second s	CON	505.00400	10101 000	00070.000	11.01000	7.04000	4 70000	000 00000	105 11 005	00110 117	40.00500	0.04000	4.44000	500.0005	10000 5705	20700.0505	10 507	0.0005	4.400
135307	Pleasing	50%	505.96100	49191.002	29270.288	11.04900	7.81300	1.73200	535.27800	40041.200	32143.417	10.00800	8.31200	1.14600	520.6295	40000.5735	30706.6525	10.527	0.0025	1.439
135307	Healthy	75%	428.46700	51059.528	44597.676	6.25000	5.13000	0.67900	457.15300	55653.3	49655.865	6.44200	5.36300	0.57100	442.81	53356.414	47126.7705	6.346	5.2465	0.625
161045	Healthy	25%	340.76800	18097.068	14138.023	6.99200	6.48100	0.65800	327.07900	17296.94	14260.918	6.99200	6.19900	0.81600	333.9235	17697.004	14199.4705	6.992	6.34	0.737
161045	Healthy	50%	345.65700	17546.263	11922.326	8.84400	7.33600	1.07100	326.59000	15379.582	11317.34	8.39100	6.93900	1.01100	336.1235	16462.9225	11619.833	8.6175	7.1375	1.041
161045	Healthy	75%	280.02200	10557 573	14995 759	E 04200	4 69400	0.42400	281 12200	17562 994	12102.064	6.92200	4 81100	0.74100	285 522	19590 729	14012 011	6 4976	4.7635	0.6926
101045	Theating	1374	203.32200	13007.072	14030.130	5.04200	4.03400	0.42400	201.122.00	17303.004	13132.004	5.25500	4.01100	0.14100	200.012	10300.720	14013.311	3.4013	4.7525	0.502.5
126148	Healthy	25%	463.72200	3//41./44	25873.299	7.64000	7.24600	0.45100	4/3.45100	39990.49	27213.908	9.00400	7.29700	0.77300	468.5865	3.89E+04	2.65E+04	8.322	7.2/15	0.612
126148	Healthy	50%	445.07600	36779.258	24453.389	9.69800	7.36100	1.38400	463.72200	40327.716	23796.112	10.18700	7.49500	1.64100	454.399	38553.487	24124.7505	9.9425	7.428	1.5125
126148	Healthy	75%	353.46700	39451.556	31344.256	5.09300	4.36000	0.77100	384.27300	41247.54	32540.738	7.20300	5.07000	0.98800	368.87	40349.548	31942.497	6.148	4.715	0.8795
106026	Healthu	259/	691 22000	61477 491	27222.065	10.22400	9 73300	0.99000	659 27700	E1166.04	29221 272	8.42000	7 06900	0.61700	560 7095	£ 19E+04	2.795+04	0.3365	9 2455	0.9025
100250	i kaning	2.5 %	301.32000	31411.421	37333.303	10.2.5400	0.72500	0.33000	330.27700	31100.04	30321.273	0.43200		0.01700	503.1305	0.102404	5.702.004	3.5305	0.5455	0.0000
106936	Healthy	50%	499.62100	42511.724	31290.338	10.23400	7.86700	1.38300	536.28100	46146.881	31584.756	11.57900	8.59600	1.60400	517.951	44329.3025	31437.546	10.9065	8.2315	1.4935
106936	Healthy	75%	384.40500	53149.897	39781.938	4.57700	4.40600	0.22600	399.06900	47217.611	38693.713	5.78900	4.84500	0.64200	391.737	50183.754	39237.8255	5.183	4.6255	0.434
148390	Healthy	25%	513.49100	37259.402	31342.33	10.66400	8.59500	1.42600	543.66200	41225.563	32466.832	10.77200	8.84400	1.22300	528.5765	3.92E+04	3.19E+04	10.718	8.7195	1.3245
148390	Healthy	50%	513 49100	44388 288	29208 751	10.98600	8 52000	1 98600	540 76100	47902 384	32678 267	12 18800	9.08500	2 29600	527 128	48145 338	30943 509	11 587	8 8025	2 141
110000	I leader in the second s	704	00000	54000.045	40000 44	0.00400	4.00000	0.70400	100.05000	50400.000	44000 540	0.00100	1 02002	0.74000	000.040	50030.0005	40.450.040	0.004	4.000	0.700
146390	Pleasing	/5%	375.96000	51633.345	43225.11	6.02400	4.33600	0.73400	420.05000	50122.030	41000.510	6.09400	4.93600	0.71000	396.316	50978.0905	42450.013	6.034	4.030	0.722
115479	Healthy	25%	545.14600	52899.085	34033.646	8.34600	7.70500	0.77000	575.95200	55905.677	34754.561	9.82000	8.39200	0.92200	560.549	5.44E+04	3.44E+04	9.083	8.0485	0.846
115479	Healthy	50%	529.07300	44448.932	35346.11	10.35200	8.05600	1.30000	544.47600	46548.732	37575.213	11.45700	8.38200	1.63900	536.7745	45498.832	36460.6615	10.9045	8.219	1.4695
115479	Healthy	75%	422.58800	69498.889	48671.249	5.90100	4.44000	0.83500	404.50600	73077.738	47384.333	5.17600	4.13100	0.71900	413.547	71288.3135	48027.791	5.5385	4.2855	0.777
101909	Haalifuu	25%	601 22400	26019 294	20425 779	9 71000	8 06000	0.99500	012 99400	49139 009	49197 166	10 99900	0.11200	1 26700	667.060	4.215+04	2625-07	0.9095	0 5005	1.071
101000	Parallely	20%	501.23400	30010.304	23425.116	6./1900	0.00000	0.0000	012.00400	40120.900	43127.156	10.63600	9.11300	1.25700	V00.100	4.210404	3.535+04	9.0000	0.0000	1.0/1
101808	Healthy	50%	513.112	34663.313	2/555.035	10.898	y.078	1.262	527.365	42260.857	31903.978	9.748	8,459	1.057	520.2385	38462.085	29/29.5065	10.323	8./685	1.1595
101808	Healthy	75%	413.34000	41025.937	35333.168	6.16500	5.50900	0.71200	391.96100	67350.808	41016.942	6.53900	4.64100	0.64700	402.6505	54188.3725	38175.055	6.352	5.075	0.6795
150158	Diabetic	25%	416.549	23148.509	18787.784	9.381	7.692	0.941	365.214	22281.663	12000.985	9.888	7.47	1.509	390.8815	22715.086	15394.3845	9.6345	7.581	1.225
150158	Diahetic	50%	403.837	22366 477	14076 16	9.888	8.22	0.964	351 524	19292 019	10833 371	8.506	7.27	1 226	377 6805	20829.248	12454 7855	9.197	7 745	1.095
100100	Depend	30.4	403.037	*******	14070.10	8.000	44.0	0.304	001.044	10404.010	10030.071	0.000	1.67	044.1	377.0000	20022-240	CL01.PLPA1	4.141	1.1754	1.045
150158	Diabetic	75%	357.88	23680.935	13767.557	6.992	6.342	0.597	329.523	24234.445	9346.118	6.992	5.833	0.678	343.7015	23957.69	11556.8375	6.992	6.0875	0.6375
169853	Diabetic	25%	507.047	42291.217	25012.71	10.272	8.271	1.237	519.943	42205.51	28480.36	10.719	8.387	1.465	513.495	42248.3635	26746.535	10.4955	8.329	1.351
169853	Diabetic	50%	503.53	30272.888	27393.768	9.805	8.901	0.799	533.426	35418.576	29213.264	10.719	9.276	0.97	518.478	32845.732	28303.516	10.262	9.0885	0.8845
169853	Diabetic	75%	375 743	36829 829	32678 696	6.314	4 9 1 9	0.653	413 258	40092 325	34802 756	6 314	5.486	0.648	394 5005	38461.077	33740 726	6 314	5 2025	0.6505
102033	District.	13.4	373.743	30023.023	32070.030	0.014	4.313	0.000	415.255	40032.325	34002.130	0.014	3,400	0.040	594.5005	30401.077	33740.720	0.514	5.2025	0.0303
101413	Diabetic	25%	618.286	66960.468	46810.77	11.049	8.406	1.55	587.158	67543.844	42581.839	11.049	8.048	1.879	602.722	6/252.156	44696.3045	11.049	8.227	1./145
101413	Diabetic	50%	640.869	74725.569	45023.118	12.204	8.601	2.317	594.482	70734.043	40352.271	10.482	7.788	1.745	617.6755	72729.806	42687.6945	11.343	8.1945	2.031
101413	Diabetic	75%	447.388	71343.028	69008.481	6.629	4.603	0.862	422.363	67220.95	61741.17	5.634	4.415	0.703	434.8755	69281.989	65374.8255	6.1315	4.509	0.7825
165953	Diabetic	25%	659.79	65088.281	45491.469	11.375	9.51	1.634	690.308	73985.012	47171.666	11.9	9.97	1.567	675.049	69536.6465	46331.5675	11.6375	9.74	1.6005
405050	Disketis	CON	000.450	00400.407	45400.404	44.075	0.000	4.050	004.00	5 4700 000	10101.010	44.040	0.454	4 500	040.004	57450.0075	10700.0045	11.010	0.54	4.4005
165953	Diabetic	50%	663.452	60166.497	45132.431	11.375	9.869	1.259	624.39	54736.295	42434.018	11.049	9.151	1.568	643.921	5/452.39/5	43783.2245	11.212	9.51	1.4235
165953	Diabetic	/5%	432.129	56103.638	48692.762	7.812	5.143	1.211	469.971	55736.25	49913.34	6.629	5.407	0.788	451.05	55919.944	49303.051	7.2205	5.2/5	0.9995
131646	Diabetic	25%	420.52	33856.06	21047.554	7.25	6.63	0.635	401.819	31853.834	20256.198	7.109	6.261	0.667	411.1695	32854.947	20651.876	7.1795	6.4455	0.651
131646	Diabetic	50%	387.161	21764.085	18169.001	8.291	6.975	0.846	379.58	21593.306	17217.136	8.531	6.836	0.96	383.3705	21678.6955	17693.0685	8.411	6.9055	0.903
121646	Dishetia	75%	246 726	27640.028	24252.461	6 699	E 01E	0.405	200.000	20109.79	20209 602	5 699	4.2	0.646	221 7075	20004-400	22226.077	6 699	4.6575	0.62
131040	Diabetic	/5%	340.720	27640.036	24253.401	5.666	5.015	0.495	296.669	26168.78	20398.693	5.666	4.3	0.545	321.7075	20304.403	22326.077	5.666	4.6575	0.52
188924	Diabetic	25%	510.216	48304.176	39942.946	7.812	6.919	0.594	523.567	50620.643	39788.832	8.053	7.252	0.704	516.8915	4.95E+04	3.99E+04	7.9325	7.0855	0.649
188924	Diabetic	50%	514.984	47709.436	30738.461	10.518	7.864	1.514	524.521	47244.793	34037.432	9.766	7.637	1.145	519.7525	4.75E+04	3.24E+04	10.142	7.7505	1.3295
188924	Diabetic	75%	422.478	53734.763	42456.583	5.859	4.98	0.769	415.802	56318.804	45687.747	5.859	4.653	0.69	419.14	5.50E+04	4.41E+04	5.859	4.8165	0.7295
100020	Dishatis	259	462.028	44393 135	22702 647	9 201	0.50	1 199	511.049	40220	39040.075	0.69	7.662	1 207	497 4995	4.245+04	2 545+04	9 0005	7 1115	1.17
100000	District	2.5 %	403.020	44302.133	327 92.047	0.001	0.50	1.133	511.545		30043.073	5.00	1.003	1.207	401.4003	4.242404	3.342.104	0.3300	7.1113	
168638	Diabetic	50%	510.5/1	41930.351	31508.45	9.68	7.712	1.2/1	460.272	38878.855	27299.535	8.465	7.064	1.067	485.4215	40404.603	29403.9925	9.0725	7.388	1.169
168638	Diabetic	75%	384.479	35323.578	31866.422	5.986	5.297	0.707	265.276	33870.658	26698.308	3.712	3.273	0.454	324.8775	34597.118	29282.365	4.849	4.285	0.5805
117920	Diabetic	25%	512.123	38244.275	33140.337	8.735	7.755	0.893	502.586	35617.795	27026.806	9.766	8.197	1.357	507.3545	3.69E+04	3.01E+04	9.2505	7.976	1,125
117920	Diabetic	50%	520 706	43801 988	29383.683	11 389	8 514	1.669	461 578	39366 254	27336.917	9.766	7 314	1.41	491 142	4 16E+04	2.84E+04	10.5775	7 914	1 5395
447000	Disketis	704	074 704	50044.004	00500.044	0.470	1.070	0.700	070.000	00400.040	10000.000	4.007	1010	0.004	070.44	5.045.04	4445.04	6.0746	4.000	0.400
117920	DiaDetic	/5%	3/4./24	53244.201	36563.914	6.176	4.373	0.768	370.026	63463.346	43002.925	4.307	4.043	0.224	372.41	5.64E+U4	4.11E+04	5.2715	4.206	0.495
102676	Diabetic	25%	679.607	56390.424	43540.658	13.48	10.871	1.927	721.329	60990.162	46277.082	12.919	11.083	1.932	700.468	5.87E+04	4.49E+04	13.1995	10.977	1.9295
102676	Diabetic	50%	589.673	51207.612	37846.143	11.555	8.976	1.529	645.302	58622.108	41096.26	12.919	10.364	1.781	617.4875	5.49E+04	39471.2015	12.237	9.67	1.655
102676	Diabetic	75%	426.493	59403.898	47277.23	6.09	4.826	0.796	470.069	62865.881	51419.063	6,944	5.352	0.787	448.281	6.11E+04	4.93E+04	6.517	5.089	0.7915
141604	Diabatia	259	660 121	42447 155	27900 167	13 162	0.027	1.612	607.005	20206 745	26255 219	10.42	9.610	1.614	633 669	4145+04	2715+04	11 2065	0.2105	1.012
144004	Distanta	A.J. M	643 305	04000.045	00400 740	14.100	0.000	1.014	400.000	00000.000	00544476	10.40	0.074	1.014	500.000	0.005.04	0.000-000	10.500	0.0007	1.010
141694	Diabetic	50%	517.785	34832.615	28162.746	10.636	9.308	1.311	486.239	32289.499	23544.174	10.43	8.879	1.361	502.012	3.36E+04	2.59E+04	10.533	9.0935	1.336
141694	Diabetic	75%	407.919	47800.71	35115.62	6.596	5.162	0.818	375.285	39924.5	30304.084	6.258	4.991	0.667	391.602	4.39E+04	32709.852	6.427	5.0765	0.7425
106139	Non-Diabetic IWAs	25%	445.45	39519.449	33722.198	8.027	6.319	1.21	378.54	34889.495	28381.521	7.04	5.505	1.177						
106139	Non-Diabetic IWAs	50%	469.613	35666.251	27855.956	8.477	7.109	1.046	428.103	30754.021	25313.238	9.197	6.756	1.523						
400400	Mar Disk and Bills	704	044.04	00004 704	000073 707	4 700	0.000	0.000	004.070	00444.005	00000.044	4 700	0.000	0.705	1					
100139	-with-biabetic twes	/5%	311.01	30034.734	33051.101	4.723	3.032	0.000	201.272	33441.020	29220.211	4.723	3.505	0.795	1		-	-		
149800	Non-Diabetic IWAs	25%	587.373	65406.753	42896.487	10.41	8.131	1.491	615.55	67277.679	40384.555	10.41	8.359	1.508	1					
149800	Non-Diabetic IWAs	50%	577.62	59029.25	46037.903	9.311	7.725	1.104	555.945	53569.352	41985.082	11.212	8.302	1.596	1					
149800	Non-Diabetic IWAs	75%	446.49	87524.88	61926.399	5.889	4.427	0.448	493.09	87263.292	68115.938	6.246	4.96	0.747	1					
180518	Non-Diabetic IWAr	25%	794 225	108080.066	86212 864	10.621	8 925	1 176	844 531	120992 649	85371 372	11.18	9.505	1.016	1					
400540	Alles Disharis Bill	2.0 %	004.007	100000.000	04400.070	10.041	0.40		000.000	400400.007	04007444	40.007	0.754	0.017	1					
180518	NUR-DIADETIC IWAS	50%	894.837	131915.609	94402.878	11.043	9.48	1.114	833.098	126488.207	84627.111	13.637	9.754	2.047	1					
180518	Non-Diabetic IWAs	75%	605.196	142947.479	107798.463	6.296	5.184	0.996	621.965	142148.002	109807.546	6.984	5.577	0.836	1					
160926	Non-Diabetic IWAs	25%	454.938	44474.69	32541.818	7.813	6.402	0.781	449.216	42971.544	39582.342	7.813	6.416	0.826						
160926	Non-Diabetic IWA:	50%	405 343	32589 742	29870.43	7.813	5 999	1.052	454 938	38088 697	31418 208	8 7 35	6.941	1 149	1					
100220	Alles Disharis Bills	30.0	054.054	00007.004	04470.475	4.007	0.040	0.0	005.440	04040.004	07405.00	4.007	0.400	0.040	1		-	-		
1003/20	-san-chabetic rives	/ 5%	204.001	30337.004	241/3.4/5	4.307	3.340	0.0	200.142	31913.004	21125.32	4.30/	3.420	0.049	1		-	-		
100065	Non-Diabetic IWAs	25%	379.779	22265.845	21195.65	8.477	6.665	1.034	349.421	22220.699	20953.855	7.871	5.817	1.131	1					
100065	Non-Diabetic IWAs	50%	390.311	28559.932	15396.071	8.477	7.033	1.07	340.748	24571.461	14742.32	7.871	5.994	1.458						
100065	Non-Diabetic IWAs	75%	343.226	27102.95	23851.382	6.297	5.063	0.887	236.665	20514.614	16673.189	5.676	3.818	1.133	1					
128438	Non-Diabetic IWAr	25%	648 194	61185 254	45974 719	10.482	9.39	0.738	432 587	42507 198	31021.862	7.031	6.054	0.902	1					
120400		4.5 %	040.124	01103.434		10.404	8.38	0.100	TJ4JU1	46307.180	51021.000	1.0001	0.0074	0.804	1		-	-		
128438	Non-Diabetic IWAs	50%	615.235	46796.84	39557.143	11.719	10.287	1.514	1						1					
128438	Non-Diabetic IWAs	75%	530.091	61613.332	45869.411	7.412	6.654	0.725	1						1					
117549	Diabetic IWAs	25%	375.748	33142.907	24386.887	6.176	5.237	0.885	236.511	23224.848	19668.186	4.367	3.311	0.826						
117540	Disbatic BMAs	509	278 600	20006 556	21059.11	0.170	E 42	0.950	210 494	19607 377	19796-091	4.967	9.999	0.005	1					
11/549	Disberic INIAS	50%	3/0.009	30030.000	21200.11	0.170	0.44	0.000	210.404	10031.211	13720.931	4.30/	3.232	0.905	1			-		
11/549	LNabetic IWAs	/5%	313.759	41305.661	32975.708	4.367	3.911	0.473	1						1					
156584	Diabetic IWAs	25%	519.753	49719.355	43555.895	9.766	7.094	1.714	545.502	51651.249	41961.567	9.766	7.487	1.471	1					
156584	Diabetic IWAs	50%	467.3	44626.389	28468.805	8.053	6.279	1.638	544.548	50825.022	31417.775	9.766	7.915	1.176	1					
158584	Diabetic IWAs	75%	367 165	42249.258	36441 618	5 524	4 358	0.702	385 284	43252 806	39098 548	5.859	4.926	0.757	1					
172020	Disbatic MAs	25%	497.949	42190.054	26079 775	7.911	4.000 E 090	1.000	415 715	E2000 CEA	26690.710	7 105	4.000	1 292	1			-		
172930	Diabatic Inters	20%	437.243	42103.304	300/0.//5	7.311	0.909	1.030	410./10	53696.55*	30003./13	7.100	4.000	1.202	1					
172930	Diabetic IWAs	50%	435.016	36952.037	27403.488	7.706	6.545	1.065	480.299	36692.756	31084.519	8.616	7.605	1.06	1					
172930	Diabetic IWAs	75%							1						1					
195499	Diabetic IWAs	25%	477.104	43529.412	33429.749	7.666	6.789	0.7	494.391	44116.894	34789.469	8.315	7.182	0.751						
195499	Diabetic IWAs	50%	481.426	40332 342	31145 798	7.666	7.02	0.816	413 145	34947 448	26036 852	7.889	6.449	1 094	1			-		
140433	Dispance IVIPG	30%	401.426	40002.342	31140.730	1.000	1.02	0.010		34247.440	AUUJ0.002	7.009	0.449	1.034	1					
195499	Diabetic IWAs	/5%	346.592	53820.397	39709.452	5.578	3.908	0.693	341.406	56898.198	45147.609	4.158	3.78	0.337	1					

Supplemental Table 3: All raw BoneJ data for femur geometry. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, CSA= cross-sectional area, Imin= minimum moment of inertia, Imax= maximum moment of inertia, Max= maximum, SD=standard deviation, Thick= cortical bone thickness.
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
		Hip JoInt Space (mm)	Knee Joint Space (mm)	AP Femoral Head Width (ML Femoral Head Width (Femoral Head Ratio (AP/	Femoral Neck Width (mm	Femoral Diaphysis Width	Muscle Area (mm^2)	Fat Area (mm^2)
	Healthy Controls (n=10)	0.461	0.032*	0.348	0.188	0.161	0.313	0.019*	0.385	0.461
	Diabetic Controls (n=10)	0.461	0.500	0.014*	0.188	0.032*	0.066	0.216	0.279	0.188
	All IWAs (n=10)	0.161	0.422	0.313	0.279	0.348	0.077	0.151	0.010*	0.213
	Diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.500	0.250	0.500	0.500	0.500	0.094	0.313	0.125	0.500
	Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.157	0.250	0.313	0.219	0.313	0.393	0.219	0.031*	0.156
Health	y vs Diabetic vs Intact Limbs of All IWAs	0.002*	< 0.001**	0.160	0.076	0.257	0.023*	0.130	0.013*	0.387
Healthy	vs Diabetic vs Residual Limbs of All IWAs	< 0.001**	< 0.001**	0.250	0.134	0.324	0.130	0.488	0.011*	0.450

Supplemental Table 4: Joint Space, Tissue Area, and Femur Morphology *p*-values

Supplemental Table 4: All *p*-values for joint space, tissue area, and femur morphology. The significance level was set $\alpha \leq 0.05$.

Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputation, SD= standard deviation; AP= anterior-posterior, ML= medial-lateral.

1 1		21						
			CSA (mm ²)	lmin (mm^4)	Imax(mm^4)	Max Thick 2d (mm)	Mean Thick 2d (mm)	SD Thick 2d (mm)
Table 3: Between-Limb Comparisons	Proximal Femoral Shaft	Healthy Controls (n=10)	0.216	0.116	0.025*	0.304	0.313	0.461
	25%	Diabetic Controls (n=10)	0.423	0.439	0.348	0.207	0.385	0.097
		All IWAs (n=10)	0.188	0.500	0.116	0.097	0.101	0.385
		Diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.156	0.219	0.219	0.087	0.157	0.313
		Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.500	0.219	0.157	0.286	0.342	0.500
	Middle Femoral Shaft	Healthy Controls (n=10)	0.116	0.116	0.116	0.154	0.279	0.216
	50%	Diabetic Controls (n=10)	0.188	0.116	0.097	0.080	0.461	0.279
		All IWAs (n=10)	0.248	0.213	0.102	0.065	0.410	0.037*
		Diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.313	0.438	0.188	0.125	0.875	0.063
		Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.406	0.219	0.156	0.219	0.406	0.313
	Distal Femoral Shaft	Healthy Controls (n=10)	0.188	0.385	0.080	0.091	0.161	0.254
	75%	Diabetic Controls (n=10)	0.141	0.423	0.216	0.040*	0.188	0.025*
		All IWAs (n=10)	0.469	0.407	0.344	0.466	0.407	0.289
		Diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.313	0.188	0.313	0.420	0.438	0.188
		Non-diabetic IWAs (n=5)	0.250	0.250	0.125	0.500	0.250	0.500
Table 5: Between-Group Comparisons	Proximal Femoral Shaft	Healthy vs Diabetic vs Intact Limbs of All IWAs	0.414	0.485	0.443	0.133	0.066	0.172
		Healthy vs Diabetic vs Residual Limbs of All IWAs	0.259	0.431	0.482	0.053	0.027*	0.127
	Middle Femoral Shaft	Healthy vs Diabetic vs Intact Limbs of All IWAs	0.389	0.498	0.498	0.004*	0.017*	0.110
		Healthy vs Diabetic vs Residual Limbs of All IWAs	0.409	0.482	0.500	0.098	0.097	0.307
	Distal Femoral Shaft	Healthy vs Diabetic vs Intact Limbs of All IWAs	0.473	0.489	0.494	0.218	0.144	0.109
		Healthy vs Diabetic vs Residual Limbs of All IWAs	0.275	0.356	0.349	0.202	0.174	0.020*

Supplemental Table 5: Femur Geometry *p*-values

Supplemental Table 5: All *p*-values for femur geometry. The significance level was set $\alpha \le 0.05$. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals

with lower-limb amputations, CSA= cross-sectional area, Imin= minimum moment of inertia, Imax= maximum moment of inertia, Max= maximum, SD=standard deviation, Thick= cortical bone thickness.

Significant Parameter (Kr	ruskal-Wallis <i>p-</i> value)				
Hip JoInt Space (p = 0.00	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Int)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	Diabetic IWAs (Int)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.398				
	< 0.001	0.026			
All IWAS (IIII)	< 0.001	0.020			
Non-diabetic IVVAs (Int)	0.007	0.065	0.4755		
Diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.003	0.277	0.4755	0.4585	
Hip JoInt Space (p < 0.00	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Res)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Res)	Diabetic IWAs (Res)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.398				
All IWAs (Res)	< 0.001	0.015			
Non-diabetic IW/As (Res)	0.001	0.083	0.212		
Dishetis IMAs (Res)	0.001	0.000	0.212	0.444	
Diabetic TWAS (Res)	< 0.001	0.020	0.212	0.111	
Knee Joint Space (p < 0.0	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Int)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	Diabetic IWAs (Int)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.290				
All IWAs (Int)	< 0.001	0.002			
Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	< 0.001	0.004	0.251		
Diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.012	0.038	0.219	0.143	
Knee Joint Space (n < 0 (Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Res)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Res)	Diabetic IWAs (Res)
Healthy	riouniy	Biabolio	/ / // // // // // //		Biabotio IIII lo (100)
Dishatia	0.0005				
Diabetic	0.2895				
All IWAs (Res)	< 0.001	0.002			
Non-diabetic IWAs (Res)	0.004	0.014	0.348		
Diabetic IWAs (Res)	0.004	0.014	0.348	0.350	
Femoral Neck Width (p =	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Int)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	Diabetic IWAs (Int)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.370				
All IWAs (Int)	0.032	0.008			
Non-diabetic IW/As (Int)	0.083	0.065	0.476		
Non-diabetic TWAS (IIII)	0.003	0.005	0.470		
Diabetic IVVAs (Int)	0.056	0.010	0.476	0.459	
Muscle Area (p = 0.013)	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Int)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	Diabetic IWAs (Int)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.032				
All IWAs (Int)	0.040	0.453			
Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.120	0.473	0.439		
Diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.065	0.477	0 447	0.453	
Musclo Area (p= 0.011)	Healthy	Diabetic		Non-diabetic IWAs (Res)	Diabetic IW/As (Res)
	ricultity	Diabetic	711111110 (1103)	Non diabetic (Wris (Res)	Diabetie WW (1003)
Diskaria					
Diabetic	0.032				
All IWAs (Res)	0.003	0.106			
Non-diabetic IWAs (Res)	0.027	0.270	0.321		
Diabetic IWAs (Res)	0.010	0.103	0.344	0.278	
Proximal Femoral Shaft:	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Res)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Res)	Diabetic IWAs (Res)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.685				
All IWAs (Res)	0.022	0.010			
Non-diabetic IW/As (Pos)	0 049	0.028	0.475		
Diabetic IMAs (Rea)	320.0	0.020	0.525	0.579	
Diabetic TWAS (Res)	0.005	0.038	0.323	0.579	Distantis DA(A - (Lat)
milule remoral Shaft: Ma	neaitny	DIaDetic	AII IVVAS (INT)	NON-GIADELIC IVVAS (INT)	Diabetic IWAS (Int)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.485				
All IWAs (Int)	0.010	0.014			
Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.163	0.195	0.146		
Diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.001	0.002	0.147	0.037	
Middle Femoral Shaft: Me	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Int)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	Diabetic IWAs (Int)
Healthy		1		(,	
Dicketie	0.270				
	0.070	0.000			
All IWAs (Int)	0.038	0.022			
Non-diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.384	0.297	0.212		
Diabetic IWAs (Int)	0.004	0.002	0.212	0.111	
Distal Femoral Shaft: SD	Healthy	Diabetic	All IWAs (Res)	Non-diabetic IWAs (Res)	Diabetic IWAs (Res)
Healthy					
Diabetic	0.264				
All IWAs (Res)	0.044	0.067			
Non-diabetic IW/As (Pos)	0.007	0.007	0.126		
Diebet's IMAS (Res)	0.007	0.007	0.120	0.000	
Diabetic IVVAS (Res)	0.469	0.469	0.084	0.029	

Supplemental Table 6: Mann-Whitney *p*-values for post-hoc group comparisons

Supplemental Table 6: Mann-Whitney Comparisons for significant Kruskal-Wallis *p*-values. The significance level was set $\alpha \leq 0.05$. Abbreviations: IWAs= individuals with lower-limb amputations, Int= intact limb, Res= residual limb.

Chapter 7 Supplemental Table 1: Mean IMU and Motion Capture Data

		Participant 1 Part		Partici	pant 2	Participant 3		Participant 4		Participant 5	
		IMU	MoCap	IMU	MoCap	IMU	МоСар	IMU	МоСар	IMU	МоСар
	Double Limb Support (s)	0.26 ± 0.02	0.28 ± 0.02	0.24 ± 0.018	0.26 ± 0.07	0.20 ± 0.01	0.22 ± 0.07	0.25 ± 0.01	0.26 ± 0.02	0.22 ± 0.03	0.23 ± 0.13
Intact Limb	Single Limb Support (s)	0.69 ± 0.37	0.62 ± 0.01	0.53 ± 0.22	0.52 ± 0.16	0.58 ± 0.39	0.56 ± 0.42	0.43 ± 0.06	0.45 ± 0.10	0.49 ± 0.14	0.48 ± 0.13
	Hip Max Flex (°)	20.31 ± 7.26	19.75 ± 3.40	15.00 ± 1.86	15.41 ± 2.41	15.04 ± 1.49	17.43 ± 0.86	18.36 ± 1.37	27.83 ± 0.47	21.48 ± 1.93	22.35 ± 0.80
	Hip Max Ext (°)	-20.78 ± 4.89	-22.21 ± 7.88	-16.89 ± 1.34	-15.49 ± 2.29	-15.78 ± 0.80	-17.99 ± 1.78	-15.54 ± 0.48	-25.81 ± 1.71	-24.14 ± 1.26	-25.16 ± 1.13
	Hip ROM (°)	41.09 ± 5.83	41.96 ± 5.18	31.89 ± 1.19	31.69 ± 5.43	30.83 ± 4.07	35.44 ± 4.31	33.89 ± 1.74	53.65 ± 1.49	45.62 ± 4.21	47.51 ± 3.01
	Knee Max Flex (°)	15.47 ± 4.82	37.47 ± 2.92	50.41 ± 0.69	46.81 ± 12.61	54.39 ± 1.75	58.15 ± 1.99	50.60 ± 2.91	58.29 ± 3.59	58.71 ± 1.89	59.49 ± 1.06
	Knee Max Ext (°)	-2.08 ± 0.52	-1.11± 2.84	-5.97 ± 1.18	0.62 ± 3.37	-2.31 ± 1.33	-1.51 ± 1.86	-9.54 ± 2.72	-10.73 ± 1,47	-0.77 ± 0.42	0.17 ± 0.40
	Knee ROM (°)	17.55 ± 4.78	38.57 ± 1.83	56.37 ± 1.39	46.20 ± 11.15	52.08 ± 2.35	59.67 ± 2.10	60.14 ± 5.32	69.02 ± 5.02	59.49 ± 2.27	59.32 ± 0.92
	Ankle Max DF (°)	19.96 ± 4.53	14.91 ± 2.76	14.89 ± 2.78	14.92 ± 7.44	9.03 ± 3.37	11.56 ± 0.38	12.26 ± 3.64	11.99 ± 0.32	12.39 ± 0.38	10.34 ± 0.91
	Ankle Max PF (°)	-15.35 ± 1.72	-11.77 ± 1.98	22.23 ± 1.29	-21.24 ± 1.04	-9.68 ± 0.39	-8.14 ± 1.85	-29.55 ± 4.66	-24.03 ± 1.93	-29.03 ± 2.51	-21.77 ± 1.25
	Ankle ROM (°)	35.32 ± 4.34	26.68 ± 0.79	36.52 ± 1.72	36.16 ± 7.90	18.70 ± 2.24	19.69 ± 1.09	41.81 ± 8.29	36.02 ± 1.95	41.42 ± 2.50	32.11 ± 1.84
Prosthetic Limb	Single Limb Support (s)	0.64 ± 0.32	0.60 ± 0.003	0.48 ± 0.23	0.49 ± 0.13	0.61 ± 0.42	0.59 ± 0.433	0.47 ± 0.07	0.49 ± 0.06	0.51 ± 0.13	0.49 ± 0.05
	Hip Max Flex (°)	20.16 ± 4.73	17.12 ± 4.75	16.72 ± 1.43	12.93 ± 0.25	16.13 ± 1.58	16.29 ± 0.58	18.65 ± 1.22	22.23 ± 0.37	25.93 ± 4.83	19.62 ± 0.48
	Hip Max Ext (°)	-19.82 ± 5.34	-20.97 ± 5.91	23.68 ± 0.55	-19.21 ± 4.95	-16.68 ± 0.71	-20.08 ± 0.37	-18.26 ± 2.84	-26.42 ± 0.97	-22.7 ± 4.90	-24.64 ± 1.35
	Hip ROM (∘)	39.98 ± 4.74	38.1 ± 1.42	40.41 ± 0.91	32.14 ± 4.97	32.81 ± 2.00	36.38 ± 0.95	36.91 ± 3.89	48.65 ± 0.59	48.65 ± 0.58	44.27 ± 0.87
	Knee Max Flex (°)	27.27 ± 1.32	32.52 ± 1.39	41.77 ± 0.48	42.45 ± 10.05	40.12 ± 1.99	47.50 ± 1.07	57.48 ± 0.93	47.72 ± 4.74	59.47 ± 1.66	61.27 ± 0.90
	Knee Max Ext (°)	-0.98 ± 4.82	-2.98 ± 0.74	-0.78 ± 0.79	0.14 ± 3.19	0.66 ± 0.53	-1.35 ± 1.55	-15.11 ± 3.27	-8.98 ± 2.29	-33.68 ± 0.42	-3.83 ± 0.71
	Knee ROM (°)	28.25 ± 4.23	35.50 ± 0.66	42.54 ± 1.26	42.31 ± 9.29	39.46 ± 1.94	48.84 ± 1.92	72.59 ± 2.47	56.69 ± 0.10	93.16 ± 1.75	65.09 ± 0.51
	Ankle Max DF (°)	8.25 ± 1.64	10.94 ± 1.22	12.98 ± 0.87	15.2 ± 1.75	13.12 ± 0.33	14.50 ± 0.40	5.48 ± 1.10	5.11 ± 0.79	6.72 ± 1.96	9.27 ± 0.87
	Ankle Max PF (°)	-5.37 ± 1.96	-7.58 ± 1.29	-10.79 ± 0.12	-16.13 ± 9.97	-8.54 ± 1.17	-11.03 ± 0.67	-8.53 ± 0.68	-9.10 ± 0.56	-11.45 ± 1.08	-14.20 ± 0.74
	Ankle ROM (°)	13.63 ± 0.66	18.52 ± 0.59	23.77 ± 0.98	25.19 ± 0.65	21.65 ± 0.81	25.54 ± 0.72	14.00 ± 1.61	14.21 ± 1.22	18.16 ± 0.91	23.42 ± 0.13

Supplemental Table 1: Mean spatial and kinematic values calculated from 3 walking trials of each limb for each participant in seconds

(s) and degrees (•). Abbreviations: DF= dorsiflexion; PF= plantarflexion; ROM= range of motion; Flex= flexion; Ext= extension.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Adamczyk PG, Kuo AD. Mechanisms of gait asymmetry due to push-off deficiency in unilateral amputees. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2015;23(5):776-785.

Allseits E, Lučarević J, Gailey R, et al. The development and concurrent validity of a real-time algorithm for temporal gait analysis using inertial measurement units. Journal of Biomechanics 2017; 55: 27–33.

Amtmann D, Bamer AM, Kim J, et al. A comparison of computerized adaptive testing and fixedlength short forms for the Prosthetic Limb Users Survey of Mobility (PLUS-MTM). Prosthet Orthot Int 2018; 42: 476–482.

Anderson CB, Miller MJ, Murray AM, Fields TT, So NF, Christiansen CL. Falls After Dysvascular Transtibial Amputation: A Secondary Analysis of Falling Characteristics and Reduced Physical Performance. PM&R. 2021;13(1):19-29. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12376.

Araujo IL, Castro MC, Daltro C, Matos MA. Quality of life and functional independence in patients with osteoarthritis of the knee. Knee Surg Relat Res. 2016;28(3):219-24.

Asano M, Rushton P, Miller WC, et al. Predictors of quality of life among individuals who have a lower limb amputation. Prosthet Orthot Int 2008; 32: 231–243.

Åström I, Stenström A. Effect on gait and socket comfort in unilateral trans-tibial amputees after exchange to a polyurethane concept. Prosthet Orthot Int 2004; 28: 28–36.

Bai X, Ewins D, Crocombe AD, et al. Kinematic and biomimetic assessment of a hydraulic ankle/foot in level ground and camber walking. PLOS ONE 2017; 12: e0180836.

Baldwin MJ, Policha A, Maldonado T, et al. Novel association between bone mineral density scores and the prevalence of peripheral artery disease in both sexes. Vasc Med 2017;22(1):13-20.

Balk E, Gazula, A MG. Table 1, Lower limb extremity prosthesis Medicare Functional Classification Levels (K levels). In: Lower Limb Prostheses: Measurement Instruments, Comparison of Component Effects by Subgroups, and Long-Term Outcomes. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US),

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK531517/table/ch2.tab1/.

Barnett CT, Vanicek N, Polman RCJ. Temporal adaptations in generic and population-specific quality of life and falls efficacy in men with recent lower-limb amputations. JRRD. 2013;50(3):437. doi:10.1682/JRRD.2011.10.0205.

Baroncelli GI, Bertelloni S, Ceccarelli C, et al. Measurement of volumetric bone mineral density accurately determines degree of lumbar undermineralization in children with growth hormone deficiency. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1998;83(9):3150-4.

Barry E, Galvin R, Keogh C, Horgan F, Fahey T. Is the Timed Up and Go test a useful predictor of risk of falls in community dwelling older adults: a systematic review and meta- analysis. BMC Geriatr. 2014;14(1):14. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-14-14.

Bastas G, Fleck JJ, Peters RA, et al. IMU-based gait analysis in lower limb prosthesis users: Comparison of step demarcation algorithms. Gait & Posture 2018; 64: 30–37.

Bateni H, Olney SJ. Kinematic and Kinetic Variations of Below-Knee Amputee Gait: JPO J Prosthet Orthot 2002; 14: 2–10.

Beauchet O, Fantino B, Allali G, Muir SW, Montero-Odasso M, Annweiler C. Timed up and go test and risk of falls in older adults: A systematic review. J Nutr Health Aging. 2011;15(10):933-938. doi:10.1007/s12603-011-0062-0.

Bemben DA, Sherk VD, Ertl WJJ, et al. Acute bone changes after lower limb amputation resulting from traumatic injury. Osteoporos Int 2017;28(7):2177-2186.

Berger, N. Atlas of limb prosthetics: surgical, prosthetic rehabilitation principles. In: Analysis of amputee gait. St Louis: Mosby-Year Book, Inc., 1992.

Berner K, Cockcroft J, Morris LD, et al. Concurrent validity and within-session reliability of gait kinematics measured using an inertial motion capture system with repeated calibration. Journal of Bodywork and Movement Therapies 2020; 24: 251–260.

Betteridge CMW, Natarajan P, Fonseka RD, Ho D, Mobbs R, Choy WJ. Objective falls-risk prediction using wearable technologies amongst patients with and without neurogenic gait alterations: a narrative review of clinical feasibility. mHealth. 2021;7:61-61. doi:10.21037/mhealth-21-7.

Beyaert C, Grumillier C, Martinet N, et al. Compensatory mechanism involving the knee joint of the intact limb during gait in unilateral below-knee amputees. Gait Posture 2008;28(2):278-84.

Bianchi L, Volpato S. Muscle dysfunction in type 2 diabetes: A major threat to patient's mobility and independence. Acta Diabetol. 2016;53(6):879-89.

Błażkiewicz M, Wiszomirska I, Wit A. Comparison of four methods of calculating the symmetry of spatial-temporal parameters of gait. Acta Bioeng Biomech 2014; 16: 29–35.

Board WJ, Street GM, Caspers C. A comparison of trans-tibial amputee suction and vacuum socket conditions. Prosthet Orthot Int 2001; 25: 202–209.

Boonstra, AM, Schrama J. The gait of unilateral transfemoral amputees. Gait Unilateral Transfemoral Amputees 1994; 26: 217–223.

Bramley JL, Worsley PR, Bader DL, Everitt C, Darekar A, King L, et al. Changes in tissue composition and load response after transtibial amputation indicate biomechanical adaptation. Ann Biomed Eng. 2021;49(12):3176-88.

Braun HJ, Gold GE. Diagnosis of osteoarthritis: Imaging. Bone. 2012;51(2):278-88. Breaky, J. Gait of unilateral below-knee amputees. O&P Library Digital Resource, http://www.oandplibrary.org/op/1976_03_017.asp.

Cardadeiro G, Baptista F, Zymbal V, et al. Ward's area location, physical activity, and body composition in 8- and 9-year-old boys and girls. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25(11):2304-12.

Carse B, Scott H, Brady L, et al. A characterisation of established unilateral transfemoral amputee gait using 3D kinematics, kinetics and oxygen consumption measures. Gait Posture 2020; 75: 98–104.

Cavedon V, Sandri M, Peluso I, et al. Body composition and bone mineral density in athletes with a physical impairment. PeerJ 2021;9:e11296.

Chihuri S, Wong CK. Factors associated with the likelihood of fall-related injury among people with lower limb loss. Inj Epidemiol 2018; 5: 42.

Chihuri S, Wong CK. Factors associated with the likelihood of fall-related injury among people with lower limb loss. Inj Epidemiol. 2018;5(1):42. doi:10.1186/s40621-018-0171-x.

Chihuri ST, Youdan Jr GA, Wong CK. Quantifying the risk of falls and injuries for amputees beyond annual fall rates—A longitudinal cohort analysis based on person-step exposure over time. Preventive Medicine Reports. 2021;24:101626. doi:10.1016/j.pmedr.2021.101626.

Childers WL, Kogler GF. Symmetrical kinematics does not imply symmetrical kinetics in people with transtibial amputation using cycling model. J Rehabil Res Dev 2014; 51: 1243–1254.

Chow DHK, Holmes AD, Lee CKL, et al. The Effect of Prosthesis Alignment on the Symmetry of Gait in Subjects with Unilateral Transtibial Amputation. Prosthet Orthot Int 2006; 30: 114–128.

Christiansen CL, Miller MJ, Kline PW, et al. Biobehavioral Intervention Targeting Physical Activity Behavior Change for Older Veterans after Nontraumatic Amputation: A Randomized Controlled Trial. PM&R. 2020;12(10):957-966. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12374.

Cleary K, Skornyakov E. Predicting falls in older adults using the four square step test. Physiotherapy Theory and Practice. 2017;33(10):766-771. doi:10.1080/09593985.2017.1354951.

Clemens S, Doerger C, Lee SP. Current and Emerging Trends in the Management of Fall Risk in People with Lower Limb Amputation. Curr Geri Rep. 2020;9(3):134-141. doi:10.1007/s13670-020-00328-4.

Clemens S, Gaunaurd I, Raya M, Kirk-Sanchez N, Kulte G, Gailey R. Using theoretical frameworks to examine fall history and associated prosthetic mobility in people with nondysvascular lower limb amputation. Prosthet Orthot Int. Published Online Ahead of Print. May 4, 2022. 10.1097/PXR.00000000000140.

Clemens S, Kim KJ, Gailey R, et al. Inertial sensor-based measures of gait symmetry and repeatability in people with unilateral lower limb amputation. Clinical Biomechanics 2020; 72: 102–107.

Compston JE. Bone Density: BMC, BMD, or Corrected BMD? Bone 1995;16(1):5-7.

Cooper G, Sheret I, McMillian L, et al. Inertial sensor-based knee flexion/extension angle estimation. Journal of Biomechanics 2009; 42: 2678–2685.

Cowley A, Kerr K. Amputees and Tightropes: A Pilot Study to Measure Postural Control Post-Amputation. Physical Therapy Reviews. 2001;6(1):5-15. doi:10.1179/108331901786161618.

Cutti AG, Verni G, Migliore GL, et al. Reference values for gait temporal and loading symmetry of lower-limb amputees can help in refocusing rehabilitation targets. J NeuroEngineering Rehabil 2018; 15: 61.

Czerniecki JM. Rehabilitation in limb deficiency. 1. Gait and motion analysis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1996; 77: S3–S8.

DA Winter. Biomechanics and Motor Control of Human Movement. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 2005.

Daines KJF, Baddour N, Burger H, Bavec A, Lemaire ED. Fall risk classification for people with lower extremity amputations using random forests and smartphone sensor features from a 6minute walk test. Eshraghi A, ed. PLoS ONE. 2021;16(4):e0247574. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0247574. Darter BJ, Bastian AJ, Wolf EJ, et al. Locomotor adaptability in persons with unilateral transtibial amputation. PLOS ONE 2017; 12: e0181120.

De Asha AR, Buckley JG. The effects of walking speed on minimum toe clearance and on the temporal relationship between minimum clearance and peak swing-foot velocity in unilateral trans-tibial amputees. Prosthet Orthot Int 2015; 39: 120–125.

de Palma L, Marinelli M, Pavan M, et al. Involvement of the muscle-tendon junction in skeletal muscle atrophy: an ultrastructural study. Rom J Morphol Embryol 2011;52(1):105-9. Denton JR, McClelland SJ. Stump fractures in lower extremity amputees. J Trauma 1985;25(11):1074-8.

Devan H, Hendrick P, Hale L, et al. Exploring Factors Influencing Low Back Pain in People With Nondysvascular Lower Limb Amputation: A National Survey. PM&R 2017; 9: 949–959.

Devan H, Hendrick P, Ribeiro DC, et al. Asymmetrical movements of the lumbopelvic region: Is this a potential mechanism for low back pain in people with lower limb amputation? Med Hypotheses 2014; 82: 77–85.

Dingwell JB, Davis BL, Frazder DM. Use of an instrumented treadmill for real-time gait symmetry evaluation and feedback in normal and trans-tibial amputee subjects. Prosthet Orthot Int 1996; 20: 101–110.

Dite W, Connor HJ, Curtis HC. Clinical Identification of Multiple Fall Risk Early After Unilateral Transtibial Amputation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2007;88(1):109-114. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2006.10.015.

Doube M, Kłosowski MM, Arganda-Carreras I, Cordelières FP, Dougherty RP, Jackson JS, et al. Bonej: Free and extensible bone image analysis in imagej. Bone. 2010;47(6):1076-9.

Duarte VMG, Ramos AMO, Rezende LA, Macedo UBO, Brandão-Neto J, Almeida MG, et al. Osteopenia: A bone disorder associated with diabetes mellitus. Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism. 2005;23(1):58-68.

Duraffourg, Bonnet, Dauriac, et al. Real Time Estimation of the Pose of a Lower Limb Prosthesis from a Single Shank Mounted IMU. Sensors 2019; 19: 2865.

Edgar HDB, S; Moes, E; Adolphi, NL; Bridges, P; Nolte, KB New mexico decedent image database: Office of the Medical Investigator, University of New Mexico; 2020.

Ehde DM, Czerniecki JM, Smith DG, et al. Chronic phantom sensations, phantom pain, residual limb pain, and other regional pain after lower limb amputation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2000;81(8):1039-1044. doi:10.1053/apmr.2000.7583.

Engelke K, Museyko O, Wang L, Laredo JD. Quantitative analysis of skeletal muscle by computed tomography imaging-state of the art. J Orthop Translat. 2018;15:91-103. Fact Sheet: Older Adult Falls. Published online 2020. Accessed April 26, 2022. https://www.cdc.gov/steadi/pdf/STEADI_ClinicianFactSheet-a.pdf.

Farrokhi S, Mazzone B, Yoder A, Grant K, Wyatt M. A narrative review of the prevalence and risk factors associated with development of knee osteoarthritis after traumatic unilateral lower limb amputation. Mil Med. 2016;181(S4):38-44.

Fedorov A, Beichel R, Kalpathy-Cramer J, Finet J, Fillion-Robin JC, Pujol S, et al. 3d slicer as an image computing platform for the quantitative imaging network. Magn Reson Imaging. 2012;30(9):1323-41.

Feuvrier F, Sijobert B, Azevedo C, et al. Inertial measurement unit compared to an optical motion capturing system in post-stroke individuals with foot-drop syndrome. Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine 2020; 63: 195–201.

Finco MG, Kim S, Ngo W, Menegaz RA. A review of musculoskeletal adaptations in individuals following major lower-limb amputation. Journal of Musculoskeletal and Neuronal Interactions. Accepted Jan 10, 2022. In Press.

Finco MG, Menegaz RA. Skeletal asymmetries in anatomical donors with lower-limb amputations. PM&R: 2021;1–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmrj. 12599 .

Finco MG, Moudy SC, Patterson RM. Normalized Kinematic Walking Symmetry Data for Individuals Who Use Lower-Limb Prostheses: Considerations for Clinical Practice and Future Research. JPO. Online Ahead of Print. April 13, 2022 - 10.1097/JPO.000000000000435 doi: 10.1097/JPO.000000000000435.

Forczek W, Staszkiewicz R. An Evaluation of Symmetry in the Lower Limb Joints During the Able-Bodied Gait of Women and Men. J Hum Kinet 2012; 35: 47–57.

Fraisse N, Martinet N, Kpadonou TJ, Paysant J, Blum A, André JM. Les muscles de l'amputé tibial [Muscles of the below-knee amputees]. Ann Readapt Med Phys. 2008;51(3):218-227. doi:10.1016/j.annrmp.2008.01.012.

Frost HM. Wolff's Law and bone's structural adaptations to mechanical usage: an overview for clinicians. Angle Orthod 1994;64(3):175-88.

Gailey R, Allen K, Castles J, Kucharik J, Roeder M. Review of secondary physical conditions associated with lower-limb amputation and long-term prosthesis use. J Rehabil Res Dev. 2008;45(1):15-29. doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2006.11.0147. PMID: 18566923.

Gailey RS, Roach KE, Applegate EB, et al. The Amputee Mobility Predictor: An instrument to assess determinants of the lower-limb amputee's ability to ambulate. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2002; 83: 613–627.

Gard, SA. Use of Quantitative Gait Analysis for the Evaluation of Prosthetic Walking Performance. J Prosthet Orthot 2006; 18: 93–104.

Gholizadeh H, Abu Osman NA, Eshraghi A, et al. The Effects of Suction and Pin/Lock Suspension Systems on Transtibial Amputees' Gait Performance. PLoS ONE 2014; 9: e94520.

Gholizadeh H, Abu Osman NA, Eshraghi A, et al. Transtibial prosthesis suspension systems: Systematic review of literature. Clin Biomech 2014; 29: 87–97.

Gholizadeh H, Lemaire ED, Sinitski EH, Nielen D, Lebel P. Transtibial amputee gait with the unity suspension system. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol. 2020; 15: 350–356. doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1579000.

Gillain S, Boutaayamou M, Schwartz C, et al. Gait symmetry in the dual task condition as a predictor of future falls among independent older adults: a 2-year longitudinal study. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2019;31(8):1057-1067. doi:10.1007/s40520-019-01210-w.

Gitter A, Czerniecki JM, DeGroot DM: Biomechanical analysis of the influence of prosthetic feet on below-knee amputee walking. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 1991; 70(3): 142–8. doi: 10.1097/00002060-199106000-00006.

Gosman JH, Hubbell ZR, Shaw CN, Ryan TM. Development of cortical bone geometry in the human femoral and tibial diaphysis. The Anatomical Record. 2013;296(5):774-87.

Graham LE, Datta D, Heller B, et al. A Comparative Study of Conventional and Energy-Storing Prosthetic Feet in High-Functioning Transfemoral Amputees. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2007; 88: 801–806.

Hafer JF, Provenzano SG, Kern KL, et al. Measuring markers of aging and knee osteoarthritis gait using inertial measurement units. Journal of Biomechanics 2020; 99: 109567.

Hafner BJ, Askew RL. Physical performance and self-report outcomes associated with use of passive, adaptive, and active prosthetic knees in persons with unilateral, transfermoral

amputation: Randomized crossover trial. J Rehabil Res Dev. 2015;52(6):677-700. doi:10.1682/JRRD.2014.09.0210.

Hafner BJ, Morgan SJ, CPO, et al. Psychometric evaluation of self-report outcome measures for prosthetic applications. J Rehabil Res Dev 2016; 53: 797–812.

Haket LM, Frölke JPM, Verdonschot N, et al. Periprosthetic cortical bone remodeling in patients with an osseointegrated leg prosthesis. J Orthop Res 2017;35(6):1237-1241.

Hakim RM, Frey CM, Spadoni KE, Meyer K. Identifying Fallers Using Clinical Balance Measures in Community-Dwelling Adults with Lower Extremity Amputation: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Dev Phys Disabil. 2018;30(5):677-688. doi:10.1007/s10882-018-9612-2.

Haleem S, Yousaf S, Hamid T, Nagappa S, Parker MJ. Characteristics and outcomes of hip fractures in lower limb amputees. Injury. 2021;52(4):914-7.

Hansen RL, Langdahl BL, Jørgensen PH, et al. Changes in periprosthetic bone mineral density and bone turnover markers after osseointegrated implant surgery: A cohort study of 20 transfemoral amputees with 30-month follow-up. Prosthet Orthot Int 2019;43(5):508-518. Hanspal R, Fisher K, Nieveen R. Prosthetic socket fit comfort score. Disability and Rehabilitation 2003; 25: 1278–1280.

Harris PA, Taylor R, Minor BL, et al. The REDCap consortium: Building an international community of software platform partners. Journal of Biomedical Informatics 2019; 95: 103208.

Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, et al. Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—A metadatadriven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. Journal of Biomedical Informatics 2009; 42: 377–381.

Heitzmann DWW, Leboucher J, Block J, et al. The influence of hip muscle strength on gait in individuals with a unilateral transfemoral amputation. PLoS ONE 2020; 15: e0238093.

Hekmatfard M, Farahmand F, Ebrahimi I. Effects of prosthetic mass distribution on the spatiotemporal characteristics and knee kinematics of transfemoral amputee locomotion. Gait Posture 2013; 37: 78–81.

Henson DP, Edgar C, Ding Z, Sivapuratharasu B, Le Feuvre P, Finnegan ME, et al. Understanding lower limb muscle volume adaptations to amputation. J Biomech. 2021;125:110599. Hewson A, Dent S, Sawers A. Strength deficits in lower limb prosthesis users: A scoping review. Prosthetics and Orthotics International. 2020;44(5):323-40.

Highsmith MJ, Kahle JT, Miro RM, et al. Prosthetic interventions for people with transtibial amputation: systematic review and meta-analysis of high-quality prospective literature and systematic reviews. J Rehabil Res Dev 2016;53(2):157-84.

Highsmith MJ, Schulz BW, Hart-Hughes S, et al. Differences in the Spatiotemporal Parameters of Transtibial and Transfemoral Amputee Gait: JPO J Prosthet Orthot 2010; 22: 26–30.

Himes JH. New equation to estimate body mass index in amputees. J Am Diet Assoc. 1995;95(6):646. doi:10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00175-1.

Hof AL, van Bockel RM, Schoppen T, et al. Control of lateral balance in walking. Gait Posture 2007; 25: 250–258.

Hordacre B, Barr C, Crotty M. Community activity and participation are reduced in transtibial amputee fallers: a wearable technology study. BMJ Innov 2015; 1: 10–16.

Houdijk H, Appelman FM, Van Velzen JM, et al. Validity of DynaPort GaitMonitor for assessment of spatiotemporal parameters in amputee gait. JRRD 2008; 45: 1335.

Houdijk H, Wezenberg D, Hak L, et al. Energy storing and return prosthetic feet improve step length symmetry while preserving margins of stability in persons with transtibial amputation. J NeuroEngineering Rehabil 2018; 15: 76.

Hoyt BW, Lundy AE, Clark DM, et al. Femoral neck hounsfield units as an adjunct for bone mineral density after combat-related lower extremity amputation. J Orthop Trauma 2021;35(5):e158-e164.

Hunter SW, Batchelor F, Hill KD, Hill AM, Mackintosh S, Payne M. Risk Factors for Falls in People With a Lower Limb Amputation: A Systematic Review. PM&R. 2017;9(2):170-180.e1. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.07.531.

Hyde Z, Mylankal KJ, Hankey GJ, et al. Peripheral arterial disease increases the risk of subsequent hip fracture in older men: the health in men study. Osteoporos Int 2013;24(5):1683-8.

Iosa M, Picerno P, Paolucci S, et al. Wearable inertial sensors for human movement analysis. Expert Review of Medical Devices 2016; 13: 641–659.

Isakov E, Burger H, Gregori M, Marin C. Isokinetic and isometric strength of the thigh muscles in below knee amputees. Clin Biomech. 1996; 11(4):232-35.

Isakov E, Burger H, Gregorič M, et al. Stump length as related to atrophy and strength of the thigh muscles in trans-tibial amputees [Article]. Prosthet Orthot Int 1996;20(2):96-100.

Jaegers SMHJ, Arendzen JH, de Jongh HJ. Prosthetic gait of unilateral transfemoral amputees: A kinematic study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1995; 76: 736–743.

James U, Oberg K. Prosthetic gait pattern in unilateral above-knee amputees. Scand J Rehabil Med 1973; 5: 35–50.

Jayaraman C, Mummidisetty CK, Albert MV, et al. Using a microprocessor knee (C-Leg) with appropriate foot transitioned individuals with dysvascular transfemoral amputations to higher performance levels: a longitudinal randomized clinical trial. J NeuroEngineering Rehabil. 2021;18(1):88. doi:10.1186/s12984-021-00879-3.

Jaysrichai T, Suputtitada A, Khovidhungij W. Mobile Sensor Application for Kinematic Detection of the Knees. Ann Rehabil Med 2015; 39: 599.

Jiao H, Xiao E, Graves DT. Diabetes and its effect on bone and fracture healing. Curr Osteoporos Rep 2015;13(5):327-35. Johansson JL, Sherrill DM, Riley PO, et al. A Clinical Comparison of Variable-Damping and Mechanically Passive Prosthetic Knee Devices: Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2005; 84: 563–575.

Juneau P, Baddour N, Burger H, Bavec A, Lemaire ED. Amputee Fall Risk Classification Using Machine Learning and Smartphone Sensor Data from 2-Minute and 6-Minute Walk Tests. Sensors. 2022;22(5):1749. doi:10.3390/s22051749.

Kahle JT, Highsmith MJ, Schaepper H, et al. Predicting walking ability following lower limb amputation: an updated systematic literature review. Technol Innov 2016;18(2-3):125-137.

Kahle JT, Highsmith MJ. Transfemoral interfaces with vacuum assisted suspension comparison of gait, balance, and subjective analysis: Ischial containment versus brimless. Gait Posture 2014; 40: 315–320.

Kanis JA, Glüer CC. An update on the diagnosis and assessment of osteoporosis with densitometry. Committee of Scientific Advisors, International Osteoporosis Foundation. Osteoporos Int 2000;11(3):192-202.

Karatsidis A, Jung M, Schepers HM, et al. Musculoskeletal model-based inverse dynamic analysis under ambulatory conditions using inertial motion capture. Medical Engineering & Physics 2019; 65: 68–77. Kark L, Odell R, McIntosh AS, et al. Quantifying prosthetic gait deviation using simple outcome measures. WJO 2016; 7: 383.

Kaufman KR, Bernhardt KA, Symms K. Functional assessment and satisfaction of transfemoral amputees with low mobility (FASTK2): A clinical trial of microprocessor-controlled vs. nonmicroprocessor-controlled knees. Clinical Biomechanics. 2018;58:116-122. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2018.07.012.

Kaufman KR, Frittoli S, Frigo CA. Gait asymmetry of transfemoral amputees using mechanical and microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knees. Clin Biomech 2012; 27: 460–465.

Keklicek H, Kirdi E, Yalcin A, et al. Comparison of gait variability and symmetry in trained individuals with transtibial and transfemoral limb loss. J Orthop Surg 2019; 27: 230949901983266.

Keri M-I, Shehata AW, Marasco PD, et al. A Cost-Effective Inertial Measurement System for Tracking Movement and Triggering Kinesthetic Feedback in Lower-Limb Prosthesis Users. Sensors 2021; 21: 1844. Kikkert LHJ, de Groot MH, van Campen JP, et al. Gait dynamics to optimize fall risk assessment in geriatric patients admitted to an outpatient diagnostic clinic. Kellermayer MS, ed. PLoS ONE. 2017;12(6):e0178615. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0178615.

Kim J, Colabianchi N, Wensman J, et al. Wearable Sensors Quantify Mobility in People With Lower Limb Amputation During Daily Life. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2020; 28: 1282–1291.

Kim J, Major MJ, Hafner B, Sawers A. Frequency and Circumstances of Falls Reported by Ambulatory Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users: A Secondary Analysis. Journal of Injury, Function and Rehabilitation. 2019;11(4):344-353. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2018.08.385.

Kim J, McDonald CL, Hafner BJ, Sawers A. Fall-related events in people who are lower limb prosthesis users: the lived experience. Disability and Rehabilitation. Published online March 10, 2021:1-12. doi:10.1080/09638288.2021.1891467.

Kim YK, Lee HS, Ryu JJ, In Lee H, Seo SG. Sarcopenia increases the risk for mortality in patients who undergo amputation for diabetic foot. J Foot Ankle Res. 2018;11:32.

Kobsar D, Charlton JM, Tse CTF, et al. Validity and reliability of wearable inertial sensors in healthy adult walking: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J NeuroEngineering Rehabil 2020; 17: 62.

Kovac I, Medved V, Ostojic L. Spatial, temporal and kinematic characteristics on traumatic transtibial amputee's gait. Coll Antropol 2010; 34: 205–213.

Krakauer JC, McKenna MJ, Buderer NF, et al. Bone loss and bone turnover in diabetes. Diabetes 1995;44(7):775-82.

Ku PX, Abu Osman NA, Wan Abas WAB. Balance control in lower extremity amputees during quiet standing: A systematic review. Gait Posture 2014; 39: 672–682.

Kuhlmann A, Krüger H, Seidinger S, Hahn A. Cost-effectiveness and budget impact of the microprocessor-controlled knee C-Leg in transfemoral amputees with and without diabetes mellitus. Eur J Health Econ. 2020;21(3):437-449. doi:10.1007/s10198-019-01138-y.

Kulkarni J, Adams J, Thomas E, Silman A. Association between amputation, arthritis and osteopenia in British male war veterans with major lower limb amputations. Clin Rehabil. 1998;12(4):348-353. doi:10.1191/026921598672393611.

Langford Z. The Four Square Step Test. Journal of Physiotherapy 2015; 61: 162.

Lansade C, Vicaut E, Paysant J, et al. Mobility and satisfaction with a microprocessor-controlled knee in moderately active amputees: A multi-centric randomized crossover trial. Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine. 2018;61(5):278-285. doi:10.1016/j.rehab.2018.04.003.

Laroche DP, Cook SB, Mackala K. Strength Asymmetry Increases Gait Asymmetry and Variability in Older Women: Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012; 44: 2172–2181.

Lebel K, Boissy P, Nguyen H, et al. Inertial measurement systems for segments and joints kinematics assessment: towards an understanding of the variations in sensor accuracy. BioMed Eng OnLine 2017; 16: 56.

Ledoux ED. Inertial Sensing for Gait Event Detection and Transfemoral Prosthesis Control Strategy. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2018; 65: 2704–2712.

Leijendekkers RA, Hoogeboom TJ, van Hinte G, et al. Reproducibility and discriminant validity of two clinically feasible measurement methods to obtain coronal plane gait kinematics in participants with a lower extremity amputation. PLoS ONE 2019; 14: e0217046.

Lewiecki EM. Osteoporosis: Clinical Evaluation. [Updated 2018 Apr 23]. In: Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, et al., editors. Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000-. [Table, Table 1. World Health Organization criteria for classification of patients with bone mineral density measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (3).]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279049/table/osteoporosis-clinic.classifica/

Liang JN, Ho K-Y, Lee Y-J, et al. Slow Walking in Individuals with Chronic Post-Stroke Hemiparesis: Speed Mediated Effects of Gait Kinetics and Ankle Kinematics. Brain Sci 2021; 11: 365.

Liu K, Tang T, Wang A, et al. Surgical revision for stump problems after traumatic above-ankle amputations of the lower extremity [Article]. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2015;16(1).

Lloyd CH, Stanhope SJ, Davis IS, Royer TD. Strength asymmetry and osteoarthritis risk factors in unilateral trans-tibial amputee gait. Gait Posture. 2010;32(3): 296-300. doi: 10.106/j.gaitpost.2010.05.003.

Loiret I, Villa C, Dauriac B, et al. Are wearable insoles a validated tool for quantifying transfemoral amputee gait asymmetry? Prosthetics & Orthotics International 2019; 43: 492–499.

Lusardi MM, Fritz S, Middleton A, et al. Determining Risk of Falls in Community Dwelling Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Using Posttest Probability. Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy. 2017;40(1):1-36. doi:10.1519/JPT.000000000000099.

Maffiuletti NA, Gorelick M, Kramers-de Quervain I, et al. Concurrent validity and intrasession reliability of the IDEEA accelerometry system for the quantification of spatiotemporal gait parameters. Gait & Posture 2008; 27: 160–163.

Major MJ, Fatone S, Roth EJ. Validity and Reliability of the Berg Balance Scale for Community-Dwelling Persons With Lower-Limb Amputation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2013;94(11):2194-2202. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2013.07.002.

Maqbool HF, Husman MAB, Awad MI, et al. Heuristic Real-Time Detection of Temporal Gait Events for Lower Limb Amputees. IEEE Sensors J 2019; 19: 3138–3148.

Marinakis GNS. Interlimb symmetry of traumatic unilateral transtibial amputees wearing two different prosthetic feet in the early rehabilitation stage. J Rehabil Res Dev 2004; 41: 581.

Mattes SJ, Martin PE, Royer TD. Walking symmetry and energy cost in persons with unilateral transtibial amputations: Matching prosthetic and intact limb inertial properties. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2000; 81: 561–568.

McGinley JL, Baker R, Wolfe R, et al. The reliability of three-dimensional kinematic gait measurements: A systematic review. Gait & Posture 2009; 29: 360–369.

Melzer I, Yekutiel M, Sukenik S. Comparative study of osteoarthritis of the contralateral knee joint of male amputees who do and do not play volleyball. J Rheumatol 2001;28(1):169-72.

Michael JW. Modern Prosthetic Knee Mechanisms: Clin Orthop 1999; 361: 39–47.

Mileusnic MP, Hahn A, Reiter S. Effects of a Novel Microprocessor-Controlled Knee, Kenevo, on the Safety, Mobility, and Satisfaction of Lower-Activity Patients with Transfemoral Amputation. J Prosthet Orthot. 2017;29(4):198-205. doi:10.1097/JPO.00000000000146.

Miller W, Deathe A. A prospective study examining balance confidence among individuals with lower limb amputation. Disability and Rehabilitation. 2004;26(14-15):875-881. doi:10.1080/09638280410001708887.

Miller WC, Deathe AB, Speechley M, Koval J. The influence of falling, fear of falling, and balance confidence on prosthetic mobility and social activity among individuals with a lower extremity amputation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2001;82(9):1238-1244. doi:10.1053/apmr.2001.25079.

Miller WC, Speechley M, Deathe AB. Balance confidence among people with lower-limb amputations. Phys Ther 2002; 82: 856–865.

Miller WC, Speechley M, Deathe B. The prevalence and risk factors of falling and fear of falling among lower extremity amputees. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2001; 82: 1031–1037.

Mishra P, Singh S, Ranjan V, et al. Performance Evaluation of Jaipur Knee Joint through Kinematics and Kinetics Gait Symmetry with Unilateral Transfemoral Indian Amputees. J Med Syst 2019; 43: 55.

Moayeri A, Mohamadpour M, Mousavi SF, Shirzadpour E, Mohamadpour S, Amraei M. Fracture risk in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and possible risk factors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2017;13:455-68.

Monaco V, Aprigliano F, Palmerini L, Palumbo P, Chiari L, Micera S. Biomechanical Measures for Fall Risk Assessment and Fall Detection in People with Transfemoral Amputations for the Next-Generation Prostheses: A Scoping Review. J Prosthet Orthot. 2022;34(3). doi: 10.1097/JPO.000000000000393. Montero-Odasso MM, Kamkar N, Pieruccini-Faria F, et al. Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guidelines on Fall Prevention and Management for Older Adults: A Systematic Review. JAMA Netw Open. 2021;4(12):e2138911. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.38911.

Moore R. Effect on Stance Phase Timing Asymmetry in Individuals with Amputation Using Hydraulic Ankle Units: J Prosthet Orthot 2016; 28: 44–48.

Morgenroth DC, Gellhorn AC, Suri P. Osteoarthritis in the disabled population: A mechanical perspective. Pm r. 2012;4(5 Suppl):S20-7.

Moylan B, Paner R, Pauley T, et al. Impact of Increased Prosthetic Mass on Gait Symmetry in Dysvascular Transfemoral Amputees: A Randomized Prospective Double-Blind Crossover Trial. J Prosthet Orthot 2015; 27: 63–67.

Mundell B, Maradit Kremers H, Visscher S, Hoppe K, Kaufman K. Direct medical costs of accidental falls for adults with transfemoral amputations. Prosthetics & Orthotics International. 2017;41(6):564-570. doi:10.1177/0309364617704804.

Nadollek H, Brauer S, Isles R. Outcomes after trans-tibial amputation: the relationship between quiet stance ability, strength of hip abductor muscles and gait. Physiother Res Int 2002; 7: 203–214.

Nagano H. Gait Biomechanics for Fall Prevention among Older Adults. Applied Sciences 2022; 12: 6660.

Nardi A, Ventura L, Rossini M, et al. The importance of mechanics in the pathogenesis of fragility fractures of the femur and vertebrae. Clinical cases in mineral and bone metabolism : the official journal of the Italian Society of Osteoporosis, Mineral Metabolism, and Skeletal Diseases 2010;7(2):130-134.

Ncss 2021 statistical software (2021). NCSS, LLC. Kaysville, Utah, USA, ncss.com/software/ncss2021.

Neptune RR, Kautz SA, Zajac FE. Contributions of the individual ankle plantar flexors to support, forward progression and swing initiation during walking. J Biomech 2001; 34: 1387–1398.

Nolan L, Wit A, Dudziñski K, et al. Adjustments in gait symmetry with walking speed in transfemoral and trans-tibial amputees. Gait Posture 2003; 17: 142–151. Norvell DC, Czerniecki JM, Reiber GE, et al. The Prevalence of knee pain and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis among veteran traumatic amputees and nonamputees. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2005;86(3):487-93.

Nüesch C, Roos E, Pagenstert G, et al. Measuring joint kinematics of treadmill walking and running: Comparison between an inertial sensor based system and a camera-based system. Journal of Biomechanics 2017; 57: 32–38.

Obeid JS, McGraw CA, Minor BL, et al. Procurement of shared data instruments for Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap). Journal of Biomedical Informatics 2013; 46: 259–265.

Ohtaki Y, Sagawa K, Inooka H. A Method for Gait Analysis in a Daily Living Environment by Body-Mounted Instruments. JSME Int J, Ser C 2001; 44: 1125–1132.

Orekhov G, Robinson AM, Hazelwood SJ, Klisch SM. Knee joint biomechanics in transtibial amputees in gait, cycling, and elliptical training. PLoS One. 2019 Dec 12;14(12):e0226060. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226060. PMID: 31830082; PMCID: PMC6907759.

Ostler C, Scott H, Sedki I, Kheng S, Donovan-Hall M, Dickinson A, Metcalf C. From outcome measurement to improving health outcomes after lower limb amputation—A narrative review

Panel on Prevention of Falls in Older Persons, American Geriatrics Society and British Geriatrics Society. Summary of the Updated American Geriatrics Society/British Geriatrics Society Clinical Practice Guideline for Prevention of Falls in Older Persons: AGS/BGS CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE FOR PREVENTION OF FALLS. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2011;59(1):148-157. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03234.x.

Park SH. Tools for assessing fall risk in the elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2018;30(1):1-16. doi:10.1007/s40520-017-0749-0.

Pasqualini L, Ministrini S, Macura A, et al. Increased bone resorption: a possible pathophysiological link between hypovitaminosis d and peripheral arterial disease. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 2016;52(3):352-9.

Pauley T, Devlin M, Heslin K. Falls Sustained During Inpatient Rehabilitation After Lower Limb Amputation: Prevalence and Predictors. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation. 2006;85(6):521-532. doi:10.1097/01.phm.0000219119.58965.8c. Pearson OM, Lieberman DE. The Aging of Wolff's "Law": Ontogeny and responses to mechanical loading in cortical bone. Am J Phys Anthropol 2004;Suppl 39:63-99.

Petersen AO, Comins J, Alkjær T. Assessment of Gait Symmetry in Transfemoral Amputees Using C-Leg Compared With 3R60 Prosthetic Knees: JPO J Prosthet Orthot 2010; 22: 106–112.

Pezzin LE, Dillingham TR, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim P, Rossbach P. Use and satisfaction with prosthetic limb devices and related services 11No commercial party having a direct financial interest in the results of the research supporting this article has or will confer a benefit on the author(s) or on any organization with which the author(s) is/are associated. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2004;85(5):723-729. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2003.06.002.

Pezzin LE, Dillingham TR, MacKenzie EJ. Rehabilitation and the long-term outcomes of persons with trauma-related amputations. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 2000; 81: 292–300.

Physiological cross-sectional area. Oxford Reference. Web page. <u>https://www.oxfordreference.com/view/10.1093/oi/authority.20110803100325446#:~:text=The</u> <u>%20PCSA%20of%20a%20muscle,length%20to%20muscle%20length%20ratios</u>.
Piva SR, Susko AM, Khoja SS, Josbeno DA, Fitzgerald GK, Toledo FG. Links between osteoarthritis and diabetes: Implications for management from a physical activity perspective. Clin Geriatr Med. 2015;31(1):67-87, viii.

Prentice A, Parsons TJ, Cole TJ. Uncritical use of bone mineral density in absorptiometry may lead to size-related artifacts in the identification of bone mineral determinants. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60(6):837-42.

Prinsen EC, Nederhand MJ, Rietman JS. Adaptation strategies of the lower extremities of patients with a transtibial or transfemoral amputation during level walking: a systematic review. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2011;92(8):1311-25.

Putz C, Block J, Gantz S, et al. Structural changes in the thigh muscles following trans-femoral amputation. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2017;27(6):829-835.

Quai TM, Brauer SG, Nitz JC. Somatosensation, circulation and stance balance in elderly dysvascular transtibial amputees. Clin Rehabil. 2005;19(6):668-676. doi:10.1191/0269215505cr857oa.

Rabago CA, Wilken JM. The prevalence of gait deviations in individuals with transtibial amputation. Mil Med. 2016;181(S4):30-37. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-15-00505.

Ramírez JF, Isaza JA, Mariaka I, et al. Analysis of bone demineralization due to the use of exoprosthesis by comparing young's modulus of the femur in unilateral transfemoral amputees. Prosthet Orthot Int 2011;35(4):459-66.

Rehabilitation Measures Database: Timed Up and Go. Accessed April 26, 2022. https://www.sralab.org/rehabilitation-measures/timed-and-go.

Renström P, Grimby G, Morelli B, et al. Thigh muscle atrophy in below-knee amputees. Scand J Rehabil Med Suppl 1983;9:150-62.

Renstrom PAFH, Alaranta H, Pohjolainen T. Review: leg strengthening of the lower limb amputee. 1995;7(1):11-32.

Research Priorities 2020, https://www.oandp.org/page/research-priorities-2020.

Robinson, RO, Herzog, W, Nigg, BM. Use of force platform variables to quantify the effects of chiropractic manipulation on gait symmetry. J Manip Physiol Ther 1987; 10: 172–176.

Rodríguez-Molinero A, Herrero-Larrea A, Miñarro A, et al. The spatial parameters of gait and their association with falls, functional decline and death in older adults: a prospective study. Sci Rep. 2019;9(1):8813. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-45113-2.

Roerdink M, Roeles S, van der Pas SCH, et al. Evaluating asymmetry in prosthetic gait with step-length asymmetry alone is flawed. Gait Posture 2012; 35: 446–451.

Romijnders R, Warmerdam E, Hansen C, et al. Validation of IMU-based gait event detection during curved walking and turning in older adults and Parkinson's Disease patients. J NeuroEngineering Rehabil 2021; 18: 28.

Roshdibenam V, Jogerst GJ, Butler NR, Baek S. Machine Learning Prediction of Fall Risk in Older Adults Using Timed Up and Go Test Kinematics. Sensors. 2021;21(10):3481. doi:10.3390/s21103481.

Royer T, Koenig M. Joint loading and bone mineral density in persons with unilateral, transtibial amputation. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon) 2005;20(10):1119-25.

Rubin CT, Lanyon LE. Regulation of bone formation by applied dynamic loads. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1984;66(3):397-402.

Rueden CT, Schindelin J, Hiner MC, et al. ImageJ2: ImageJ for the next generation of scientific image data. BMC Bioinformatics. 2017;18:529. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-017-1934-z.

Rush PJ, Wong JS, Kirsh J, et al. Osteopenia in patients with above knee amputation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1994;75(1):112-5.

Rutkowska-Kucharska A, Kowal M, Winiarski S. Relationship between asymmetry of gait and muscle torque in patients after unilateral transfemoral amputation. Appl Bionics Biomech 2018;2018:5190816.

Sadeghi H, Shojaedin SS, Abbasi A, et al. Lower-Extremity Intra-Joint Coordination and Its Variability between Fallers and Non-Fallers during Gait. Applied Sciences. 2021;11(6):2840. doi:10.3390/app11062840.

Sagawa Y, Turcot K, Armand S, et al. Biomechanics and physiological parameters during gait in lower-limb amputees: A systematic review. Gait Posture 2011; 33: 511–526.

Şahin Onat Ş, Malas F, Öztürk GT, et al. Ultrasonographic assessment of the quadriceps muscle and femoral cartilage in transtibial amputees using different prostheses. Prosthet Orthot Int 2016;40(4):484-9. Sawers A, Hafner B. Validation of the Narrowing Beam Walking Test in Lower Limb Prosthesis Users. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2018;99(8):1491-1498.e1. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2018.03.012.

Sawers A, Hafner BJ. Performance-based balance tests, combined with the number of falls recalled in the past year, predicts the incidence of future falls in established unilateral transtibial prosthesis users. PM&R. 2022;14(4):434-444. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12627.

Sawers A, Hafner BJ. Using Clinical Balance Tests to Assess Fall Risk among Established Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users: Cutoff Scores and Associated Validity Indices. PM&R 2020; 12: 16–25.

Sawers A, McDonald CL, Hafner BJ. A survey for characterizing details of fall events experienced by lower limb prosthesis users. PLoS ONE 2022; 17: e0272082.

Sawers AB, Hahn ME. The Potential for Error With Use of Inverse Dynamic Calculations in Gait Analysis of Individuals With Lower Limb Loss: A Review of Model Selection and Assumptions. JPO Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics 2010; 22: 56–61.

Schaarschmidt M, Lipfert SW, Meier-Gratz C, et al. Functional gait asymmetry of unilateral transfemoral amputees. Hum Mov Sci 2012; 31: 907–917.

Schafer ZA, Perry JL, Vanicek N. A personalised exercise programme for individuals with lower limb amputation reduces falls and improves gait biomechanics: A block randomised controlled trial. Gait & Posture. 2018;63:282-289. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.04.030.

Schiltz M, Lehance C, Maquet D, Bury T, Crielaard J, Croisier J. Explosive strength imbalances in professional basketball players. J Athl Train. 2009 Jan-Feb;44(1):39-47. doi: 10.4085/1062-6050-44.1.39. PMID: 19180217; PMCID: PMC2629038.

Schmalz T, Blumentritt S, Jarasch R. Energy expenditure and biomechanical characteristics of lower limb amputee gait: Gait Posture 2002; 16: 255–263.

Schmalz T, Blumentritt S, Reimers CD. Selective thigh muscle atrophy in trans-tibial amputees: an ultrasonographic study. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg 2001;121(6):307-12.

Schoppen T, Boonstra A, Groothoff JW, et al. The timed "up and go" test: Reliability and validity in persons with unilateral lower limb amputation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 1999; 80: 825–828.

Scott W, Stevens J, Binder–Macleod SA. Human Skeletal Muscle Fiber Type Classifications. Physical Therapy. 2001;81)11:1810-16. doi: 10.1093/ptj/81.11.1810. Seel T, Raisch J, Schauer T. IMU-Based Joint Angle Measurement for Gait Analysis. Sensors 2014; 14: 6891–6909.

Segal AD, Orendurff MS, Klute GK, et al. Kinematic and kinetic comparisons of transfermoral amputee gait using C-Leg and Mauch SNS prosthetic knees. J Rehabil Res Dev 2006; 43: 857.

Sejdic E, Lowry KA, Bellanca J, et al. Extraction of Stride Events From Gait Accelerometry During Treadmill Walking. IEEE J Transl Eng Health Med 2016; 4: 1–11.

Seth M, Lamberg E. Standing balance in people with trans-tibial amputation due to vascular causes: A literature review. Prosthetics & Orthotics International. 2017;41(4):345-355. doi:10.1177/0309364616683819.

Sevastikoglou JA, Eriksson U, Larsson SE. Skeletal changes of the amputation stump and the femur on the amputated side: a clinical investigation. Acta Orthopaedica Scandinavica. 1969;40(5): 624-633. doi: 10.3109/17453676908989528.

Sharma GR, Kumar V, Kanojia RK, et al. Fast and slow myosin as markers of muscle regeneration in mangled extremities: pilot Study. Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol 2019;29(7):1539-1547.

Shawen N, Lonini L, Mummidisetty CK, et al. Fall Detection in Individuals With Lower Limb Amputations Using Mobile Phones: Machine Learning Enhances Robustness for Real-World Applications. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth. 2017;5(10):e151. doi:10.2196/mhealth.8201.

Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. BMD and bone geometry in transtibial and transfemoral amputees. J Bone Miner Res. 2008;23(9):1449-57. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.080402. PMID: 18410229.

Sherk VD, Bemben MG, Bemben DA. Interlimb muscle and fat comparisons in persons with lower-limb amputation. Arch Phys Med Rebil. 2010;91(7):1077-81.

Shumway-Cook A, Brauer S, Woollacott M. Predicting the probability for falls in communitydwelling older adults using the Timed Up & Go Test. Phys Ther. 2000;80(9):896-903.

Sibley AR, Strike S, Moudy SC, Tillin NA. The effects of long-term muscle disuse on neuromuscular function in unilateral transtibial amputees. Experimental Physiology. 2020;105(3):408-18.

Silverman AK, Fey NP, Portillo A, et al. Compensatory mechanisms in below-knee amputee gait in response to increasing steady-state walking speeds. Gait Posture 2008;28(4):602-9. Simonetti E, Villa C, Bascou J, et al. Gait event detection using inertial measurement units in people with transfemoral amputation: a comparative study. Med Biol Eng Comput 2020; 58: 461–470.

Sjödahl C, Jarnlo G-B, Söderberg B, et al. Kinematic and kinetic gait analysis in the sagittal plane of trans-femoral amputees before and after special gait re-education. Prosthet Orthot Int 2002; 26: 101–112.

Skelton, DA, Kennedy J, Rutherford OM. Explosive power and asymmetry in leg muscle function in frequent fallers and non-fallers aged over 65. Age Ageing 2002; 31: 1.

Smith E, Comiskey C, Carroll A, Ryall N. A study of bone mineral density in lower limb amputees at a national prosthetics center. J Prosthet Orthot. 2011;23(1):14-20.

Steinberg N, Gottlieb A, Siev-Ner I, et al. Fall incidence and associated risk factors among people with a lower limb amputation during various stages of recovery - a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2019;41(15):1778-1787.

Stevens PM, Wurdeman SR. Prosthetic Knee Selection for Individuals with Unilateral Transfemoral Amputation: A Clinical Practice Guideline. J Prosthet Orthot 2019; 31: 2–8. Supan T, Lebiedowska M, Dodson R, et al. The Effect of a Talux® Prosthetic Foot on Gait Parameters and Limb Loading of Nonvascular Transtibial Amputees: JPO J Prosthet Orthot 2010; 22: 43–52.

Svoboda, Z, Janura M. Temporal symmetry of sound and prosthetic limbs during transtibial amputee gait with various prosthetic alignment. Acta Gymn 2007; 37: 55–60.

Swanson EC, Friedly JL, Wang RK, et al. Optical coherence tomography for the investigation of skin adaptation to mechanical stress. Skin Res Technol 2020;26(5):627-638.

Teufl W, Lorenz M, Miezal M, et al. Towards Inertial Sensor Based Mobile Gait Analysis: Event-Detection and Spatio-Temporal Parameters. Sensors 2018; 19: 38.

Thomson S, Lu W, Zreiqat H, et al. Proximal bone remodeling in lower limb amputees reconstructed with an osseointegrated prosthesis. J Orthop Res 2019;37(12):2524-2530.

Thomson S, Thomson A, Tetsworth K, et al. Radiographic evaluation of bone remodeling around osseointegration implants among transfemoral amputees. J Orthop Trauma 2019;33(8):e303-e308.

Tilson JK, Wu SS, Cen SY, et al. Characterizing and Identifying Risk for Falls in the LEAPS Study: A Randomized Clinical Trial of Interventions to Improve Walking Poststroke. Stroke. 2012;43(2):446-452. doi:10.1161/STROKEAHA.111.636258.

Tobaigy M, Hafner BJ, Sawers A. Recalled Number of Falls in the Past Year—Combined With Perceived Mobility—Predicts the Incidence of Future Falls in Unilateral Lower Limb Prosthesis Users. Physical Therapy. 2022;102(2):pzab267. doi:10.1093/ptj/pzab267.

Treece GM, Gee AH. Independent measurement of femoral cortical thickness and cortical bone density using clinical ct. Med Image Anal. 2015;20(1):249-64.

Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med. 2018;169(7):467-473. doi:10.7326/M18-0850.

Tugcu I, Safaz I, Yilmaz B, et al. Muscle strength and bone mineral density in mine victims with transtibial amputation. Prosthet Orthot Int 2009;33(4):299-306.

Uchytil J, Jandacka D, Farana R, et al. Kinematics of gait using bionic and hydraulic knee joints in transfemoral amputees. Acta Gymnica 2017; 47: 130–137.

Uchytil J, Jandacka D, Zahradnik D, et al. Temporal–spatial parameters of gait in transfemoral amputees: Comparison of bionic and mechanically passive knee joints. Prosthet Orthot Int 2014; 38: 199–203.

Ungprasert P, Wijarnpreecha K, Thongprayoon C, et al. Peripheral arterial disease and risk of hip fracture: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. J Postgrad Med 2018;64(4):220-225.

Valle MS, Casabona A, Sapienza I, et al. Use of a Single Wearable Sensor to Evaluate the Effects of Gait and Pelvis Asymmetries on the Components of the Timed Up and Go Test, in Persons with Unilateral Lower Limb Amputation. Sensors 2021; 22: 95.

van der Linde H van der, Hofstad CJ, Geurts ACH, et al. A systematic literature review of the effect of different prosthetic components on human functioning with a lower-limb prosthesis. J Rehabil Res Dev 2004; 41: 555.

van Velzen JM, van Bennekom CA, Polomski W, et al. Physical capacity and walking ability after lower limb amputation: a systematic review. Clin Rehabil 2006; 20: 999–1016.

Vanicek N, Strike S, McNaughton L, Polman R. Gait patterns in transtibial amputee fallers vs. non-fallers: Biomechanical differences during level walking. Gait & Posture. 2009;29(3):415-420. doi:10.1016/j.gaitpost.2008.10.062.

Vanicek N, Strike SC, McNaughton L, Polman R. Lower Limb Kinematic and Kinetic Differences between Transtibial Amputee Fallers and Non-Fallers. Prosthetics & Orthotics International. 2010;34(4):399-410. doi:10.3109/03093646.2010.480964.

Vanicek N, Strike SC, Polman R. Kinematic differences exist between transtibial amputee fallers and non-fallers during downwards step transitioning. Prosthetics & Orthotics International. 2015;39(4):322-332. doi:10.1177/0309364614532867.

Viccaro LJ, Perera S, Studenski SA. Is Timed Up and Go Better Than Gait Speed in Predicting Health, Function, and Falls in Older Adults?: IS TIMED UP AND GO BETTER THAN GAIT SPEED? Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2011;59(5):887-892. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2011.03336.x.

Viteckova S, Kutilek P, Svoboda Z, et al. Gait symmetry measures: A review of current and prospective methods. Biomed Signal Process Control 2018; 42: 89–100.

Vu K, Payne MWC, Hunter SW, Viana R. Risk Factors for Falls in Individuals With Lower Extremity Amputations During the Pre-Prosthetic Phase: A Retrospective Cohort Study. PM&R. 2019;11(8):828-833. doi:10.1002/pmrj.12046.

Wanamaker AB, Andridge RR, Chaudhari AM. When to biomechanically examine a lower-limb amputee: A systematic review of accommodation times. Prosthet Orthot Int 2017; 41: 431–445.

Waters RL, Perry J, Antonelli D, et al. Energy cost of walking of amputees: the influence of level of amputation. J Bone Joint Surg Am 1976; 58: 42–46.

Welke B, Jakubowitz E, Seehaus F, Daniilidis K, Timpner M, Tremer N, et al. The prevalence of osteoarthritis: Higher risk after transfemoral amputation?—a database analysis with 1,569 amputees and matched controls. PLOS ONE. 2019;14(1):e0210868.

Winter DA, Sienko SE. Biomechanics of below-knee amputee gait. J Biomech 1988; 21: 361–367.

Wong C, Chen C, Blackwell W, Rahal R, Benoy S. Balance ability measured with the Berg Balance Scale: A determinant of fall history in community-dwelling adults with leg amputation. J Rehabil Med. 2015;47(1):80-86. doi:10.2340/16501977-1882. Wong C, Chihuri S, Li G. Risk of fall-related injury in people with lower limb amputations: A prospective cohort study. J Rehabil Med. 2016;48(1):80-85. doi:10.2340/16501977-2042.

Wurdeman SR, Miller TA, Stevens PM, Campbell JH. Stability and Falls Evaluations in AMPutees (SAFE-AMP 1): Microprocessor knee technology reduces odds of incurring an injurious fall for individuals with diabetic/dysvascular amputation. Assistive Technology. Published online January 13, 2022:1-6. doi:10.1080/10400435.2021.2010147.

Wurdeman SR, Stevens PM, Campbell JH. Mobility Analysis of AmpuTees II: Comorbidities and Mobility in Lower Limb Prosthesis Users. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2018;97(11):782-788. doi:10.1097/PHM.000000000000067.

Xu H, Greenland K, Bloswick D, et al. Vacuum level effects on gait characteristics for unilateral transtibial amputees with elevated vacuum suspension. Clin Biomech 2017; 43: 95–101.

Yang JR, Yang HS, Ahn DH, et al. Differences in Gait Patterns of Unilateral Transtibial Amputees With Two Types of Energy Storing Prosthetic Feet. Ann Rehabil Med 2018; 42: 609– 616.

Yazicioglu K, Tugcu I, Yilmaz B, et al. Osteoporosis: A factor on residual limb pain in traumatic trans-tibial amputations. Prosthet Orthot Int 2008;32(2):172-8.

Yepson H, Mazzone B, Eskridge S, et al. The influence of tobacco use, alcohol consumption, and weight gain on development of secondary musculoskeletal injury after lower limb amputation [Article]. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2020;101(10):1704-1710.

Yoshihashi AK, Drake AJ, 3rd, Shakir KM. Ward's triangle bone mineral density determined by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry is a sensitive indicator of osteoporosis. Endocr Pract 1998;4(2):69-72.

Zeni JA, Richards JG, Higginson JS. Two simple methods for determining gait events during treadmill and overground walking using kinematic data. Gait & Posture 2008; 27: 710–714.

Zhang J-T, Novak AC, Brouwer B, et al. Concurrent validation of Xsens MVN measurement of lower limb joint angular kinematics. Physiol Meas 2013; 34: N63–N69.

Ziegler-Graham K, MacKenzie EJ, Ephraim PL, Travison TG, Brookmeyer R. Estimating the Prevalence of Limb Loss in the United States: 2005 to 2050. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2008;89(3):422-429. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2007.11.005.

Zuniga EN, Leavitt LA, Calvert JC, et al. Gait patterns in above-knee amputees. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1972; 53: 373–382.